
R OBERT J . LOVERO 

MAYOR 

AGENDA 

BERWYN CITY COUNCIL 
March 10, 2020 at 8:00 PM 

M ARGARET P AUL 

CiTY C LERK 

The Mayor and City Council welcome you. Ptease note: comments are permitled onty during Open Forum and only for items not already on the agenda. When called 
upon by the Mayor. kindty state your name and address for the record. Thank you for your participation. 

A. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
B. Open Forum 
C. Approval of Minutes 

I. Regular City Council and COW Minutes of Februaty 25, 2020 
D. Bid Openings 
E. Berwyn Township, Berwyn Health District, Berwyn Development Corporation 

I. BDC: An Ordinance entitled "An Ordinance of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, Approving 
First Amendment to Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan and Project for the Harlem Avenue 
Redevelopment Project Area" 

2. BDC: An Ordinance entitled" An Ordinance of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, 
Designating the First Amended Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project Area Pursuant to the Tax 
Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act 

3. BDC: An Ordinance entitled "An Ordinance of the City of Benvyn, Cook County, Illinois, Adopting 
Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the First Amended Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project 
Area" 

4. BDC: An Ordinance entitled "An Ordinance of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, Approving 
a Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan and Redevelopment Project for the Ridgeland Avenue 
Redevelopment Project Area" 

5. BDC: An Ordinance entitled" An Ordinance of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, 
Designating the Ridgeland Avenue Redevelopment TlF Project Area of said City Redevelopment 
Project Area Pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act" 

6. BDC: An Ordinance entitled "An Ordinance ofthe City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, Adopting 
Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the Ridgeland Avenue Redevelopment Project Area" 

7. BDC: Resolution Approving the 30 th Annual Route 66 Car Show on 8/2912020 and Authorization of 
City Services and Necessary Street Closures 

F. Reports from the Mayor 
I. Proclamation: Women's History Month - March 2020 
2. An Ordinance entitled " An Ordinance Amending Chapter 262 of the Codified Ordinances of Berwyn 

Regarding Increasing the Number of Commissioners on the Fire and Police Commission from Three 
to Five" 

3. Appointment of Alice Solis and Kenneth Waszak to the Fire and Police Commission 
4. Police Chief: Recommended Board Appointments Due to Retirements - Germane to F-5, F-6, F-7 
5. Appointment of Michael G. Cirolia to the Auxiliary Review Boatd 
6. Appointment of Michael G. Cirolia to the 9-1-1 Emergency Telephone System Boatd 
7. Appointment of Guy Papa to the 9-1-1 Emergency Telephone System Board 

G. Reports from the Clerk 
H. Zoning Boards of Appeals 

I. Findings of Fact and Ordinance entitled" An Ordinance Approving a Preliminary and Final Plan for a 
Planned Development/Special Use within the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District at the 
Addresses Commonly Known as 6737-6747 W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, and 2215-
2219 S. Oak Park Avenue - GW Cermak Oak Park, LLC" 

I. Reports from the Aldermen, Committees and Board 
I. Ald. Reatdon: Youth Crossroads Spring Service Trip 
2. Ald. Reardon: Denial of Superzone Parking Designation for 3000 Block of Maple 

J. Reports from the Staff 
I. Deferred Item J-3 from 211 1/20 - Superzone Parking 
2. Deferred Item J-4 from 2111120 - Superzone Decals 

In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. any individual in the need of a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in or benefit 
from attendance at a City of Berwyn public meeting should contact City Cieri< Margaret Paul at (708) 788·2660 as early in advance as possible. 



B ERWYN C ITY C O UNC IL 
REGULAR M EETING - MARCH 10.2020 

AGENDA 

3. Police Chief: Permission and Authorization for NBPD Easter Parade on 4111/20 - Infonnational 
4. Police Chief: Permission and Authorization for St. Mary of Celie Stations of the Cross Procession on 

4/10/20 - Informational 
5. Fire Chief: Request for Permission to Hire Next Qualified Candidate - Firefighter/Paramedic 
6. City Attomey: Authorization for Settlement of2019L004114 in the amount of$165,000.00 
7. Public Works Dir.: Authorization to Request Proposals for Landscaping Maintenance in the Four 

Commercial Corridors 
8. Finance Oir.: 2020 Appropriation Ordinance entitled "The Annual Appropriation Ordinance of the 

City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois for the Fiscal Year 2020" 
K. Consent Agenda 

I. Payroll: 2/19120 in the amount of$I ,245,185.25 - Infonnational 
2. Payables: 02/27/20 to 03/ 11 /20 in the amount of$333,134.91 - Informational 
3. Building and Local Permits - February 2020 - Informational 
4. Finance Oir.: List of Business Licenses Issued in January and February 2020 - Informational 
5. Finance Oir.: Ordinance Fines Collected by City of Berwyn in January and February 2020 - $30,743 -

Informational 
6. Finance Dir.: Compliance Tickets Collected by Police Oept. in January and February 2020 - $12,845 -

Informational 
7. Finance Dir.: Adjudication Fines Collected by Police Dept. in January and February 2020 - $4,230-

Informational 
8. Finance Dir.: Parking Tickets Collected by City of Berwyn in January and February 2020 - $261 ,186.02 -

Informational 
9. Finance Oir.: Seizure & Impound Fees Collected by Police Dept. in January and February 2020 - $16,500 -

Informational 
10. Finance Dir. : Court Fines Collected by the Municipal Dept. of Circuit Court in January and February 2020 

- $8,888.60 - Informational 
II. Event Request: Fitzgerald's - American Music Festival - July 2-5,2020 
12. Handicapped Parking Application #1311-1939 S. Harvey - Denial of Space 

City Clerk No. of Items: 38 

In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with disabilities Act, any individual in the need of a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in or 
benefit from atte nda nce a t a City of Berwyn public meeti ng should contact City Clerk Margaret Paul at (708) 788-2660 as ea rly in advance as possible. 



Berwyn City Council Committee of the Whole 
Minutes of February 25, 2020 

c- { 
Mayor Lovero called the Committee of the Whole to Order at 6:00 p.m. The followin g Aldermen 
answered present: Lennon, Reardon, Fejt, Santoy, Ruiz, Avila, and Nowak. 

1. Depot District Utilities Public Hearing: Mayor Lovero recognized Clerk Paul. Clerk Paul 
called the Public Hearing concerning the City of Berwyn Illinois Environmental 
Protection Agency Project Summary and Preliminary Environmental Impacts 
Determination for the Depot District water main replacement to Order. Clerk Paul 
presented a copy of the Lawndale Bilingual Newspaper Proof of Publication of the 
Notice of Publ ic Hearing on February 6, 2020. Clerk Paul also stated that she placed the 
Notice of Public Hearing in the Berwyn Life newspaper for publication the following 
week. Clerk Paul stated that she had hung copies of the Notice of Public Hearing in City 
Hall and had copies of the Illinois Environmentol Protection Agency Project Summary 
and Preliminary Environmental Impacts Determination for the Depot District water 
main replacement letter dated January 23, 2020 available for public distribution . 

Clerk Paul recognized Berwyn Public Works Director Robert Schiller. Mr. Schiller 
introduced the Terra Engineering Ltd representatives to conduct the project 
presentation. Mr. Timothy Barry of Terra Engineering first invited all attendees to 
complete the Sign-In Sheets. Copies of the pamphlet Public Meeting Berwyn Depot 
District Utility Improvements Sewer and Water were distributed. 

Mr. Barry stated that the presentation would cover the Water Main Replacement 
Project as well as the planned Depot District sewer system improvements. He then gave 
a Power Point presentation regarding the projects. He directed the attendees to view 
maps of the project area hung at the back of Council Chambers. 

Mr. Barry concluded his presentation. He invited the attendees to ask questions or give 
statements on the project . Questions from the public and elected officials ensued. Mr. 
Barry stated that the Terra Engineering team would be present after the hearing to 
answer additional questions. 

Clerk Paul adjourned the Public Hearing at 6:30 p.m . 

2. Ridgeland and Harlem Public Hearings: Mayor Lovero asked for a call of the roll. 
Aldermen Lennon, Ramirez, Reardon, Fejt, Santoy, Ruiz, Avila, and Nowak answered 
present. The Mayor recognized Clerk Paul. Clerk Paul called the Public Hearing 
concern ing the Proposed First Amendment to the Harlem TIF to order at 6:40 p.m. Clerk 
Paul recognized Berwyn Development Corporation (BDC) Executive David Hulseberg. 
Mr. Hulseberg asked the attendees to remember to sign the Sign-In sheet for the 
meeting. He distributed a handout entitled: City of Berwyn Proposed 1st Amendment to 
Harlem TlF - Public Hearing February 25,2020. He introduced Bill McKenna of Kane, 

1 



Berwyn City Council Committee of the Whole 
Minutes of February 25, 2020 

McKenna and Associates, Inc. Mr. McKenna led the attendees through the material and 
a Power Point presentation on the proposed amendment to the Harlem TIF district. 

Mayor Lovero asked that the consultant review the map distributed . He stated the map 
provided included his property on Cermak and that the property should be excluded 
from the TIF area. 

Mr. Hulseberg invited the attendees to ask questions at the conclusion of Mr. 
McKenna's presentation. A question and answer period ensued . 

Clerk Paul adjourned the Public Hearing concerning the Harlem TIF at 7:20 p.m. She 
immediately called the Public Hearing concerning the proposed Establi shment of the 
Ridgeland Avenue TIF district to order. Aldermen Lennon, Ramirez, Reardon, Fejt, 
Santoy, Ruiz, Avila and Nowak answered Present on the call ofthe roll . Clerk Paul then 
recognized Mr. Hulseberg 

Mr. Hulseberg distributed copies of a handout entitled : City of Berwyn Proposed 
Ridgeland Avenue TlF - Public Hearing February 25, 2020. Mr. McKenna gave a Power 
Point presentation on the proposed TIF district. Attendees were invited to ask questions 
on the proposed TIF. A question and answer period ensued. 

Clerk Paul adjourned the Public Hearing at 7:35 p.m. 

3. 2020 Draft Budget Document Distribution: Mayor Lovero recognized Finance Director 
Benjamin Daish. Mr. Daish distributed draft copies of the City of Berwyn 2020 Annual 
Budget. He thanked all involved for helping to complete the draft budget. He announced 
that a Public Hearing on the budget would be called on Tuesday, March 10 at 5:45 p.m . 

Adjournment: There being no further item before the Council, Ald . Lennon made the motion, 
seconded by Ald . Santoy, to adjourn the Committee ofthe Whole. The motion carried by a 
unanimous voice vote. 

The Committee of the Whole adjourned at 7:40 p.m . 

Respectfully submitted by, 

Yl~~~ 

2 



MINUTES 
Regular Berwyn City Council Meeting 

February 25, 2020 
A. Meeting Opening: 

Mayor Lovero called the Regular Meeting of the City Council to Order at 8:00 P.M. Aldermen Lennon, 
Ramirez, Reardon, Fejt, Santoy, Ruiz, Avila, and Nowak answered Present on the Call of the Roll. Mayor 
Lovero led the Council and those in attendance in the Pledge of Allegiance. He asked for a moment of silence 
in memory of former City Clerk Donald Pechous and for the safety of our local First Responders. 

B. Open Forum: 
• Ms. Orozco from Sl. Odilo Parish announced the parish's Mardi gras dinner dance and 

raffle. She invited local business to be sponsors of the event. 
• BDC President Andy Sotirapoulis explained the Illinois' tax revenue change regarding 

video gaming terminals and the effect on business owners with gaming machine licenses. 
• Ald. Avila distributed information on the upcoming Census. 

C. Approval of Minutes: 
Motion by Ald. Avila, seconded by Ald. Fejt, to approve the Committee of the Whole and Regular City 
Council Minutes of February 25, 2020 as submitted. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 

D. Bid Openings: None submitted 

1-4: Motion by Ald. Avila, seconded by Ald. Nowak, to bring forward 1-4. The motion carried by a unanimous 
voice vote. Ald. Avila made the motion, seconded by Ald. Nowak, to concur and appoint Dylan Duncan to 
the position of Probationary Firefighter/Paramedic in the Berwyn Fire Department. The motion carried by a 
unanimous voice vote. Clerk Paul administered the Oath of Office to Mr. Duncan. 

E. Berwyn Township, Berwyn Health District, Berwyn Development Corporation: 
E-l: Ald. Lennon made the motion, seconded by Ald. A vila, to adopt the Ordinance entitled An Ordinance 
Amending Part 12, Title 4 of the Berwyn Code of Ordinances Regarding Zoning for the City of Berwyn, 
County of Cook, State of Illinois, direct the Corporate Authorities to affix the necessary signatures and send 
it on its way to passage. The motion carried by a unanimous roll call vote. 

F. Reports from the Mayor: 
F-I: Ald. A vila made the motion, seconded by Ald. Lennon to adopt the Proclamation recognizing 
February 2020 as African American History Month in Berwyn, direct the Corporate Authorities to affix 
the necessary signatures and place it on its way to passage. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 

G. Reports from the Clerk: 
G-l: Ald. Avila made the motion, seconded by Ald. Nowak, to approve the Resolution approving of the North 
Berwyn Park District Corrida del Mariachi 5-K run, direct the Corporate Authorities to affix the necessary 
s ignatures and send it on its way to passage. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
G-2: Ald. Avila made the motion, seconded by Ald. Nowak, to approve the additional street and alley closures 
as requested by the North Berwyn Park District for their event on August 14 and August 15,2020. The motion 
carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
G-3: Ald. Lennon made the motion, seconded by Ald. Nowak, to approve the event application submitted by 
the Christian Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses as submitted (deferred K-5 from 2/11/2020). The motion 
carried by a unanimous voice vote. 

H. Reports from Zoning, Planning, and Development Commission: None submitted. 
1 



Berwyn City Council Minutes 
February 25, 2020 continued 

I. Reports from the Aldermen, Committees and Boards: 
I-I: Motion by Ald. Ramirez, seconded by Ald. Reardon, to accept his communication as informational. Prior 
to his motion, Ald. Ramirez spoke at length about the purpose of his communication. Public Works Director 
Schiller was recognized. A lengthy discussion ensued. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
1-2: Motion by Ald. Ramirez, seconded by Ald. Lennon, to accept his communication as informational. Prior 
to his motion, Ald. Ramirez spoke at length about the purpose of his communication. Discussion ensued. The 
motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
1-3: Motion by Ald. Reardon, seconded by Ald. Ramirez, to refer her communication to the March 10,2020 
Committee of the Whole. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 

J. Reports from the Staff: 
J-I: Motion by Ald. Santoy, seconded by Ald. Lennon, to accept Finance Director Daish's communication 
as informational. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
J-2: Motion by Ald. Avila, seconded by Ald. Fejt, to adopt the Resolution approving the annual Baseball 
Parade on April 25, 2020, direct the Corporate Authorities to affix the necessary signatures and send it on its 
way to passage. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 
J-3: Ald. Ramirez made the motion, seconded by Ald. Reardon, to refer the proposed Ordinance entitled An 
Ordinance Amending Chapters 804, 827, and 879B of the Codified Ordinances of Berwyn Regarding 
Video Gaming Terminals and Automatic Amusement Machines for the City of Berwyn, County of 
Cook, State of Illinois to the Licensing and Taxation Aldermanic Committee. City Licensing Officer 
Anthony Perri was recognized. Discussion ensued. Mayor Lovero called for the vote. Ald. Ramirez and Ald. 
Reardon voted AYE. Aldermen Lennon, Fejt, Santoy, Ruiz, Avila, and Nowak voted NAY. Thereafter, Ald. 
Lennon made the motion, seconded by Ald. Santoy, to adopt the Ordinance, direct the Corporate Authorities 
to affix the necessary signatures and place it on its way to passage. On the call of the roll , Aldermen Lennon, 
Fejt, Santoy, Ruiz, Avila, and Nowak voted AYE. Aldermen Ramirez and Reardon voted NAY. 

K. Consent Agenda: 
Motion by Ald. Avila, seconded by Ald. Ruiz, to approve items K-2 through K-IO as submitted by omnibus 
designation. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote. 

Aldermanic Committee Meetings I Announcements: Ald. Ruiz announced a Sixth Ward Meeting for Saturday, 
March 7, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. Ald. Nowak announced an Administration Aldermanic Committee meeting in 
Council Chambers on March 4, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. and an Eighth Ward meeting on March 25, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. 

Adjournment: Ald. Nowak made the motion, seconded by Ald. Lennon, to adjourn. The motion carried by a 
unanimous voice vote. The meeting adjourned at the hour of 8:40 PM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

n~~-<-.-A 
Margaret 

2 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF 
BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 

[-I 

APPROVING FIRST AMENDMENT TO TAX INCREMENT REDEVELOPMENT 
PLAN AND PROJECT FOR THE 

HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. Santoy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael Avila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet fonn by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this _ day of , 2020. 



FIRST ORDINANCE 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF 
BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 

APPROVING FIRST AMENDMENT TO TAX INCREMENT REDEVELOPMENT 
PLAN AND PROJECT FOR THE 

HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, the City of Berwyn ("City") is a home rule municipality organized under 

the laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the State of Illinois has provided by law the 

Illinois Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5111-74.4-1 et seq. ("Act"), to 

assist in the financing of certain improvements in areas in the City which meet the requirements 

therein; and 

WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to Ordinance Numbers 11-26, 11-27, and 11-28 adopted 

on July 27, 2011, established the City's Harlem Avenue Tax Increment Financing District 

("Original TIF District") relative to the redevelopment project area, legally described in 

EXHIBIT A attached hereto and made part hereof ("Original Redevelopment Project Area"), 

approved a redevelopment plan and project in relation to the Original TIF District ("Original 

Redevelopment Plan and Project") and adopted tax increment financing for the Original TIF 

District; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to add certain parcels of property to the Original 

Redevelopment Project Area, said parcels of property being legally described in EXHIBIT B 

attached hereto and made part hereof ("Added Parcels"); and 



WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-74.4-5 of the Act, the Mayor and City Council of 

the City (the "Corporate Authorities") called a public hearing relative to amending the Original 

Redevelopment Project Area and Original Redevelopment Plan and Project to add the Added 

Parcels to the Original Redevelopment Project Area ("First Amended Redevelopment Project 

Area") and the Original Redevelopment Plan and Project ("First Amended Redevelopment Plan 

and Project") under the Act for February 25, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, due notice with respect to such hearing was given pursuant to Section I 1-

74.4-5 of the Act, said notice being given to taxing districts and to the Illinois Department of 

Commerce and Economic Opportunity by certified mail on December 23, 2019, by publication 

on January 30, 2020 and February 6, 2020 (in English) and January 31 , 2020 and February 7, 

2020 (in Spanish), and by certified mail to taxpayers within the Area on December 23 , 2019, 

2019; and 

WHEREAS, the City has heretofore convened a meeting of the Joint Review Board, 

which gave a positive recommendation, as required by and in all respects in compliance with the 

provisions of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the information concerning such 

factors presented at the public hearing and have reviewed other studies and are generally 

informed of the conditions in the proposed First Amended Redevelopment Project Area that 

could cause the First Amended Redevelopment Project Area to be confinned as a "conservation 

area" as defined in the Act, including obsolescence, deterioration, excessive vacancies, 

inadequate utilities, lack of community planning, and a lagging equalized assessed value; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the conditions pertaining to lack 

of private investment in the proposed First Amended Redevelopment Project Area to determine 



whether private development would take place in the proposed First Amended Redevelopment 

Project Area as a whole without the adoption of the proposed First Amended Redevelopment 

Plan and Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the conditions pertaining to real 

property in the proposed First Amended Redevelopment Project Area to detennine whether 

contiguous parcels of real property and improvements thereon in the proposed First Amended 

Redevelopment Project Area would be substantially benefited by the proposed Project 

improvements; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the proposed First Amended 

Redevelopment Plan and Project and also the existing comprehensive plan for development of 

the City as a whole to detennine whether the proposed First Amended Redevelopment Plan and 

Project confonn to the comprehensive plan of the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section I. 

findings: 

Findings. That the Corporate Authorities hereby make the following 

a. The First Amended Redevelopment Area is legally described in EXHIBIT 

~ attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The general 

street location for the First Amended Redevelopment Area is described in EXHIBIT D attached 

hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The map of the First 

Amended Redevelopment Area is depicted on EXHIBIT E attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as if set out in full by this reference. 



b. There exist conditions that cause the First Amended Redevelopment Area 

to be subject to designation as a redevelopment project area under the Act and to be confirmed as 

a "conservation area" as defined in Section 11-74.4-3(b) of the Act. 

c. The Added Parcels, on the whole, have not been subject to growth and 

development through investment by private enterprise and would not reasonably be anticipated 

to be developed without the adoption of the First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project. 

d. The First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project conform to the 

comprehensive plan for the development of the City as a whole, as reflected in the City 's zoning 

map. 

e. As set forth in the First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project, it is 

anticipated that all obligations incurred to finance redevelopment project costs, if any, as defined 

in the First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project, shall be retired within twenty-three (23) 

years after the Area is designated. 

f. The Added Parcels are contiguous to one another and the Original 

Redevelopment Project Area, and only those contiguous parcels of real property and 

improvements thereon that will be substantially benefited by the proposed Project improvements 

are included in the proposed Area. 

Section 2. Plan and Project Approved. That the First Amended Redevelopment 

Plan and Project, which were the subject matter of the public hearing held on February 25,2020, 

are hereby adopted and approved. A copy of the First Amended Redevelopment Plan and 

Project is set forth in EXHIBIT F attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by 

this reference. 



Section 3. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 4. Superseder and Effective Date. All ordinances, resolutions, motions, or 

orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by the 

Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

A IT ACHMENTS: 

EXHIBIT A - Original Redevelopment Project Area Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - Added Parcels Legal Description 

EXHIBIT C - First Amended Redevelopment Project Area Legal Description 

EXHIBIT D - First Amended Redevelopment Project Area General Street 
Location 

EXHIBIT E- Map of First Amended Redevelopment Project Area 

EXHIBIT F- First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

__ day of ____ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

tyES lNo ABSENT 

Lennon 

~amirez 

Reardon 

iF ejt 

Santoy 

iRuiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

[TOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ____ 2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

ORIGINAL REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



ORIGINAL HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19,20, 29 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE 
WITH THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT F, LOT E, LOT D, LOT C, 
LOT B AND LOT A IN BERWYN MANOR, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 

HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19, ALSO BEING THE 
SOUTH LINES OF LOTS 26, 37, 88, 99, 150, 161 , 212,223 , 274,285,336 and 347 IN SAID 

BERWYN MANOR; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID LOT 26; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS RIDGELAND A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
THE SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 5 IN B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND STREET 
SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 66 FEET THEREOF), OF THE CIRCUIT 
COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE 

WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, 
RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 

SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 5; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS CUYLER A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 

STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET TO THE 

NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 6; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12; 



THENCE EAST ACROSS HIGHLAND A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.57 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 7 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 

STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.65 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 7; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HARVEY AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.66 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 
STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.71 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 8, ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF 

LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD A VENUE TO ITS 
INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTH LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CERMAK 
ROAD WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS 
INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN 
BLOCK 5 IN HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER' S SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 5 AND 6 IN 
THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF HARVEY A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HARVEY AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID HARVEY AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EASTIWEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER' S 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF HIGHLAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HIGHLAND A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID HIGHLAND A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EASTIWEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 7 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 
IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 
39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 



THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF CUYLER AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID CUYLER AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID CUYLER AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EASTIWEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN SAID 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID RIDGELAND A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID RIDGELAND A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK I IN GROH AND CHRISTIAN ' S SUBDIVISION 
OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF ELMWOOD AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 2 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF GUNDERSON AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID GUNDERSON A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID GUNDERSON A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EASTIWEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 3 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN' S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF SCOVILLE A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EASTIWEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF EAST AVENUE; 



THENCE WEST ACROSS SAm EAST A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST 

LINE OF SAID EAST AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EASTIWEST PUBLIC 

ALLEY LYING NORTH AND ADJOINING LOT 5 IN THE CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST 

COMPANY' S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE 

NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF 

THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN ; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAm SOUTH LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

LOT 5 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 6 IN J. KLICMAN'S 

RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST HALF OF LOT I AND LOT 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62 

FEET) IN CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY' S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, 

TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TO 

THE NORTHWEST CORNER SAID LOT 6, ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE EAST LINE 

OF CLARENCE A VENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTH 31.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH 

QUARTER OF LOT 3 IN SAID CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S 

SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY 

EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 3 TO THE EASTERLY EXTENSION 

OF THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 10 IN KLIMA' S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 & 2 IN THE 

PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST 

QUARTER AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY 

EXTENSION TO A POINT IN THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY A VENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

EXCEPT 

LOT 217 IN BERWYN MANOR, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTH 1271.3 FEET OF THE 

SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 , EAST OF 

THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 

ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT B 

ADDED PARCELS 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



HARLEM CERMAK T1F FIRST AMENDMENT ADDED PARCELS LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 30 TO A POINT ON 
THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 17 FEET OF LOT 
28 IN BLOCK 9 OF KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN 
CORPORATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND 
THE EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 9; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 30TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 30TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK 5 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM 'S 
WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 29TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 29TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM' S 
WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND ALONG THE 
EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY
SOUTHWESTERL Y ALLEY IN KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION, BEING 
A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TO AN ANGLE 
POINT IN SAID NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY TO A 
POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF 
LOT 8 IN SAID KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION AND 
SOUTHWESTERLY LINE AND NORTHWESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT 
ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
AND NORTHEASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE 
NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN 
RIVERSIDE PARK SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION AND 
SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO 
THE SOUTHWEST CORN ER OF LOT 5 IN SAID HARLEM AND 26TH STREET 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND THE 
NORTHERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE 
OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST 
LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23 AND 126 IN THE 
22ND STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH RIGHT-OF
WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 127 AND 197 
IN SAID 22ND STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 99 AND 52 IN OAK PARK A VENUE 
AND 22ND STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF GROVE AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH HALF OF LOT 50 IN SAID OAK 
PARK AVENUE AND 22ND STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY LYING 
EAST OF AND ADJOINING SAID LOT 50; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 22 IN SAID OAK PARK 
AVENUE AND 22ND STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE AND 
EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 23 IN BLOCK I IN KLIMA' S SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND 
EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT
OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN SAID 
BLOCK I; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK I; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF WESLEY A VENUE; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 



BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER Of SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH RIGHT-Of
WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST 
RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of EUCLID AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE 
Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN SAID 
BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of OAK 
PARK AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "A" IN BERWYN GARDEN' S SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER Of SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENS ION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of GROVE 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "B" IN SAID BERWYN GARDEN ' S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 
KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST
WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "c" IN SAID BERWYN 
GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENS ION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 
CLINTON AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "0 " IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of HOME 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH Of AND ADJOIN ING LOT "E" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 
WENONAH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING LOT "f" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 
WISCONSIN AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST 



ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE Of MAPLE 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 19; 
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
EXCEPTING THEREfROM, LOTS 295, 296, 351 , 352 AND 353 IN SAID BERWYN 
GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART Of LOT I IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF Of 
SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER Of SECTION 30, DESCRIBED AS fOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 
CERMAK ROAD AND WITH THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of HOME AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST ON AN ASSUMED 
BEARING ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE 286.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE Of 5.0 fEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES, 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 321.70 FEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 61.50 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 161.00 
FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 160.00 fEET; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS EAST, 161.00 fEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST, 160.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT Of BEGINNING. 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 



THAT PART OF SAID LOT I IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF 
OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 243.02 FEET ALONG 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, 65.00 FEET TO THE 
SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD, (DEDICATED AS PER DOCUMENT 
NO. 19198042, RECORDED JULY 28, 1964) SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 91.26 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, 67.86 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, 59.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST, 87.41 FEET TO A 
POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HARLEM AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 107.00 FEET ALONG 
SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A 65.00 FEET RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE 
SOUTHEASTERLY; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 102.51 FEET 
(THE CHORD BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST TO A 
POINT ON SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 127.19 FEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 



EXHIBIT C 

FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION (HARLEM AVENUE T1F FIRST AMENDMENT): 

HARLEM CERMAK T1F FIRST AMENDMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THAT PART Of SECTIONS 19 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST Of 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING DESCRIBED 
AS fOLLOWS: 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER Of SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE Of SAID SECTION 30 TO A POINT ON 
THE WESTERLY EXTENSION Of THE NORTH LINE Of THE SOUTH 17 fEET Of LOT 
28 IN BLOCK 9 Of KIRCHMAN AND JED LAM' S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN 
CORPORATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER Of SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND 
THE EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY 
LINE Of THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 9; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of 30TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH 
RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of SAID 30TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE 
Of THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK 5 Of SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S 
WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE OF 29TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH 
RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of SAID 29TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE 
OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 Of SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM' S 
WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND ALONG THE 
EAST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY
SOUTHWESTERL Y ALLEY IN KOMAREK' S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION, BEING 
A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER Of SECTION 30, TO AN ANGLE 
POINT IN SAID NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY TO A 
POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION Of THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE Of 
LOT 8 IN SAID KOMAREK' S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION AND 
SOUTHWESTERLY LINE AND NORTHWESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT 
ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
AND NORTHEASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE 
NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN 
RIVERSIDE PARK SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION AND 
SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO 
THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 5 IN SAID HARLEM AND 26TH STREET 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND THE 
NORTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE 
OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST 
LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23 AND 126 IN THE 
22ND STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH RIGHT-OF
WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 127 AND 197 
IN SAID 22ND STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 



KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 99 AND 52 IN OAK PARK AVENUE 
AND 22ND STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDrVISION IN SAm NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF GROVE A VENUE; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH HALF OF LOT 50 IN SAID OAK 
PARK A VENUE AND 22ND STREET SUBDrVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY LYING 
EAST OF AND ADJOINING SAID LOT 50; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 
THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 22 IN SAID OAK PARK 
AVENUE AND 22ND STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE AND 
EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 23 IN BLOCK I IN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND 
EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT
OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN SAm 
BLOCK I; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK I; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF WESLEY A VENUE; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19; 



THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH RIGHT-OF
WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF EUCLID AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 
OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN SAID 
BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF OAK 
PARK AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY 
LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "A" IN BERWYN GARDEN' S SUBDIVISION, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF GROVE 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OFTHE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "B" IN SAID BERWYN GARDEN ' S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST
WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "C" IN SAID BERWYN 
GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
CLINTON AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "0 " IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "E" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
WENONAH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "F" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
WISCONSIN AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST 
ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 
SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MAPLE 
AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 
NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 
EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 19; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM, LOTS 295, 296, 351, 352 AND 353 IN SAID BERWYN 
GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF LOT 1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF 
SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
CERMAK ROAD AND WITH THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST ON AN ASSUMED 
BEARING ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 286.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.0 FEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES, 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 321.70 FEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 61.50 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 161.00 
FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 160.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS EAST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST, 160.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING. 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 



THAT PART OF SAID LOT I IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF 
OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 243.02 FEET ALONG 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, 65.00 FEET TO THE 
SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD, (DEDICATED AS PER DOCUMENT 
NO. 19198042, RECORDED JULY 28, 1964) SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 91.26 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, 67.86 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, 59.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST, 87.41 FEET TO A 
POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HARLEM AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 107.00 FEET ALONG 
SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A 65.00 FEET RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE 
SOUTHEASTERLY; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 102.51 FEET 
(THE CHORD BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST TO A 
POINT ON SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 127.19 FEET ALONG 
SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

AND 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19,20, 29 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE 
WITH THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE EASTfWEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT F, LOT E, LOT D, LOT C, 
LOT B AND LOT A IN BERWYN MANOR, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 
HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19, ALSO BEING THE 
SOUTH LINES OF LOTS 26, 37, 88, 99, 150,161,212,223,274, 285, 336 and 347 IN SAID 
BERWYN MANOR; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER 
OF SAID LOT 26; 



THENCE EAST ACROSS RIDGELAND A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
THE SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 5 IN B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND STREET 
SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 66 FEET THEREOF), OF THE CIRCUIT 
COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE 
WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, 
RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCLPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 5; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS CUYLER A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 
STREET SUBDIVISION ; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 6 ; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HIGHLAND A VENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.57 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 7 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 
STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.65 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 7; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HARVEY AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.66 FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22ND 
STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTH 14.71 FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 8, ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF 
LOMBARD A VENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD A VENUE TO ITS 
INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTH LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CERMAK 
ROAD WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOMBARD A VENUE; 



THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD A VENUE TO ITS 
INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EASTIWEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN 
BLOCK 5 IN HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER' S SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 5 AND 6 IN 
THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN ; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF HARVEY AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HARVEY A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID HARVEY A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EASTIWEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER' S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF HIGHLAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HIGHLAND A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 7 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 
IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 
39 NORTH, RANGE 13 , EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF CUYLER AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID CUYLER AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID CUYLER AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST 
PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN SAID 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID RIDGELAND A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 1 IN GROH AND CHRISTIAN ' S SUBDIVISION 
OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN ; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF ELMWOOD AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 2 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S 
SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF GUNDERSON AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID GUNDERSON A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EASTIWEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 3 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN ' S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF SCOVILLE A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID SCOVILLE A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 IN SAID GROH AND CHRlSTIAN ' S 
SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF EAST A VENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID EAST A VENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID EAST AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC 
ALLEY LYING NORTH AND ADJOINING LOT 5 IN THE CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST 
COMPANY' S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
LOT 5 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 6 IN J. KLICMAN ' S 
RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST HALF OF LOT 1 AND LOT 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62 
FEET) IN CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY' S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 
ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, 
TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TO 
THE NORTHWEST CORNER SAID LOT 6, ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE EAST LINE 
OF CLARENCE A VENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTH 31.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH 
QUARTER OF LOT 3 IN SAID CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S 
SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY 
EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 3 TO THE EASTERLY EXTENSION 
OF THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 10 IN KLIMA' S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 & 2 IN THE 
PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 



THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY 
EXTENSION TO A POINT IN THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

EXCEPT 

LOT 217 IN BERWYN MANOR, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTH 1271.3 FEET OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 

ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT D 

The Redevelopment Project Area (the nRPAn) RPA is generally bounded on the south by 
the 31 st Street, on the east by Lombard Avenue, on the north by Cermak Road (including 
properties on the north and south side of Cermak Road), and on the west by the City Boundaries 
at Harlem Avenue. The RP A contains mixed residential uses, retail/commercial properties and 
institutional uses. 



EXHIBIT E 

MAP OF FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PROJECT 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED, BOUNDARY MAP 



EXHIBIT F 

FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PROJECT 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF BERWYN 
HARLEM TIF PROJECT AREA 

Prepared Jointly by: 

City of Berwyn 
and 

Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 

Original Redevelopment Plan and Project: July, 2011 
First Amendment to Redevelopment Plan and Project: November, 2019 

1 



The City of Berwyn's (hereinafter the "City") Harlem TIF Redevelopment Project Area is 
hereby amended as described herein. The amendatory language contained herein constitutes the 
First Amendment to the TIF Redevelopment Plan adopted in 2011. 

I) All references to " Harlem TIF" throughout the City of Berwyn T1F Redevelopment 
Plan Harlem TIF District" shall be amended to read as "Harlem Cermak TIF" 

2) Section I " Introduction", subsection "Community Background", on Page 2, second 
paragraph, third sentence shall be amended to read " Harlem Avenue and Cermak Road , 
two of the oldest arterial roads in the region, serve as important gateways to the 
community." 

3) Section I "Introduction", subsection "the Proposed TIF District", on Page 3, is hereby 
replaced with the following: 

"The proposed RPA , as amended, consists of approximately 351 tax parcels." 

4) Section 1 "Introduction", subsection " the Proposed TIF District", on Page 3, at the end 
of the first paragraph, the following sentence shall be added 

"The retail , commercial and mixed-use areas along the north and south sides of 
Cermak Road between Harlem Avenue to the west and Lombard Avenue to the 
east are included in the amended TIF District." 

5) Section II "Redevelopment Project Legal Description", on page 7, shall be replaced 
with an amended Appendix 1. 

6) Section II " RPA Legal Description", on page 7, references a legal description in 
Appendix 1. The boundary map, as amended, is now included in Appendix I attached 
hereto. 

7) Section IV "Evidence of the Lack of Development and Growth; Fiscal Impact on 
Taxing Districts", subsection "Evidence of the Lack of Development and Growth 
Within the RPA", on page 12, will have added a new paragraph after the second 
paragraph as follows: 

"The RPA as amended consists of older buildings and properties located on the north 
and south sides of Cermak Road, between Harlem Avenue to the west and Lombard 
Avenue to the east. Concerns relating to the marketability of current uses, along with 
the ability to compete in the wider market place, have served as the basis for the 
expansion of the RP A in order to increase investment and job creation along Cermak 
Road." 

8) Section V "TIF Qualification Factors Present in the RPA", subsection " Findings", on 
page 14, is amended to add a new second paragraph as follows: 

"The amended RPA was also studied to determine its qualification under the Tax 
Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act. It was determined that the area as a 

2 



whole qualifies as a TIF district under the Act. Refer to the First Amendment 
Harlem Cermak TIF Eligibility Report attached as Appendix 5 in thi s Plan." 

9) Section V "TlF Qualification Factors Present in the RPA", subsection "Eligibility 
Survey", on page 14, is amended to include "and November, 2019" after "August 
2010" . Appendix 5 is also hereby amended to include the " Harlem Cennak TlF First 
Amendment Eligibility Report" for the properties on the north and south side of 
Cennak Road between Harlem A venue to the west and Lombard A venue to the east. 

10) Section VI "Redevelopment Project", subsection "General Land Use Plan", on Page 
18, references existing land uses in Appendix 3 and future land uses in Appendix 4. 
The existing land uses and future land uses, as amended, are now included in Appendix 
3 and Appendix 4, respectively, attached hereto. 

II) Section VI "Redevelopment Project", subsection "Most Recent Assessed Valuation 
for the RPA", on Page 26, is amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

"The total base year equalized assessed valuation for the original 
Redevelopment Project Area is approximately $42,224,511 , based on 2009 
EA V. The First Amendment to the Plan and Project EA V is estimated to 
increase the base year EAV by approximately $19,776,790. The First 
Amendment to the RP A base equalized assessed valuation is expected to be 
for the 2018 tax year". 

15) Section VII "Description and Scheduling of Redevelopment Project", subsection 
"Redevelopment Project", on Pages 27 and 28 is amended to add one new bullet 
point paragraph at the end of the bullet points (before subsection "Commitment to 
Fair Employment Practices and Affinnative Action", as follows: 

"Affordable Housing Funding: The City may fund up to 50% of the cost of 
construction of new housing units for units to be occupied by low income or very 
low-income households as defined by Section 3 of the Illinois Affordable Housing 
Act and pursuant to the requirements of the TIF Act." 

16) Appendix I, entitled "Legal Description of Project Area", is deleted and is replaced 
by an amended Appendix Exhibit I attached hereto and made part hereof. 

17) Appendix 2, entitled "Boundary Map of RPA", is deleted and replaced by an amended 
Appendix 2 attached hereto and made part hereof. 

18) Appendix 3, entitled "Existing Land Use Map ofRPA", is deleted and replaced by 
an amended Appendix 3 attached hereto and made part hereof. 

19) Appendix 4, entitled " Future Land Use Map of RPA" is deleted and replaced by an 
amended Appendix 4 attached hereto and made part hereof. 

3 



20) Appendix 5, entitled "T1F Qualification Report" is amended to add " First 
Amendment to the City of Berwyn Harlem Cermak TIF" attached hereto and 
made part hereof. 

21) Appendix 6, entitled " Housing Impact Study" is amended to add "City of Berwyn 
Housing Impact Study for the Proposed Amended Harlem Cermak Tax Increment 
Financing Redevelopment Project Study Area" attached hereto and made part 
hereof. 

4 



APPENDIX 1 

HARLEM CERAMK TIF, AS AMENDED 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

5 



HARLEM CERMAK TlF LEGAL DESCRIPTION, AS AMENDED 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19 AND 3D, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PEINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 30 TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 

EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 17 FEET OF LOT 28 IN BLOCK 9 OF KIRCHMAN AND 

JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE 

SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN 

SAID BLOCK 9; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF 30TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 

30TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK S OF SAID 

KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINTON THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF 29TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 

29TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 OF SAID 

KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND ALONG THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF THE NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE DRIVE 

SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 3D, TO AN ANGLE 

POINT IN SAID NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 81N SAID KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE 

DRIVE SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHWESTERLY LINE AND 

NORTHWESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

6 



THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND NORTHEASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY

SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN RIVERSIDE PARK SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE HARLEM AND 26TH 

STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 

OF LOT S IN SAID HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF 

TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST HALF 

OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING THE NORTH LINE OF 

LOTS 23 AND 126 IN THE 22 NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 127 AND 

197 IN SAID 22NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 99 AND 52 IN OAK PARK AVENUE 

AND 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF GROVE AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH HALF OF LOT 50 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE WEST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY LYING EAST OF AND ADJOINING SAID LOT 50; 

7 



THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION 

OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 22 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH 

LINE OF LOT 23 IN BLOCK liN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTHEASTERLY

SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN 

BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF EUCLID AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN 

SAID BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF OAK PARK AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "A" IN BERWYN GARDEN'S 

SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF GROVE AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "B" IN SAID BERWYN GARDEN'S 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "c" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

8 



THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "D" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO 

APOINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "E" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WENONAH AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " F" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WISCONSIN AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "G" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MAPLE AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A 

POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 19; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM, LOTS 295, 296, 351, 352 AND 353 IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF LOT liN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD AND WITH THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME 

AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST ON AN ASSUMED BEARING ALONG SAID 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 286.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.0 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES, 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 321.70 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE; 

9 



THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 61.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MIUNUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 160.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS EAST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST, 160.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF SAID LOT liN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 243.02 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 

SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, 65.00 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF CERMAK ROAD, (DEDICATED AS PER DOCUMENT NO. 19198042, RECORDED JULY 28, 1964) SAID 

POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 91.26 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, 67.86 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, 59.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST, 87.41 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HARLEM AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 107.00 FEET ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE TO A 65.00 FEET RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY 

ALONG SAID CURVE 102.51 FEET (THE CHORD BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 56 SECONDS 

EAST TO A POINT ON SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 127.19 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

AND 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19, 20, 29 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE WITH THE WESTERLY 

EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING 

LOT F, LOT E, LOT D, LOT C, LOT B AND LOT A IN BERWYN MANOR, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 

10 



HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINES OF LOTS 26, 37, 

88, 99, 150, 161,212, 223, 274,285,336 and 347 IN SAID BERWYN MANOR; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 26; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 18 FEET OF 

LOT 27 IN BLOCK 5 IN B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 66 

FEET THEREOF), OF THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

AND THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 

EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF 

LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 5; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS CUYLER AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 

27 IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEETTO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF 

LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 6; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEETTO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.57 FEET OF 

LOT 27 IN BLOCK 7 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.65 FEET OF 

LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 7; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HARVEY AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.66 FEET OF LOT 

27 IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22 NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.71 FEET OF 

LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 8, ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTH 

LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CERMAK ROAD WITH THE WEST 

LINE OF SAID LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTH 

LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 5 IN HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER'S SUBDIVISION OF 

11 



BLOCKS 5 AND 6 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 

NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF HARVEY 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HARVEY AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

HARVEY AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID HENRY H. 

& JESSIE S. WALKER'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF HIGHLAND 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

HIGHLAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/ WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 71N THE 

SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, 

TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF CUYLER AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID CUYLER AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID CUYLER 

AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/ WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION OF 

BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

RIDGELAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK liN GROH AND 

CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF ELMWOOD 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

ELMWOOD AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 2 IN SAID GROH 

AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF GUNDERSON 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

GUNDERSON AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 31N SAID 

GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF SCOVILLE 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

SCOVILLE AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 IN SAID GROH 

AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

12 



THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF EAST AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID EAST AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID EAST 

AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/ WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH AND ADJOINING LOT 5 

IN THE CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF 

OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND ALSO ALONG 

THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 61N J. KliCMAN'S RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST HALF OF LOT 1 AND LOT 4 

(EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62 FEET) IN CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 

13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER SAID LOT 6, ALSO BEING A 

POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF CLARENCE AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE 

OF THE NORTH 31.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH QUARTER OF LOT 3 IN SAID CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST 

COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 3 TO THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF 

LOT 10 IN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 & 2 IN THE PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 ACRES OF THE 

WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT IN THE 

CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

EXCEPT 

LOT 217 IN BERWYN MANOR, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTH 1271.3 FEET OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 

ALLIN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

13 



APPENDIX 2 

HARLEM CERAMK TIF, AS AMENDED 

BOUNDARY MAP 

14 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED, BOUNDARY MAP 

15 



APPENDIX 3 

HARLEM CAERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED 

CURRENT LAND USE MAP 

16 



... 
" 

I 

2SI.TH.5 r 

,I' 

.---:-_'-- 23RDST • • .......... "' ·-'1 -:: ~-- 'r.:: . 
~F.-f:~ :~~L:" ~~ ~ '~~ ~-r.; --~- l~~-=i::~~~~-~~:E' 

r c; :i '~" w <="' ~' ~~ ~ 1 ' ! - ~_{--l ..; ~-:.~ d 5-i-~-
.. 0 ~I'''':' ! >" _ - - ~ " TH ST ~ -;. :s- - -> '-'. 3- e": ~c-.-g~1IJ ~ I ~ -:.. _ 101 t~ ::S- w 

~ , ~ ~ ~ ~ j' > ., . ~ -- • > 
- Z -"! I t x~~ g' i -~ ~ I ,0 _ i ~ -ij~--g- -: e,.-;-Q=_~ 
. ,""'~-:=1. ~- ~~~. '~q~::...::!, ~.~ --i H - , ''=-=f -:- r....:.<- :r.,;--~l 

.. c:::; f ~::h ::!~ '. ' ~. f, 1 ~-' :il ~ ; L~ ~ ~" 
::,5 L...Ch j'l::: i t -!Jl~t1 .\l);:'Lli·~ I' t<;.:J! ,_1"i-~ " _..... _J. "", iiht) . _-1 i4::J F-." _ I .'_" _ ft+-

" ~.'" ~ L ,' ''''' ' 'ro ~~"" Ir- I tll 'T" ..... 
-.~ __ . ~~ , UA. ' ~_ L , .l!I:,~ 

-:''} '",- 26TH S'. =r m ".,-; - [ l:!ta nT., ;:r, T~ 
•• - "':'-, . ,',r. .At:''''j J:'''':''''' .,--- - -IT'- ,'. '-,' '- ---

~,~ ",~ -. 'r' "'l,-t I I " TH PI. • :-1 -..... ,-j-l~. """-, z: j J! 1"' - r F -~ T-: 1·~::- ·'1!..1:l Ir";'~ t-:::l ~ __ ~tJ r-:r.
- .-., - ' "-1-'-, . c, i n 1 " .. ~ I ... !ulI2Lll _ .. 1... -"i(-- = f+--
- 1-.•. !~r'] ['l ~-j ' -'V"'-"''['rr:''--'' ~-' E,Tr ;.+.. - . • I -~ , :" - r >--, [ J ""'- J'~' , : -- -. j 

"~ , -. • '. _....J .. l.: • ---' • , 'r .... "'-= ~ t- -I III I -. 4 11 I-271m PL I.... " ' -
,. '1-' I' I I . ---

" - - • • I":' I' 1 • I '( :.... Lj I _. --

W , ' t-' 21!.t!S!. :, ~I I II 'I"'; 3!!!!..!!.T~;; == ~ , - , j L1. t~ "fl=~ dr.!: . --:' 1 
~ .-.,........., 29THPl , T'HPl .... I .:~ j i-
~ ;I ''''I 'I," J .. l .~J L ~ ~ '='~ •..• , .••. 1 .• ~' 3OTH S - 29Tf1 S1 .,.- "~.. , ' J t- --_,~~ . + = Ii! ~ 
"~~J-'-' w rlOTHPl - w - -< '''''w 

, jl!J·.I_! ~ ..... w t,> ~- >: 
:..J..L ::r: .. , .... ~ I 0( ~ ~T! 

Harlem TIF
Current Zoning 

D- Existing Harlem TfF 

D- Proposed Harlem TIF 
Extension 

City of Berwyn Zoning Map 

C-1 NeighborhOOd Mixed-Use District 

C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 

_ C-J Depot Mixed-Use District 

~ c;.4 Corridor Commercial District 

I Industrial District 

P Public Areas Oislrid 

R-1 Slngle.Family Residence District 

R-2 Bungalow District 

R·3 Two-Family Residence District 

~ R-4 MuI1j-Family Residence Distrk: t 

::c 

~ 
t"l a: 
n 

~ 
n 
-l -.'"l 
> 
'" > a: 
t"l 
Z 
t:I 
t"l 
.t:I 
n 
c: 

~ 
Z 
-l 
t"' 
> 
Z 
t:I 
c: 
'" t"l 

'" 



APPENDIX 4 

HARLEM CERMAK TlF, AS AMENDED 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

18 



.... 
'" 

':\~ .... ,-

~ 

• 

~ 

-

• 
I 

• 

-.... ~ - -

Harlem TIF-

Future Land Use 

D- Existing Harlem TlF 

D- Proposed Harlem TIF 
Extension 

Historic Residential 

Neighborhood Residential 

Compact Residential 

Neighborhood Transitional 

Transitional 

Neighborhood Commercial 

Mixed Use 

Mixed / Healthcare Focus 

• Destination Commercial 

• Parks and Open Space 

Institutional 

Industrial 

Transportation 

::t: 
> 
12 
t"l ::: 
("'J 
t"l 

I ~ 
-l -."'" > 
1JJ 

> 
~ 
Z 
1:1 
t"l 

.1:1 

"'" c:: 
-l 
c:: 
g;; 
~ 
> 
Z 
1:1 
c:: 
1JJ 
t"l 
1JJ 



APPENDIX 5 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF BERWYN 
HOWARD AND RIDGE TIF QUALIFICATIONIDESIGNATION REPORT 

20 



DRAFT DATED 11127/2019 

CITY OF BERWYN, ILLINOIS 
HARLEM CERMAK TIF FIRST AMENDMENT 

ELIGIBILITY REPORT 

A study to detennine whether all or a portion of an area located in the City of 
Berwyn qualifies as a "conservation area" as set forth in the definition in the Tax 
Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5111-74.4-3 , et ~., as 
amended. 

Prepared for: City of Berwyn, Illinois 

Prepared by: Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 

November, 2019 



CrTY OF BERWYN, ILLINOIS 
HARLEM CERMAK TIF AMENDMENT ELIGIBILITY REPORT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION TITLE 

Executive Summary 

I. Introduction and Background 

II. Qualification Criteria 

Ill. The Redevelopment Project Area 

IV. Methodology of Evaluation 

V. Qualification Findings for Proposed Amendment Area 

VI. Summary of Findings 

Appendix A: Tax Parcels for Proposed Amendment Area 
Appendix B: Boundary Map of Proposed Amendment Area 

PAGE 

1 

4 

7 

9 

10 

15 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In the preparation of planning for a first amendment to the Harlem Cermak TIF District 
within the boundaries described in the map attached hereto as Exhibit I (the "TIl' Amendment" or 
the "Amendment Area"), the City of Berwyn (the "City") has authorized a study of a proposed 
amendment to the Harlem Cermak TlF redevelopment project area to determine whether the 
proposed Amendment Area qualifies for consideration as a Tax Increment Financing District (the 
"TlF"). Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. ("KMA"), has agreed to undertake the study of the 
proposed Amendment Area. 

The Harlem Cermak Amendment Area is an " L" shaped TIl' District, situated along the 
east side Harlem Avenue between 31 51 Street to the south and Cermak Road to the north, then 
extending east along both sides of Cermak Road to Wesley Avenue. The proposed Amendment 
Area extends eastward from Wesley Avenue, along the north and south sides of Cermak Road, to 
Lombard Avenue. 

The proposed Amendment Area exhibits signs of deterioration, lack of community 
planning, deleterious layout, and obsolescence which has resulted in piecemeal development. 
\Many propel1ies are functionally obsolete due to age and current market conditions and 
underutilized buildings are present as well. Site preparation and land assembly may also be 
necessary in order to reconfigure parcels and improvements for more contemporary uses and 
various other commercial/retail/residential mixed uses. The qualification factors discussed within 
this Report qualify the proposed Amendment Area as a "conservation area", as that term is 
hereinafter defined pursuant to 65 lLCS 5/11-74.4-3 et. ~., as amended. 

Based upon the analysis completed to date, KMA has reached the following conclusions 
regarding the potential qualification of the proposed Amendment Area: 

I) The area qualifies as a "conservation area" - The proposed Amendment Area qualifies 
as a "conservation area" as defined under the TIl' Act. The area in aggregate is in danger of 
declining toward a blighted condition due to factors identified in this report which the area 
generally suffers from. These conditions prevent or threaten healthy economic and physical 
development of the area. The TlF Act states that an area may only qualify as a "conservation area" 
if the majority (50% or more) of the structures are 35 years or older. For the proposed Amendment 
Area, 71 of the 80 structures, or 89%, are 35 years or older in age. Thus, the proposed Amendment 
Area meets the statutory criteria for consideration as a "conservation area." 

2) The current conditions impede redevelopment - The existence of certain conditions found 
within the proposed Amendment Area present a barrier to the area's successful redevelopment. 
The current conditions in the proposed Amendment Area are impediments to redevelopment, 
creating an environment where it is reasonable to assume redevelopment would not take place "but 
for" the use of the TIF Act. The factors present on the ground negatively impact coordinated and 
substantial private sector investment in the overall area. Without the use of City planning and 



economic development resources to mitigate such factors, potential redevelopment projects (along 
with other activities that require private sector investment) are not likely to be economically 
feasible. 

3) Viable redevelopment sites could produce incremental revenue - Within the proposed 
Amendment Area, there are several parcels which potentially could, with TIF-related assistance, 
be redeveloped and thereby produce incremental property tax revenue. Such revenue, used in 
combination with other City resources for redevelopment incentives or public improvements, 
would likely stimulate private investment and reinvestment in these sites and ultimately throughout 
the proposed Amendment Area. 

4) TIF designation is recommended - To mitigate "conservation area" conditions, promote 
private sector investment, and foster the economic viability of the proposed Amendment Area, 
KMA recommends that the City proceed with the fonnal TIF designation process for the proposed 
Amendment Area. 

Because the City may consider the redevelopment of residential parcels that could 
potentially dislocate 10 or more residential units within the proposed Amendment Area, the 
City will conduct an amendment to its existing housing impact study pursuant to the TIF 
Act. 

11 



I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

The proposed Amendment Area, is located primarily along the western boundary of the 
City, east of Harlem Avenue, and includes frontage properties extending eastward along Cermak 
Road from Wesley Avenue to Lombard Avenue, in an area traditionally used for commercial and 
commercial-residential mixed uses. 

The proposed Amendment Area is part of a strategically significant corridor along Cermak 
Road and has recently received substantial focus by the City. Cermak Road is an important 
east/west alterial road that intersects with Harlem. The intersection of the two roads has one of 
the highest traffic counts in western Cook County. Land uses along Cermak Road consist of 
commercial retail, office, and mixed uses. Most of the building structures are more than thirty-five 
years old, and a significant proportion of those are close to one-hundred years old. Several 
Cennak Road properties are registered on the national or state registry of historic places. 

The City of Berwyn Comprehensive Plan (2012) calls for "continuing to foster a positive 
environment for retail , service and entertainment businesses at key locations in the City". This 
includes converting "vacant and lInderlltilized commercial properties into high-quality 
developments that cater to the needs of residents and visitors". The City'S comprehensive plan 
specifically identifies Cermak Road as one of the focus areas for these redevelopment efforts. 

The proposed Amendment Area has the potential to make a significant contribution to 
growth in the City. However, the City'S comprehensive plan describes characteristics of the area 
which deter investment and prohibit the proposed Amendment Area from being fully utilized. For 
example, land use factors, such as being built out and land locked, and smaller parcel sizes, 
preclude development oflarger sites, as well as prevent existing businesses from expanding, except 
vertically, 

Objectives- The City'S general economic and community development objectives are to enhance 
commercial and mixed-use opportunities within the area, to promote redevelopment in 
underutilized areas, and entice private redevelopment of the proposed Amendment Area to 
strengthen the City'S tax base, while improving the quality of life for residents. 

Given the City'S objectives as well as the conditions described in this report, the City has 
made a determination that it is highly desirable to promote redevelopment of the under-utilized 
areas of the proposed Amendment Area. Without an implementation plan for redevelopment, City 
officials believe adverse conditions will worsen. The City intends to expand the area of its plan in 
order to restore, stabilize, and increase the economic base associated with the proposed 
Amendment Area, which will not only benefit the community as a whole, but also generate 
additional tax revenues to SUppOlt municipal services. 

Determination of the "But For"- The City has determined that planned redevelopment for the 
proposed Amendment Area is feasible only with public fmance assistance. The creation and 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 



utilization of a TIF redevelopment plan and redevelopment agreements for the proposed Area are 
intended by the City to help provide the assistance required to eliminate conditions detrimental to 
successful redevelopment of the proposed Amendment Area, and to improve the tax base and job 
creation within the City 

TIF Mechanism- The use of TIF relies upon induced private redevelopment in the proposed 
Amendment Area to create higher real estate values that would otherwise decline without such 
investment. By so doing, it would result in increased property taxes compared to the previous land 
use (and/or absence of use). In this way, the existing tax base for all tax districts would be protected 
and a portion of future increased taxes pledged to attract the requisite private investment. 

Current Land Use- Land uses are primarily commercial , retail, and mixed-use 
commerciaVresidential. The area is predominantly zoned for commercial and mixed uses. Despite 
its advantageous location, many parcels in the area are struggling to stay competitive in a 
marketplace which has changed since their original development. The area faces challenges due 
to changed spatial needs for development and changed standards for mixed-use and commercial 
uses. The presence of obsolete and older buildings and site improvements contribute to the 
outmoded and "tired" appearance of the proposed Amendment Area. The addition of the proposed 
Amendment Area to the TIF District would provide the City with an opportunity to bring 
revitalized development to an area that, due to age, appearance and configuration, may be viewed 
as less competitive in the marketplace. 

The proposed Amendment Area suffers from a variety of economic development 
impediments identified in the TIF Act. Specifically, it experiences deterioration, obsolescence, 
and lack of community planning, and inadequate utilities. Section V of this report identifies other 
impediments to redevelopment. 

General Scope and Methodology- KMA formally began its analysis by conducting a series of 
meetings and discussions with City staff starting in June, 2019 and continuing up to the date of 
this report's issuance. The purpose of the meetings was to establish boundaries for initial analysis, 
and to gather data related to the qualification criteria for parcels included in the proposed 
Amendment Area. These meetings were complemented by a series of field surveys for the entire 
proposed Amendment Area to evaluate the condition of the proposed TIF. KMA made numerous 
site visits to the area to examine the parcels and the conditions. KMA also utilized the City of 
Berwyn Comprehensive Plan (2012) and other City reports. 

For the purpose of the study, properties within the proposed Amendment Area were 
examined in the context of the TIF Act governing improved areas (separate provisions of the Act 
address non-improved or vacant areas). The qualification factors discussed in this report qualify 
the area as a "conservation area," as the term is defined pursuant to the TIF Act. 

During the course of its work, KMA reported to key City staff its findings regarding TIF 
qualification and feasibility prospects for the area under study. Based on these findings the City 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

2 



(a) made refinements to the proposed Amendment Area boundaries and (b) directed KMA to 
complete this report and to move fOlward with the preparation of a Redevelopment Plan and 
Project for the Amendment Area. 

For additional information about KMA 's data collection and evaluation methods, refer to 
Section IV of this report. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak T1F First Amendment 

3 



II. QUALIFICATION CRITERIA 

With the assistance of City staff, Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. assessed the proposed 
Amendment Area to detelmine the presence or absence of qualifying factors listed in the TIF Act. 
The relevant sections of the Act are found below . 

The Act sets out specific procedures which must be adhered to in designating a proposed 
Amendment Area/Redevelopment Project Area. By definition, a Redevelopment Project Area is: 

"An area designated by the municipality, which is not less in the aggregate than I Y, acres 
and in respect to which the municipality has made a finding that there exist conditions 
which cause the area to be classified as a blighted area or a conservation area, or a 
combination of both blighted areas and conservation areas." 

Under the Act, "conservation area" means any improved area within the boundaries of a 
Redevelopment Project Area located within the territorial limits of the municipality where certain 
conditions are met, as identified below. 

TIF Qualification Factors for a "conservation area"- In accordance with the Illinois TIF Act, 
KMA performed a two-step assessment to determine if the proposed Amendment Area would 
qualify as a "conservation area." First, KMA analyzed the threshold factor of age to determine if 
50% or more of structures were 35 years of age or older. 

If a proposed "conservation area" meets the age threshold, then the following factors are examined 
to determine TIF qualification: 

If a "conservation area," industrial, commercial and residential buildings or improvements 
are detrimental to the public safety, health or welfare because of a combination of three or 
more of the following factors, each of which is (i) present, with that presence documented 
to a meaningful extent so that a municipality may reasonably find that the factor is clearly 
present within the intent of the Act and (ii) reasonably distributed throughout the improved 
part of the Redevelopment Project Area: 

(A) Dilapidation: An advanced state of disrepair or neglect of necessary repairs to the 
primary structural components of building or improvements in such a combination that a 
documented building condition analysis determines that major repair is required or the 
defects are so serious and so extensive that the buildings must be removed. 

(B) Obsolescence: The condition or process of falling into disuse. Structures become 
ill-suited for the original use. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

4 



(C) Deterioration: With respect to buildings, defects including, but not limited to, 
major defects in the secondary building components such as doors, windows, porches, 
gutters, downspouts, and fascia. With respect to surface improvements, that the condition 
of roadways, alleys, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, off-street parking and surface storage areas 
evidence deterioration, including, but limited to, surface cracking, crumbling, potholes, 
depressions, loose paving material and weeds protruding through paved surfaces. 

(D) Presence of Structures Below Minimum Code Standards: All structures that do not 
meet the standards of zoning, subdivision, building, fire and other governmental codes 
applicable to property, but not including housing and property maintenance codes. 

(E) Illegal Use of Individual Structures: The use of structures in violation of applicable 
federal , State, or local laws, exclusive of those applicable to the presence of structures 
below minimum code standards. 

(F) Excessive Vacancies: The presence of buildings that are unoccupied or under
utilized and that represent an adverse influence on the area because of the frequency, extent, 
or duration of the vacancies. 

(G) Lack of Ventilation, Light, or Sanitary Facilities: The absence of adequate 
ventilation for light or air circulation in spaces or rooms without windows, or that require 
the removal of dust, odor, gas, smoke or other noxious airborne materials. Inadequate 
natural light and ventilation means the absence of skylights or windows for interior spaces 
or rooms and improper window sizes and amounts by room area to window area ratios. 
Inadequate sanitary facilities refers to the absence or inadequacy of garbage storage and 
enclosure, bathroom facilities , hot water and kitchens and structural inadequacies 
preventing ingress and egress to and from all rooms and units within a building. 

(H) Inadequate Utilities: Underground and overhead utilities such as storm sewers and 
storm drainage, sanitary sewers, water lines and gas, telephone and electrical services that 
are shown to be inadequate. Inadequate utilities are those that are: (i) of insufficient 
capacity to serve the uses in the Redevelopment Project Area; (ii) deteriorated, antiquated, 
obsolete or in disrepair; or (iii) lacking within the Redevelopment Project Area. 

(I) Excessive Land Coverage and Overcrowding of Structures and Community 
Facilities: The over-intensive use of property and the crowding of buildings and accessory 
facilities onto a site. Examples of problem conditions warranting the designation of an 
area as exhibiting excessive land coverage are: (i) the presence of buildings either 
improperly situated on parcels or located on parcels of inadequate size and shape in relation 
to present-day standards of development for health and safety and (ii) the presence of 
multiple buildings on a single parcel. For there to be a finding of excessive land coverage, 
these parcels must exhibit one or more of the following conditions: insufficient provision 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

5 



for light and air within or around buildings, increased threat of spread of fire due to the 
close proximity of buildings, lack of adequate or proper access to a public right-of-way, 
lack of reasonably required off-street parking or inadequate provision for loading service. 

(J) Deleterious Land-Use or Layout: The existence of incompatible land-use 
relationships, buildings occupied by inappropriate mixed-uses or uses are considered to be 
noxious, offensive or unsuitable for the surrounding area. 

(K) Environmental Clean-Up: The proposed Redevelopment Project Area has incurred 
Illinois Environmental Protection Agency or United States Environmental Protection 
Agency remediation costs for (or a study conducted by an independent consultant 
recognized as having expertise in environmental remediation has determined a need for) 
the clean-up of hazardous waste, hazardous substances or underground storage tanks 
required by State or federal law. Any such remediation costs would constitute a material 
impediment to the development or redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project Area. 

(L) Lack of Community Planning: The proposed Redevelopment Project Area was 
developed prior to or without the benefit or guidance of a community plan. This means 
that the development occurred prior to the adoption by the municipality of a comprehensive 
or other community plan or that the plan was not followed at the time of the area's 
development. This factor must be documented by evidence of adverse or incompatible 
land-use relationships, inadequate street layout, improper subdivision, parcels of 
inadequate shape and size to meet contemporary development standards or other evidence 
demonstrating an absence of effective community planning. 

(M) Lagging or Declining EAV: The total equalized assessed value (EA V) of the 
proposed Redevelopment Project Area has declined for three (3) of the last five (5) calendar 
years prior to the year in which the Redevelopment Project Area is designated, or is 
increasing at an annual rate that is less than the balance of the municipality for three (3) of 
the last five (5) calendar years, for which information is available or increasing at an annual 
rate that is less than the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers published by the 
United States Department of Labor or successor agency for three (3) of the last five (5) 
calendar years prior to the year in which the Redevelopment Project Area is designated. 

City ofBelwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

6 



III. THE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

The proposed Amendment Area contains 129 tax parcels. 

The proposed Amendment Area contains improved properties designated primarily for 
retail, commercial, and commercial-residential mixed uses. The proposed Amendment Area has 
been identified as a key asset for the City and provides an opportunity for significant future growth, 
including redevelopment efforts of the initial 2011 TIF designation. However, factors exist which 
deter redevelopment of the area and prevent the proposed Amendment Area from fully 
contributing to the growth of the City. The area's potential for redevelopment is challenged due to 
the fact that certain structures are older and suffer from deterioration and obsolescence, that the 
area was developed with lack of community planning, and that area suffers from inadequate 
utilities. 

The City of Berwyn Comprehensive Plan (2012) , identifies consolidation and 
redevelopment as one of their four main implementation themes for achieving the Plan's vision. 
The Plan calls for focusing redevelopment and consolidation efforts on existing underutilized and 
vacant parcels in certain major thoroughfares, among them, Cermak Road, with Tax Increment 
Financing as a possible tool for accomplishing this. The plan emphasizes that redevelopment of 
distinct retail/commercial areas will strengthen the City' s tax base and accommodate community 
needs. While the Amendment Area has been identified as one such opportunity, overall, the area 
faces a number of redevelopment impediments which prevent the area from achieving stabilized 
growth. 

The City believes that these adverse conditions will worsen without an implementation 
plan for redevelopment. Given these existing conditions, and the required coordination for 
redevelopment of a variety of uses, the City intends to create and implement a redevelopment plan 
in order to restore, stabilize, and increase the community' s tax base. The City has determined that 
redevelopment should occur through the benefit and guidance of comprehensive and coordinated 
economic planning. Through this type of effort, the City expects development barriers inherent 
with current conditions, and which impede economic growth under existing market standards, will 
be eliminated, and the entire proposed Amendment Area will improve. 

The City has determined that redevelopment currently planned for the proposed 
Amendment Area is feasible only with public finance assistance. The creation and utilization of 
the amendment to the TIF are intended to help the City provide the assistance required to eliminate 
conditions detrimental to successful redevelopment. 

The use of TIF relies upon induced private redevelopment in the entire proposed 
Amendment Area creating higher real estate value, which would otherwise decline without such 
investment, leading to increased property taxes compared to the previous land use (or lack of use). 
In this way, the existing tax base for all tax districts is protected and a portion of future increased 
taxes are pledged to attract the needed private investment 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

7 



Lagging equalized assessed valuations (" EA V"), obsolescence, deterioration, lack of 
community planning, and inadequate utilities, are the principal impediments that threaten the 
future competitiveness of the area. Factors such as these have prevented the proposed Amendment 
Area from obtaining adequate investment and maintaining a sound contribution to the growth of 
the City' s tax base. Rather, these factors have slowed growth and endanger the area to blight. 
Without correction of the factors which impair investment in the area, the proposed Amendment 
Area will continue to be underutilized and will maintain an unrealized opporturuty for the City. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

8 



IV. METHODOLOGY OF EVALUATION 

KMA examined the proposed Amendment Area to assess the applicability of the different 
factors required for qualification for TIF designation under the Act. KMA collected data from the 
Proposed Amendment Area, City, and Cook County to detennine the relevance and severity of 
site-specific conditions compared against the statutory factors. KMA examined land and buildings 
within the proposed Amended Area to detennine the applicability of the 13 different factors for 
qualification for TIF designation under the Act. KMA undertook the following steps were in this 
process: 

I) Site visits to the proposed Amended Area were undertaken by representatives from KMA. 
These site visits consisted of walking the Area mUltiple times while taking notes, filling 
out site surveys and taking photographs. The purpose of these site visits included parcel 
counts, address matches, cUlTent land uses, building conditions, lot conditions, and traffic 
flow. KMA documented the area' s conditions through site surveys, notes and photography. 
Site surveys were completed for each parcel within the proposed Amendment Area. 

2) To determine if the area qualified as a "conservation area", the age of the buildings was 
ascertained by matching site surveys to Cook County tax and building records. 

3) KMA conducted evaluations of the exteriors of structures and related site improvements, 
noting such conditions relevant to the qualifying factors on the site surveys. 

4) KMA reviewed the 2013-2018 tax infonnation from Cook County, parcel tax maps, site 
data, and local history (discussions with City staff) for an evaluation of area-wide factors 
that have affected the area's development to detemline the presence of qualifying factors . 

5) KMA perfonned EA V trend analysis to ascertain whether EA V growth in the proposed 
Amendment Area underperfonned relative to EA V growth in the balance of the City and 
the Consumer Price Index-All Urban Consumers. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cennak TIF First Amendment 

9 



V. QUALIFICATION FINDINGS FOR PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
AREA 

Based upon KMA' s evaluation of parcels in the proposed Amendment Area and analyses 
of each of the eligibility factors summarized in Section II, the following factors are presented to 
support qualification of the proposed Amendment Area as a "conservation area." These factors are 
summarized in Table I below. These factors are found to be clearly present and reasonably 
distributed throughout the proposed Amendment Area, as required under the Act. 

Table I 
S fC -

I\111ximum l\Iinimum Factors QUlllif~ ing Factors Present in 
Possible Factors "iccded to Qualif~ Proposed Amendment Area 
per Statute per Statute 
13 3 6 

• Lagging EAV 

• Deterioration 

• Obsolescence 

• Excessive vacancies 

• Lack of Community Planning 

• Inadequate Utilities 

Note: In addition to 6 qualifying factors above, the proposed Amendment Area meets the statutory 
age threshold that 50% or more of the structures are 35 years or older. 

Finding as a "conservation area"- The proposed Amendment Area is found to qualify as a 
"conservation area" under the statutory criteria set forth in the TIF Act. As indicated in Section 
II, KMA performed a two-step assessment, first finding that 50% or more of structures within the 
"conservation area" were over 35 years of age . Based upon Cook County Assessor and site survey 
data, at least 72 of 78 structures, or 92%, were over 35 years in age, please see Table 2 below. 

Table 2 

Conscn allon Area hndlllgs 

Total Number of Buildings in Proposed Amendment Area 78 

Total Number of Buildings 35yrs+ 72 
Percentage of Buildings 35yrs+ 92% 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

10 



I) Lagging EAV: Pursuant to the qualifying factors listed in the Act, the total equalized 
assessed value of proposed Amendment Area has declined for at least three (3) of the last five (5) 
years prior to the year in which the proposed Amendment Area is designated, has increased at an 
annual rate that is less than the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for All Urban Consumers published 
by the United States Department of Labor for at least three (3) of the past five (5) calendar years. 
The following analysis demonstrates that the proposed Amendment Area has satisfied the criteria, 
in that it has exhibited declining equalized assessed values for four (4) of the past five (5) years 
and has lagged the CPI in four (4) of the past five (5) years as well. Please refer to the table below 
for further detail. 

2018 201? 2016 2015 2014 2013 
Total 
EAV for 
Area $19,776,790 $19,947,592 $ 17,308 ,349 $17,350,037 $17,532,058 $ 18,205,346 
Annual 
Change -0.9% 15.2% -0.2% -1.0% -3.7% 
Balance 697,335,52 1 715 ,512,105 583,148,083 483,399,2 11 578,57 1,442 629,215 ,024 
of City 
EAV 
Annual -2.5% 22.7% 20.6% -16.4% -8.0% 
Change 
CPI 2.40% 2.1 0% 1.30% 0.10% 1.60% 

2) Deterioration: The Act defines deterioration as the physical decline of surface 
improvements, primary building components, and secondary buildings components such as doors, 
windows, porches or gutters. With respect to surface improvements, deterioration is determined 
by the condition of roadways, alleys, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, off-street parking and surface 
storage areas (including but not limited to surface cracking, crumbling, potholes, depressions, 
loose paving material and weeds protruding through paved surfaces). 

In the proposed Amendment Area, deterioration was observed in the majority of the 
parcels. Most of the structures in the proposed Amendment Area are almost 100 years old. Many 
of the structures exhibited deteriorated window and door frames, masonry in need oftuckpointing 
or cleaning, peeling paint on exterior trim, and tom or faded awnings. Deterioration in surface 
improvements, particularly front walks, alleyways, parking lots and side lots, was prevalent. 
Deterioration in rear parking areas and alleyways included cracking and crumbling surfaces, 
potholes, cracking and crumbling parking barriers, depressions causing water retention, and 
unkempt landscaping. The degree of deterioration of these site improvements contributes to an 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

I I 



adverse aesthetic impact on the area. Further, informal parking an-angements and poor delineation 
of parking boundaries caused by inadequate maintenance and repair of parking areas encourage an 
environment that is both unsafe and confusing for pedestrians and drivers. 

3) Obsolescence: The Act states that obsolescence is the condition or process of falling into 
disuse or structures that have become ill-suited for their original use. The area exhibits both 
economic and functional obsolescence. The proposed Amendment Area exhibits area-wide 
obsolescence in need of investment and redevelopment for attracting new tenants or retaining 
tenants within a changing retail and commercial market. 

The onset of obsolescence can be measured through qualitative and quantitative means. 
Building age, deterioration of buildings and parking lots and alleyways and front walks, lack of 
community planning, and insufficient infrastmcture can signify obsolescence as proxies. By these 
measures the proposed Amended Area is exhibiting obsolescence. 

In general, the proposed Amendment Area has seen declining EAVs in three out of the last 
five years. As noted earlier, 92% of the buildings are over 35 years old, and most of those are 
approaching one-hundred years old. These advanced building ages make them inherently obsolete, 
compared to more contemporary structures. They lack today' s energy efficiency, life-safety 
features such as sprinklers and fire alarms, and elevators in the multi-family mixed-use stmctures. 

From a qualitative perspective, many of the structures exhibit design features or 
components that are outdated in relation to cun-ent market conditions. Signage, fa9ade and exterior 
treatments, and site improvements in many cases are "dated" and appear outmoded in re lation to 
more contemporary properties. Significant deterioration of site improvements and building 
components also contributes to the outmoded or "tired" appearance of many structures and 
facilities. 

In addition, lack of community planning prior to development of the proposed Amendment 
Area has generated parking areas that do not conform to cun-ent market standards and contribute 
to obsolescence. Most avai lable parking, in relation to building configurations, is awkward 
throughout the area, with several improvements being severely "under-parked" by contemporary 
standards, and other parking compositions creating dangerous conditions. Nearly all of the 
structures' commercial and retail uses are oriented on to Cermak Road, a main four-lane 
thoroughfare. Angled parking is provided between the Cermak Road right-of-way and the 
storefronts, creating risky challenges to backing out into the heavily traveled Cermak Road right
of-way. Public parking is also available behind the stmctures fronting on Cermak Road; however, 
this requires users to walk an entire block to get to the storefront entrances on Cermak Road. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF First Amendment 

12 



Inadequate utilities also contribute to the area' s obsolescence. Existing utilities are old and 
have sometimes failed, requiring replacement. Their advanced age precludes reliance on them for 
accommodating future redevelopment to keep up with contemporary commercial market trends. 

Overall, the physical restrictions of the outdated buildings, the poorly planned or 
deteriorating infrastructure, and the deferred maintenance to structures has resulted in fewer 
opportunities for area establishments to remain competitive in comparison to newer, alternative 
locations. This puts pressure on the remaining tenants to seek opportunities elsewhere. These 
factors in aggregate make a compelling case for the qualification of the area for the obsolescence 
factor. 

4) Excessive Vacancies: The proposed Amendment Area has numerous vacant or 
partially vacant structures, including structures with the following addresses: 

6500 Block 
6544 Cermak Road 
6540 Cermak Road 
6509 Cermak Road 
6507 Cermak Road 
6505 Cermak Road 

6400 Block 
6444 Cermak Road 
6442 Cermak Road 
6418 Cermak Road 

6200 Block 
6234 Cermak Road 
6239 Cermak Road 

A significantly detrimental vacancy within the proposed Amendment Area is a 
former funeral home that consists of four tax parcels and constitutes more than half the block 
on which it is located. It includes a large multi-story building, as well as two parking lots, all 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cennak TIF First Amendment 

13 



of which are deteriorated. The prominence of this vacancy constitutes a significant adverse 
economic and aesthetic impact on the area. 

The reduced economic activity associated with all of these vacancies and their 
corresponding locations throughout this Cermak Road regional arterial roadway, represent an 
detrimental influence on the overall TIF District. 

5) Inadequate Utilities: This factor is present if underground and overhead utilities such as 
stonn sewers and storm drainage, sanitary sewers, water lines and gas, telephone and electric 
services that are shown to be inadequate. Inadequate utilities are those that are: (i) of insufficient 
capacity to serve the uses in the Redevelopment Project Area; (ii) deteriorated, antiquated, obsolete 
or in disrepair; or (iii) lacking within the Redevelopment Project Area. 

Based upon an August 6, 2019 utilities analysis by the City ' s engineer, the existing public 
utilities in the proposed Amendment Area are very old, and certain components reflect 
deterioration/disrepair. In particular, existing water mains and sanitary sewers are over eighty 
years old, and consequently lack the structural integrity of to day's commonly used materials and 
have required ongoing repairs. Existing stonn water capacity is also insufficient to support any 
redevelopment in the area. The City Engineer' s analysis shows the following conditions: 

Waler and Sanitary Sewer - " ... underground utilities in this area were constructed 
prior to 1939 and are therefore over 80 years old. The City has been replacing small sections of 
the watermain and sanitary sewers as they break or collapse. The City's Public Works Department 
has reported an average of 5 major watennain breaks per year due to the old corroded pipe. The 
watennain is cast iron pipe, and the sanitary sewer is a mix of clay and brick; both materials are 
no longer used respectively in modem construction because they are brittle materials that have a 
tendency to break sooner and more often than modem ductile iron and PVC materials. Due to its 
age, condition and layout a completely new watennain and sanitary sewer system would need to 
be constructed to serve the redevelopment. Even if the watennain and sewer were in good 
condition it would be unfeasible to attempt to utilize them for a completely 
reconfigured/redeveloped area. In order to do this the new developer would be required to layout 
the new buildings and roadway in the same location as the existing which is not feasible . 
Regardless, the overall age and condition dictate the construction of completely new water and 
sanitary sewer systems that are sized and located properly to serve the new development plan. The 
rough estimated costs to replace the watennain system and sanitary sewer system are $8 million 
and $5 million respectively." 

Storm Sewer and Detel1lion - Like the watermain and sanitary sewer, the existing 
storm sewer system was constructed over 80 years ago. It is 5' -7' diameter piping under a viaduct. 
To serve the new layout of the redevelopment much or all of the stonn sewer system would be 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cennak TIF First Amendment 

14 



obsolete and a new system would need to be constructed. The new stonn sewer is estimated to 
cost approximately $8 million." 

6) Lack of Community Planning: The Act states that if the proposed Redevelopment 
Project Area was developed prior to or without the benefit or guidance of a community plan the 
factor is present. This factor must be documented by evidence of adverse or incompatible land
use relationships, inadequate street layout, improper subdivision, parcels of inadequate shape and 
size to meet contemporary development standards or other evidence demonstrating an absence of 
effective community planning. 

The City published its first Comprehensive Plan in 1993; however, almost all of the 
structures along the Cennak Road con·idor were already developed by the time the planning 
process started. As mentioned earlier, 72 of the 78 buildings, or 92%, were built before 1984. 

Much of the development that has occurred along Cennak Road took place in an era prior 
to modern community planning techniques or occurred under a lack of comprehensive and 
coordinated planning, and was, consequently, fragmented in nature due to size of parcels and 
marketplace conditions at the time of initial development. The characteristics of age and layout 
contribute to the presence of land use relationships that demonstrate the lack of community 
planning. 

The area lacks the modern hallmarks of community planning that younger communities 
enjoy. A key planning deficiency of the area is the incompatibility of commercial uses with the 
residential uses, as evidenced by their close proximity and the lack of buffering between these 
uses. Many of the residential uses are even vertically integrated with the commercial uses, right 
above the commercial uses, with their entrances mixed in with those of the storefronts. 

Current conditions that have resulted from a lack of community planning also include poor 
traffic circulation, inefficient ingress/egress locations, parcel layouts that do not meet modern 
development standards, and an imbalance of parking which encourages the design of confusing 
parking lot layouts which are problematic to both motorists and pedestrians. 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cennak TIF First Amendment 

15 



VI. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS / GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF 
OUALIFICA TION 

The following is a summary of relevant qualification findings as it relates to the City's 
potential designation of the proposed Amendment Area. 

1. The area is contiguous and is greater than 1 y, acres in size; 

2. The proposed Amendment Area will qualify as a "conservation area." Further, the 
"Conservation area" factors found in the proposed Amendment Area are present to 
a meaningful extent and are distributed throughout the area. A more detailed 
analysis of the qualification findings is outlined in Section V of this report; 

3. All property in the area would substantially benefit by the proposed redevelopment 
project improvements; 

4. The sound growth of taxing districts applicable to the area, including the City, has 
been impaired by the factors found present in the area; and 

5. The area would not be subject to redevelopment without the investment of public 
funds, including property tax increments. 

[n the judgment of KMA, these findings provide the City with sufficient justification to 
consider designation of the proposed Amendment Area as a "conservation area". 

City of Berwyn 
Harlem Cermak TIF Amendment 

15 

\\KMAISRV20 12\Company\Clicnl Folders\Bcrwyn\Harlcm Cennak TlF Amendment 2019\Rcports\Harlem Cennak TIF Amendment 2019 
Eligibility Report DRAFT 12.03. 19.docx 



APPENDIX A 
Tax Parcels for Proposed Amended Area 

16-19-426-020-0000 
16-19-426-021-0000 
16-19-426-022-0000 
16-19-426-023-0000 
16-19-426-024-0000 
16-19-426-025-0000 
16-19-426-026-0000 
16-19-427-022-0000 
16-19-427-023-0000 
16-19-427-024-0000 
16-19-427-025-0000 
16-19-427-026-0000 
16-19-427-027-0000 
16-19-427-028-0000 
16-19-427-029-0000 
16-19-427-030-0000 
16-19-428-020-0000 
16-19-428-021-0000 
16-19-428-022-0000 
16-19-428-023-0000 
16-19-428-024-0000 
16-19-428-026-0000 
16-19-428-027-0000 
16-19-428-028-0000 
16-19-428-029-0000 
16-19-429-021-0000 
16-19-429-022-0000 
16-19-429-023-0000 
16-19-429-024-0000 
16-19-429-025-0000 
16-19-430-019-0000 
16-19-430-020-0000 
16-19-430-021-0000 
16-19-431-020-0000 
16-19-431-021-0000 
16-19-431-022-0000 
16-20-329-019-0000 
16-20-329-028-0000 
16-20-329-029-0000 
16-20-329-030-0000 
16-20-330-022-0000 
16-20-330-023-0000 



16-20-330-024-0000 
16-20-330-025-0000 
16-20-330-026-0000 
16-20-330-027-0000 
16-20-331-024-0000 
16-20-331-025-0000 
16-20-331-026-0000 
16-20-331-027-0000 
16-20-331-028-0000 
16-20-331-029-0000 
16-20-331-030-0000 
16-20-331-031-0000 
16-20-331-032-0000 
16-20-331-033-0000 
16-20-332-024-0000 
16-20-332-025-0000 
16-20-332-026-0000 
16-20-332-027-0000 
16-20-332-031-0000 
16-20-332-032-0000 
16-29-100-001-0000 
16-29-100-002-0000 
16-29-100-003-0000 
16-29-100-004-0000 
16-29-100-005-0000 
16-29-100-006-0000 
16-29-101-001-0000 
16-29-101-002-0000 
16-29-101-003-0000 
16-29-101-004-0000 
16-29-102-001-0000 
16-29-102-002-0000 
16-29-102-003-0000 
16-29-102-004-0000 
16-29-102-005-0000 
16-29-102-006-0000 
16-29-102-007-0000 
16-29-102-008-0000 
16-29-102-039-0000 
16-29-103-003-0000 
16-29-103-004-0000 
16-29-103-005-0000 
16-29-103-006-0000 
16-29-103-035-0000 
16-30-202-025-0000 
16-30-202-029-0000 



16-30-203-001-0000 
16-30-203-002-0000 
16-30-203-003-0000 
16-30-203-004-0000 
16-30-203-005-0000 
16-30-203-006-0000 
16-30-203-007-0000 
16-30-203-008-0000 
16-30-204-001-0000 
16-30-204-002-0000 
16-30-204-003-0000 
16-30-204-004-0000 
16-30-204-005-0000 
16-30-204-006-0000 
16-30-204-007-0000 
16-30-204-040-0000 
16-30-205-001-0000 
16-30-205-002-0000 
16-30-205-003-0000 
16-30-205-004-0000 
16-30-205-005-0000 
16-30-205-006-0000 
\6-30-205-007-0000 
16-30-206-001-0000 
\6-30-206-002-0000 
16-30-206-003-0000 
16-30-206-004-0000 
16-30-206-005-0000 
16-30-206-006-0000 
\6-30-206-007-0000 
16-30-206-008-0000 
16-30-206-009-0000 
\6-30-207-001-0000 
16-30-207-002-0000 
16-30-207-003-0000 
16-30-207-004-0000 
16-30-207-005-0000 
16-30-207-006-0000 
16-30-207-007-0000 
16-30-207-008-0000 



APPENDIXB 
Boundary Map of Proposed Amended Area 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED 



APPENDlX6 

HARLEM CERMAK TIF HOUSING IMPACT STUDY 

21 



DRAFT DATE 11/25/19 

CITY OF BERWYN 
AMENDED HOUSING IMPACT STUDY 

FOR THE PROPOSED FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
THE HARLEM CERMAK 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT STUDY AREA 

A Housing Impact Study undertaken by the City of 
Berwyn pursuant to the requirements of the Tax 
Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act 65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4-3, et. seq., as amended. 

Prepared for: The City of Berwyn, Illinois 

Prepared by: Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 

November 2019 



1. 

II. 
7 

III. 

CITY OF BERWYN 
HOUSING IMPACT STUDY 

FOR THE PROPOSED FIRST AMENEDMENT TO THE 
HARLEM CERMAK 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT STUDY AREA 

TABLE OF CONfENTS 

Residential Unit Data 

A. Introduction and Background 
B. Type of Units 
C. Number of Rooms in Units 
D. Status of Units 
E. Racial and Ethnic Composition 

Impacted Sites and Relocation Assistance 

A. Potentially Impacted Units 
B. City Plan for Relocation Assistance 
C. Relocation Assistance to be Provided 
D. Identification of Replacement Housing Alternatives 

Requirements for Very Low and Low-Income Residents 

Appendix 

A. Study Area Map 

1 

1 

3 
4 
5 
5 

7 

7 
9 
9 
9 

11 



I. RESIDENTIAL UNIT DATA 

Pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS, Section 5/11-
74-4-3 et seq., as amended (the "TIF Act" or "Act"), if a redevelopment plan would result 
in the displacement of residents from ten (lO) or more inhabited residential units, or if 
the redevelopment project contains seventy-five (75) or more inhabited residential units 
and no certification stating that displacement will not occur is made, then the City of 
Berwyn, Illinois (the "City") must prepare a Housing Impact Study ("HIS"). 

The City has jointly prepared this document with Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 
("KMA") in order to conform to the provisions of the TIF Act. 

A. Introduction and Background 

The City is exploring the possibility of amending the Tax Increment Financing District 
C'TIF" or "TIF District") Redevelopment Project Area ("RPA"). The Proposed 
Amendment Area, is extending to the eastern boundary of the City, east of Harlem, and 
includes frontage properties extending eastward along Cermak Road from Wesley 
Avenue, to Lombard Avenue in an area traditionally used for commercial and commercial 
residential mixed uses. The aim of the redevelopment is to encourage economic activity 
within the RPA while increasing the quality of life for the neighboring residents. The City 
understands that the redevelopment of the RPA could result in the relocation of some 
residential units but the goal of the redevelopment project is to produce net positive 
housing for the area. At the time of this report there are no specific plans for relocation 
activities; the preparation of the HIS is to comply with the requirements of the TIF Act in 
the event that housing dislocation occurs as a result offuture redevelopment. 

This amendment to the Housing Impact Study is being produced in compliance with the 
TIF Act due to the possibility that some redevelopment activity could potentially result in 
the displacement of certain residential units. The City has no current plans for such 
dislocations. The HIS will outline the current mix of housing stock, the vacancy rate in 
the housing stock, the racial and ethnic makeup of the inhabitants, any plans for 
relocation and all relocation assistance to be made available. 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak HOllsing Impact Study 
City of Benvyn, Illinois 



The TIF Act has specific guidelines for a Housing Impact Study and these guidelines have 
been followed in this report. According to the Act: 

Part I of the housing impact study shall include (i) data as to whether the 
residential units are single family or multi-family units, (ii) the number and type 
of rooms within the units, if that information is available, (iii) whether the units 
are inhabited or uninhabited, as determined not less than 45 days before the date 
that the ordinance or resolution required by subsection (a) of Section 11-74-4-5 is 
passed, and (iv) data as to the racial and ethnic composition of the residents in the 
inhabited residential units. The data requirement as to the racial and ethnic 
composition of the residents in the inhabited residential units shall be deemed to 
be fully satisfied by data from the most recent federal census. 

Part II of the housing impact study shall identify the inhabited residential units in 
the proposed redevelopment project area that are to be or may be removed. If 
inhabited residential units are to be removed, then the housing impact study shall 
identify (i) the number and location of those units that will or may be removed, (ii) 
the municipality's plans for relocation assistance for those residents in the 
proposed redevelopment project area whose residences are to be removed, (iii) the 
availability of replacement housing for those residents whose residences are to be 
removed, and shall identify the type, location, and cost of the housing, and (iv) the 
type and extent of relocation assistance to be provided. 

l. Data Source 

This amendment to the Housing Impact Study will first examine the type of units in the 
RPA. The data used for this analysis was provided by the City, Cook County, Kane 
McKenna and the U.S. Census. Per the TIF Act, the following characteristics will be 
identified for the housing within the RPA: the type of housing, number of rooms, type of 
rooms, inhabitation, and racial and ethnic composition. The HIS will also make an 
identification of the potential impacted units, the City plans for relocation assistance and 
the availability of replacement housing. 

This study has used the most accurate and recent data available as of the date of this 
report. Representatives from Kane McKenna made multiple site visits to the RPA 
concerning the structure type and vacancy rate. The City made the determination of 
potentially impacted sites. Pursuant to the requirements of the TIF Act, data from the 
2010 U.S. Census was used to determine the number of rooms per structure and the racial 
and ethnic composition. 

Preliminary Harlem CemlQk Housing Impact Study 
City of Belwyn, Illinois 

2 



II . Low Income Residents and Replacement Housing 

Any residents who are deemed to be low-income or very low-income will be given the 
necessary support as dictated by the Uniform Relocation Act. The City and Kane, 
McKenna supplied lists of potential replacement housing for rent generated by a Multiple 
Listing Service search by a real estate professional following strict parameters to replicate 
then price, type and location of housing in the RPA. Every effort was made to identify 
replacement housing as most similar to the original housing in structure, type, price and 
location. 

B. Type of Units 

The TIF Act requires that data regarding the nature of the housing, whether single-unit 
or multi-unit, be examined and a finding be placed in the Housing Impact Study. Based 
on data provided by the City, Cook County and multiple site surveys, KMA has determined 
that there are 32 structures in the RP A with 276 units see Table 1 below for a breakout of 
the unit structures, quantities and type. 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak Housing impact Study 
City of Ben vyn, Illinois 

3 



C. Number of Rooms in Units 

Table 1 

Type of Units Number of Units Building Count 

Total Housing Units 276 32 

M ulti-Family 276 32 .. 
Data source: Kane McKenna slte VlSlt 

The TIF Act requires that a municipality provide a breakdown of the number of rooms 
and types of rooms in the units in the RPA if available. The US Census makes data 
available for the number of rooms within a Census Tract but not the type of rooms. The 
type of rooms within the units in the RPA is not available and therefore not a part of this 
report. The data used in the study was provided by the U.S. Census and is based on Census 
Tracts, which are the most detailed level of data available from the most recent census. 
Census Tracts 8149, 8150, and 8151 listed in the table below encompass a larger area than 
the RPA, but is the best fit in relation to the RPA boundaries. The Census Tracts 
encompass the RPA boundaries as well as properties to the north, south and east. 
Although the US Census Bureau does collect data for smaller geographic units (Census 
Blocks and Census Block Groups), such data was not available for housing units. Please 
refer to Table 2 below. 

IEst'mato I~~;'nof IP.,con, IPo<een' Estimo'o I~:!'n of Po",en' Po",ont Es'imato 

~ 
, rooms 99 1+'· 1'9 1+'-4 '·3.2 14 
lmom~ lJ9 I+B I: I+'~ '·5A ~ 

'i--
,ooms 1+'· 4:4% 1+'· 1+'· 7% 1345 

""""-'- 1 32~ 

~ ~ ••• 1+'< . 1+'<'.' (X] 

I 
, us 'Am,us. 20 '3-20' 7 AC. 5 Yeor ,DP04 Seiecte,j Housing 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak Housing Impact Study 
City of Berwyn, Illillois 

4 

I~,,~;:, Ip.,cen, Pe,cen' 

i !l<l 

'-10 +'-1. 
'-2. 

1-<1. 
9.0 

1+'-0.' (X] 



D. Status of Units 

The TIF Act requires that a determination be made regarding the status of each unit's 
habitation no less than forty-five (45) days before the date that the ordinance or resolution 
establishing the public hearing is adopted. 

Based upon Kane McKenna's site visits and the City's data, a determination has been 
made as of October 14, 2019 that 100% of the residential structures within the RPA are 
inhabited. Note that habitation status was determined at a fixed point in time and was 
estimated based on Kane McKenna and the City's assessment to the best of their abilities 
and is subject to change. This information will be updated as required by the TIF Act. 

E. Racial and Ethnic Composition 

The TIF Act requires that the racial and ethnic composition of the residents in the 
inhabited residential units be identified. Under the TIF Act, the data requirement for the 
racial and ethnic composition of the residents in the inhabited residential units shall be 
deemed fully satisfied by data from the most recent U.S. Census. Accordingly, 2010 
Census data was used to identify the racial and ethnic makeup of the area. For racial and 
ethnic composition, the 2010 U.S. Census makes data available at the Block Group level*. 
Please see Table 3 below. While many of the estimates reflect a value of zero, 
please ensure that you review the entire table including the margin of error 

Pursuant to the U.S. Census 2013-17 ACS 5 Year Estimates it is important to note that: 
"Data are based on a sample and are subject to sampling variability. The degree of 
uncertainty for an estimate arising from sampling variability is represented through the 
use of a margin of error. The value shown here is the 90 percent margin of error. The 
margin of error can be interpreted roughly as providing a 90 percent probability that the 
interval defined by the estimate minus the margin of error and the estimate plus the 
margin of error (the lower and upper confidence bounds) contains the true value. In 
addition to sampling variability, the ACS estimates are subject to non-sampling error. The 
effect of non-sampling error is not represented in these tables." 

*The Block Groups used in the ethnic composition analysis are generally bound by 
Harlem Avenue to the west, the extension of 16th Street to the north, Austin Boulevard to 
the east and the extension of 28th Street to the south. 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak Housing Impact Study 
City of Berwyn, illinois 

5 



0, 

Table 3 

Margin of Error; Total: 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanic or latino: 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanic orlatino: · White alone 
Margin of Error; Not Hispanic arlatino:· Black or African American alone 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanlcorlatino: - American Indian and Alaska Native alone 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanic orlatino: · Asian alone 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanicor Latino:· Native Hawaiian and Other Paci f ic Islander alone 

Margin o f Error; Not Hispanic or latino: - Some o ther race alone 

Margin of Error; Not Hispanicor latino: - Two or more r.aces : 

Margin of Error; Not Hi spanicor latino: - Two or more races: - Two races including Some other race 

Margin o f Error; Not Hispanicor Latino: - Two or more races: · Two races exclu ding Some other race, a 

Margin of Error; Hispan icor Latino: 
MiIrgin of Error; Hispanic or lat ino: - White alone 

Margin of Error; Hispanic or latino : - Slack or African American alone 

Margin of Error; Hi spanicor Latino: - Ameri can Indian and Alaska Native alone 

Margin of Error; Hispanicor l atino: - Asian alone 
Margin of Error; Hispanicor Latino: - Native Hawaiian and Other Paci fi c Islander alone 

Margin of Error; Hispanic or Latino: - Some o ther race alone 

Margin of Error; Hispanic or Latino: - Two or more races: 

Margin of Error; Hispanicor Latino: - Two or more races: - Two races including Some other race 

Margin of Error; Hispanicor latlno: - Tw o or more races: - Two races excluding Some other race, and II 

Source: U.S. Census 2013- 17 ACS 5 Year Est imates 

Preliminm), Harlem Cermak HOllsing Impact Study 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

Bloc:k Group 2 Block Group 3 Block Group 1 Bloc:k Group 2 Bloc:k Group 1 Bloc:k Group 2 Bloc:k Group 3 
census Tract 8149 Census Tract 8149 Census Tract 8150 Census Tract 8150 Census Tract 8151 Census Tract 8151 Census Tract 8151 

465 475 342 324 331 539 562 

m 285 233 114 122 85 189 

212 188 215 70 87 69 167 

220 213 100 14 13 48 101 

11 11 31 11 11 11 11 

11 11 14 58 79 11 107 

11 11 11 11 11 11 11 

11 11 11 11 11 11 11 

11 22 11 46 11 11 11 

11 11 11 11 11 11 11 

11 22 11 46 11 11 11 

444 454 333 315 317 542 524 

392 438 162 268 137 317 249 

56 72 11 20 11 11 15 

11 11 11 11 86 11 11 

11 11 11 11 11 11 11 

11 11 11 11 11 11 11 

191 331 304 314 301 447 515 

11 11 10 16 13 42 34 

11 11 10 16 13 40 17 

11 11 11 11 11 11 30 



II. IMPACTED SITES AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE 

Pursuant to the TIF Act, Section II of the Housing Impact Study must contain four 
components: (a) identification of units that may be removed in the proposed 
redevelopment project; (b) the City's plan for relocation assistance; (c) relocation 
assistance to be provided; and (d) the identification of potential replacement housing. 

A. Potentially Impacted Units 

The TIF Act requires that the Housing Impact Study identify those units, by location and 
number that may be removed, either through a voluntary sale or through eminent 
domain, as a result ofthe redevelopment plan. 

In the RPA there are potentially 276 impacted units in 32 different structures (refer to 
Tables 4, for a detailed list). The data was compiled utilizing Cook County data, City of 
Berwyn and research by Kane, Mckenna. Although the City does not contemplate any 
displacement as of the date of this study, at a future point in time it is possible that the 
City could pursue redevelopment that results in removal of these potential dislocation of 
inhabited units. 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak Housing Impact Study 
City of BenvYII, Illinois 

7 



TABLE 4 

PIN ADDRESS USE 

16-19-426-023-(XXXl 6642 CERMAK RD 3- Story/Resid 

16-19-426-025-0000 6634 CERMAK RD 2-story Comm'l/Resid 

" 6624-6626 CERMAK RD " 
2140 CLARENCE " 

16-19-427-024-0000 6608 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'l/Resid 

16-19-427-029-0000 6616 CERMAK RD 1- Story Comm'I/Resid 
16-19-428-024-0000 6538 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Re sid 
16-19-429-023-0000 6516 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'l/Re sid 

16-19-429-024-0000 6514 CERMAK RD 2-Storv Comm'l/Re sid 
, " " 
" 2140-2150 GUNDERSON " 

16-19-430-019-0000 2141 GUNDERSON 3-Storv Comm'l/Re sid 
" 6438 CERMAK RD " 
" 2140 ELMWOOD " 
" 2142 ELMWOOD " 
" 2144 ELMWOOD " 
-- 2146 ELMWOOD " 

" 2148 ELMWOOD " 
16-19-431-021-0000 6418 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Re sid 

" 6346CERMAK RD " 
16-20-330-022-0000 2139 CUYLER AVE 2-Storv Comm'l/Resid 

" 2141-2143 CYLER AVE " 
" 2145 CUYLER AVE " 
" 6322 CERMAK RD " 
" 6318 CERMAK RD " 
" 2142 HIGHLAND " 

16-20-331-028-0000 6238 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Resid 

16-20-331-030-0000 6234 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Resid 

16-20-331-031-0000 6232 CERMAK RD 3-St~ry (omm'I/Resid 

" 6228 CERMAK RD " 
" 2146 HARVEY " 
" 2144 HARVEY " 
" 2142 HARVEY " 

" 2140 HARVEY " 
16-29-100-003-0000 6337 CERMAK RD 2-St~ry Comm'I/Resid 

16-29-100-004-0000 6335 CERMAK RD 2-Storv (omm'I/Resid 

16-29-100-005-0000 6333 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Resid 

16-29-100-006-0000 6327 CERMAK RD 3-Storv Comm'l/Resid 
" 2208 Cuyler " 

16-29-102-001-0000 6243 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'l/Resid 

16-29-102-002-0000 6241 CERMAK RD " 
16-29-102-004-0000 6237 CERMAK RD 2-Storv Comm'J/Resid 

16-29-102-039-0000 6229 W CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'l/Re sid 
, 

2208 5. HARVEY " 
16-30-203-002-0000 6619 CERMAK RD 2-Storv Comm'I/Resid 
16-30-203-003-0000 6617 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Resid 
16-30-203-004-0000 6615 CERMAK RD 2-Storv Comm'l/Resid 

16-30-203-006-0000 6611 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/Resid 

16-30-204-004-0000 6539 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'l/ Resid 

" 2200 SCOVILLE " 
16-30-205-003-0000 6513 CERMAK RD 2-Story Comm'I/ Resid 

TOTAL 

Prelwlmary Harlem Cennak Holtsmg Impact Study 
City oj Benvyn, Illinois 

8 

UNITS 

4 

1 

3 

4 

1 

1 

3 

1 

1 

4 

38 

38 

5 

6 

6 

5 

4 

16 

2 

8 

3 

7 

3 

6 

4 

32 

1 

1 

4 

4 

5 

5 

6 

6 

2 

1 

1 

2 

6 

1 

1 

1 

1 

2 

1 

1 

1 

4 

12 

1 

276 



B. City Plan for Relocation Assistance 

The TIF Act requires that the municipality establish a plan for relocation assistance for 
those units that may be removed as a result of the potential redevelopment of the RP A. 

The City will provide relocation assistance pursuant to regulations promulgated under the 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (URA) 
and as specified in the TIF Act. Said regulations will serve as the basis for its relocation 
plan for any residents who would be displaced as a result of the TIF related redevelopment 
efforts. In addition to such guidelines, the City may undertake assistance based upon the 
needs of the residents or the projects. Any low-income of very low-income residents will 
be given the needed assistance in compliance with the URA and other federal guidelines. 

As stated above, the City's plan for relocation assistance for those residents in the 
Redevelopment Project Area whose residences may be removed shall be consistent with 
the requirements set forth in the TIF Act and other federal guidelines. Until such a 
redevelopment project is approved, there is no certainty that any removal of residences 
will actually occur. 

C. Relocation Assistance to Be Provided 

In addition to the relocation plan as identified above, the TIF Act states that the type and 
extent of relocation assistance to be provided by the municipality must be identified. The 
City plans on providing relocation assistance to those individuals who qualify under the 
TIF Act. As stated, the City will utilize URA guidelines and other federal guidelines as the 
basis for its relocation assistance where appropriate. 

D. Identification of Replacement Housing Alternatives 

The TIF Act states that the City shall identify the availability of replacement housing for 
those residents whose residences are to be removed and shall identify the type, location 
and costs of the housing. Kane McKenna with assistance of the City and a real estate 
professional identified replacement housing within the market area of the RP A. The 
replacement housing was identified based on a hierarchy of needs: type, price and 
location. Replacement housing was identified for both renters. These different groups of 
housing will be identified in different tables as well. 

The information contained in this section is not meant to be exhaustive, but 
serves as an example of alternative housing available in price ranges similar 
to the existing housing within the RP A and is expected to be updated as 
market data and availability change over time. 

Preliminary Harlem Cermak Housing Impact Study 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

9 



Replacement Housing for Rent 

TABLE 5 Attached 

Prelim;1I01Y Harlem Cermak Housing Impact Swdy 
City oj Ben vyn, illinois 

10 



TABLE 5 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Address Unit Number Area Rent # Rooms Type Detachedj Attached 

5300 W Division ST B Chicago 650 3 Studio, Vintage 

5741 W 35th 5T 1 Cicero 695 4 Flat 

1943 S Wesley AVE 1 Berwyn 738 4 Garden Unit, low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2235 N Harlem AVE 25 Chicago BOO 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2758 S Christiana AVE 3 Chicago BOO 2 Flat, low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1916 S 55th CT G Cicero B50 5 low Rise {1-3 Stories) 

2208 S 57th AVE 10 Cicero 875 4 Flat 

2244 Oak Park AVE GE Berwyn 890 4 Garden Unit 

214 Circle AVE 105 Forest Park 900 2 Studio 

1134 S Oak Park AVE G Oak Park 900 4 Flat 

318 N lotus AVE 3 Chicago 900 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4939 W Walton ST 2 Chicago 900 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

7820 Madison ST 101 Forest Park 950 3 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

7820 Madison ST 106 Forest Park 950 4 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

847 Hannah AVE lRB Forest Park 950 5 Flat 

336 lathrop AVE 205 Forest Park 950 3 Flat 

7319 W 60th Pl 2 Summit 950 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4420 Forest AVE G Brookfiled 950 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5434 W Kamerling AVE IF Chicago 950 5 Flat 

4838 W FULTON ST 1 Chicago 950 6 2 Stories 

4326 W WilCOX ST 2NO Chicago 950 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

3SS0 W 15TH 5T 3 Chicago 950 5 3 Stories 

4601 Forest AVE IN Brookfield 975 4 Flat 

2300 N Harlem AVE 502 Elmwood Park 975 4 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

5841 W Augusta BLVD 2R Chicago 975 5 Flat 

233 N Mason AVE lA Chicago 975 4 Courtyard 

4337 Prescott AVE 2C lyons 999 4 Other 

7824 Madison ST 201 Forest Park 1000 3 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

7824 Madison ST 101 Forest Park 1000 3 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

2000 S 5th AVE '~S Maywood 1000 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

6839 21st 5T G05 Berwyn 1000 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

314 Beach AVE 2A laGrange Park 1000 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2325 S lombard AVE G Cicero 1000 4 Flat 

4718 W congress PKWY G Chicago 1000 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1540 N lorel AVE 2W Chicago 1000 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4141 W Adams ST 2 Chicago 1000 6 Flat 

1810 S Homan AVE G Chicago 1000 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1616 S Harding AVE G Chicago 1000 4 Garden Unit 

2232 S Kolin AVE GARDEN Chicago 1000 4 2 Stories 

125 S Kenilworth AVE 11 Oak Park 1025 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1344 Maple AVE GARDEN Berwyn 1050 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

3914 W DIVISION ST 1 Chicago 1050 5 Flat, low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4834 W Superior ST IF Chicago 1050 5 Flat 

3556 W 15TH ST 3 Chicago 1050 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

300.5 Madison ST 2SE Oak Park 1075 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories), Studio 

6843 21st ST IN Berwyn 1075 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

6841 21st 5T 2E Berwyn 1075 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

6841 21st 5T 2W Berwyn 1085 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

6841 21st 5T lW Berwyn 1085 3 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1809 Harlem AVE 2N Berwyn 1095 5 low Rise {1-3 Stories) 

I I 



TABLE 5 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Address Unit Number Area Rent " Rooms Type Detached/Attached 

7444 Franklin ST lSW Forest Park 1100 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

310 S Lombard AVE 9 Oak Park 1100 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2818 RIDGELAND AVE 102 Berwyn 1100 5 Low Rise (1 -3 Stories) 

1238 S 57TH CT 2 Cicero 1100 5 Flat 

1916 S 55th CT Cicero 1100 6 2 Stories 

5355 W Iowa ST 1 Chicago 1100 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

3912 W Jackson BLVD 1 Chicago 1100 6 l ow Rise (1-3 Stories), Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

4121 W Arthington ST Chicago 1100 7 1 Story 

1827 S RIDGEWAY AVE GARDEN Chicago 1100 5 3 Stories 

6939 21st ST 15 Berwyn 1115 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4936 W Jackson BLVD 2 Chicago 1149 6 Flat 

5027 W Washington BLVD 2 Chicago 1149 6 Flat 

95 5 Seventh AVE COACHHS La Grange 1150 3 Vintage 

6223 W Wabansia AVE 2 Chicago 1150 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4840 W VanBuren ST Chicago 1150 4 2 Stories 

13205 Kedvale AVE 3R Chicago 1150 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

IS36 S Christiana AVE Chicago 1150 6 2 Stories 

1846 S SAWYER AVE 2' Chicago 1150 6 Flat 

7745 Adams ST 3W Forest Park 1195 3 Flat 

324 S Maple AVE 2A Oak Park 1195 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1124 S Oak Park AVE G Oak Park 1195 4 Garden Unit 

234 S Maple AVE 3E Oak Park 1195 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

7369 W North AVE 2 River Forest 1195 4 Flat, low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1910 Division ST 5 Melrose Park 1200 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

220 N Kenilworth AVE 7 Oak Park 1200 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1050 Augusta ST G Oak Park 1200 3 Garden Unit 

406 Franklin AVE 29 River Forest 1200 4 Cluster 

1825 Home AVE 2 Berwyn 1200 3 2 Stories 

1332 Euclid AVE Berwyn 1200 5 1 Story 

20 6th AVE 2 La Grange 1200 3 Cluster 

2131 N 73rd CT 2 Elmwood Park 1200 5 Low Rise (1 -3 Stories), Other 

2310 N Harlem AVE 203 Elmwood Park 1200 5 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

4829 W Potomac AVE Chicago 1200 6 2 Stories 

5214 W Washington BLVD 1N Chicago 1200 4 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

4442 S Kilpatrick AVE Chicago 1200 5 1 Story 

4524 Park AVE C Brookfield 1230 5 Low Rise (1 -3 Stories) 

233 N Mason AVE 2A Chicago 1240 5 Courtyard 

7300 Madison ST 201 Forest Park 1250 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

729 Highland AVE G Oak Park 1250 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

220 N Kenilworth AVE 3 Oak Park 1250 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

3423 Ridgeland AVE 203 Berwyn 1250 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

7134 Riverside OR 25 Berwyn 1250 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4608 Grove AVE 8 Brookfield 1250 4 Low Rise (1 -3 Stories) 

5302 W Ohio ST G Chicago 1250 6 Garden Unit 

4742 W Polk ST 1 Chicago 1250 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1528 S Springfield AVE 2 Chicago 1250 6 Flat 

7300 W Madison ST 209 Forest Park 1275 4 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

7245 Humphrey AVE 2 Oak Park 1275 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1054 N Mason AVE 1A Chicago 1275 5 Flat , Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5715 W 55th ST 2 Chicago 1280 5 Flat 

12 



TABLE 5 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Address Unit Number Area Rent # Rooms Type Detachedl Attached 

1030 Dunlop AVE 1W Forest Park Forest P 4 Flat 

7300 Madison ST 101 Forest Park 1300 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1650 S Mannheim RO GARDEN Westchester 1300 5 Flat 

810 S Austin BLVD 2 Oak Park 1300 7 Other 

1522 GROVE AVE 85 Berwyn 1300 6 Garden Unit 

2019 N 72nd CT G Elmwood Park 1300 4 Flat, Garden Unit 

2141 N MElVINA AVE 2 Chicago 1300 6 Flat 

1015 N Lamon AVE 25 Chicago 1300 6 Flat 

4028 W Washington BLVD Chicago 1300 7 Townhouse-2 Story 

4512 W Jackson BLVD 2 Chicago 1300 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1627 Kenilworth AVE 2 Berwyn 13S0 5 low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

8519 W Cermak RD 2F North Riverside 13S0 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5720 W Cermak RD 1R Cicero 1350 7 Flat 

52 N Waller AVE 140 Chicago 1350 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4840 W VanBuren ST 2 Chicago 1350 5 2 Stories 

1530 S Ridgeway AVE Chicago 1350 3 2 Stories 

5852 S Archer AVE 1 Chicago 1350 5 Flat 

122 N 11th AVE 1 Melrose Park 1395 5 Other 

57 W CHICAGO AVE 2 Oak Park 1395 7 Flat 

724 Westchester BLVD 2 Westchester 1400 5 Flat 

721 South BLVD 1 Oak Park 1400 2 Studio 

1510 N Harlem AVE 35 River Forest 1400 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

301S Oak Park AVE 1 Berwyn 1400 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

3704 Harrison AVE 2 Brookfield 1400 4 Vintage 

315 La Grange RD 2 La Grange 1400 4 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2439 S 60th CT 1 Cicero 1400 6 Other 

712N Leamington AVE 2 Chicago 1400 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5437 W Monroe ST 1 Chicago 1400 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

S437 W Monroe ST 2 Chicago 1400 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5437 W Monroe ST 3 Chicago 1400 3 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1706 N Mayfield AVE 2 Chicago 1400 6 2 Stories 

7517 Franklin ST 1 Forest Park 1450 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

7351 Madison ST 2 Forest Park 14S0 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1116 Thomas AVE 1 Forest Park 1450 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1232 N Austin BLVD 35 Oak Park 1450 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4521 Maple AVE 1N Brookfield 1450 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

4532 Maple AVE 3 Brookfield 1450 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

36325 59th AVE Cicero 1450 6 1.5 Story 

1347 Marengo AVE I Forest Park 1475 5 2 Stories 

521 JACKSON BLVD A·1 Forest Park 1495 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

209 Circle AVE 1 Forest Park 1500 6 Hillside, Other 

541 MARENGO AVE 2 Forest Park 1500 6 Flat 

1837 S 2nd AVE Maywood 1500 5 1 Story 

1110 S East AVE 1 Oak Park 1500 5 Flat 

6438 Ogden AVE HOUSE Berwyn 1500 5 1.5 Story 

9232 Broadwav AVE 3 Brookfield 1500 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

24395 60th CT 2 Cicero 1500 7 Other 

4715 W Washington BLVD 2 Chicago 1500 7 Flat 

5919 W Midway Park 3W Chicago 1500 7 Other 

3536 W 13th PL 1 Chicago 1500 6 1 Story 

13 



TABLE 5 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Address Unit Number Area Rent " Rooms Type Detached/Attached 

1321 S Lawndale AVE 1 Chicago 1500 6 Flat 

135 Elgin AVE 1 Forest Park 1550 6 Flat 

917 Bristol AVE Westchester 1550 5 1 Story 

1137 Augusta 5T 2 Oak Park 1550 5 Courtyard, Low Rise (1· 3 Stories) 

3722 East AVE 2 Berwyn 1550 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

1628 N Narragansett AVE 1 Chicago 1550 6 Flat 

420 Marengo AVE IF Forest Park 1595 4 Other 

618 Washington BLVD 5 Oak Park 1595 4 Flat 

2211 N Harlem AVE 2 Chicago 1595 6 Flat, Garden Unit 

104 N Kenilworth AVE 1 Oak Park 1600 6 Flat 

25 5 Sildh AVE 2 La Grange 1600 4 Flat 

3 E QUINCY 5T 1 Riverside 1600 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

2316 S 59th (T Cicero 1600 7 1.5 Story 

115S parkside AVE 1 Chicago 1600 7 Flat 

1004 S Taylor AVE Oak Park 1625 6 Townhouse-2 Story 

821 Marengo AVE 2 Forest Park 1650 8 2 Stories 

2424 Randolph 5T Bellwood 1650 6 1/2 Duplex 

820 BEllEFORTE AVE 2 Oak Park 1675 6 Flat 

3820 Wesley AVE Berwyn 1695 6 1.5 Story 

1002 Beloit AVE 2 Forest Park 1700 5 Flat 

1650 S Mannheim RD 1 Westchester 1700 6 Flat 

2308 Clinton AVE Berwyn 1700 8 1 Story 

5115S Parkside AVE Chicago 1700 5 Raised Ranch 

7804 W 46TH 5T Lyons 1715 7 2 Stories 

7211 Jackson BLVD 1 Forest Park 1750 6 Flat, Vintage 

2340 S 13th AVE Broadview 1750 8 2 Stories 

3414 Clarence AVE 1 Berwyn 1750 7 1/2 Duplex 

4444 1st AVE 301 lyons 1750 6 Flat 

1917 S Trumbull AVE 1 Chicago 1750 6 3 Stories 

128 S Austin BLVD 2 Oak Park 1774 6 Flat, Low Rise (1-3 Stories), Vintage 

4115 Blanchan AVE Brookfield 1775 6 1.5 Story 

922 Marengo AVE 2 forest Park 1800 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

10830 Hastings 5T Westchester 1800 7 1 Story 

706 5 Maple AVE 15 Oak Park 1800 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories), Vintage 

5510 S 72nd (T Summit 1800 7 2 Stories 

3932 forest AVE Brookfield 1800 5 1 Story 

100 Forest AVE 1 Riverside 1800 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5900 W Adams 5T 1 Chicago 1800 7 Flat 

24S0 Belleview AVE Westchester 1850 7 Raised Ranch 

1136 S Elmwood AVE 2 Oak Park 1850 6 2 Stories 

46 N Spring AVE La Grange 1850 6 1/2 Duplex 

2120 S Christiana AVE Chicago 1850 7 2 Stories 

1900 SUFFOLK AVE Westchester 1895 7 15tory 

420 N Marion 5T 2 Oak Park 1895 6 Flat, Vintage 

305 Spring AVE 206 La Grange 1900 5 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

218 HERRICK RD 2 Riverside 1900 6 Flat 

1135 Westgate 5T 803 Oak Park 1909 3 High Rise (7+ Stories) 

31E Ogden AVE 252 La Grange 1930 3 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

15 5 Waiola AVE 10 La Grange 1950 4 Townhouse-2 Story 

5125 S Mayfield AVE Chicago 1950 5 2 Stories 

14 



TABLE 5 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Address Unit Number Area Rent # Rooms Type Detached! Attached 

2300 N 73rd AVE Elmwood Park 1985 8 1.5 Story 

2249 S 25th AVE Broadview 1995 8 Raised Ranch 

233 S 14th AVE Maywood 2000 9 2 Stories 

10516 Somerset DR Westchester 2000 9 5plit level 

1860 Stratford AVE Westchester 2000 6 2 Stories 

415 S Elmwood AVE 3 Oak Park 2000 6 Flat 

2314 Ridgeland AVE Berwyn 2000 10 1.5 Story 

4018 Deyo AVE Brookfield 2000 8 2 Stories 

34 N Waiola AVE 2 La Grange 2000 6 Flat, Vintage 

34 N Waiola AVE 1 La Grange 2000 6 Flat, Vintage 

1134 S Oak Park AVE 1 Oak Park 2050 6 Flat 

2728 Wesley AVE Berwyn 2095 7 1.5 Story 

1110 Marengo AVE Forest Park 2100 8 1 Story 

1402 N 21ST AVE Melrose Park 2100 8 2 Stories 

6739 W North AVE 2 Oak Park 2100 7 Other 

931 N Harvey AVE Oak Park 2150 6 1 Story 

3638 Ridgeland AVE Berwyn 21S0 6 2 Stories 

1234 N MARION ST Oak Park noo 8 2 Stories 

6640 34th ST Berwyn 2200 8 2 Stories 

7312 Ogden AVE 1 Riverside 2200 6 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

1850 NEWCASTLE AVE Westchester 22S0 9 2 Stories 

1512 MARENGO AVE Forest Park 2280 10 1.5 Story 

1347 Marengo AVE Forest Park 2300 8 2 Stories 

2409 E Martindale DR Westchester 2300 7 Split Level 

433 Wisconsin AVE 1 Oak Park 2300 6 Other 

3501 CLEVELAND AVE Brookfield 2315 7 1.5 Story 

1102 Lathrop AVE Forest Park 2325 8 2 Stories 

7643 Monroe ST 1 Forest Park 2400 5 Flat 

3212 Raymond AVE Brookfield 2400 8 2 Stories 

728 Arlington RO Riverside 2400 10 2 Stories 

315 E Burtington ST C Riverside 2400 6 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

5349 W Van Buren ST 1 Chicago 2400 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

5126 S Austin AVE Chicago 2400 7 1 Story 

629 Grove LN Forest Park 2495 7 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

630 S HUMPHREY AVE Oak Park 2495 7 2 Stories 

1815 Scoville AVE Berwyn 2500 12 2 Stories 

1304 S WENONAH ST Berwyn 2500 7 1.5 Story 

3208 Clinton AVE Berwyn 2500 8 3 Stories 

3335 Home AVE 3335 Berwyn 2500 8 Garden Unit 

138S Austin BLVD 1 Oak Park 2575 8 Flat 

7238 Franklin ST G Forest Park 2600 6 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

16 S Seventh AVE La Grange 2600 9 2 Stories 

30 S Spring AVE 104 la Grange 2625 6 Low Rise (1-3 Stories) 

833 S Humphrey AVE Oak Park 2650 8 2 Stories 

128 N Lombard AVE Oak Park 2650 8 1.5 Story 

519 Grove LN Forest Park 2700 6 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

133S Lombard AVE Oak Park 2700 9 2 Stories 

2326 Kensington AVE Westchester 2750 8 2 Stories 

601 South BLVD A Oak Park 2750 6 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

3" Ogden AVE 416 La Grange 2750 5 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

15 



TABLE S 

Preliminary Housing For Rent 

Add ress Unit Number Area Rent # Rooms Type Detached! Attached 

731 Hayes AVE Oak Park 2775 11 2 Stories 

31 E Ogden AVE 427 La Grange 2780 S Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

3IE Ogden AVE 515 La Grange 2785 5 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

31 E Ogden AVE 405 La Grange 2785 5 Mid Rise (4·6 Stories) 

2913 Kensington 5T Westchester 2800 10 Split Level 

805N Taylor AVE Oak Park 2800 8 2 Stories 

1115 Erie 5T Oak Park 2800 7 2 Stories 

31E Ogden AVE 319 La Grange 2850 5 Mid Rise (4·6 Stories) 

131S Humphrey AVE Oak Park 2900 9 2 Stories 

1515 Clinton Pl River Forest 2995 10 2 Stories 

2018 W 21st Pl lR Chicago 2995 7 1/2 Duplex 

101 N Euclid AVE 19 Oak Park 3000 7 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

1218 N Euclid AVE Oak Park 3000 10 2 Stories 

8475 Kenilworth AVE Oak Park 3000 9 2 Stories 

12 Park AVE River Forest 3200 8 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

1015 Wesley AVE Oak Park 3300 11 2 Stories 

31E Ogden AVE BI03 La Grange 3300 6 Mid Rise (4-6 Stories) 

427 N Grove AVE 1 Oak Park 3400 8 Flat 

1227 Hayes AVE O,k Park 3400 11 2 Stories 

305 Spring AVE 101 La Grange 3425 7 Low Rise (1·3 Stories) 

1150 S Harvey AVE Oak Park 3500 10 2 Stories 

558 Lathrop AVE River Forest 3500 8 2 Stories 

2339 Clarence AVE Berwyn 3500 9 1.5 Story 

1515 MONROE AVE River Forest 3600 9 2 Stories 

1112 Lyman AVE Oak Park 3600 9 2 Stories 

184 N Marion 5T 184 Oak Park 3750 7 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

6085 Scoville AVE Oak Park 3750 8 3 Stories 

192 N MARION 5T Oak Park 3850 8 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

31E Ogden AVE S04 La Grange 3930 6 Mid Rise (4·6 Stories) 

31E Ogden AVE 548 La Grange 3995 6 Mid Rise (4·6 Stories) 

202 Harrison 5T Oak Park 4000 5 Townhouse 3+ Stories 

625 S Harlem AVE 1 Forest Park 4500 6 Flat 

803 Belleforte AVE Oak Park 4500 12 2 Stories 

112N Ashland AVE La Grange 4900 9 3 Stories 

131 longcommon RO Riverside 5000 12 2 Stories 

273 Maplewood RO Riverside 5200 10 2 Stories 

630 N East AVE Oak Park 5950 10 2 Stories 

16 



III. REQUIREMENTS FOR VERY LOW AND LOW-INCOME 
RESIDENTS 

Per the TIF Act, no redevelopment plan shall remove residential housing units that are 
occupied by households of low-income and very low-income persons unless the plan 
provides, with respect to inhabited housing that are to be removed for households oflow
income and very low-income persons, affordable housing and relocation assistance not 
less than that which would be provided under the Federal Uniform Relocation Assistance 
and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of1970 CURA. as amended. and the regulations 
under the Act. The municipality shall make a good faith effort to ensure that this 
affordable housing is located in or near the redevelopment project area within the 
municipality. 

If the City does relocate residents within the RPA, the City will need to determine if those 
residents fall into the low-income and very low-income category. At that point, the City 
will take appropriate action and provide relocation assistance to those residents that 
would be relocated pursuant to the requirements of the TIF Act. The City intends to work 
with local housing agencies and organizations to ensure that relocated residents find 
comparable housing. 

Preliminary Harlem Cennak Housing Impact Study 
City of Ben vYII, lIIillois 

17 



Appendix A 
Study Area Map 

18 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED, BOUNDARY MAP 



MINUTES 

Aldennan _______ moved and Aldennan _______ _ seconded the 

motion that said ordinance as presented and read by the City Clerk be adopted. 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would infonn the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldennan voted AYE: 

The following Aldennan voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 



STATE OFILLINOIS ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

CERTIFICA nON OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City "), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities "). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full , true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the day of 
_____ , 2020, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, 
Approving First Amendment to Tax Increment Redevelopment 

Plan and Project for the Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project Area. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
__ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 

(SEAL) 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, DESIGNATING THE FIRST AMENDED HARLEM AVENUE 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA PURSUANT TO THE TAX INCREMENT 
ALLOCATION REDEVELOPMENT ACT 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. San toy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael Avila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet fonn by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this day of , 2020. 



SECOND ORDINANCE 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, DESIGNATING THE FIRST AMENDED HARLEM AVENUE 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA PURSUANT TO THE TAX INCREMENT 
ALLOCATION REDEVELOPMENT ACT 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Berwyn, 

Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), for the City to implement tax increment allocation financing 

pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, Division 74.4 of Article 11 of the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended (the "Act"), for a proposed amended redevelopment plan 

and redevelopment project ("First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project") within the 

municipal boundaries of the City and within a proposed amended redevelopment project area 

("First Amended Redevelopment Area") described in Section 1 of this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have heretofore by ordinance approved the First 

Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project, which First Amended Redevelopment Plan and 

Project were identified in such ordinance and were the subject, along with the First 

Redevelopment Project Area designation hereinafter made, of a public hearing held on February 

25, 2020, and it is now necessary and desirable to designate the First Amended Redevelopment 

Area as a redevelopment project area pursuant to the Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City 

of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. Area Designated. That the First Amended Redevelopment Area, as legally 

described in EXHIBIT A, attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this 

reference, is hereby designated as a redevelopment project area pursuant to Section 11-74.4-4 of 



the Act. The general street location for the First Amended Redevelopment Area is described in 

EXHIBIT B attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The 

map of the First Amended Redevelopment Area is depicted on EXHIBIT C attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. 

Section 2. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Superseder and Effective Date. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions, 

or orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by the 

Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

EXHIBIT A - Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - General Street Location 

EXHIBIT C - Map of Redevelopment Project Area 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

_ _ day of ___ _ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

tyES NO ABSENT 

Lennon 

iRamirez 

iReardon 

Fejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

~owak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

[fOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ___ ---'2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

HARLEM CERMAK TIF FIRST AMENDMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING ATTHE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 30 TO A POINT ON THE 

WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 17 FEET OF LOT 28 IN BLOCK 9 OF 

KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH 

ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 9; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF 30TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF SAID 30TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 5 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF 29TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF SAID 29TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 4 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND ALONG THE EAST RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN 

KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TO AN ANGLE POINT IN SAID NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY

SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 8 IN SAID KOMAREK'S 

RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHWESTERLY 

LINE AND NORTHWESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND 

NORTHEASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF THE ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 

THE SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE 

NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN RIVERSIDE PARK SUBDIVISION, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHEASTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 

HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO THE SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF LOT 5 IN SAID HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF RIVERSIDE 

DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE 

WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING THE 

NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23 AND 126 IN THE 22NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION, BEING 

A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND 

EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

CLINTON AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 

NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 127 AND 197 IN SAID 22 NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 



99 AND 52 IN OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22 NO STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN 

SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF GROVE AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF 

THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH HALF OF LOT 50 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE 

WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY LYING EAST OF AND ADJOINING SAID 

LOT 50; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 

EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 22 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE AND EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF 

THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 23 IN BLOCK liN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID 

NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE 

NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF 

THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING 

LOT "G" IN BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND 

WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF EUCLID 



AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND 

ADJOINING LOT " H" IN SAID BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF OAK PARK AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

" A" IN BERWYN GARDEN'S SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF GROVE AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " B" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDEN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"C" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

" D" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " E" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WENONAH AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"F" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WISCONSIN AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"G" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MAPLE AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT "H" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 19; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM, LOTS 295, 296, 351, 352 AND 353 IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF LOT 1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE 

INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD AND WITH THE WEST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST ON AN ASSUMED BEARING 

ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 286.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.0 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES, 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 321.70 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 61.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 160.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS EAST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST, 160.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING. 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF SAID LOT 1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 243.02 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 



THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, 65.00 FEETTO THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD, (DEDICATED AS PER DOCUMENT NO. 19198042, RECORDED 

JULY 28, 1964) SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 91.26 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, 67.86 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, 59.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST, 87.41 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 

EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HARLEM AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 107.00 FEET ALONG SAID EAST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A 65.00 FEET RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY; THENCE 

NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 102.51 FEET (THE CHORD BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 10 

MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST TO A POINT ON SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK 

ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 127.19 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

AND 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19, 20, 29 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE 

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE WITH THE 

WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH OF 

AND ADJOINING LOT F, LOT E, LOT D, LOT C, LOT B AND LOT A IN BERWYN MANOR, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19, ALSO 

BEING THE SOUTH LINES OF LOTS 26, 37, 88, 99, 150, 161, 212, 223, 274, 285, 336 and 347 IN 

SAID BERWYN MANOR; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 26; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 18 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 5 IN B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6 

(EXCEPT THE NORTH 66 FEET THEREOF), OF THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF 

OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27; 



THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.49 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 5; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS CUYLER AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.51 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.55 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 6; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.57 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 7 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.65 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 7; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HARVEY AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.66 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.71 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 8, ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE 

NORTH LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CERMAK ROAD WITH THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE 

SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 5 IN HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER'S 

SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 5 AND 6 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF HARVEY 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HARVEY AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID HARVEY AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 6 IN 

SAID HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER'S SUBDIVISION ; 



THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

HIGHLAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 7 

IN THE SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF CUYLER 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID CUYLER AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

CUYLER AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID 

SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

RIDGELAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 1 

IN GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 

OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE 

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

ELMWOOD AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 2 

IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

GUNDERSON AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE 

OF SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 3 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN' S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

SCOVILLE AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 41N 

SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF EAST 

AVENUE; 



THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID EAST AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

EAST AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH AND 

ADJOINING LOT 5 IN THE CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH 

RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN ; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND ALSO 

ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 6 IN J. KLiCMAN'S RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST HALF OF LOT 

1 AND LOT 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62 FEET) IN CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S 

SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TO 

THE NORTHWEST CORNER SAID LOT 6, ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF CLARENCE 

AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

NORTH LINE OF THE NORTH 31.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH QUARTER OF LOT 3 IN SAID CHICAGO 

TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON 

THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 3 TO THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH 

LINE OF LOT 10 IN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 & 2 IN THE PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST 

HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT IN 

THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

EXCEPT 

LOT 217 IN BERWYN MANOR, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTH 1271.3 FEET OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, 

ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT B 

The Redevelopment Project Area (the "RPA") RPA is generally bounded on the south by 
the 31 st Street, on the east by Lombard Avenue, on the north by Cermak Road (induding 
properties on the north and south side of Cermak Road), and on the west by the City Boundaries 
at Harlem Avenue. The RP A contains mixed residential uses, retaillcommercial properties and 
institutional uses. 



EXHIBITC 

MAP OF 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED, BOUNDARY MAP 



MINUTES 

Aldennan _______ moved and Aldennan _______ _ seconded the 

motion that said ordinance as presented and read by the City Clerk be adopted. 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would infonn the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldennan voted AYE: 

The following Aldennan voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

CERTIFICATION OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City "), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities "). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full , true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the day of 
_____ , 2020, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois 
Designating the First Amended Harlem A venue Redevelopment 

Project Area Pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
__ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 

(Seal) 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ADOPTING TAX INCREMENT 

ALLOCATION FINANCING FOR THE FIRST AMENDED 
HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

RobertJ.Lovero,~ayor 

~argaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. San toy 
Alicia ~. Ruiz 

Rafael Avila 
Anthony Nowak 

Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet fonn by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this _ day of , 2020. 



THIRD ORDINANCE 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ADOPTING TAX INCREMENT 

ALLOCATION FINANCING FOR THE FIRST AMENDED 
HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Berwyn, 

Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), for the City to implement tax increment allocation financing 

pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, Division 74.4 of Article II of the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended (the" Act"); and 

WHEREAS, the City has heretofore approved an amended redevelopment plan and 

project (the "First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project") as required by the Act by 

passage of an ordinance and has heretofore designated an amended redevelopment project area 

(the "Frist Amended Redevelopment Project Area") as required by the Act by the passage of an 

ordinance and has otherwise complied with all other conditions precedent required by the Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City 

of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section l. Tax Increment Financing Adopted. That tax increment allocation 

financing is hereby adopted to pay redevelopment project costs as defined in the Act and as set 

forth in the First Amended Redevelopment Plan and Project within the Area as legally described 

in EXHIBIT A attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The 

general street location for the First Amended Redevelopment Project Area is described in 

EXHIBIT B attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The 



map of the Area is depicted in EXHIBIT C attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out 

in full by this reference. 

Section 2. Allocation of Ad Valorem Taxes. That pursuant to the Act, the ad valorem 

taxes, if any, arising from the levies upon taxable real property in the First Amended 

Redevelopment Project Area by taxing districts and tax rates detennined in the manner provided 

in Section 11-74.4-9(c) of the Act each year after the effective date of this Ordinance until the 

Project costs and obligations issued in respect thereto have been paid shall be divided as follows: 

a. That portion of taxes levied upon each taxable lot, block, tract, or parcel of 

real property that is attributable to the lower of the current equalized assessed value or the initial 

equalized assessed value of each such taxable lot, block, tract, or parcel of real property in the 

First Amended Redevelopment Project Area shall be allocated to, and when collected, shall be 

paid by the county collector to the respective affected taxing districts in the manner required by 

law in the absence of the adoption of tax increment allocation financing. 

b. That portion, if any, of such taxes that is attributable to the increase in the 

current equalized assessed valuation of each lot, block, tract, or parcel of real property in the 

First Amended Redevelopment Project Area shall be allocated to, and when collected, shall be 

paid to the municipal treasurer, who shall deposit said taxes into a special fund, hereby created, 

and designated the "First Amended Harlem A venue Redevelopment Project Area Special Tax 

Allocation Fund" of the City and such taxes shall be used for the purpose of paying Project costs 

and obligations incurred in the payment thereof. 

Section 3. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 



unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 4. Superseder and Effective Date. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions, 

or orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effective immediately upon its passage by 

the Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

EXHIBIT A - Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - General Street Location 

EXHIBIT C - Map of Redevelopment Project Area 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

__ day of ____ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

!yES NO ABSENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

Fejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

[TOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ____ .2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

HARLEM CERMAK TIF FIRST AMENDMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 30 TO A POINT ON THE 

WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 17 FEET OF LOT 28 IN BLOCK 9 OF 

KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION SUBDIVISION, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH 

ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 9; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF 30TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF SAID 30TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 5 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF 29TH STREET; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 

OF SAID 29TH STREET AND THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 4 OF SAID KIRCHMAN AND JEDLAM'S WESTERN AGENCY AND LOAN CORPORATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND ALONG THE EAST RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE OF THE NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN 

KOMAREK'S RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TO AN ANGLE POINT IN SAID NORTH-SOUTH AND NORTHEASTERLY

SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 8 IN SAID KOMAREK'S 

RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHWESTERLY 

LINE AND NORTHWESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF RIVERSIDE DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND 

NORTHEASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LINE OF THE ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON 

THE SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE 

NORTHEASTERL Y-SOUTHWESTERL Y ALLEY IN RIVERSIDE PARK SUBDIVISION, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTHEASTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 

HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO THE SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF LOT 5 IN SAID HARLEM AND 26TH STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF RIVERSIDE 

DRIVE; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE 

WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING THE 

NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23 AND 126 IN THE 22 NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION SUBDIVISION, BEING 

A SUBDIVISION IN SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND 

EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 

ClINTON AVENUE AND THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING 

NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 127 AND 197 IN SAID 22NO STREET LAND ASSOCIATION 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOTS 



99 AND 52 IN OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN 

SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER Of SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE Of GROVE AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION Of 

THE SOUTH LINE Of THE NORTH HALf Of LOT 50 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22 NO STREET 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE TO A POINT ON THE 

WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY LYING EAST Of AND ADJOINING SAID 

LOT 50; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 

EXTENSION Of THE SOUTH LINE Of LOT 22 IN SAID OAK PARK AVENUE AND 22NO STREET 

SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND SOUTH LINE AND EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE Of THE NORTHEAST QUARTER Of SAID 

SECTION 30; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY EXTENSION Of 

THE NORTH LINE Of LOT 23 IN BLOCK liN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SAID 

NORTHEAST QUARTER Of SECTION 30; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID WESTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH LINE AND EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE 

NORTHEASTERLY-SOUTHWESTERLY ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE TO THE SOUTH 

RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY IN SAID BLOCK 1; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND EASTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE Of WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION Of 

THE NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH Of AND ADJOINING 

LOT "G" IN BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER Of SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY EXTENSION AND NORTH RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE AND 

WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOf TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-Of-WAY LINE Of EUCLID 



AVENUE AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND 

ADJOINING LOT " H" IN SAID BERWYN MANOR SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF OAK PARK AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"A" IN BERWYN GARDEN'S SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION 19; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF GROVE AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " B" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDEN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF KENILWORTH AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"c" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CLINTON AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

" D" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " E" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WENONAH AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

" F" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WISCONSIN AVENUE AND THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT 

"G" IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MAPLE AVENUE AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE EAST-WEST ALLEY LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING LOT " H" IN 

SAID BERWYN GARDENS SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE AND WESTERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 19; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM, LOTS 295, 296, 351, 352 AND 353 IN SAID BERWYN GARDENS 

SUBDIVISION; 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF LOT 1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE 

INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD AND WITH THE WEST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HOME AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST ON AN ASSUMED BEARING 

ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE 286.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.0 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES, 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 321.70 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 61.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, 160.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 20 SECONDS EAST, 161.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST, 160.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING. 

ALSO EXCEPTING, 

THAT PART OF SAID LOT 1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, DESCRIED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 243.02 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; 



THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, 65.00 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT

OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK ROAD, (DEDICATED AS PER DOCUMENT NO. 19198042, RECORDED 

JULY 28, 1964) SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 91.26 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, 67.86 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, 59.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST, 87.41 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 

EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF HARLEM AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 107.00 FEET ALONG SAID EAST 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO A 65 .00 FEET RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY; THENCE 

NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 102.51 FEET (THE CHORD BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 10 

MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST TO A POINT ON SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CERMAK 

ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST, 127.19 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

AND 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 19, 20, 29 AND 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE 

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE WITH THE 

WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH OF 

AND ADJOINING LOT F, LOT E, LOT D, LOT C, LOT B AND LOT A IN BERWYN MANOR, BEING A 

SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 19, ALSO 

BEING THE SOUTH LINES OF LOTS 26, 37, 88, 99, 150, 161, 212, 223, 274, 285, 336 and 347 IN 

SAID BERWYN MANOR; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 26; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 18 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 5 IN B. PINKERT AND SONS 22 NO STREET SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6 

(EXCEPT THE NORTH 66 FEET THEREOF), OF THE CIRCUIT COURT PARTITION OF THE WEST HALF 

OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 18 FEET OF LOT 27; 



THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.49 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 5; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.49 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS CUYLER AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.51 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 6 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION ; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.51 FEET OF LOT 27; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.55 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 6; . 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 

OF SAID SOUTH 14.55 FEET OF LOT 12; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.57 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 7 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22 NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.65 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 7; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS HARVEY AVENUE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.66 

FEET OF LOT 27 IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID B. PINKERT AND SONS 22NO STREET SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE EAST ACROSS THE PUBLIC ALLEY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH 14.71 

FEET OF LOT 12 IN SAID BLOCK 8, ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE 

NORTH LINE OF CERMAK ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CERMAK ROAD WITH THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOMBARD AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOMBARD AVENUE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE 

SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 5 IN HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER'S 

SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 5 AND 6 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF HARVEY 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HARVEY AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID HARVEY AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 6 IN 

SAID HENRY H. & JESSIE S. WALKER'S SUBDIVISION; 



THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

HIGHLAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID HIGHLAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 7 

IN THE SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN THE SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF CUYLER 

AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID CUYLER AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

CUYLER AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 8 IN SAID 

SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 IN SAID SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

RIDGELAND AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID RIDGELAND AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 1 

IN GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 

OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE 

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

ELMWOOD AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID ELMWOOD AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 2 

IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

GUNDERSON AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE 

OF SAID GUNDERSON AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN 

BLOCK 3 IN SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF 

SCOVILLE AVENUE; 

THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF 

SAID SCOVILLE AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY IN BLOCK 4 IN 

SAID GROH AND CHRISTIAN'S SUBDIVISION; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE EAST LINE OF EAST 

AVENUE; 



THENCE WEST ACROSS SAID EAST AVENUE TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

EAST AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST/WEST PUBLIC ALLEY LYING NORTH AND 

ADJOINING LOT S IN THE CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH 

RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND ALSO 

ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 6 IN J. KLiCMAN'S RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST HALF OF LOT 

1 AND LOT 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62 FEET) IN CHICAGO TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S 

SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 

SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TO 

THE NORTHWEST CORNER SAID LOT 6, ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF CLARENCE 

AVENUE; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 

NORTH LINE OF THE NORTH 31.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH QUARTER OF LOT 3 IN SAID CHICAGO 

TITLE AND TRUST COMPANY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST 30 ACRES; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON 

THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF LOT 3 TO THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH 

LINE OF LOT 10 IN KLIMA'S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 & 2 IN THE PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 

ACRES OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST 

HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 30; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND ITS EASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT IN 

THE CENTERLINE OF WESLEY AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

EXCEPT 

LOT 217 IN BERWYN MANOR, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTH 1271.3 FEET OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, 

ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT B 

The Redevelopment Project Area (the nRPAn) RPA is generally bounded on the south by 
the 31 st Street, on the east by Lombard A venue, on the north by Cermak Road (including 
properties on the north and south side of Cennak Road), and on the west by the City Boundaries 
at Harlem A venue. The RP A contains mixed residential uses, retail/commercial properties and 
institutional uses. 



EXHIBIT C 

MAP OF 
FIRST AMENDED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



HARLEM CERMAK TIF, AS AMENDED, BOUNDARY MAP 

Ir-'-'---'-"-----;' I - - - 41</ n d ,.T 

'~WdUjm~~~JJ ~~~~~~il~[ " <T 

1 ~~Z7.'?r fT-lFnFTlfTlFfl f-TlFr'F:r1Hiilb' :iFn)=rHnfflf- " <I, .. 

_Jr.~ lJjWEiJLiJtt1lt'Jt;.~tl;J~L.!_1LLi,: _L4Jj1." 11 I H~1 417 Ih ~,. 
~m .. - mrnmII:1Er"lcI JEFJ;l,:fl I.fJWl 
-.U gJil, I I 1"~=1dt1 ~~t+l FI~ FF_ ~ ; )il ~ !~IJ_J 1J W %8 I " :,>, . 

1 IfBrl~~nL I ]-I:!' ,r', . [tjJ~rnl.",,, 
1 ml~I=-If I~] I ! 



MINUTES 

Aldennan _ ______ moved and Aldennan seconded the 

motion that said ordinance as presented and read by the City Clerk be adopted. 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would infonn the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldennan voted AYE: 

The following Aldennan voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

CERTIFICATION OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities"). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the _ _ day of 
_ ______ , 2020, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, 
Adopting Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the First 
Amended Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project Area. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
__ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

(SEAL) 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
APPROVING A TAX INCREMENT REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT FOR THE RIDGELAND AVENUE 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. San toy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael A vila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet fonn by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this _ day of , 2020. 



FIRST ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
APPROVING A TAX INCREMENT REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT FOR THE RIDGELAND AVENUE 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Berwyn, 

Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), for the City to implement tax increment allocation financing 

pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, Division 74.4 of Article II of the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended (the "Act"), for a proposed redevelopment and 

redevelopment project (the "Plan and Project") within the municipal boundaries of the City 

within a proposed redevelopment project area (the "Area") described in Section I (a) of this 

Ordinance, which Area constitutes in the aggregate more than one and a half (1.5) acres; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-74.4-5 of the Act, the Mayor and City Council of 

the City (the "Corporate Authorities") called a public hearing relative to the Plan and Project and 

the designation of the Area as a redevelopment project area under the Act for February 25, 2020; 

and 

WHEREAS, due notice with respect to such hearing was given pursuant to Section I 1-

74.4-5 of the Act, said notice being given to taxing districts and to the Illinois Department of 

Commerce and Economic Opportunity by certified mail on December 23 , 2019, by publication 

on January 30, 2020 and February 6, 2020 (in English) and January 31 , 2020 and February 7, 

2020 (in Spanish), and by certified mail to taxpayers within the Area on December 23, 2019, 

2019; and 

2 



WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-74.4-6 of the Act, a good faith effort was made to 

give due notice with respect to such public hearing to all residents of the Area and, in any event, 

such notice was given to each residential address within the Area; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-74.4-6 of the Act, notice to DCEO and the affected 

taxing districts included an invitation to submit comments to the City prior to the date of the 

public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the City has heretofore convened a meeting of the Joint Review Board, 

which gave a positive recommendation, as required by and in all respects in compliance with the 

provisions of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the information concerning such 

factors presented at the public hearing and have reviewed other studies and are generally 

informed of the conditions in the proposed Area that could cause the Area to be a "conservation 

area" as defined in the Act, obsolescence, deterioration, inadequate utilities, deleterious layout, 

and lack of community planning; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the conditions pertaining to lack 

of private investment in the proposed Area to detennine whether private development would take 

place in the proposed Area as a whole without the adoption of the proposed Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the conditions pertaining to real 

property in the proposed Area to determine whether contiguous parcels of real property and 

improvements thereon in the proposed Area would be substantially benefited by the proposed 

Project improvements; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the proposed Plan and Project and 

also the existing comprehensive planning process for development of the City as a whole to 

3 



detennine whether the proposed Plan and Project confonn to the existing comprehensive 

planning process of the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section I. Findings. That the Corporate Authorities hereby find that the following 

facts have been established by the preponderance of the evidence: 

a. The Area is legally described in EXHIBIT A attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The general street location for the Area 

is described in EXHIBIT B attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this 

reference. The map of the Area is depicted on EXHIBIT C attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as if set out in full by this reference. 

b. There exist conditions that cause the Area to be subject to designation as a 

redevelopment project area under the Act and to be classified as a "conservation area" as defined 

in the Act. 

c. The proposed Area, on the whole, has not been subject to growth and 

development through investment by private enterprise and would not be reasonably anticipated 

to be developed without the adoption of the Plan. 

d. The Plan and Project confonn to the existing comprehensive planning 

process for the development of the City as a whole, as reflected in the City's zoning map. 

e. As set forth in the Plan it is anticipated that all obligations incurred to 

finance redevelopment project costs, if any, as defined in the Plan shall be retired no later than 

December 31 st of the year in which the payment to the municipal treasurer, pursuant to the Act, 

4 



is to be made with respect to the ad valorem taxes levied in the twenty-third calendar year after 

the Area is designated. 

f. The parcels of real property in the proposed Area are contiguous, and only 

those contiguous parcels of real property and improvements thereon that will be substantially 

benefited by the proposed Project improvements are included in the proposed Area. 

Section 2. Plan and Project Approved. That the Plan and Project, which were the 

subject matter of the public hearing held on February 25, 2020, are hereby adopted and 

approved. A copy of the Plan and Project is set forth in EXHIBIT D attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. 

Section 3. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 4. Superseder and Effective Date. All ordinances, resolutions, motions, or 

orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by the 

Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

EXHIBIT A - Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - General Street Location 

EXHIBIT C - Map of Redevelopment Project Area 

EXHIBIT D - Redevelopment Plan and Project 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

5 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

__ day of ____ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

YES NO ABSENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

~eardon 

lFejt 

Santoy 

~uiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

Mayor Lovero) 

TOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ____ .2020. 

ATIEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

6 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



EXHIBIT A - LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 29, 30 AND 32, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH , RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF 
BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
99430527, SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET OF THE 
SOUTH 24.507 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 30; 

THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET TO THE WEST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 
SOUTH LINE OF 29TH STREET, ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF 
THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST 
HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 32; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS 
CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 32, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND 
AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 
ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND 
ITS SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY 
CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 
AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 99430527; 

THENCE NORTH, EAST AND NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT B 

GENERAL STREET LOCATION 



EXHIBIT B 

The redevelopment project area, commonly referred to as the "Ridgeland Avenue TIF," is 
bounded by the following: 

on the south BNSF Railroad, on the east by Lombard A venue, on the north by 29th 
Street, and on the west by approximately to Ridgeland Avenue and 29th Street South to 
the next alley to the west up to the baseball fields across the rear of the property located 
near 6400 28th Place. 



EXHIBIT C 

MAP OF REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



w w w 
~ (\J w 
Ul ::J ~ 
c+ 0.- p.. 



EXHIBIT D 

REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PROJECT 



CITY OF BERWYN 
REDEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PROJECT 
RIDGELAND A VENUE TlF DISTRICT 

DRAFT dated November 25,2019 

"Redevelopment plan" means the comprehensive program of the municipality for 
development or redevelopment intended by the payment of redevelopment project costs 
to reduce or eliminate those conditions the existence of which qualified the 
redevelopment project area as a "conservatioll area" and thereby to enhance the tax 
base of the taxing district which extellds into the redevelopment project area as set 
forth in the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et. 
seq., as amended. 

Prepared by tire City of Berwyn 

in conjunction with 

Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 

November, 2019 



I. 

II 

JJl 

IV 

v 

VI 

VII. 

VIII. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Subject 

Introduction 

Redevelopment Project Area Legal Description 

Redevelopment Project Area Goals and Objectives 

Evidence of the Lack of Development and Growth within RPA 
and Assessment of Fiscal Impact on Affected Taxing Districts 

A. 

B. 

Evidence of the Lack of Development and Growth 
Within the Redevelopment Project Area 

Assessment of Fiscal Impact on Affected 
Taxing Districts 

TIF Qualification Factors Existing in the Redevelopment Project Area 

Redevelopment Project 

A. 
B. 
C 
D. 

E 
F 

G. 
H 

I. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project Objectives 
Redevelopment Activities 
General Land Use Plan 
Additional Design and Control Standards for 

Community Development in the City 
Estimated Redevelopment Project Costs 
Sources of Funds to Pay Redevelopment Project 

Costs 
Nature and Term of Obligations to be Issued 
Most Recent Equalized Assessed Valuation (EAV) 
Of Properties in the Redevelopment Project Area 

Anticipated Equalized Assessed Valuation (EA JI) 

Description and Scheduling of Redevelopment Project 

A. 
B. 

c 

Redevelopment Project 
Commitment to Fair Employment Practices and 
Affirmative Action 

Completion of Redevelopment Project and Retirement 
Of Obligations to Finance Redevelopment Costs 

Provisions for Amending the Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan 
And Project 

1 

4 

5 

7 

7 

7 

8 

9 

9 
10 
11 

11 
12 

22 
22 

23 
23 

24 

24 

25 

26 

27 



EXHIBITS 

Exhibit} 

Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 3 

Exhibit 4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ... COlltillued 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

Legal description 

Boundary Map 

Existing/Future Land Use Map 

TIF Qualification/Designation Report 



I. INTRODUCTION 

The City of Berwyn (the "City") is located in Cook County, Illinois, approximately ten (10) 
miles west of the City of Chicago's "Loop". The City generally lies adjacent to the 
municipalities of Oak Park and Forest Park to the north, North Riverside to the west, Stickney to 
the south and Cicero to the east The Berwyn was incorporated as City in 1908. 

TI,e City of Berwyn encourages controlled growth within the community through the use of the 
Berwyn Economic Developmem Council (the "Berwyn EDC") the Zoning Ordinance and the 
2012 Comprehensive Plan, which are intended to guide Berwyn's evolution and development in 
the future. In terms of redevelopment, the City intends to at1ract and encourage industrial, 
commercial and institutional uses for the area described below. 

The cond itions of the Redevelopment Project Area, (uRPA"), include deterioration, deleterious 
land use/layout, lack of community planning, inadequate, utilities and obsolescence. These 
conditions are evidenced throughout the area and have been documented pursuant to site visi ts 
and City and Cook County data 

The RP A is suitable for redevelopment for industri al, commercial mixed, and institutional uses. 
The RP A's best opportunity for redevelopment is related to its location along Ridgeland Avenue 
and its proximity to the Illinois Central Railroad. This location allows for the RPA to be both a g 
an important commercial and industrial node. The City has undertaken an initiative, through the 
designation of the RPA, to redevelop strategic areas including the RPA within the City and, in so 
doing, stabilize and expand benefits to the community and affected taxing districts. 

The Redevelopment Plan 

The City recognizes the need for implementation of a strategy to revitali ze existing properties 
within the boundaries of the RP A and to stimulate and enhance private development within the 
area. Business attraction and expansion are key components of the strategy. The needed private 
investment in the RPA may only be possible if Tax Increment Financing (TIF) is adopted 
pursuant to the terms of the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act (the "Act"), Illinois 
Compiled Statutes, Chapter 65, Section 5/11-74.4-1 et seq., as amended. Incremental property 
tax revenue generated by the development will playa decisive role in encouraging private 
development. Site conditions that may have precluded intensive private investment in the past 
will be eliminated. Ultimately, the implementation of the Redevelopment Plan and Project will 
benefit the City and all the taxing districts, which encompass the RPA in the form of a 
significantly expanded tax base. 

The designation of the area as a Redevelopment Project Area will allow the City to address RP A 
deficiencies including (but not limited to): 

Redeveloping underutilized properties and bringing them to productive reuse; 

Establishing a pattern of land use activities that will increase efficiency and 
economic relationships ; 

Redevelopment Plan ami Project- Ridgeland Aveflue TIF 
City of Berwyn, JIIillois 



Addressing the need for traffic related and roadway improvements; 

Coordinating land assembly in order to provide sites featuring more modern 
redevelopment plans; 

Entering into redevelopment agreements in order to include the redevelopment of 
property andlor to induce new development to locate within The RP A; 

Improving area appearance through area redevelopment; 

Providing infrastructure that supp011S redevelopment activities. 

A map of the RPA boundaries is included in Exhibit 2 and is a part of this Redevelopment Plan 
and Project. The area on the whole would not reasonably be anticipated to be developed in a 
coordinated manner without the adoption of a Redevelopment Plan and Project. The City, with 
the assistance of Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. ("KMA") has prepared this 
Redevelopment Plan and Project to use tax increment financing in order to address local needs 
and to meet redevelopment goals and objectives. 

The adoption of this Redevelopment Plan and Project makes possible the implementation of a 
comprehensive program for the economic redevelopment of the proposed area. By means of 
public investment, the RP A will become a more viable area that will attract more private 
investment. The additional public investment will set the stage for the redevelopment of the area 
with private capital. This in turn will lead to operation of viable industrial and commercial uses 
within the RP A. 

Pursuant to the Act, the RPA includes only those contiguous parcels of real property and 
improvements thereon substantially benefited by the redevelopment project. Also pursuant to 
the Act, the RP A is not less in the aggregate than I Yo acres. 

Through this Redevelopment Plan and Project, the City will serve as the central force for 
marshalling the assets and energies of the private sector for a unified cooperative pUblic-private 
redevelopment effort. Ultimately, the implementation of this redevelopment plan will create a 
stabilized and expanded tax base, the creation of new development opportunities, enhanced 
retention of existing businesses, and the creation of new employment opportunities within the 
City as a result of new private development in the RP A. 

Summary 

It is found and declared by the City, through legislative actions as required by the Act, that in 
order to promote and protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public, that certain conditions 
that have adversely affected redevelopment within the RP A need to be addressed, and that 
redevelopment of such areas must be undertaken; · and, to alleviate the existing adverse 
conditions, it is necessary to encourage private investment and enhance the tax base of the taxing 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Il/itw;s 

2 



districts in such areas by the development or redevelopment of certain areas. Public/private 
partnerships are determined to be necessary in order to achieve development goals. Without the 
development focus and resources provided under the Act, the development goals of the City 
would not reasonably be expected to be achieved. 

It is found and declared by the City that the use of incremental tax revenues derived from the tax 
rates of various taxing districts in the Redevelopment Project Area for the payment of 
redevelopment project costs is of benefit to those taxing districts. The reason for the use of 
incremental tax revenues is that these taxing districts whose jurisdictions include the 
Redevelopment Project Area would not derive the benefits of an increased assessment base 
without the City addressing the coordination of redevelopment. 

It is further found. and certified bv the City. in connection to the process required for the 
adoption of thi s Redevelopment Plan and Project pursuant to 65 ILCS Section 511 1-74.4.3(n)(5) 
of the Act. that this Redevelopment Plan and Proiect will not result in the displacement of ten 
( 10) or more inhabited residential units. Therefore. thi s Plan and Project does not include a 
housing impact study as is required under the Act. 

The redevelopment activities that will take place within the RP A will produce benefits that are 
reasonably distributed throughout the RPA. 

Redevelopment of the RP A is tenable only if a portion of the improvements and other costs are 
funded by utilizing tax increment financing. 

Redevelopment Plall and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, ll/illois 

3 



II. REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

The Redevelopment Project Area legal description is attached in Exhibit 1. 

Redevelopment Plan and Projec/- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

4 



1lI. REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

The following goals and objectives are presented for the RP A in accordance with the City's 
Zoning Ordinance the 2012 Comprehensive Plan. The Redevelopment Plan and Project also 
conform to the City's comprehensive planning process. 

General Goals to the City 

I) To provide for implementation of economic development and redevelopment 
strategies that benefits the City and its residents. 

2) To encourage positive and feasible redevelopment of under utilized facilities. 

3) To strengthen the property tax base of the City and overlapping tax di stricts. 

4) To create new jobs for City and area residents. 

5) To coordinate all redevelopment within the City in a comprehensive manner, 
avoiding land use conflicts and negative community impacts with redevelopment 
projects. 

6) To create a cooperative partnership between City and proposed developers, and users . 

7) To provide public infrastructure improvements within the RPA to promote 
redevelopment efforts, where necessary. 

Specific Objectives for the RPA 

I ) Utilize redevelopment of the RP A to mcrease the presence of commercial and 
industrial land and uses within the City. 

2) Develop the RP A into a significant commercial and industrial node and gateway for 
the City. 

3) Provide for traffic related and roadway improvements that benefit the RP A 

4) Coordinate mixed land uses within the RPA. 

Redevelopment Plall ami Project- Ridgeland Avenue TTF 
City of Berwyn, llli/lOis 

5 



Rcden\opl11ent Objectives 

The City ' s redevelopment objectives propose to enrich to the extent possible the negative impact 
of the qualification factors which are prevalent in much of the RP A and enhance, commercial, 
industrial and institutional use opportunities where appropriate. To achieve these objectives the 
City proposes the following guidelines: 

I) To encomage redevelopment within the RPA that will address the piecemeal 
development practices, mitigate conditions associated with existing conditions, and 
attract new land uses which are consistent with the existing uses and provide an enhanced 
tax base to support the entire City; 

2) To implement coordinated development/design practices as set forth in the City's 
comprehensive plan and to promote redevelopment in accordance with current planning 
standards; 

3) To assist site assembly and preparation in order to provide for the reuse of properties for 
this stated purpose; 

4) To coordinate traffic flow and access to sites; 

5) To improve overall area appearance; and 

6) To install and improve the necessary infrastructme improvements for improved ingress 
and egress and to support proposed new development in accordance with modem 
planning standards and City requirements. 

Redevelopment Plan alld Project- Ridgelalld Avellue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illillois 

6 



IV. EVIDENCE OF THE LACK OF DEVELOPMENT AND GROWTH WITHIN 
THE RP A AND ASSESSMENT OF FISCAL IMP ACT ON AFFECTED TAXING 
DISTRICTS 

A. Evidcnce of thc Lack of Devclopment and Growth Within the Proposed RPA 

As found in Exhibit 4 of this Plan, the RPA has not undergone coordinated or sustained 
redevelopment. The RPA has not benefited from coordinated private investment and/or 
development, evidencing several qualification factors as set forth in the Act. 

B. Assessment of Fiscal Impact on Affected Tllxing Districts 

It is anticipated that the implementation of this Redevelopment Plan and Project will have a 
minimal financial impact on most of the affected taxing districts. In fact, the action taken by the 
City to stabilize and encourage growth of its tax base through the implementation of this 
Redevelopment Plan and Project will have a positive impact on the affected taxing districts by 
arresting inflation- adjusted declines in assessed valuations. 

Though strategies will be encouraged to promote growth via private investment within the area, 
specific objectives are geared to stabilize the RPA's existing strengths and revitalize the RPA's 
redevelopment potential. Should the City achieve success in attracting private investment which 
does result in the need for documented increased services from any taxing districts, the City will 
consider the declaration of sufficient surplus funds (as long as those funds are not already 
obligated to the TIF), to assist affected taxing districts in paying the costs for the increased 
servIces. 

Any surplus Special Tax Allocation Funds, to the extent any surplus exists, will be 
proportionately shared, based on the appropriate tax rates for a given year, with the various 
taxing districts, including the City, after all TIF eligible costs either expended or incurred as an 
obligation by the City have been duly accounted for tlu·ough administration of the Special Tax 
Allocation Fund to be established by the City as provided by the Act. 

Redevelopmeltl Plan alld Project- Ridgeland A vellue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illillois 

7 



V. TlF QUALIFICATION FACTORS EXISTrNG IN THE REDEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT AREA 

Findings 

The RP A was studied to detennine its qualifications under the Act. It was detelmined that the 
area as a whole qualifies as a TIF district under Illinois law. Refer to the TIF Eligibility Report, 
(Exhibit 4) which is attached as part of this plan. 

Eligibility SU I'\'CI' 

The RP A was evaluated beginning in July 20 19 and continued to the present by representatives 
of KMA. Analysis was aided by certain reports obtained from the City, the County, and other 
sources . In KMA's evaluation, only information was recorded which would directly aid in the 
determination of eligibility for a TIF district. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgelaml Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

8 



VI. REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

A. Redevelopment Plan and Project Objectives 

The City proposes to realize its goals and objectives of encouraging the development of the RP A 
and encouraging private investment tlu'ough public finance tecluliques including, but not limited 
to, Tax Increment Financing: 

I) By implementing a plan that provides for the attraction of users to redevelop properties 
within the RP A. 

2) By constructing public improvements which may include (if necessary): 

1. Street, sidewalk and right-of-way improvements (including new 
street construction and widening of current streets) 

ii. Utility improvements (including, but not limited to, water, 
storrnwater management, and sanitary sewer projects consisting of 
construction and rehabilitation) 

Ill. Signalization, traffic control and lighting 
IV. Off-street parking (if applicable) 
v. Urban design components 
VI. Landscaping and beautification 

3) By entering into Redevelopment Agreements with developers for qualified 
redevelopment projects. 

4) By providing for environmental remediation, if needed, site assembly, site preparation, 
clearance, and demolition, including grading and excavation. 

5) Exploring the review of job training programs in coordination with any City, federal, 
state, and county programs. 

6) Provide for the redevelopment of wlderutilized or vacant properties 

7) Provide for taxing district capital improvements. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridge/um/ Avellue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

9 



B. Redevelopment Activities 

Pursuant to the foregoing objectives, the City will implement a coordinated program of actions, 
including, but not limited to, acquisition, site preparation, environmental remediation, 
demolition, provision of public infrastructure and related public improvements, and rehabilitation 
of structures, if necessary. 

Site Preparation. Clearance. and Demolition 

Property within the RP A may be acquired and improved through the use of site clearance, 
excavation, or demolition prior to redevelopment. The land may also be graded and 
cleared prior to redevelopment. 

Environmental Remediation 

Property within the RP A may require remediation of various types of contamination, in 
order to use property for industrial and commercial redevelopment. 

Land Assembly 

Certain properties in the RP A may be acquired, assembled and reconfigured into 
appropriate redevelopment sites. 

Public Improvements 

The City may, but is not required to provide, public improvements in the RP A to enhance 
the immediate area and suppor! the Redevelopment Plan and Project. Appropriate public 
improvements may include, but are not limited to: 

• Improvements and/or construction of public improvements, including extension 
of water mains, sanitary and storm sewer systems, roadwayitraffic improvements; 
and 

• Beautification, identification markers, landscaping, lighting, and signage of public 
right-of-ways. 

Rehabilitation/Taxing District Capital Improvements 

The City may provide for the rehabilitation of certain structures within the RPA in order 
to provide for the redevelopment of the area and conformance to City code provisions. 
Improvements may include exterior and facade-related work as well as interior related 
work. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenlle TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

10 



Interest Rate Write-Down 

The City may enter into agreements with owners/developers whereby a portion of the 
interest cost of a construction, renovation or rehabilitation project is paid for on an alillual 
basis out of the Special Tax Allocation fund of the RPA, in accordance with the Act. 

Job Trainin l! 

The City may assist facilities and enterpri ses located within the RPA in obtaining job 
training assistance. Job training and retraining programs currently available from or 
through other governments include, but are not limited to: 

• Federal programs; 

• State of Illinois programs; 

• Applicable local vocational educational programs, including 
community college sponsored programs; 

• Other federal, state, county or non-profit programs that are currently 
available or will be developed and initiated over time. 

C. General Land Use Plan 

The RP A cUJTently consists of stmctures and land zoned for commercial, industrial and 
institutional uses. Existing/future land uses are shown in Exhibit 3 attached hereto and made a 
part of this Plan. Future uses consist of commercial , industrial and institutional uses. Future land 
uses will confolTl1 to the Zoning Ordinance and the comprehensive planning process as either 
may be amended from time to time. 

D. Additional Design and Control Standards for Community Development in the Cit\' 
of Berwvn 

The appropriate design contro ls, as set forth in the City'S Zoning Ordinance and other City 
planning efforts, shall apply to the RP A. 

Redevelopmellt Plan alld Project- Ridgelallt! Avellue TIF 
City of BerwYlI, Illinois 

II 



Ii:. Estimated Redevelopment Project Costs 

Redevelopment project costs mean and include the sum total of all reasonable or necessary costs 
incurred or estimated to be incurred, as provided in the Act, and any such costs incidental to this 
Redevelopment Plan and Project. Private investments, which supplement "Redevelopment 
Project Costs", are expected to substantially exceed such Redevelopment Project Costs. Eligible 
costs permitted under the Act which may be pertinent to this Redevelopment Plan and Project 
include: 

I . Costs of studies and surveys, development of plans and specifications, 
implementation and administration of the redevelopment plan including, but not 
limited to, staff and professional service costs for architectural, engineering, legal , 
marketing, financial , planning, or other ,pecial services, provined, however, that 
no charges for professional services may be based on a percentage of the tax 
increment collected; except that after November 1, 1999, no contracts for 
professional services, excluding architectural and engineering services, may be 
entered into if the terms of the contract extend beyond a period of three (3) years. 
In addition, "redevelopment project costs" shall not include lobbying expenses; 

1.1 After July 1,1999, annual administrative costs shall not include general 
overhead or administrative costs of the municipality that would still have 
been incurred by the municipality if the municipality had not designated a 
redevelopment area or approved a redevelopment plan; 

2. The cost of marketing sites within the redevelopment project area to prospecti ve 
businesses, developers, and investors; 

3. Propelty assembly costs, including, but not limited to, acquisition of land and 
other property, real or personal, or rights or interest therein, demolition of 
buildings, site preparation, site improvements that serve as an engineered barrier 
addressing ground level or below ground environmental contamination, including, 
but not limited to, parking lots and other concrete or asphalt barriers, and the 
clearing and grading of land; 

4. Costs of rehabilitation, reconstruction or repair or remodeling of existing public or 
private buildings, fixtures and leasehold improvements; and the costs of replacing 
an existing public building if pursuant to the implementation of a redevelopment 
project the existing public building is to be demolished to use the site for private 
investment or devoted to a different use requiring private investment; including 
any direct or indirect costs relating to Green Globes or LEED celtified 
construction elements or construction elements with an equivalent certification; 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgelmld Avenue TlF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

12 



5. Costs of the construction of public works or improvements, including any direct 
or indirect costs relating to Green Globes or LEED certified construction elements 
or construction elements with an equivalent certification, except that on and after 
November, 1, 1999 redevelopment project costs shall not include the cost of 
constructing a new municipal public building principally used to provide offices, 
storage space, or conference facilities or vehicle storage, maintenance, or repair 
for administrative, public safety, or public works personnel and that is not 
intended to replace an existing public building as provided under paragraph 0) of 
subsection (q) of Section 11-74.4-3 unless either (i) the construction of the new 
municipal building implements a redevelopment project that was included in a 
redevelopment plan that was adopted by the municipality prior to the effective 
date of this amendatory Act of the 91 sL General Assembly or (ii) the municipality 
makes a reasonable detennination in the redevelopment plan, supported by 
information that provided that basis for that determination, that the new municipal 
building is required to meet an increase in the need for public safety purposes 
anticipated to result from the implementation of the redevelopment plan; 

6. Costs of job training and retraining projects including the costs of 'welfare to 
work" programs implemented by businesses located within the redevelopment 
proj ect area; 

7. Financing costs, including but not limited to all necessary and incidental expenses 
related to the issuance of obligations and which may include payment of interest 
on any obligations issued pursuant to the Act accruing during the estimated period 
of construction of any redevelopment project for which such obligations are 
issued and for not exceeding 36 months thereafter and including reasonable 
reserves related thereto; 

8. To the extent the municipality by written agreement accepts and approves the 
same, all or a portion of a taxing district's capital (and additional student tuition) 
costs resulting from the redevelopment project necessarily incurred or to be 
incurred within a taxing district in furtherance of the objectives of the 
redevelopment plan and project; 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIP 
City of BerwYII, Illinois 

13 



9. For redevelopment proj eet areas designated (or redevelopment project areas 
amended to add or increase the number of tax-increment-financing assisted 
housing units) on or after November I, 1999 an elementary, secondary, or unit 
school district's increased costs attributable to assisted housing units located 
within the redevelopment project area for which the developer or redeveloper 
receives financial assistance through an agreement with the municipality or 
because the municipality incurs the cost of necessary infrastructure improvements 
within the boundaries of the assisted housing sites necessary for the completion of 
that housing as authorized by the Act, and which costs shall be paid by the 
municipality from the Special Tax Allocation Fund when the tax increment 
revenue is received as a result of the assisted housing units and shall be calculated 
annually as follows: 

a) for foundation districts, excluding any school district in a municipality 
with a population in excess of 1,000,000, by mUltiplying the district's 
increase in attendance resulting from the net increase in new students 
enrolled in that school district who reside in housing units within the 
redevelopment project area that have received financial assistance through 
an agreement with the municipality or because the municipality incurs the 
cost of necessary infrastructure improvements within the boundaries of the 
housing sites necessary for the completion of that housing as authorized 
by the Act since the designation of the redevelopment project area by the 
most recently available per capita tuition cost as defined in Section 10-
20.12a of the School Code less any increase in general State aid as defined 
in Section 18-8.0S of the School Code attributable to these added new 
students subject to the following annual limitations: 

(i) for unit school districts with a district average 1995-96 Per Capita 
Tuition Charge of less than $5,900, no more than 2S% of the total 
amount of propelty tax increment revenue produced by those 
housing units that have received tax increment finance assistance 
under this Act; 

(ii) for elementary school districts with a district average 1995-96 Per 
Capita Tuition Charge of less than $5,900, no more than 17% of 
the total amount of property tax increment revenue produced by 
those housing units that have received tax increment finance 
assistance under this Act; and 

(iii) for secondary school districts with a district average 1995-96 Per 
Capita Tuition Charge of less than $S,900, no more than 8% of the 
total amount of property tax increment revenue produced by those 
housing units that have received tax increment finance assistance 
under this Act. 

Redevelopme1l1 Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

14 



b) For alternate method districts, flat grant districts, and foundation districts 
with a district average 1995-96 Per Capita Tuition charge equal to or more 
than $5,900, excluding any school district with a population in excess of 
1,000,000, by mUltiplying the district's increase in attendance resulting 
from the net increase in new students enrolled in that school district who 
reside in housing units within the redevelopment project area that have 
received financial assistance through an agreement with the municipality 
or because the municipality incurs the cost of necessary infrastructure 
improvements within the boundaries of the housing sites necessary for the 
completion of that housing as authorized by the Act since the designation 
of the redevelopment project area by the most recently available per capita 
tuition cost as defined in Section I 0-20.12a of the School Code less any 
increase in general state aid as defined in Section 18-8.05 of the School 
Code attributable to these added new students subject to the following 
annual limitations: 

(i) for unit school district, no more than 40% of the total amount of 
property tax increment revenue produced by those housing units 
that have received tax increment finance assistance under this Act; 

(ii) for elementary school district, no more than 27% of the total 
amount of property tax increment revenue produced by those 
housing units that have received tax increment finance assistance 
under this Act; and 

(iii) for secondary school districts, no more than 13% of the total 
amount of property tax increment revenue produced by those 
housing units that have received tax increment finance assistance 
under the Act. 

c) Any school district in a municipality with a population of 1,000,000, 
additional restrictions apply. 

Any school district seeking payment shall, after July I and before 
September 30 of each year, provide the municipality with reasonable 
evidence to support its claim for reimbursement before the municipality 
shall be required to approve or make the payment to the school district. If 
the school district fails to provide the information during this period in any 
year, it shall forfeit any claim to reimbursement for that year. School 
districts may adopt a resolution waiving the right to all or a portion of the 
reimbursement otherwise required by the Act. By acceptance of this 
reimbursement the school district waives the right to directly or indirectly 
set aside, modify, or contest in any manner the establishment of the 
redevelopment project area or projects; 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

15 



10. For redevelopment project areas designated (or redevelopment project areas 
amended to add or increase the number of tax-increment-financing assisted 
housing units) on or after January I, 2005, a public library district's increased 
costs attributable to assisted housing units located within the redevelopment 
project area for which the developer or redeveloper receives financial assistance 
through an agreement with the municipality or because the municipality incurs the 
cost of necessary infrastructure improvements within the boundaries of the 
assisted housing sites necessary for the completion of that housing as authorized 
by this Act shall be paid to the library district by the municipality from the 
Special Tax Allocation Fund when the tax increment revenue is received as a 
result ofthe assisted housing units. This paragraph applies only if (i) the library is 
located in a county that is subject to the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law 
or (ii) the library district is not located in a county that is subject to the Property 
Tax Extension Limitation Law but the district is prohibited by any other law from 
increasing its tax levy rate without a prior voter referendum. 

The amount paid to a library district under this paragraph shall be calculated by 
mUltiplying (i) the net increase in the number of persons eligible to obtain a 
library card in that district who reside in housing units within the redevelopment 
project area that have received financial assistance through an agreement with the 
municipality or because the municipality incurs the cost of necessary 
infrastructure improvements within the boundaries of the housing sites necessary 
for the completion of that housing as authorized by this Act since the designation 
of the redevelopment project area by (ii) the per-patron cost of providing library 
services so long as it does not exceed $120. The per-patron cost shall be the Total 
Operating Expenditures Per Capita as stated in the most recent Illinois Public 
Library Statistics produced by the Library Research Center at the University of 
Illinois. The municipality may deduct from the amount that it must pay to a 
library district under this paragraph any amount that it has voluntarily paid to the 
library district from the tax increment revenue. The amount paid to a library 
district under this paragraph shall be no more than 2% of the amount produced by 
the assisted housing units and deposited into the Special Allocation Fund. 

A library district is not eligible for any payment under this paragraph unless the 
library district has experienced an increase in the number of patrons from the 
municipality that created the tax-increment-financing district since the designation 
of the redevelopment project area. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TlF 
City of Berwyn, Illil/ois 

16 



Any library district seeking payment under this paragraph shall, after July 1 and 
before September 30 of each year, provide the municipality with convincing 
evidence to SUppOlt its claim for reimbursement before the municipality shall be 
required to approve or make the payment to the library district. If the library 
district fails to provide the infonnation during this period in any year, it shall 
forfeit any claim to reimbursement for that year. Library districts may adopt a 
resolution waiving the right to all or a portion of the reimbursement otherwise 
required by this paragraph. By acceptance of such reimbursement, the library 
district shall forfeit any right to directly or indirectly set aside, modify, or contest 
in any marmer whatsoever the establishment of the redevelopment project area or 
projects; 

II. Relocation costs to the extent that the City determines that relocation costs shall 
be paid or is required to make payment of relocation costs by federal or state law; 

12. Payment in lieu of taxes; 

13. Costs of job training, advanced vocational education or career education, 
including but not limited to courses in occupational, semi-technical or teclmical 
fields leading directly to employment, incurred by one or more taxing districts, 
provided that such costs (i) are related to the establishment and maintenance of 
additional job training, advanced vocational education or career education 
programs for persons employed or to be employed by employers located in the 
redevelopment project area; and (ii) when incurred by a taxing district or taxing 
districts other than the City, are set forth in a \¥ritten agreement by or among the 
City and the taxing district or taxing districts, which agreement describes the 
program to be undertaken, including but not limited to the number of employees 
to be trained, a description of the training and services to be provided, the number 
and type of positions available or to be available, itemized costs of the program 
and sources of funds to pay for the same, and the tenn of agreement. Such costs 
include, specifically, the payment by community college districts of costs 
pursuant to Section 3-37, 3-38, 3-40 and 3-40.1 of the Public Community College 
Act and by school districts of costs pursuant to Section I 0-22.20a and 1 0-23.3a of 
the School Code; 

14. Interest costs incurred by a redeveloper related to the construction, renovation or 
rehabilitation of a redevelopment project provided that: 

a) such costs are to be paid directly from the Special Tax Allocation Fund 
established pursuant to the Act; 

b) such payments in anyone-year may not exceed 30% of the armual interest 
costs incurred by the developer with regard to the redevelopment project 
during that year; 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

17 



c) if there are not sufficient funds available in the Special Tax Allocation 
Fund to make the payment pursuant to this paragraph then the amounts so 
due shaU accrue and be payable when sufficient funds are available in the 
Special Tax Allocation Fund; 

d) the total of such interest payments paid pursuant to the Act may not 
exceed 30% of the total (i) cost paid or incurred by the redeveloper for the 
redevelopment project plus (ii) redevelopment project costs excluding any 
property assembly costs and any relocation costs incurred by a 
municipality pursuant to the Act; 

e) the cost limits set forth in subparagraphs (b) and (d) shall be modified for 
the financing of rehabilitated or new housing units for low-income 
households and very low-income households, as defined in Section 3 of 
the Illinois Affordable Housing Act and the percentage of 75% shaU be 
substituted for 30% in subparagraphs (b) and (d); 

t) Instead of the eligible costs provided by subparagraphs (b) and (d), as 
modified by this subparagraph, and notwithstanding any other provisions 
of the Act to the contrary, the municipality may pay from tax increment 
revenues up to 50% of the cost of construction of new housing units to be 
occupied by low-income households and very low-income households as 
defined in Section 3 of the Illinois Affordable Housing Act. The cost of 
construction of those units may be derived from the proceeds of bonds 
issued by the municipality under the Act or other constitutional or 
statutory authority or from other sources of municipal revenue that may be 
reimbursed from tax increment revenues or the proceeds of bonds issued 
to finance the construction of that housing. The eligible costs provided 
under this subparagraph (t) shall be an eligible cost for the construction, 
renovation, and rehabilitation of all low and very low-income housing 
units, as defined in Section 3 of the lIlinois Affordable Housing Act, 
within the redevelopment project area. If the low and very low-income 
units are part of a residential redevelopment project that includes units not 
affordable to low and very low-income households, only the low and very 
low-income units shaU be eligible for benefits under subparagraph (t). 

The standards for maintaining the occupancy by low-income households 
and very low-income households, as defined in Section 3 of the Illinois 
Affordable Housing Act, of those units constructed with eligible costs 
made available under the provisions of this subparagraph (t) shaU be 
established by guidelines adopted by the municipality. The responsibility 
for annually documenting the initial occupancy of the units by low-income 
households and very low-income households, as defined in Section 3 of 
the Illinois Affordable Housing Act, shall be that of the then current owner 
of the property. For ownership units, the guidelines wiU provide, at a 
minimum, for a reasonable recapture of funds, or other appropriate 

Redevelopmellt Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avellue TIF 
City of BerwYII, Illinois 

18 



methods designed to preserve the original affordability of the ownership 
units. For rental units, the guidelines will provide, at a minimum, for the 
affordability of rent to low and very low-income households. As units 
become available, they shall be rented \0 income-eligible tenants. The 
municipality may modify these guidelines from time to time; the 
guidelines, however, shall be in effect for as long as tax increment revenue 
is being used to pay for costs associated with the units or for the retirement 
of bonds issued to finance the units or for the life of the redevelopment 
project area, whichever is later; 

15. If the redevelopment project area is located within a municipality with a 
population of more than 100,000, the cost of day care services for children of 
employees from low-income families working for businesses located within the 
redevelopment project area and all or a portion of the cost of operation of day care 
centers established by redevelopment project area businesses to serve employees 
from low-income families working in businesses located in the redevelopment 
project area. For the purposes of this paragraph, "low-income families" means 
families whose annual income does not exceed 80% of the municipal, county, or 
regional median income, adjusted for family size, as the annual income and 
municipal, county or regional median income are determined from time to time by 
the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

16. Unless explicitly stated herein the costs of construction of new privately owned 
buildings shall not be an eligible redevelopment project cost; 

17. After November I, 1999, none of the redevelopment project costs enumerated in 
this subsection shall be eligible redevelopment projects if those costs would 
provide direct financial support to a retail entity initiating operations in the 
redevelopment project area while terminating operations at another Illinois 
location within 10 miles of the redevelopment project area but outside the 
boundaries of the redevelopment project area municipality. For purposes of this 
paragraph, termination means a closing of a retail operation that is directly related 
to the opening of the same operation or like retail entity owned or operated by 
more than 50% of the original ownership in a redevelopment project area, but it 
does not mean closing an operation for reasons beyond the control of the retail 
entity, as documented by the retail entity, subject to a reasonable finding by the 
municipality that the current location contained inadequate space, has become 
economically obsolete, or was no longer a viable location for the retailer or 
serVIceman; 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, lIlinois 

19 



18. No cost shall be a redevelopment project cost in a redevelopment project area if 
used to demolish, remove, or substantially modify a historic resource, after 
August 26, 2008, unless no prudent and feasible alternative exists. "Historic 
Resource" means (i) a place or structure that is included or eligible for inclusion 
on the National Register of Historic Places or (ii) a contributing structure in a 
district on the National Register of Historic Places. This restriction does not apply 
to a place or structure for which demolition, removal, or modification is subject to 
review by the preservation agency of a Certified Local Government designated as 
such by the National Park Service of the United States Department of the Interior. 

If a special service area has been established pursuant to the Special Service Area 
Tax Act or Special Service Area Tax Law, then any tax incremental revenues 
derived from the tax imposed pursuant to Special Service Area Tax Act or Special 
Service Area Tax Law may be used within the redevelopment project area for the 
purposes permitted by that Act or Law as well as the purposes permitted by the 
TIF Act. 

Estimated costs are shown on the next page. Adjustments to these cost items may be made 
without amendment to the Redevelopment Plan and Project. 

Redevelopment Plan and Projeci- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, llIinais 

20 



CITY OF BERWYN - RIDGELAND A VENUE TIF 
ESTIMATED REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT COSTS 

ProL'ram Actions/ Improvements 

1. Land Acquisition and Assembly Costs, 
Including Relocation Costs 

2. Demolition, Site Preparation, Environmental Cleanup 
and Related Costs 

3. Public Improvements including, but not limited to, 
water, stonn, and sanitary sewer service, and road/traffic 
related improvements 

4. Rehabi Ii talion 

5. Interest Costs Pursuant to the Act 

6. Planning, Legal, Engineering, Administrative and 
Other Professional Service Costs 

7. Public Facilities and Taxing District Capital 
Improvements pursuant to the Act 

8. J ob Training 

TOTAL ESTIMATED 

Estimated Costs fA) 

$ 2,000,000 

$ 2,000,000 

$ 4,000,000 

$ 2,000,000 

$ 1,500,000 

$ 1,5 00,000 

$ 2,000,000 

$ 500.000 

$15500.000 

(A) All project cost estimates are in year 2019 dollars. Total budgeted costs exclude any 
financing costs, including alUlUal interest expense, capitalized interest, and any and all 
closing costs associated with any obligations issued by the City. Adjustments to the 
estimated line item costs above are expected. Each individual project cost will be 
reevaluated in light of the projected private development and resulting tax revenues as it 
is considered for public financing under the provisions of the Act. The totals of line 
items set forth above are not intended to place a tota! limit on the described expenditures 
as the specific items listed above are not intended to preclude payment of other eligible 
redevelopment project costs in connection with the redevelopment of the RP A, provided 
the total amount of payment for eligible Redevelopment Project Costs shall not exceed 
the overall budget amount outlined above and as provided for in the Act. Adjustments 
may be made in line items within the total, either increasing or decreasing line item costs 
for redevelopment. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

21 



F. Sources of Funds to Pal' Redevelopment Project Costs Eligible Under JIlinois TlF 
Statute 

Funds necessary to pay for public improvements and other project costs eligible under the Act 
are to be derived solely from property tax increment revenues, proceeds from municipal 
obligations to be retired solely with tax increment revenues, and interest earned on resources 
available but not immediately needed for the Redevelopment Plan and Project. 

"Redevelopment Project Costs" specifically contemplate those eligible costs set forth in the Act 
and do not contemplate the preponderance of the costs to redevelop the RP A. The majority of 
development costs will be privately financed, and TIF or other public sources are to be used, 
subject to approval by the City Council, only to leverage and commit private redevelopment 
activity. 

The tax increment revenues which will be used to pay debt service on the municipal obligations, 
if any, and to directly pay redevelopment project costs shall be the incremental increase in 
property taxes attributable to the increase in the equalized assessed value of each taxable lot, 
block, tract or parcel of real property in the RP A over and above the initial equalized assessed 
value of each such lot, block, tract or parcel in the RPA in the 2018 tax year. 

Among the other sources of funds which may be used to pay for redevelopment project costs and 
debt service on municipal obligations issued to finance project costs are the following: certain 
local sales or utility taxes, special service area taxes, the proceeds of property sales, certain land 
lease payments, certain Motor Fuel Tax revenues, certain state and federal grants or loans, 
certain investment income, and such other sources of funds and revenues as the City may from 
time to time deem appropriate. The City reserves the right to utilize revenues received under the 
Act for eligible costs from one Redevelopment Project Area in another Redevelopment Project 
Area that is either contiguous to, or is separated only by a public right -of-way, from the 
Redevelopment Project Area from which the revenues are received and may also transfer 
revenues to other contiguous Redevelopment Project Areas. 

The Redevelopment Project Area would not reasonably be expected to be developed in a 
coordinated manner without the use of the incremental revenues provided by the Act. 

G. Nature and Term of Obligations to be Issued 

The City may issue obligations secured by the tax increment Special Tax Allocation Fund 
established for the Redevelopment Project Area pursuant to the Act or such other funds as are 
available to the City by virtue of its power pursuant to the Illinois State Constitution. 

Any and/or all obligations issued by the City pursuant to this Redevelopment Plan and Project 
and the Act shall be retired not more than twenty-three (23) years after the year of adoption of 
the ordinance approving the Redevelopment Project Area. However, the final maturity date of 
any obligations issued pursuant to the Act may not be later than twenty (20) years from their 
respective date of issuance. One or more series of obligations may be issued from time to time 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

22 



in order to implement this Redevelopment Plan and Project. The total principal and interest 
payable in any year on all obligations shall not exceed the amount available in that year or 
projected to be available in that year, may be payable from tax increment revenues and from 
bond sinking funds, capitalized interest, debt service reserve funds , and all other sources of funds 
as may be provided by ordinance. 

Those revenues not required for principal and interest payments, for required reserves, for bond 
sinking funds, for redevelopment project costs, for early retirement of outstanding securities, and 
to facilitate the economical issuance of additional bonds necessary to accomplish the 
Redevelopment Plan, may be declared surplus and shall then become available for distribution 
annually to taxing districts overlapping The RP A in the marmer provided by the Act. 

Such securities may be issued on either a taxable or tax-exempt basis, as general obligation or 
revenue bonds, with either fixed rate or floating interest rates; with or without capitalized 
interest; with or without deferred principal retirement; with or without interest rate limits except 
as limited by law; and with or without redemption provisions, and on such other terms, all as the 
City may detennine. 

H. Most Recent Equalized Assesscd Valuation (EAV) of Properties in the 
Redevclopment Project Are'l 

The most recent estimate of equalized assessed valuation (EA V) for the 2018 tax year within the 
RPA is approximately $938,765. The Boundary Map, Exhibit 2, shows the location of the RPA. 

J. Anticipated Equalized Assessed Valuation (EAV) 

Upon completion of the anticipated private development of the Redevelopment Project Area over 
a twenty-three (23) year period, it is estimated that the equalized assessed valuation (EAV) of the 
property within the Redevelopment Project Area will be approximately $5,000,000 to 
$6,000,000. 

Redevelopment Plan alld Project- Ridgelulld Avellue TIF 
City of BerwYII, Illillois 

23 



VII. DESCRIPTION AND SCHEDULING OF REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

A. Rcdcvelopment Project 

An implementation strategy will be employed with full consideration given to the availability of 
both public and private funding. It is anticipated that a phased redevelopment will be 
undertaken. 

The Redevelopment Project will begin as soon as the private entities have obtained financing 
approvals for appropriate projects and such uses are conformant with City zoning and planning 
requirements. Depending upon the scope of the development as well as the actual uses, the 
following activities may be included in each phase: 

Land Assembly and Relocation: Certain properties in the RP A may be acquired and 
assembled into an appropriate redevelopment site. Relocation activities may also be 
undertaken pursuant to the requirements of the Act and City policies. 

Demolition and Site Preparation: Existing improvements may have to be reconfigured or 
prepared to accol1ll1lodate new uses or expansion plans. Demolition may be necessary for 
fuhrre projects. Additionally, the redevelopment plan contemplates site preparation, or 
other requirements necessary to prepare the RP A for desired redevelopment projects. 

Landscaping/Urban Design Components/Streetscaping: The City may fund certain 
landscaping and design projects, which serve to beautify public properties or rights-of
way and provide buffering between land uses. 

EnvirOlllilental Remediation: Property within the RP A may require remediation of 
various types of contamination, in order to re-use property for commercial, retail, and 
mixed-use redevelopment. 

Water. Sanitary Sewer. Stonn Sewer and Other Utilitv Improvements: Certain utilities 
may be extended or re-routed to serve or accommodate the new development. Upgrading 
of existing utilities may be undertaken. The provision of necessary detention or retention 
ponds may also be undertaken by the City. 

Roadway/StreetJl'arking Improvements: Widening of existing road improvements and/or 
vacation ofroads may be undertaken by the City. Certain secondary streetslroads may be 
extended or constructed. Related curb, gutter, and paving improvements could also be 
constructed as needed. Parking facilities may be constructed that would be available to 
the general public. 

Utility services may also be provided or relocated III order to accommodate the 
renovation or expansion of property. 

Redevelopmelll Plan altd Project- Ridgelaml Aveltue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

24 



Traffic Control/Signalization: Traffic control or signalization improvements that improve 
access to the RPA and enhance its redevelopment may be constructed. 

Public Safety Related Infrastructure: Certain public safety improvements including, but 
not limited to, public signage, public facilities, and streetlights may be constructed or 
implemented. 

Rehabilitation/Taxing District Capi tal Costs: The City may fund ce11ain rehabilitation 
costs or certain taxing district capital improvements as provided for under the Act. 

Interest Costs Coveral!e: The City may fund certain interest costs incurred by a 
developer for construction, renovation or rehabilitation of a redevelopment project. Such 
funding would be paid for out of annual tax increment revenue generated from the RPA 
as allowed under the Act. 

Professional Services: The City may fund necessary planning, legal, engineering, 
administrative and financing costs during project implementation. The City may 
reimburse itself from annual tax increment revenue if available. 

B. Commitment to Fair Emplovment Practices and Affirmative Action 

As part of any Redevelopment Agreement entered into by the City and any private developers, 
both will agree to establish and implement an honorable, progressive, and goal-oriented 
affirmative action program that serves appropriate sectors of the City. The program will 
conform to the most recent City policies and plans. 

With respect to the public/private development's internal operations, both entities will pursue 
employment practices, which provide equal opportunity to all people regardless of sex, color, 
race, sexual orientation, or creed. Neither party will discriminate against any employee or 
applicant because of sex, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, age, or the presence 
of physical handicaps. These nondiscriminatory practices will apply to all areas of employment, 
including: hiring, upgrading and promotions, terminations, compensation, benefit programs and 
education opportunities. 

All those involved with employment activities will be responsible for conformance to thi s policy 
and the compliance requirements of applicable state and federal regulations. 

Redevelopmellt Plan alld Project- Ridgell/lid Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

25 



The City and private developers will adopt a policy of equal employment oPPOltunity and will 
include or require the inclusion of this statement in all contracts and subcontracts at any level. 
Additionally, any public/private entities will seek to ensure and maintain a working environment 
free of harassment, intimidation, and coercion at all sites, and in all facilities at which all 
employees are assigned to work. It shall be specifically ensured that all on-site supervisory 
personnel are aware of and carry out the obligation to maintain such a working environment, 
with specific attention to minority and/or female individuals. 

Finally, the entities will utilize affirmative action to ensure that business opportumtJes are 
provided and that job applicants are employed and treated in a nondiscriminatory manner. 
Underlying this policy is the recognition by the entities that successful affirmative action 
programs are important to the continued growth and vitality of the community. 

C. Completion of Redevelopment Project and Retirement of Obligations to Finance 
Redevelopment costs 

This Redevelopment Project and retirement of all obligations to finance redevelopment costs will 
be completed within twenty-three (23) calendar years after the adoption of an ordinance 
designating the Redevelopment Project Area. The actual date for such completion and 
retirement of obligations shall not be later than December 3 I of the year in which the payment to 
the municipal treasurer pursuant to the Act is to be made with respect to ad valorem taxes levied 
in the twenty-third calendar year after which the ordinance approving the RP A is adopted. 

Redevelopment Plan and Projecl- Ridgeland Avel/ue TIF 
City of BerwYII, [{{iI/Dis 

26 



VIII. PROVISIONS FOR AMENDING THE TAX INCREMENT REDEVELOPMENT 
PLAN AND PROJECT 

This Redevelopment Plan and Project may be amended pursuant to the provisions of the Act. 

Redevelopment Plan and Project- Ridgeland Avenue TIF 
City of Berwyn, Illinois 

27 



EXHIBIT 1 

LEGAL DESCRlPTION 

THAT PART OF SEmONS 29, 30 AND 32, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF 
BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4,1999 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
99430527, SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET OF 
THE SOUTH 24.507 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SEmON 30; 

THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET TO THE WEST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 
SOUTH LINE OF 29TH STREET, ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF 
THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SEmON 29; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST 
HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 32; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS 
CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 32, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SEmON 29; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND 
AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSEmON WITH THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 
ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 



THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND 
ITS SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERlY 
CONVEYED TO THE cm OF BERWYN PER WARRANlY DEED RECORDED MAY 4,1999 
AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 99430527; 

THENCE NORTH, EAST AND NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, ALL IN COOK COUNlY, ILLINOIS 



EXHIBIT 2 

BOUNDARY MAP 



-- r--

~ 
....:l 
~ 

&: 
...... 

~ 
-

-

-

-

== 

rl lllllllllill 
I I' II 

Lillllill 

1 111111111111 

I II111111111 

. III II 

~~~ -+-"--J.L...-~~.l......--..... I I IIIIIIIIIIII 
I I . 

E
(f) 

. 
~ 
(f) 



EXHIBIT 3 

EXISTINGIFUTURE LAND USE MAP 



I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I L I 1...L.L.....l...! ! I ! ! ! I I 1 II I 

Ridgeland TIF - Current Zoning 

w ....... . ~ 

City of Berwyn Zoning Map 

D C-1 Neighborhood Mixed-Use District 

_ C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 

_ C-3 Depot Mixed-Use District 

_ C-4 Corridor Commercial District 

el l Industrial District 

_ P Public Areas District 

D R-1 Single-Family Residence District 

D R-2 Bungalow District 

_ R-3 Two-Family Residence District 

_ R-4 Multi-Family Residence District 

i 

~ OIiIIITi 

[ill B~ ~ 
L-J~32NijrSl 

11111111111111 11 §~~t=j BR §~ 



28TH PL 

Historic Residential 

Neighborhood Residential 

Compact Residential 

Neighborhood Transitional 

Transitional 

Neighborhood Commercial 

• Mixed Use 
Mixed I Healthcare Focus 

• Destination Commercial 

• Parks and Open Space 
Institutional 

• Industrial 
D Transportation 

Ridgeland TIF -
Future Land Use 

• 
I 

~------2~S~THII~bT ... 

• 
I 
• 
I 

~VE • 33RD ST -



EXHIBIT 4 

TIF QUALIFICATION/DESIGNATION REPORT 



DRAFf DATED 11125/19 

CITY OF BERWYN, ILLINOIS 
RIDGElAND AVENUE 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE DISTRICT 
ELIGIBILITY REPORT 

A study to determine whether all or a poction of an area located in the City 
of Berwyn qualifies as a "conservation area" as set forth in the definition in 
the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-3, et 
seq., as amended. 

Prepared for: City of Berwyn, Illinois 

Prepared by: Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. 

November, 2019 



SECTION 

I. 

II. 

III. 

IV. 

V. 

VI. 

CITY OF BERWYN, ILLINOIS 
RIDGElAND AVENUE 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE DISTRICT 
ELIGIBILITY REPORT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TITLE 

Executive Summary 

Introduction and Background 

Qualification Criteria 

The Redevelopment Project Area 

Methodology of Evaluation 

Qualification Factors 

Summary of Findings 

Appendix A: Tax Parcels for RP A 
Appendix B: Boundary Map of RP A 

PAGE 

1 

3 

6 

7 

8 

14 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. (KMA) has been retained by the City of Berwyn (the 
"City") to conduct an analysis of the qualification of an area for the establishment of the 
Ridgeland Avenue Tax Increment Finance (TIF) District. The City is pursuing the 
creation of the Ridgeland Avenue TIF District to promote the revitalization of under
utilized properties located within the City and the overall improvement of the area 
adjacent to the South Berwyn (Depot) TIF. 

In the context of planning for the establishment of the Ridgeland Avenue Tax Increment 
Financing District (the "TIF District," the "TIF," "Redevelopment Project Area," or 
"RP A"), the City has initiated the study of parcels within the RPA to determine whether 
they qualify separately or in aggregate under the Tax Increment Allocation 
Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74-4-3, et seq., as amended (the "TIF Act" or "Act") for 
inclusion in the creation of the TIF District. KMA agreed to undertake the study of the 
RPA on the City's behalf. 

Based upon the analysis completed to date, KMA has reached the following conclusions 
regarding the potential qualification of the RP A: 

1) The area qualifies as a "conservation area" - The RPA qualifies as a "conservation 
area" as defined under the TIF Act. The area in aggregate is in danger of declining toward 
a blighted condition due to factors identified in this report which the area generally suffers 
from. These conditions prevent or threaten healthy economic and physical development 
of the area. The TIF Act states that an area may only qualify as a "conservation area" if 
50% or more of the structures are 35 years or older. For the RPA, 2 of the 3 structures or 
67% are over 35 years of age or older, thus the RP A meets the "threshold" statutory criteria 
for consideration as a "conservation area." 

2) The current conditions impede redevelopment - The existence of certain 
conditions found within the RP A present a barrier to the area's successful redevelopment. 
The current conditions in the RPA are impediments to redevelopment, creating an 
environment where it is reasonable to assume redevelopment would not take place "but 
for" the use of the TIF Act. The factors present on the ground negatively impact 
coordinated and substantial private sector investment in the overall area. Without the 
use of city planning and economic development resources to mitigate such factors, 
potential redevelopment projects (along with other activities that require private sector 
investment) are not likely to be economically feasible. 

3) Viable redevelopment sites could produce incremental revenue - Within the RPA, 
there are several parcels which potentially could, with TIF-related assistance, be 
redeveloped and thereby produce incremental property tax revenue. Such revenue, used 
in combination with other city resources for redevelopment incentives or public 
improvements, would likely stimulate private investment and reinvestment in these sites 
and ultimately throughout the RP A. 



4) TIF designation is recommended - To mitigate "conservation area" conditions, 
promote private sector investment, and foster the economic viability of the RP A, KMA 
recommends that the City proceed with the formal TIF designation process for the entire 
area. 

Because the City (a) may consider projects that would provide for the 
redevelopment of residential parcels and (b) can certify that 10 or more residential units 
would not be dislocated by redevelopment activities within the proposed TIF district, 
the City would not conduct a housing impact study pursuant to the TIF Act. 

ii 



I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

The RPA is located in the southeast portion ofthe City and is adjacent to the Burlington 
Northern Santa Fe railroad right of way. Land uses have historically consisted of 
industrial and recently institutional (the Freedom Middle School). 

The RP A generally consists of tax parcels along and adjacent to the Burlington Northern 
Santa Fe right of way on the south, 29th Street on the North, Lombard Avenue on the east, 
and the property lines of frontage properties along Ridgeland Avenue to the west. Please 
see Appendix B for a map of the proposed TIF District. 

The RP A consists often (10) tax parcels including two (2) leaseholds. Please see Appendix 
A for a list of the proposed parcels for inclusion in the TIF District. 

The City's Comprehensive Plan (2012) identifies the following objectives: 

"The City of Berwyn should focus its redevelopment efforts on existing underutilized and 
vacant parcels to accommodate community needs. The GO TO 2040 regional 
comprehensive plan supports re-investment within existing municipalities in order to 
allow for compact and walkable developments. In addition, consolidation of parcels 
should be encouraged to allow for a variety of parcel sizes, creating more development 
options." 

City planning efforts establish the importance of redevelopment efforts and the need to 
address conditions which deter investment and prohibit the RP A from being fully utilized. 
Such characteristics include aging infrastructure, industrial vacancy, a growing need for 
mixed-use and industrial clustered along key intersections, and improving traffic design 
for automobiles and trucks circulation and access/egress within the area. 

Objectives- The City's general economic and community development objectives are to 
enhance commercial and industrial opportunities within the City, to promote 
redevelopment in the underused areas, and entice private redevelopment of the RP A to 
strengthen the City's tax base while improving the quality of life for residents. 

Given the City's objectives as well as the conditions described in this report, the City has 
made a determination that it is highly desirable to promote the redevelopment of the 
under-utilized areas of the proposed RPA. Without an implementation plan for 
redevelopment, City officials believe adverse conditions will worsen. The City intends to 
create and implement such a plan in order to restore, stabilize, and increase the economic 
base associated with the RP A, which will not only benefit the community as a whole but 
also generate additional tax revenues to support municipal services. 



Determination of the "But For"- The City has determined that planned 
redevelopment for the RP A is feasible only with public finance assistance. The creation 
and utilization of a TIF redevelopment plan and redevelopment agreements are intended 
by the City to help provide the assistance required to eliminate conditions detrimental to 
successful redevelopment of the RP A and to improve the tax base and job creation within 
the City. 

TIF Mechanism- The use ofTIF relies upon induced private redevelopment in the RPA 
to create higher real estate values that would otherwise decline without such investment. 
By so doing, it would result in increased property taxes compared to the previous land use 
(and/ or absence of use). In this way, the existing tax base for all tax districts would be 
protected and a portion of future increased taxes pledged to attract the requisite private 
investment. 

Current Land Use- Land uses include industrial railway, and institutional uses. The 
industrial parcels in the area are struggling to stay competitive in a marketplace which 
has changed since their original development. The area faces challenges due to changed 
spatial needs for development and changed standards for existing uses. The presence of 
obsolete and deteriorating buildings and site improvements contribute to the outmoded 
and "tired" appearance of the RPA. The creation of a TIF District in this area would 
provide the City with the opportunity of bringing revitalized development to an area that 
has become underutilized. 

The RPA suffers from a variety of economic development impediments identified in the 
TIF Act. Specifically, it experiences deterioration, obsolescence, and underutilization. 
Section V ofthis report identifies other impediments to redevelopment. 

General Scope and Methodology- KMA formally began its analysis by conducting a 
series of meetings and discussions with City staff starting in July, 2019 and continuing up 
to the date of this report's issuance. The purpose of the meetings was to establish 
boundaries for initial analysis and to gather data related to the qualification criteria for 
parcels included in the RPA. These meetings were complemented by a series of field 
surveys for the entire area to evaluate the condition of the proposed TIF. KMA made 
numerous site visits to the area to examine the parcels and the conditions. KMA also 
utilized the City's most recent comprehensive plan and other City reports as previously 
referenced. 

For the purpose of the study, properties within the RP A were examined in the context of 
the TIF Act governing improved areas (separate provisions of the Act address non
improved or vacant areas). The qualification factors discussed in this report qualify the 
area as a "conservation area," as the term is defined pursuant to the TIF Act. 

For additional information about KMA's data collection and evaluation methods, refer to 
Section IV of this report. 

2 



II. QUALIFICATION CRITERIA 

With the assistance of City staff, Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. assessed the RPA to 
determine the presence or absence of qualifying factors listed in the TIF Act. The relevant 
sections of the Act are found below. 

The Act sets out specific procedures which must be adhered to in designating a 
RP A/Redevelopment Project Area. By definition, a Redevelopment Project Area is: 

"An area designated by the municipality, which is not less in the aggregate than 11/2 

acres and in respect to which the municipality has made a finding that there exist 
conditions which cause the area to be classified as a blighted area or a conservation 
area, or acorn bination of both blighted areas and conservation areas." 

Under the Act, "conservation area" means any improved area within the boundaries of a 
Redevelopment Project Area located within the territorial limits of the municipality where 
certain conditions are met, as identified below. 

TIF Qualification Factors for a "conservation area"- In accordance with the 
Illinois TIF Act, KMA performed a two-step assessment to determine if the RP A would 
qualify as a "conservation area." First, KMA analyzed the threshold factor of age to 
determine if 50% or more of structures were 35 years of age or older. 

If a proposed "conservation area" meets the age threshold, then the following factors are 
examined to determine TIF qualification: 

If a "conservation area," industrial, commercial and residential buildings or 
improvements are detrimental to the public safety, health or welfare because of a 
combination of three or more of the following factors, each of which is (I) present, 
with that presence documented to a meaningful extent so that a municipality may 
reasonably find that the factor is clearly present within the intent of the Act and 
(ii) reasonably distributed throughout the improved part of the Redevelopment 
Project Area: 

(A) Dilapidation: An advanced state of disrepair or neglect of necessary repairs 
to the primary structural components of building or improvements in such a 
combination that a documented building condition analysis determines that major 
repair is required or the defects are so serious and so extensive that the buildings 
must be removed. 

(B) Obsolescence: The condition or process of falling into disuse. Structures 
become ill-suited for the original use. 

3 



(C) Deterioration: With respect to buildings, defects including, but not limited 
to, major defects in the secondary building components such as doors, windows, 
porches, gutters, downspouts, and fascia. With respect to surface improvements, 
that the condition of roadways, alleys, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, off-street parking 
and surface storage areas evidence deterioration, including, but limited to, surface 
cracking, crumbling, potholes, depressions, loose paving material and weeds 
protruding through paved surfaces. 

(D) Presence of Structures Below Minimum Code Standards: All structures that 
do not meet the standards of zoning, subdivision, building, fire and other 
governmental codes applicable to property, but not including housing and 
property maintenance codes. 

(E) Illegal Use of Individual Structures: The use of structures in violation of 
applicable federal, State, or local laws, exclusive of those applicable to the presence 
of structures below minimum code standards. 

(F) Excessive Vacancies: The presence of buildings that are unoccupied or 
under-utilized and that represent an adverse influence on the area because of the 
frequency, extent, or duration of the vacancies. 

(G) Lack of Ventilation. Light. or Sanitary Facilities: The absence of adequate 
ventilation for light or air circulation in spaces or rooms without windows, or that 
require the removal of dust, odor, gas, smoke or other noxious airborne materials. 
Inadequate natural light and ventilation means the absence of skylights or 
windows for interior spaces or rooms and improper window sizes and amounts by 
room area to window area ratios. Inadequate sanitary facilities refers to the 
absence or inadequacy of garbage storage and enclosure, bathroom facilities, hot 
water and kitchens and structural inadequacies preventing ingress and egress to 
and from all rooms and units within a building. 

(H) Inadequate Utilities: Underground and overhead utilities such as storm 
sewers and storm drainage, sanitary sewers, water lines and gas, telephone and 
electrical services that are shown to be inadequate. Inadequate utilities are those 
that are: (i) of insufficient capacity to serve the uses in the Redevelopment Project 
Area; (ii) deteriorated, antiquated, obsolete or in disrepair; or (iii) lacking within 
the Redevelopment Project Area. 

4 



(I) Excessive Land Coverage and Overcrowding of Structures and Community 
Facilities: The over-intensive use of property and the crowding of buildings and 
accessory facilities onto a site. Examples of problem conditions warranting the 
designation of an area as exhibiting excessive land coverage are: (i) the presence 
of buildings either improperly situated on parcels or located on parcels of 
inadequate size and shape in relation to present-day standards of development for 
health and safety and (ij) the presence of multiple buildings on a single parcel. For 
there to be a finding of excessive land coverage, these parcels must exhibit one or 
more of the following conditions: insufficient provision for light and air within or 
around buildings, increased threat of spread of fire due to the close proximity of 
buildings, lack of adequate or proper access to a public right-of-way, lack of 
reasonably required off-street parking or inadequate provision for loading service. 

(J) Deleterious Land-Use or Layout: The existence of incompatible land-use 
relationships, buildings occupied by inappropriate mixed-uses or uses are 
considered to be noxious, offensive or unsuitable for the surrounding area. 

(K) Environmental Clean-Up: The proposed Redevelopment Project Area has 
incurred Illinois Environmental Protection Agency or United States 
Environmental Protection Agency remediation costs for (or a study conducted by 
an independent consultant recognized as having expertise in environmental 
remediation has determined a need for) the clean-up of hazardous waste, 
hazardous substances or underground storage tanks required by State or federal 
law. Any such remediation costs would constitute a material impediment to the 
development or redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project Area. 

(L) Lack of Community Planning: The proposed Redevelopment Project Area 
was developed prior to or without the benefit or guidance of a community plan. 
This means that the development occurred prior to the adoption by the 
municipality of a comprehensive or other community plan or that the plan was not 
followed at the time of the area's development. This factor must be documented 
by evidence of adverse or incompatible land-use relationships, inadequate street 
layout, improper subdivision, parcels of inadequate shape and size to meet 
contemporary development standards or other evidence demonstrating an 
absence of effective community planning. 

(M) Lagging or Declining EAV: The total equalized assessed value (EAV) of the 
proposed Redevelopment Project Area has declined for three (3) of the last five (5) 
calendar years prior to the year in which the Redevelopment Project Area is 
designated, or is increasing at an annual rate that is less than the balance of the 
municipality for three (3) of the last five (5) calendar years, for which information 
is available or increasing at an annual rate that is less than the Consumer Price 
Index for All Urban Consumers published by the United States Department of 
Labor or successor agency for three (3) of the last five (5) calendar years prior to 
the year in which the Redevelopment Project Area is designated. 

5 



III. THE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

The RPA contains approximately ten (10) tax parcels including two (2) leaseholds located 
within the boundaries of the area. 

The RPA contains improved land designated primarily for industrial, railway, and 
institutional uses. The RP A provides an opportunity for significant future growth. 
However, factors exist which deter development of the area and prevent the RPA from 
fully contributing to the growth of the City. The area's potential for redevelopment is 
challenged by those factors described in detail in Section V of this report. 

Current conditions have prevented the RPA from obtaining adequate investment and 
maintaining a sound contribution to the growth of the City's tax base. Rather, these 
factors have slowed growth and endanger the area to blight. Without correction of the 
factors which impair investment in the area, the RPA will continue to be underutilized 
and will maintain an unrealized opportunity for the City. 

6 



IV. METHODOLOGY OF EVALUATION 

The RPA was examined to assess the applicability of the different factors required for 
qualification for TIF designation under the Act. Data collected from the RPA, City and 
Cook County and used to determine relevance and severity of conditions compared 
against the statutory factors. Land and buildings within the RP A were examined to 
determine the applicability of the 13 different factors for qualification for TIF designation 
under the Act. The following steps were undertaken in this process: 

1) Site visits to the RP A were undertaken by representatives from KMA. The purpose 
of these site visits included parcel counts, address matches, and the identification 
of current land uses, building conditions, lot conditions, and traffic flow. KMA 
documented the area's conditions through site surveys, notes and photography. 
Site surveys were completed for each parcel within the RPA. 

2) To determine ifthe area qualified as a "conservation area" the age of the buildings 
were ascertained by matching site surveys to Cook County tax and building 
records. 

3) KMA conducted evaluations of exterior structures and associated site 
improvements, noting such conditions relevant to the qualifying factors on the site 
surveys. 

4) KMA reviewed the 2013-2018 tax information from Cook County, parcel tax maps, 
site data, local history (discussions with City staff) for an evaluation of area-wide 
factors that have affected the area's development to determine the presence of 
qualifying factors. 

7 



v. OUALIFICATION FINDINGS FOR RPA 

Based upon KMA's evaluation of parcels in the RP A and analysis of each of the eligibility 
factors summarized in Section II, the following factors are presented to support 
qualification ofthe RPA as a "conservation area." These factors are summarized in Table 
1 below. These factors are found to be clearly present and reasonably distributed 
throughout the RP A, as required under the Act. 

Table 1 

• • 
Maximum 
Possible 
FactOl'S per , 
Statute 
13 

• • 
Minimum 
"'actors Needed 
to Quality pel' 
Statute . 
3 

Qualifying Factors Preserti in 
RPA ' 

5 
• Deterioration 
• Deleterious Land-Use/Layout 
• Lack of Community Planning 
• Inadequate Utilities 
• Obsolescence 

7 qualifying factors RP A meets statutory 
age threshold that 50% or more of the structures are 35 years or older. 

Finding as a "conservation area"- The RPA is found to qualify as a "conservation 
area" under the statutory criteria set forth in the TIF Act. As indicated in Section II, KMA 
performed a two-step assessment, first finding that 50% or more of structures within the 
"conservation area" were over 35 years of age or older, Based upon Cook County Assessor 
and site survey data, at least 2 of 3 structures or 67% were over 35 years in age or older, 
please see Table 2 below. 

8 



"Conservation area" factors- As a second step, KMA reviewed the criteria needed to 
qualify an area as a "conservation area," finding that six factors were present: 

1) Deterioration: The Act defines deterioration as the physical decline of surface 
improvements, primary building components, and secondary buildings 
components such as doors, windows, porches or gutters. With respect to surface 
improvements, deterioration is determined by the condition of roadways, alleys, 
curbs, gutters, sidewalks, off-street parking and surface storage areas (including 
but not limited to surface cracking, crumbling, potholes, depressions, loose paving 
material and weeds protruding through paved surfaces). 

In the RPA, deterioration was observed in the majority of parcels. Deterioration in 
surface improvements, particularly along sidewalks, parking lots and side lots, was 
penrasive. Such deterioration included cracking and crumbling curbsides, 
surfaces, and parking barriers. Potholes, depressions causing water retention, and 
unkempt landscaping were also present throughout the RP A. 

Deterioration was also present in the secondary building components such as 
doors, windows, gutters, and fasciae. Such deterioration includes rusting roof 
components, worn and poorly repaired facades, broken fascia, and peeling paint 
on building surfaces. Deterioration of building components was particularly 
evident among partly vacant underutilized industrial structures. 

The deterioration observable of these improvements contributes to an adverse 
aestheticimpact on the area. The impact of deterioration is heightened by the City's 
goal of creating an attractive commercial mixed use district. 

2) Deleterious Land Use or Layout: The act states that deleterious land use and layout 
occurs with the existence of incompatible land-use relationships, buildings 
occupied by inappropriate mixed-uses or uses are considered to be noxious, 
offensive or unsuitable for the surrounding area. 

Incompatible land use relationships exist within the RPA. Industrial uses directly 
abut single family residences without the presence of transitional uses and with 
little to no screening(buffering. This condition is pronounced along Ridgeland and 
Lombard Avenues where many single-family residences directly abut alleyways 
which act as ingress/egress points for commercial loading/unloading zones. 
Additionally, residential dwellings are situated with frontage on Ridgeland 
Avenue, a heavy traffic thoroughfare, with little screening/buffering, leading to 
noise and safety issues. 

Irregular parcel sizes, particularly along Ridgeland Avenue, have led to parking 
imbalances resulting in irregular parking lot layouts and access and egress by truck 
traffic affecting internal circulation. 

9 



These factors taken together make a case for the RP A qualifying under the 
conditions of deleterious land use/ layout. 

3) Lack of Community Planning: The Act states that ifthe proposed Redevelopment 
Project Area was developed prior to or without the benefit or guidance of a 
community plan the factor is present. This factor must be documented by evidence 
of adverse or incompatible land-use relationships, inadequate street layout, 
improper subdivision, parcels of inadequate shape and size to meet contemporary 
development standards or other evidence demonstrating an absence of effective 
community planning. 

Much of the development that has occurred within the RP A took place in an era 
prior to modern community planning techniques, and/or occurred under a lack of 
comprehensive and coordinated planning. Sixty-seven percent (67%) of the 
structures within the RP A were constructed before the creation of the City's first 
comprehensive plan in 1993. Thus, the area lacks many of the modern hallmarks 
of community planning. 

Table 4 
Lack of Community Planning 
Findings 

~ -Total Number of Buildings built 
prior to first comprehensive plan 2 

Percentage of Buildings built prior 
to first comprehensive plan 67% 

Off street parking is identified as inadequate in the RP A, creating conditions that 
impede redevelopment and adversely affect neighboring residential uses. 
Circulation in the area is exacerbated by lacking improvements for truck access at 
entryways and right of way improvements. 

Additionally, those conditions related to incompatible land use relationships and 
parcel sizes/layouts identified in sub-section 3 of this report further support the 
presence of this factor within the RPA. 

This is not to say that improvements did not take place over the years, but that they 
were implemented without the guidance of an updated and modern master plan 
directed toward long-term benefit for the RP A. A lack of such efforts has 
contributed to the evolution offactors currently present within the RP A. 

10 



4) Inadequate Utilities: This factor is present if underground and overhead utilities 
such as storm sewers and storm drainage, sanitary sewers, water lines and gas, 
telephone and electric services that are shown to be inadequate. Inadequate 
utilities are those that are: (i) of insufficient capacity to serve the uses in the 
Redevelopment Project Area; (ii) deteriorated, antiquated, obsolete or in disrepair; 
or (iii) lacking within the Redevelopment Project Area. The City's public works 
department reviewed the RP A and identified the following deficiencies. 

Roadwav 
Ridgeland Avenue is a two-lane roadway (approximately 36' wide) that serves the 
subject properties. The roadway is asphalt and is in fair to poor condition. The 
road was partially rehabilitated in 2002. 

Water and SanitalY Sewer 
According to the City, the underground utilities in this area were constructed prior 
to 1939, and are therefore over 80 years old. The City has been replacing small 
sections of the watermain and sanitary sewers as they break or collapse. The City's 
Public Works Department has reported an average of 1 major watermain breaks 
per year due to the old corroded pipe. The watermain is cast iron pipe, and the 
sanitary sewer is a mix of clay and brick; both materials are no longer used 
respectively in modern construction because they are brittle materials that have a 
tendency to break sooner and more often than modern ductile iron and PVC 
materials. Due to its age, condition and layout a completely new watermain and 
sanitary sewer system would need to be constructed to serve the redevelopment. 
Even if the watermain and sewer system would need to be constructed to serve the 
redevelopment. Even if the watermain and sewer were in good condition it would 
be unfeasible to attempt to utilize them for a completely reconfigured/redeveloped 
area. In order to do this the new developer would be required to layout the new 
buildings and roadway in the same location as the existing which is not feasible. 
Regardless, the overall age and condition dictate the construction of completely 
new water and sanitary sewer systems that are sized and located properly to serve 
the new development plan. The rough estimated costs to replace the watermain 
system and sanitary sewer system are $1 million and $8000,000 respectively. 

Storm Sewer and Detention 

Like the watermain and sanitary sewer the existing storm sewer system was 
constructed over 80 years ago. It is 5' -i diameter piping under a viaduct. To serve 
the new layout of the redevelopment much or all of the storm sewer system would 
be obsolete and a new system would need to be constructed. The new storm sewer 
is estimated to cost approximately $2 million. 

5) Obsolescence: The Act states that obsolescence is the condition or process of 
falling into disuse or structures that have become ill-suited for their original use. 
The area exhibits both economic and functional obsolescence. The RPA exhibits 
area-wide obsolescence in need of investment and redevelopment for attracting 
new tenants. 

11 



The onset of obsolescence can be measured through qualitative and quantitative 
means. Building age, deterioration in buildings and lots, traffic flows, parking, 
infrastructure and underutilization of space can signify obsolescence as proxies. By 
these measures the RPA is exhibiting obsolescence. 

From a qualitative perspective, evidence of deterioration, age of structures, 
inadequate utilities, and a lack of community planning SUppOlt the existence of 
obsolescence throughout the RPA. These factors in aggregate make the case for the 
qualification ofthe area for the obsolescence factor. 

The one story industrial building has reported underutilization, in part, from 2007 
to 2011 in appeals filed ,,~th the Cook County Assessor and the City understands 
that the structure is still underutilized. Building components associated ~th 
ceiling height, "~ndow treatments, loading areas and docks, along ~th limited site 
access and parking, all contribute to functional and economic analysis. The freight 
terminal building is also of special use design ~th limited access/egress. 

12 



VI. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS / GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF 
OUALIFICATION 

The following is a summary of relevant qualification fimlings as it relates to the 
City's potential designation of the RP A. 

1. The area is contiguous and is greater than 11/2 acres in size; 

2. The proposed RPA will qualify as a "conservation area." Further, the 
"Conservation area" factors found in the RP A are present to a meaningful 
extent and are distributed throughout the area. A more detailed analysis of 
the qualification findings is outlined in Section V of this report; 

3. All property in the area would substantially benefit by the proposed 
redevelopment project improvements; 

4. The sound growth of taxing districts applicable to the area, including the 
City, has been impaired by the factors found present in the area; and 

5. The area would not be subject to redevelopment without the investment of 
public funds, including property tax increments. 

In the judgment of KMA, these findings provide the City with sufficient 
justification to consider designation of the RP A. 

13 

\\KMA1SRV20 12\Company\c]ient Foldcrs\Berwyn\Ridgeland TIF 2019\Reports\Proposed Ridgeland Avenue TIF Eligibility Report 
11.25 19.docx 



APPENDIX A 
Tax Parcels for RP A 



16-30-419-002-0000 
16-29-320-010-6001 
16-29-320-010-6002 
16-29-320-006-0000 
16-29-320-007-0000 
16-32-101-001-0000 
16-29-500-003-0000 
16-29-320-008-0000 
16-32-501-001-0000 



APPENDIXB 
Boundary Map of RP A 



LJII I ,III 
~-r1- 1 . I-:J._l .... :J 
"- I 1:1] ./ 

".~ ULJ,I, ~ " 
IlE-R-SeN . 

I IIIIIII 

I ,II : ill 

11111111111 

1I1I111111111 

I 1 11 I I 

.~~~i,-!----"----'+r~rntr'"""~ : 11111111111 II 

~I II I 
. 

E--< 
(f) 



Aldennan _____ _ 

MINUTES 

moved and Aldennan 

motion that said ordinance as presented be adopted. 

seconded the 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would infonn the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldennen voted AYE: 

The following Aldennen voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
)SS 
) COOK COUNTY 

CERTIFICA nON OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities"). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full , true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the __ day of 
______ , 2020, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, 
Approving a Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan and 
Redevelopment Project for the Ridgeland A venue Redevelopment 
Project Area. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
__ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

(Seal) 



1;-5 
THE CITY OF BERWYN 

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
DESIGNATING THE RIDGELAND A VENUE REDEVELOPMENT TIF PROJECT 
AREA OF SAID CITY REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA PURSUANT TO THE 

TAX INCREMENT ALLOCATION REDEVELOPMENT ACT 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. Santoy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael Avila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet fonn by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this _ day of , 2020. 

1 



SECOND ORDINANCE 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
DESIGNATING THE RIDGELAND A VENUE REDEVELOPMENT TIF PROJECT 
AREA OF SAID CITY REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA PURSUANT TO THE 

TAX INCREMENT ALLOCATION REDEVELOPMENT ACT 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Berwyn, 

Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), for the City to implement tax increment allocation financing 

pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, Division 74.4 of Article II of the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended (the "Act"), for a proposed redevelopment plan and 

redevelopment project (the "Plan and Project") within the municipal boundaries of the City and 

within a proposed redevelopment project area (the "Area") described in Section I of this 

Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have heretofore by ordinance approved the Plan 

and Project, which Plan and Project were identified in such ordinance and were the subject, 

along with the Area designation hereinafter made, of a public hearing held on February 25, 2020, 

and it is now necessary and desirable to designate the Area as a redevelopment project area 

pursuant to the Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. Area Designated. That the Area, as legally described in EXHIBIT A 

attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference, is hereby designated 

as a redevelopment project area pursuant to Section 11-74.4-4 of the Act. The general street 

location for the Area is described in EXHIBIT B attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set 

2 



out in full by this reference. The map of the Area is depicted on EXHIBIT C attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. 

Section 2. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Superseder and Effective Date. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions, 

or orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by the 

Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

EXHIBIT A - Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - General Street Location 

EXHIBIT C - Map of Redevelopment Project Area 

(REMAINDER OF P AGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

3 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

_ _ day of _ _ __ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

~ES lNo ABSENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

~ejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

Mayor Lovero) 

TOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ____ ,2020, 

ATIEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

4 

Robert J, Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



EXHIBIT A - LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 29, 30 AND 32, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF 
BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
99430527, SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET OF THE 
SOUTH 24.507 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 30; 

THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET TO THE WEST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 
SOUTH LINE OF 29TH STREET, ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF 
THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST 
HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 32; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS 
CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 32, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND 
AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 
ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND 
ITS SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY 
CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 
AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 99430527; 

THENCE NORTH, EAST AND NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT 8 

GENERAL STREET LOCATION 



EXHIBIT B 

The redevelopment project area, commonly referred to as the "Ridgeland Avenue TIF," is 
bounded by the following: 

on the south BNSF Railroad, on the east by Lombard Avenue, on the north by 29th 
Street, and on the west by approximately to Ridgeland Avenue and 29th Street South to 
the next alley to the west up to the baseball fields across the rear of the property located 
near 6400 28th Place. 



EXHIBIT C 

MAP OF REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



w (..J w - (\J w 
[J) :::; '""'S 

LL ~. 0.. 0.. 

~ CJj UJ CJj 

"'C >-3 -3 -3 
c . . 
co ~ I I Q) 

1 0) 1[1 "'C 
= 0::: II I 

"'C 
- Q) 

\ w 
0 
c.. 
0 

- L-

D- ~ 



MINUTES 

Alderman moved and Alderman seconded the 

motion that said ordinance as presented and read by the City Clerk be adopted. 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would inform the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldermen voted AYE: 

The following Aldermen voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 



STA TE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COOK COUNTY 
) SS 
) 

CERTIFICATION OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities"). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full , true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the __ day of 
_____ " 2020, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, lllinois, 
Designating the Ridgeland Avenue Redevelopment TIF Project 
Area Of Said City Redevelopment Project Area Pursuant To The 
Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the lllinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
__ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

(Seal) 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ADOPTING TAX INCREMENT 

ALLOCATION FINANCING FOR THE RIDGELAND AVENUE 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. Santoy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael A vila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on 
this _ day of , 2020. 

48489988.2 



THIRD ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ADOPTING TAX INCREMENT 

ALLOCATION FINANCING FOR THE RIDGELAND AVENUE 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

* * * * * 

WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Berwyn, 

Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), for the City to implement tax increment allocation financing 

pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, Division 74.4 of Article II of the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended (the "Act"); and 

WHEREAS, the City has heretofore approved a redevelopment plan and project (the 

"Plan and Project") as required by the Act by passage of an ordinance and has heretofore 

designated a redevelopment project area (the "Area") as required by the Act by the passage of an 

ordinance and has otherwise complied with all other conditions precedent required by the Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. Tax Increment Financing Adopted. That tax increment allocation 

financing is hereby adopted to pay redevelopment project costs as defined in the Act and as set 

forth in the Plan and Project within the Area as legally described in EXHIBIT A attached hereto 

and incorporated herein as if set out in full by this reference. The general street location for the 

Area is described in EXHIBIT B attached hereto and incorporated herein as if set out in full by 

this reference. The map of the Area is depicted in EXHIBIT C attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as if set out in full by this reference. 

48489988.2 2 



Section 2. Allocation of Ad Valorem Taxes. That pursuant to the Act, the ad valorem 

taxes, if any, arising from the levies upon taxable real property in the Area by taxing districts and 

tax rates determined in the manner provided in Section 11-74.4-9(c) of the Act each year after 

the effective date of this Ordinance until the Project costs and obligations issued in respect 

thereto have been paid shall be divided as follows: 

a. That portion of taxes levied upon each taxable lot, block, tract, or parcel of 

real property that is attributable to the lower of the current equalized assessed value or the initial 

equalized assessed value of each such taxable lot, block, tract, or parcel of real property in the 

Area shall be allocated to and when collected shall be paid by the county collector to the 

respective affected taxing districts in the manner required by law in the absence of the adoption 

of tax increment allocation financing. 

b. That portion, if any, of such taxes that is attributable to the increase in the 

current equalized assessed valuation of each lot, block, tract, or parcel of real property in the 

Area shall be allocated to and when collected shall be paid to the municipal treasurer, who shall 

deposit said taxes into a special fund, hereby created, and designated the "Berwyn Ridgeland 

Avenue Redevelopment Project Area Special Tax Allocation Fund" of the City and such taxes 

shall be used for the purpose of paying Project costs and obligations incurred in the payment 

thereof. 

Section 3. Invalidity of Any Section. That if any section, paragraph, or provision of 

this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

48489988.2 3 



Section 4. Superseder and Effective Date. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions, 

or orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such 

conflict, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effective immediately upon its passage by 

the Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

48489988.2 

EXHIBIT A - Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B - General Street Location 

EXHIBIT C - Map of Redevelopment Project Area 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

4 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

_ _ day of _ _ __ 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

[yES ~O ABSENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

lFejt 

Santoy 

~uiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

TOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ____ 2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

48489988.2 5 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



EXHIBIT A - LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

THAT PART OF SECTIONS 29, 30 AND 32, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE I3 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF 
BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
99430527, SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET OF THE 
SOUTH 24.507 ACRES OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 30; 

THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 16.00 FEET TO THE WEST 
LINE OF RIDGELAND ROAD; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE 
SOUTH LINE OF 29TH STREET, ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF 
THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE EAST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF 
THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST 
HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 32; 

THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS 
CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 32, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 29; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND 
AVENUE; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 
ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD; 

THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND 
ITS SOUTHEASTERLY EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY 
CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF BERWYN PER WARRANTY DEED RECORDED MAY 4, 1999 
AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 99430527; 

THENCE NORTH, EAST AND NORTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBITB 

GENERAL STREET LOCATION 



EXHIBIT B 

The redevelopment project area, commonly referred to as the "Ridgeland Avenue TIF," is 
bounded by the following: 

on the south BNSF Railroad, on the east by Lombard Avenue, on the north by 29th 
Street, and on the west by approximately to Ridgeland Avenue and 29th Street South to 
the next alley to the west up to the baseball fields across the rear of the property located 
near 6400 28th Place. 



EXHIBIT C 

MAP OF REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 



LL -r-
"'0 
c: 
co ~ I 
Q) 

U2 
;-3 . 

I .g> Irr-ror, ~ .r-----'~~r-r--TT~":-" 

o:: ~ 
"'0 I-----'---' 

- Q) I~ 
CJ) 

- 0 ~ 
I g- ILll..l..Ll 
- L... 
r 0... Irr-ror, 

.. 

'tl -
- t-I--II 

I I II 
. 

.i: 
I -

> -.- -

:::l 
- I~ 

=] c 

T - -



MINUTES 

Aldennan moved and Aldennan seconded the 

motion that said ordinance as presented and read by the City Clerk be adopted. 

After a full discussion thereof including a public recital of the nature of the matter being 

considered and such other infonnation as would infonn the public of the nature of the business 

being conducted, the Mayor directed that the roll be called for a vote upon the motion to adopt 

said ordinance as read. 

Upon the roll being called, the following Aldennen voted AYE: 

The following Aldennen voted NAY: 

Whereupon the Mayor declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, approved 

and signed the same in open meeting and directed the City Clerk to record the same in full in the 

records of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at the 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 

48489988.2 



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
)SS 
) COOK COUNTY 

CERTIFICATION OF ORDINANCE AND MINUTES 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 
the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City"), and that as such official I am the keeper 
of the records and files of the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Corporate Authorities"). 

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete transcript of that portion 
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the __ day of ___ , 
2018, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois 
Designating the Ridgeland Avenue Redevelopment Project Area of 
said City a Redevelopment Project Area Pursuant to the Tax 
Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of 
said ordinance were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken 
openly, that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that 
notice of said meeting was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice; that an 
agenda for said meeting was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the 
principal office of the Corporate Authorities at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said 
meeting; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; that said 
meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act 
of the State of llIinois, as amended, and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, and that the 
Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code and 
with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the City, this 
_ day of , 2020. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

(Seal) 

48489988.2 



c-7 

berwyn development 
COI1PQRATION 

March 1, 2020 

The Honorable Robert J . Lovero, Mayor 
Members of the Berwyn City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
6700 W. 26th Street 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

Re: Route 66 Car Show 
Request to Hold Show and Close Ogden Avenue 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

On behalf of the Berwyn Preservation of Historic Route 66, a committee of 
the Berwyn Development Corporation, we are pleased to request City 
Council approval to hold the 30h Annual Route 66 Car Show and to close 
Ogden Avenue, between Ridgeland and Oak Park Avenue, on Saturday, 
August 29, 2020 from 6:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

Your past support has contributed to making this event a tremendous 
success for the Berwyn community. Anticipating your approval of the 
attached Resolution, we will forward the same to the Illinois Department of 
Transportation for their final approval of the street closing. 

Thank you for your assistance regarding this important project. The Route 
66 Car Show will continue to grow in popularity, providing a great source of 
family fun for area residents and helping all of us promote the good things 
happening in Berwyn. 

Sincerely, 

~ 

3322 S. Oak Park Avenue 
Second Floor 
Berwyn, IL 60402 
708.788.8 100 
Fax: 708.788.0966 
www.berwyn.net 

David Hulseberg 
Executive Directo 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

RESOLUTION 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Whereas, the Berwyn Development Corporation's Route 66 Car Show Committee of the 
City of Berwyn, Illinois desires to hold their 30th Annual Route 66 Car Show on Route 
34, also known as U.S. Route 66, on August 29,2020, from 6 a.m. to 5 p.m. 

Whereas, said event will require the closing of Route 34 completely between 
Ridgeland Avenue and Oak Park Avenue, and 

Whereas, The State of Illinois requires the City of Berwyn to assume all responsibility 
and liability involved in the closing of said highway. 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the City of Berwyn will assume full responsibility 
for the direction, protection, and regulation of traffic during the time the detour is 
in effect, and all liabilities for damages of any kind occasioned by the closing of 
said State route. 

It is further agreed that efficient, all-weather detours will be maintained, 
conspicuously marked, and judiciously patrolled for the benefit of traffic 
deviated from the State route. 

Adopted by the City Council of Berwyn this ____ day of _____ " 2020 



The City of Berwyn Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Whereas, 

Whereas, 

Whereas, 

Whereas, 

A Century of Progress with Pride F-/ 
PROCLAMA nON 

Women have influenced and advanced every facet of American life and culture. The strength, ingenuity, 
and spirit of our female leaders, innovators, and pioneers shape our Nation's character, government, 
industry, families, and communities. During Women 's History Month, we honor the women who have 
changed our Nation and the world, and we reaffirm our commitment to supporting the next generation of 
female trailblazers and dreamers as they carry forward this distinguished legacy; and 

This year marks the centennial anniversary of the ratification of the 19th Amendment to the Constitution, 
securing the right to vote for women. This milestone in our country was made possible by the devotion, 
leadership, and perseverance of pioneers like Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan B. Anthony. The 
ratification of the 19th Amendment enabled women to finally have their voices counted in voting booths, 
paving the way for greater female participation in all levels of government. Heroes emerged like Frances 
Perkins, who, as Secretary of Labor, was the first woman to hold a cabinet-level position in the Federal 
Government, and Clare Boothe Luce, an influential journalist, playwright, Congresswoman, and the first 
woman appointed to a major ambassadorial post abroad; and 

Throughout our history, women have also been pioneers in fields like science, medicine, and engineering. 
Bessie Coleman, the world's first civilian licensed African-American pilot, and Marie Luhring, the frrst 
female truck designer, changed the way we think about aviation and transportation. Saint Katharine 
Drexel selflessly served those in need and left an indelible mark on nursing and education. NASA 
mathematician Katherine Johnson, who passed away just a few days ago, was behind some of the brilliant 
work that made possible the frrst manned spacetlights by United States astronauts. And just last year, two 
brave American astronauts, Flight Engineers Christina Koch and Jessica Meir, made history by 
conducting the frrst all-female spacewalk outside of the International Space Station; and 

This month, we pause as a City to pay tribute to the women who strengthen and enrich our society 
through civic action, devotion to family, and tireless dedication to community, innovation, peace, and 
prosperity. We pledge also to continue fighting for the further advancement of women in our society and 
around the globe, living up to the promise of our Nation's founding. 

NOW, THEREFORE, let it be proclaimed that I, Mayor Robert Lovero and the esteemed members of City Council 
hereby proclaim March 2020 as Women's History Month in the City of Berwyn and call upon public officials, 
educators and residents to observe this month with appropriate programs, ceremonies, and activities. 

Dated this lOth day of March 2020. 

, Mayor Marg 

6700 West 26" Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402-070 I Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 www.berwyn-il.gov 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

March 10, 2020 

Members of Berwyn City Council 

RE: Ordinance Amending Chapter 262 regarding the Fire and Police Commission 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

In the concurrence with the recommendation of the Diversity Commission, I am putting forward the 

attached Amendment to the Fire and Police Commission ordinance. This Amendment expands the 

Commission to five members. 

Respectfully, 

Robert J. Lovero 

Mayor 



ORDINANCE __ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 262 OF THE 
CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF BERWYN REGARDING 

INCREASING THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS ON THE 
FIRE AND POLICE COMMISSION FROM THREE TO FIVE 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 
Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

James "Scott" Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 

Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 

Cesar A. Santoy 
Alicia M. Ruiz 
Rafael Avila 

Anthony Nowak 
Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet form by auth ority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn on this _ 
day of , 2020. 



ORDINANCE __ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 262 OF THE 
CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF BERWYN REGARDING 

INCREASING THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS ON THE 
FIRE AND POLICE COMMISSION FROM THREE TO FIVE 

WHEREAS, City of Berwyn (the "City" ) is a home rule unit of local government as is 

provided by Article VII, Section 6 of the Illinois Constitution of 1970 and, as such may exercise 

various powers and perform numerous functions pertaining to its government and affairs in any 

manner not otherwise prohibited by law; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor of the City (the "Mayor") and the City Council (the "City 

Council" and with the Mayor, the "Corporate Authorities") are committed to ensuring the 

orderly hiring, promotion and discipline of the firefighters and police officers of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City has created a Board of Fire and Police Commissioners as 

authorized by the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5?1 0-2.1-1 el seq. to assist with and oversee 

that process; and 

WHEREAS, the Berwyn Board of Fire and Police Commissioners is currently allowed 

to have three (3) members; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the City of Berwyn have determined that it 

is in the best interests of the City of Berwyn, its public safety departments and its citizens to 

2 



use their home rule authority to increase the number of Commissioners on the Board of Fire 

and Police Commissioners from three (3) to five (5); and 

WHEREAS, an increase in the number of Commissioners will allow the Commission 

to more easily meet quorum requirements for its meetings and allow the Commission to 

apportion its work to a greater number of members; and 

WHEREAS, based on the foregoing, the Corporate Authorities have determined that it 

is necessary for the public health, safety and welfare of the City and its residents to amend 

Chapter 262 of the City Code as set forth herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 

City of Berwyn, Cook County, State of Illinois, through the exercise of the City's home rule 

powers, as follows: 

Section 1.00 The statements set forth in the preambles to this Ordinance are found to 

be true and correct and are incorporated into this Ordinance as if set forth in full. 

Section 2.00 The amendments and additions to the City Code as set forth herein are 

hereby adopted. The Corporate Authorities hereby approve the amendments and the additions 

to the City Code as described below. 

Section 3.00 Chapter 262, Section 262.02 is hereby amended as follows: 

Section 262.02 APPOINTEMENT AND TERMS OF MEMBERS 

(A) The Board of Fire and Police Commissioners shall consist oftfiree 
five members to be appointed by the Mayor, by and with the consent of 

Council. 

3 



Section 3.01 Chapter 262, Section 262.03 is hereby amended as follows: 

Section 262.03 QUALIFICATIONS, OATH, BOND AND 

DISQUALIFICATION OF MEMBERS 

CA) The tfiFee five members of the Board of Fire and Police 
Commissioners shall possess the qualifications required under state law and the 
ordinances of the city applicable to all other city officers, shall take an oath or 
affirmation of office, give bond and be subject to removal from office in the 

same manner as other appointive officers of the city. 

Section 4.00 The officers, employees, and/or agents of the City shall take all 

action necessary or reasonably required to carry out, give effect to, and consummate the 

amendments contemplated by this Ordinance and shall take all action necessary in conformity 

therewith. The officers, employees and/or agents of the City are specifically authorized and 

directed to draft and disseminate all necessary documents to be utilized in connection with the 

amendments contemplated by this Ordinance. 

Section 5.00 All prior actions of the City' s officials, employees and agents with 

respect to the subject matter of this Ordinance are hereby expressly ratified. 

Section 6.00 The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable, 

and should any provision of this Ordinance be determined to be in conflict with any law, statute, 

or regulation by a court of competent jurisdiction, said provision shall be excluded and deemed 

inoperative, unenforceable an as though not provided for herein, and all other provisions shall 

remain unaffected, unimpaired, valid and in full force and effect. 

4 



Section 7.00 All ordinances, resolutions, rules and orders, or parts thereof, in conflict 

herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby superseded. 

Section 8.00 This Ordinance shall be immediately in full force and effect after 

passage, approval and publication. A full , true and complete copy of this Ordinance shall be 

published in pamphlet form as provided by the Illinois Municipal Code. 

5 



ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this 

_ day of __ , 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

~ES lNo ABSENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

Fejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

~owak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

[rOTAL 

APPROVED this __ day of ___ , 2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK. 

6 

Robert J. Lovero 
MAYOR 

PRESENT 



The City of Berwyn Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

F3 
A Century of Progress with Pride 

March 10, 2020 

Members of City Council 

Re: Appointment of Alice Solis and Kenneth Waszak to the Fire and Police Commission 

Council Members: 

In order to comply with the Ordinance increasing the Fire and Police Commission from three to five, I have 
identified Berwyn residents Alice Solis and Kenneth Waszak as qualified commissioners. As the attached 
resumes will show, Ms. Solis and Mr. Waszak understand the value of working in a team environment and have 
pride in this community. Each brings special qualities to the Commission. 

I ask that you concur with my recommendation to appoint both Alice Solis and Kenneth Waszak as 
commissioners for the Fire and Police Commission. 

r 
Robert J. 
Mayor 

6700 West 26!h Street Berwyn, Ill inois 60402-070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 \\fww.berwyn-i l.gov 



Alice Solis 
Berwyn,IL 

Excellent communication skills demonstrated in counseling clients, conducting sessions to assess and 
resolve 
issues and provide therapeut ic support 
Collaborative team player working to create and implement strategies for client and department 
success 

Authorized to work in the US for any emp loyer 

Work Experience 

Clinical Therapist 
Pillars Community ServICes· Western Springs, IL 
August 2014 to August 2016 

. Provide Individual, family, couple, child, and group counseling 
• Administer clinical assessments 
• Develop appropriate treatment plans. keep notes for each counseling session, and write discharge 
summaries 
• Case management duties 
• Contribute to agency fund-raising projects. 
• Adhere to clinical recommendations 
• Participate in weekly supervision. 
• Maintain the ethical standards of the agency and of the discipline with which s!he! is affiliated 
• Update clinical skills on a regular basis, keeps abreast issues in field, and maintains flexibility in 
therapeutic modalities 

Senior Case Manager (Adult Protective Services Specialist) 
Dupage County - Wheaton, IL 
August 2013 to August 2014 

Investigating abuse. neglect and financial exploitation of the elderly and adults with disabilities by 
responding to referrals, interviewing and analyzing collected information to determine if criminal 
actions have occurred 
• Assesses living arrangements, physical capabilities, cognitive abilities, medical requirements, and 
financial resources to determine level of care required and provide crisis intervention and advocacy 
• Interviews clients, family, collateral contacts, professionals and alleged perpetrators 
• Develop and maintain service plans that ensure that clients' health and safety are protected 
• Recommends legal interventions. such as guardianship. power of attorney. protective services. and! 
or placement. as necessary to ensure clients' safety and well·being 
• Interacts with health care providers, community organizations, law enforcement, and govemment 
agencies 
• Serves as a member of a multi-disciplinary team to address the needs of elderly and disabled clients 
and partiCipates in unit care conferences when needed 



• Completing all mandated paperwork in a complete and timely manner and case management 
• Participate in weekly individual supervision 

Behavioral Support Specialist 
Kenneth Young Center - Schaumburg, IL 
july 2012 to july 2014 

Provide in-home and community-based respite to severely emotionally disturbed children and 
adolescents consistent with the individual treatment plan 
• Supervision of and engaging in recreational activities with the youth 
• Engage in community and home recreational activities with the client 
• Gathering information from parent(s) and team members and reporting back to same 
• Working in conjunction with other clinical staff to address meeting service needs of client 
• Documenting service provision for the chart 

Therapist 
Kenneth Young Center - Aurora, IL 
May 2013 to july 2013 

Provide individual, family, couple, child. and group counseling 
• Administer clinical assessments 
• Develop appropriate treatment plans. keep notes for each counsel ing session, and write discharge 
summaries within 2 months of last counseling session. 
• Case management duties 
• Contribute to agency fund-raising projects, 
• Adhere to clinical recommendations 
• Participate in weekly supervision . 
• Maintain the ethical standards of the agency and of the discipline with which s/hel is affiliated 
• Update clinical skills on a regular basis, keeps abreast issues in field, and maintains flex ibility in 
therapeutic modalities 

Clinical Intern 
Kenneth Young Center - Aurora, IL 
june 2012 to April 2013 

Provide individual. family, couple, child, and group counseling 
• Administer clinical assessments 
• Develop appropriate treatment plans, keep notes for each counseling session, and write discharge 
summaries within 2 months of last counseling session . 
• Case management duties 
• Provide community education presentations as assigned 
• Contribute to agency fund-raising projects. 
• Adhere to clinical recommendations 
• Participate in weekly group and individual supervision. 
• Maintain the ethical standards of the agency and of the discipline with which slhel is affiliated 
• Update clinical skills on a regular basis, keeps abreast issues in field. and maintains flexibility in 
therapeutic modalities 

Life Program Supported Assistant 
Clearbrook - Scllaumburg, tL 
FebrualY 2011 to January 2013 



Provide in -home individual training and support for an autistic child 
• Support client in completing monthly goals established by LIFE program Coordinator 
• Engage in community and home recreational activit ies with the client 
• Completing monthly documentation and data 

Office Assista nt 
Roosevelt Unrverslty Office of Career Development - SchaumbUlg, IL 
August 2010 to June 2012 

Communicate with students and employers regarding career services and development and develop 
positive relationships 
• Review resumes for students and alumni 
• Assist career counselors in developing and creating student/employer events 
• Update data. ma inta in. monitor and organize eRecruiting. student/employer data base system 
• Assist career counselors with conduct ing mock interviews 

Behavior Coach 
Arizona Youth & Family Services - Phoenix. AZ 

June 2009 to July 2010 

Provided in-home. school and community behavioral coaching and counseling to at-risk children. 
adolescents and families 
• Attended and participated in Child 'sl Family Team meetings, assessed clien t progress 
• Developed age appropriate interventions based on behavioral goals established by Team 
• Taught clients behavioral interventions reinforced and fol lowed-up 
• Assisted and supported clients' family/ caregiver in the development, implementation. and revision of 
client behavior intervention plans and reported findings to CFT Team 

Refugee Referra l Manager 
Mati lda Family Medicine - Phoenix. AZ 
December 2008 to June 2009 

Completed doctor referrals for refugees from all over the world 
• Followed up with appointments and faxed referrals to various professionals such as psychiatrists, 
specialists. and psychologists, completed referral authorization forms 
• Conducted interviews and trained new employees 

Office Manager 
AZNY Psychological Services - Glendale. AZ 
November 2007 to December 2008 

Administered and assessed psychological tests : MMPl/Sentence Completion , Substance Abuse 
Subtle Screening Inventory (SASSI) 
• Completed insurance claim discrepancies, filing, data entry. and daily deposits 
• Compiled and forwarded confidential psychological reports to Arizona courts 

Education 

Master of Arts in Clinical Professional Psychology 
Roosevelt Universi ty - Schaumburg. IL 
/llI9usi 2010 to Moy 2013 



Roosevelt University 
August 2010 to May 2013 

Bachelor of Science in Psychology 
Arizona State University · Glendale. AZ 
May 2009 

Bachelor's in Social Behavioral Science 
Arizona State University 
May 2009 

Certifi ca ti on s/Li c enses 

Driver's License 

Passed LPC Examination 

Completed hours and Is eligible to apply for LCPC licensure 



Kenneth Waszak 
Berwyn. I L. 60~ 0 2 

WORK EXPERIENCE 
McNeal Hospital Berwyn,lL 
Securily Al/g 2008 Nol' 201 7 
• Secu rity C hecksCourier RouteTran spo rtati on to and from hospital to off s ite lots . Secure parking area's 

C it y of Berwyn Berwyn , lL 
Depllty Chi~r Aug /998 - ill/200i 
• Ass ign firefighters tojobs at strategic locations to facilitate rescue of persons and maximize appli cation of 

ex tingui s hing agen ts. 
• Prov ide emergency medical se rvices as required . and perfo rm light to heavy rescue functions at 

emerge ncies. 
• Assess nature and extent o f fire. condition of bu il ding. danger to adjacent buildings. and wate r supp ly s tatus 

to determ ine crew o r company requirements. 
• Instruct and drill fire department personnel in ass ign ed duties , includ ing firefight ing, medical care, 

hazardou s materi a ls response. fi re prevention. and related subjects. 
• Pe rform maintenance and mino r repairs on firefighting equipment, includin g ve hicles , and w rite and submit 

proposals to modify. replace . and repair equipment. 
• Prepare activi ty reports li s ting fi re call locations. ac tions tak en. fire types and probable causes. damage 

estimates. and si tuat ion disposit ions. 

EDUCATION 
MORTON COLLEGE C icero, IL 
Complelt!dcoursework towards .'1 . /1 . General (JlIl1 1973) 

CREDENTIALS AND LICENSES 
• Firefighter I 
• Firefighter 2 
• Firefighter 3 
• Hazardous Materials Advi sory Basic Awareness 
• Illinois Hazardous Materials First Responder 
• Hazardous Materials Incident Commander 
• S ingle Family Grou nd Tactics 
• Fire Apparatus Eng ineer 
• FEMA IS-OOIOO.FW, IS-00200, IS-00700 
• M.A.B.A.S Divis ion 11 In cident Safety Officer 
• Certified Corn Ed Elect rica l Course 
• Honorable Ment ion Award 

Berwyn. I L. 60402 



f-+ 
BERWYN POL CE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

Chief of Police 
Michael D. Cimaglia 

02 March 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

6700 w. 26'h Street 

Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

RE: Recommended Board Appointments due to retirements 

Honorable Mayor, 

As you are aware, Deputy Chief Thomas O'Halioran has announced his retirement from the Police 

Department effective March 03, 2020. In addition to retiring from the Police Department Deputy Chief 

O'Halioran has also resigned from his position on the Emergency Telephone System Board (ETSB), thereby 

creating a vacancy on the board. 

Additionally, Division Commander Frank M. Cimaglia has announced his retirement effective March 11, 

2020. In addition to retiring from the Police Department Commander Frank Cimaglia has also resigned from 

the positions that he holds with the Emergency Telephone System Board (ETSB) and the Auxiliary Police 

Review Board. 

In light of these retirements I am recommending the following: 

Division Commander Guy J. Papa and Acting Deputy Chief of Police Michael G. Cirolia both be 

appointed to the Emergency Telephone System Board in the vacancies created by the retirements. I am also 

recommending that Acting Deputy Chief of Police Michael G. Cirolia be appointed to the Auxiliary Police 

Review Board. 

I have attached copies of Commander Cimaglia's resignation letters to this memorandum and I believe 

that you already have Deputy Chief O'Halioran's resignation letter from the ETSB. 

Respectfully, 

(vf{~/tkdo/ 
Michael D. Cimaglia 

Chief of Police 

Berwyn Police Department 

6401 West 31" St Berwyn, II.. 60402 - Emergency 9-1-1 -708-795-5600 - Fax 708-795-5627 
www.berwvnpolicedepartment.com 



The City of Berwyn 

March 10, 2020 

Members of City Council 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

f-5 

Re: Appointment of Michael G. Cirolia to the Auxiliary Review Board 

City Council Members: 

With the resignation of Division Commander, Frank Cimaglia, from the Auxiliary 

Review Board, there is a vacancy to be filled. As Michael G. Cirolia is serving as 

the Interim Deputy Chief of Police, whose duties involve the supervision of the 

Auxiliary Unit, I ask that you concur with my recommendation to appoint Michael 

G. Cirolia to the Auxiliary Review Board. 

R'~1b2-
Robert J. Lovero 

Mayor 



BERWYN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

March 2, 2020 

Mayor Robert Lovero 
City of Berwyn 

"Serving with Pride" 

RE: Notice of Resignation Auxiliary Police Review Board 

Mayor Lovero, 

Chief of Police 
Michael D. Cimaglia 

Please accept this letter indicating my resignation from the Auxiliary Police 

Review Board effective end of day on March 09, 2020. It has been an honor 

and a privilege to serve the community of Berwyn in this position. I 

personally began my service to Berwyn as an Auxiliary Officer in 1982 and 

am extremely proud of everything that we have been able to accomplish 

moving the organization forward. 

I want to personally thank you for the opportunity and support you have 

given me in this position. It has been a pleasure to serve under you and I 

wish you nothing but the best in your future endeavors. 

Respectfully sub 

~nk M. cim-agli 
Auxiliary Police Review Board Member 

Cc. Chief Michael Cimaglia 

6401 West 31st St. , Berwyn, IL 60402 - Emergency 9-1-1 - 708-795-5600 - Fax 708-795-5627 

www.berwynpolicedepartment.com 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

March 10, 2020 

Members of City Council 

Re: Appointment of Michael Cirolia to the 9-1-1 Board 

Council Members: 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Deputy Police Chief Thomas O'Halloran has served on the 9-1-1 Board since its inception. He has been a part 
of three major technology upgrades related to the 9-1-1 Emergency Telephone System for the City of Berwyn. 
With his upcoming retirement, Deputy Chief O'Halloran has submitted a letter of resignation as a member of 
the 9-1-1 Board. I would like to thank Deputy Chief O'Halloran for his 30 years of service to the City of 
Berwyn and for his leadership within the 9-1-1 board. 

In order to address this vacancy on the 9-1-1 Board, I am recommending Police Department Unit Commander 
Michael Cirolia to fill this position. 

I ask that you concur with my recommendation to appoint Michael Cirolia to the 9-1-1 Board for a 2 year tenn 
limit as of March 10, 2020. 

Respectfully, 

Robert J. Lov ro 
Mayor 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn, Il linois 60402-070 I Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 www,bcrwyn-i1.gov 



BERWYN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

February 26, 2020 

Mayor Robert 1. Lovero 
City of Berwyn 
6700 W. 26th Street 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

"ServIng with Pride" 

Re: Emergency Telephone Systems Board 

Mayor Lovero, 

Chief of Police 
Michael D. Cimaglia 

As you are aware I will be retiring from the Berwyn Police Department after over 30 years of 
service. I am also the remaining original board member from the City ' s Emergency Telephone 
Systems Board and have served since its inception in August of 1990. Since that time I have 
been a part of three major technology system upgrades related to the 9-1-1 Emergency 
Telephone System for the City of Berwyn. The first being the initial move to Enhanced 9-1-1 
service in 1991 for all Berwyn residents. The second in 2001 was the move and upgrade of 
equipment to our current Police Department facility. The last major upgrade was in 2008 which 
was a remodel of our communications center and system upgrade as well. 

As we look to our fourth major technology upgrade being NextGen 9-1-1 which includes text to 
9- I - I and other enhancements this is a good time for me to step aside from the 9- I - I board. This 
board serves an extremely important role in supporting the city' s public safety departments and I 
am extremely grateful to have had the opportunity to have served for the last 29 years. The time 
is right to bring someone else on board to continue to move these projects along. 

Kindly accept this as my resignation from the board effective March I, 2020. I thank you for 
your trust and confidence in allowing me to serve on the board and as its Chairman for the last 
twenty two years. 

;erytrul~ 

Tho . O' Halloran 
Deputy Chief of Police 

6401 West 31" Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402 - Emergency 9-1-1- (708) 795-5600 - Fax (708) 795-5627 
www.berwynpol icedepartment .com 



The City of Berwyn 

March 10, 2020 

Members of City Council 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

F-7 

Re: Appointment of Guy Papa to the 9-1-1, Emergency Telephone System Board (ETSB) 

Council Members: 

Division Commander Frank Cimaglia has served on the 9-1-1 Board for the last twelve years. He has been a 
part of three major technology upgrades related to the 9-1 -1 Emergency Telephone System for the City of 
Berwyn. Commander Cimaglia has submitted a letter of resignation as a member of the 9-1-1 Board. I would 
like to thank Commander Cimaglia for his decades of service to the City of Berwyn and for his leadership 
within the 9-1-1 board. 

In order to address this vacancy on the 9-1-1 Board, I am recommending Police Department Division 
Commander, Guy Papa, to fill this position. 

I ask that you concur with my recommendation to appoint Guy Papa to the 9-1-1 Board for a 2 year term limit 
as of March 10, 2020. 

Respectfully, 

Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

6700 West 26th Street Bcnvyn. Illinois 60402·070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 w\vw.bcrwyn-il.gov 



BERWYN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

March 2, 2020 

Mayor Robert Lovero 
City of Berwyn 

"Serving with Pride" 

Chief of Police 
Michael D. Cimaglia 

RE: Notice of Resignation Emergency Telephone System Board (ESTB) 

Mayor Lovero, 

Please accept this letter indicating my resignation from the Emergency 

Telephone System Board effective end of day on March 09, 2020 . It has 

been an honor and a privilege to serve the community of Berwyn in this 

position for the past 12 years. I am extremely proud of everything that we 

have been able to accomplish and believe the pending projects to be 

completed will enhance the service provided to our community. 

I want to personally thank you for the opportunity and support you have 

given me in this position. It has been a pleasure to serve under you and I 

wish you nothing but the best in your future endeavors. 

Respectfully submitted, 

'-1 ~ a =:: 
~7' 

Frank M. Cimaglia 
E.T.S.B Board Member 

Cc. Chief Michael Cimaglia 

6401 West 31st St. , Berwyn, IL 60402 - Emergency 9-1-1 -708-795-5600 - Fax 708-795-5627 

www.berwynpolicedepartment.com 



•• . - .~ -[ # 

Mayor 

Robert J. Lovero 

A CENTURY OF PROGRESS WITH PRIDE 

H/ 
City Clerk 

Margaret M. Paul 

6700 W 26th Street · Berwyn, Il60402 • Ph : (708) 788-2660 ' Fax: (708) 788-2675 • Berwyn-Il.gov 

Zoning, Planning and 
Development Commission 
Joel Chrastka 
Douglas Walega 
Richard F. Bruen, Jr. 
lance C. Malina 
Don M iller 
Rosina l aPietra 
Cathy Norden 

March 6, 2020 

Re: Findings of Fact - Request for approval of a Preliminary and Final Plan for a Special 
Use/Planned Development in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District, at 6737-6747 
W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue 

Mayor Lovero and Members of the City Council : 

Attached for your consideration are Findings of Fact from the Zoning, Planning and 
Development Commission relative to the request of GW Cermak Oak Park, LLC, for approval of 
a Preliminary and Final Plan for a Special UselPlanned Development to be located within the C-
2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District, at the addresses commonly known as 6737-6747 W. 
Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue. A planned 
development is authorized as a special use in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District, and 
may be granted where the standards applicable to a special use and planned development set 
forth in Sections 1252.03 and 1252.04 of the Zoning Code of the City of Berwyn are found to 
have been met. Attached to the Findings of Fact are Exhibits from the Public Hearing. 

The Zoning, Planning and Development Commission voted three (3) in favor and three (3) 
opposed on a motion to recommend denial of the preliminary and final plans for the special 
use/planned development permit requested by Petitioner, resulting in NO 
RECOMMENDATION to the Mayor and City Council. Given the tie vote, we have 
included an Ordinance approving the requested Preliminary and Final Plan for a Special 
UselPlanned Development, to facilitate the Council's further consideration of this request. 

Also included in this transmittal is an additional/alternate favade rendering that was not part of 
the public hearing, but is, to my understanding, an alternate design that resulted from a meeting 
of Alderman Reardon with BDC Executive Director Dave Hulseberg as a follow-up to the public 
hearing. 



Feel free to contact me with any questions. 

Respectfully, 

f&' e;f", e." 
Lance C. Malina 
Executive Secretary, 
Berwyn Zoning, Planning and Development Commission 



FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE 
CITY OF BERWYN ZONING, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

TO THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

APPLICATION: 

PETITIONER: 

PROPERTY: 

ZPDC No. 20-01 
February 19, 2020 

Request for Approval of a Preliminary and Final Plan for 
a Special Use/Planned Development to be Located 
within the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District, at 
6737-6747 W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, 
and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue 

GW Cermak Oak Park, LLC 

6737-6747 W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, 
and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue, Berwyn, Illinois (the 
"Property") 

SUMMARY OF REQUEST AND RECOMMENDATION: The City of Berwyn has 
received a request from GW Cermak Oak Park, LLC ("Petitioner") for approval of a 
special use permit to construct a planned development consisting of redevelopment of 
the Property with a 4,600 square foot one-story building proposed for use as a medical 
office, and a 2,000 square foot one-story building also proposed for medical office use, 
along with various related zoning exceptions. A planned development is authorized as 
a special use in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District. A preliminary and final 
plan for a planned development in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District at the 
Property may be granted where the standards applicable to a special use and planned 
development set forth in Sections 1252.03 and 1252.04 of the Zoning Code of the City 
of Berwyn ("Zoning Code") are found to have been met. The Petitioner requests various 
zoning exceptions as part of the planned development that include: 

• an exception to the "hold the corner" commercial zoning district design 
requirements in Section 1246.02.B.1.A. of the Berwyn Zoning Code, in order to 
allow the corner structure to be demolished for improved site line visibility from 
Oak Park Avenue to Cermak Road, as well as surface lot parking in the front of 
the proposed structures; and 

• an exception to the requirement in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 Requirements) in § 
1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning 
Code that the front fagade of the principal buildings occupy at least 75% of the 
street frontage along the front lot line; and 

• an exception to the parking location requirements in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 
Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of 



the Berwyn Zoning Code to allow parking along the front or corner side lot line; 
and 

• an exception to the minimum transparency requirement of 50% of street-facing 
facades between two (2) feet and eight (8) feet above grade in Table 1246.05-A 
(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code; and 

• an exception to the principal entrance location requirements in Table 1246.05-A 
(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code to permit a building entrance to be 
located in the surface parking lot as opposed to located on the fac;;ade; and 

Following a public hearing held on February 19, 2020, the City of Berwyn Zoning, 
Planning and Development Commission voted three (3) in favor and three (3) against, 
to recommend denial of the special use permit to construct the planned development to 
the Mayor and City Council. The split vote results in there being no recommendation 
one way or the other to the City Council. 

BACKGROUND: Upon receipt and review of the Petitioner's initial request , Staff 
determined that a special use permit was required pursuant to Section 1244.02 of the 
Zoning Code, in order to construct a planned development within the C-2 Traditional 
Mixed-Use Zoning District. Petitioner then submitted an application requesting that the 
Zoning, Planning and Development Commission grant a special use permit to allow the 
proposed planned development use at the Property. The Petitioner proposes to 
redevelop the Property with a 4,600 square foot one-story building proposed for use as 
a medical office, and a 2,000 square foot one-story building also proposed for medical 
office use, and seeks various zoning exceptions for the redevelopment. 

PUBLIC HEARING: At the public hearing on the application described above, 
Petitioner's representative Mitch Goltz preliminarily testified on behalf of the Petitioner 
regarding the requested relief. 

Mr. Goltz noted that the Petitioner is also redeveloping another property in the City at 
Ogden and Harlem with a Starbucks and 7-11. 

The Property has been owned by the same family for the past eight (80) years. That 
family has marketed the Property for redevelopment for a long time. The Petitioners 
now have tenants committed who seek to open an immediate care medical facility in 
one of the buildings, and a dental practice in the other. 

There is no access to parking on the Property currently except through the alley. The 
building goes lot line to lot line and the lack of parking is a problem. Even if they could 
add parking, access only through an alley would result in a bad site design. The 
creation of parking is a necessity for new businesses seeking to locate on the Property. 

2 



The Petitioner acquired an adjacent dental office to create an access point to the 
Property off of Oak Park Avenue. This will allow Petitioner to add parking. In order to 
create parking however, Petitioner will need relief from the Zoning Code's "hug the 
corner," 75% lot frontage and parking location requirements. If zoning exceptions are 
granted to these and other requirements, they can create a better design. 

The Petitioner proposes tearing down the building at the corner, while attempting to 
preserve the portion of the building that extends to the east, in order to preserve some 
existing storefront. The corner portion of the building is in worse condition and includes 
a basement, which is problematic for redevelopment. 

There is no storm water retention on the Property currently. The redevelopment of the 
Property will meet current stormwater requirements, and will improve stormwater issues 
on the Property as well as the surrounding area . 

Mr. Goltz asserted that medical is a good use for the site, and a feasible project in 
current market conditions. The two in the planned development buildings would operate 
together. The materials used will be common to the other old buildings in the Cermak 
corridor. They will take some art deco aesthetic elements from the design of the corner 
building and incorporate those elements to the redevelopment of the building to be 
saved. Petitioner believes that the redevelopment of the Property will encourage other 
development in the area, while the current vacancies discourage such development. 

Commissioner Walega asked questions about the use and it was noted that the use 
would be for an immediate care/trauma room , where no surgery would be performed. 
Mr. Goltz noted that health care uses want to be more visible now than in the past, in 
order to function more like retail. Mr. Goltz further noted this is an underserved area for 
immediate care medical uses. Finally, in response to questions from Commissioner 
Walega , Mr. Goltz noted that the redevelopment would utilize fiber cement board, rather 
than stucco. 

Commissioner Miller asked about the driveway access. The Petitioner noted that 
because Cermak Road is a State road , the curb cut has to be on Oak Park Avenue ; it is 
the only place it can go. The driveway access will be 150 feet south of the intersection 
of Oak Park Avenue and Cermak. Access will be across from the Bank Building access 
drive on the other side of the street, which is recommended by traffic consultants. 

Mr. Goltz noted that the proposed uses would not be high volume uses. In that respect, 
they would not be like a restaurant or a bank. Goltz believes a restaurant at this location 
would be too intense of a use. 

Parking was discussed. There will be a total of thirty six (36) parking spaces. There will 
be five (5) to seven (7) employees for the medical use, and approximately five (5) 
employees at the dental use. Parking at the back of the Property will be for employees. 

3 



Commissioner Bruen expressed concern during questioning about the design and 
logistics of the site. He noted three (3) of the four (4) buildings at the intersection are in 
code conforming locations right at the corner. Mr. Goltz explained the limited options for 
code compliant effective redevelopment of the Property, and that the south side of 
Cermak is more difficult because there is no Vacin Fairway. 

Commissioner Norden noted that the proposed immediate care medical tenant will have 
a fifteen (15) year lease. 

Mr. Goltz stated that the medical uses will have a broad appeal , taking all insurance. 
Proposed hours of operation are from 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. Monday through Saturday, and 8 
a.m. to 4 p.m. on Sunday. 

In response to additional questions from area residents and Commissioners, Mr. Goltz 
noted that upon redevelopment, the entire site will be one Property, with one owner. He 
was open , in concept, to the idea of allowing customers frequenting other businesses to 
park on the Property during off hours. 

Mr. Goltz also noted, in response to public questioning, that the proposed landscape 
buffers and existing garages on adjacent residential lots should act to limit noise from 
the Property or adjacent roads following the proposed demolition. 

Berwyn Development Corporation Executive Director Dave Hulseberg also testified . He 
reminded the Commissioners that waivers of Zoning Code requirements in the planned 
development context are zoning exceptions, not variations. Staff had suggested that 
Petitioner look at acquiring the property to the south for parking , access and general 
flexibility in development of the site and Petitioner did that. There is essentially no 
parking at the Property now. The Berwyn Zoning Code requires five (5) spaces for each 
1,000 square feet of the medical uses. Under the proposed redevelopment, parking will 
be improved, but will still be limited. 

Mr. Hulseberg noted that in analyzing the proposed planned development, the BDC 
looks at what is possible. The existing structure is not marketable as is. Options are 
limited. The BDC strives to preserve existing structures where possible. 

The alley as a possible access was discussed. While not a good option for primary site 
access, it is a possibility for fire access. 

Mr. Hulseberg reviewed the BDC staff report. He noted that vacancy is high on Cermak, 
and that vacancy is contagious. This is a market deal, and no incentives or other 
support from the City are being sought by Petitioner. The current building is dilapidated 
and vacant. The proposed plan is actionable and realistic. 

Mr. Hulseberg suggested there is no reasonable alternate layout of the 
businesses/building on the site. 

4 



Third Ward Alderman Jeanine Reardon was present and objected to the hold-the-corner 
exception. She also expressed concem over the termination within the past twelve (12) 
months of month-to-month leases for tenant's that had still occupied the Property. 

Exhibits marked during the course of the Public Hearing included: City Group 
Exhibit 1, which consisted of the published legal notice for the public hearing, and 
accompanying Certification of Publication, as well as the full application for the relief 
sought by Petitioner and supporting materials. 

There being no further questions or members of the public wishing to speak on the 
application, the Public Hearing was closed. 

Zoning, Planning and Development Commissioner Rosina LaPietra was the area 
investigator appointed for this matter. Commissioner LaPietra summarized her 
investigation for the Commission and submitted a written report. 

The members of the Zoning, Planning and Development Commission each then in turn 
expressed their views on the proposed special use permit for a planned development. 

Member Bruen made a motion, seconded by Member Miller, to recommend denial of 
the preliminary and final plan for a special use/planned development requested by 
Petitioner, including the listed exceptions. The Zoning, Planning, and Development 
Commission vote on the motion was three (3) in favor, and three (3) opposed, with one 
(1) absent, resulting in no recommendation to the City Council on the request of 
Petitioner.1 

FINDINGS: A planned development must meet both the standards for a special use, 
and the additional standards for a planned development. The Zoning, Planning, and 
Development Commission makes the following Findings as to the proposed special use 
permit to construct a planned development: 

(A) The proposed special use and development will not endanger the health, 
safety, comfort, convenience and general welfare of the public . The Zoning, 
Planning and Development Commission generally found that the project would 
benefit the general community and property values in the vicinity by allowing 
Petitioner to redevelop a struggling site and provide an immediate care facility I 
an underserved area. The use, as presented, will not endanger the health, 
safety, comfort, convenience and general welfare of the public. 

(8) The proposed special use is compatible with the character of adjacent 
properties and other property within the immediate vicinity of the proposed 
special use. While some Commission members found this standard to have 
been met, others found that the design of the proposed redevelopment, including 

1 While Chairman Joel Chraska was not able to be present at the meeting due to a fall, he expressed general 

support for the proposal after reviewing the ZPODC meeting packet and agenda. 

5 



being set back from the corner, was inconsistent with the majority of other 
properties at the intersection, and properties in the immediate vicinity. 

(C) The proposed special use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of adjacent properties and other property 
within the immediate vicinity of the proposed special use. Some 
Commission members found this standard to have been met, and believed that 
the proposed planned development would spur additional redevelopment in the 
immediate vicinity of this already developed area. Others found this standard not 
to have been met, and believed that moving the buildings back off of the comer 
and the site access issues would have a negative effect on redevelopment in the 
area . 

(0) The proposed special use will be provided with adequate utilities, access 
roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities. The Zoning , Planning and 
Development Commission received testimony that all necessary utilities already 
exist and/or will be provided for in the planned development, and that storm 
water retention would actually be improved by the proposed planned 
development. Some Commissioners did not believe, however, that the site 
access plan was sufficient. 

(E) The proposed special use is consistent with the intent of the 
Comprehensive Plan, the Zoning Code, and the other land use policies of 
the City. Some Commissioners felt the special use permit for a planned 
development would be consistent with the intention of the Comprehensive Plan, 
the Zoning Code, and other land use policies of the City. Specifically, they found 
the proposed use of a planned development would be in harmony with the 
general and specific purposes for which the Zoning Code was enacted , and for 
which the regulation of the C-2 District were established, and with the general 
intent of the Comprehensive Plan , by making the best of a difficult and 
underutilized site, and providing urgent care services and other medical uses that 
would be beneficial to the community as a whole. Other Commission members, 
however, believed that moving the buildings off of the corner, and the parking 
configuration, were not consistent with the City's land use policies and the intent 
of the Zoning Code. 

(F) The proposed planned development will provide walkways, driveways, 
streets, parking facilities, and loading facilities that adequately serve the 
uses within the development and provide for safe motor vehicle, bicycle, 
and pedestrian traffic to and from the site. Some members of the Zoning, 
Planning and Development Commission found this standard to have been met, 
while others remained concerned about the access points and the location of the 
on-site parking facilities. On-site parking meets City Zoning Code requirements. 
Elimination of the building at the corner may have safety benefits by opening up 
a line of site at the intersection between Oak Park Avenue and Cermak Road . 



(G) The proposed planned development will provide landscaping and 
screening that enhances the city's character and livability, improves air and 
water quality, reduces noise, provides buffers, and facilitates transitions 
between different types of uses. The Zoning, Planning and Development 
Commission found this standard to have been met. Petitioner is providing a 
landscape buffer along the alley to screen the development from adjacent 
residences. 

(H) The proposed planned development will protect the community's natural 
environment to the greatest extent practical, including existing natural 
features, watercourses, trees, and native vegetation. The Zoning, Planning 
and Development Commission found this standard , to the extent applicable, to 
have been met. The existing site currently has a building running from lot line to 
lot line. 

(I) The proposed planned development will be provided with underground 
installation of utilities when feasible, including electricity, cable, and 
telephone, as well as appropriate facilities for storm sewers, stormwater 
retention, and stormwater detention. The Zoning, Planning and Development 
Commission found this standard to have been met. On-site water retention would 
be improved from current conditions by the proposed planned development. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Zoning, Planning, and Development Commission, by a 
vote of three (3) in favor and three (3) opposed on a vote to recommend denial, has NO 
RECOMMENDATION to the Mayor and City Council regarding the approval of 
preliminary and final plans for the special use/planned development permit requested by 
Petitioner, consisting of redevelopment of the Property with a 4,600 square foot one
story building proposed for use as a medical office, and a 2,000 square foot one-story 
building also proposed for medical office use, in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning 
District, at the address commonly known as 6737-6747 W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak 
Park Avenue, and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue, Berwyn, Illinois, and including the 
listed exceptions. 

Signed: 
ce C. Malina, 

Zoning, Planning 
Commission 
City of Berwyn 

7 

ecutive Secretary 
nd Development 



CITY OF BERWYN 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ _ 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAN FOR A 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT/SPECIAL USE WITHIN THE C-2 TRADITIONAL MIXED
USE ZONING DISTRICT AT THE ADDRESSES COMMONLY KNOWN AS 6737-6747 

W. CERMAK, 2207-2211 S. OAK PARK AVENUE, AND 
2215-2219 S. OAK PARK AVENUE - GW CERMAK OAK PARK, LLC 

WHEREAS, a request (the "Application") seeking approval of a preliminary and 
final plan for a special use/planned development to consist of redevelopment of property 
located at 6737-6747 W. Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, and 2215-2219 S. 
Oak Park Avenue, Berwyn, Illinois (the "Property"), with a 4,600 square foot one-story 
building proposed for use as a medical office, and a 2,000 square foot one-story 
building also proposed for medical office use, along with various related zoning 
exceptions, was filed with the City of Berwyn by Petitioner GW Cermak Oak Park, LLC 
(the "Applicant"). The Property is located in the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning 
District; and 

WHEREAS, a planned development requires a special use permit in order to 
operate within the C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District, per Section 1244.02 of the 
Zoning Code of the City of Berwyn ("Zoning Code"); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant requests certain zoning exceptions to construct the 
planned development in the C-2 Mixed-Use Zoning District that include: 

• an exception to the "hold the corner" commercial zoning district design 
requirements in Section 1246.02.B.1.A. of the Berwyn Zoning Code, in order to 
allow the corner structure to be demolished for improved site line visibility from 
Oak Park Avenue to Cermak Road, as well as surface lot parking in the front of 
the proposed structures; and 

• an exception to the requirement in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 Requirements) in § 
1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning 
Code that the front fa«ade of the principal buildings occupy at least 75% of the 
street frontage along the front lot line ; and 

• an exception to the parking location requirements in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 
Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of 
the Berwyn Zoning Code to allow parking along the front or corner side lot line ; 
and 

• an exception to the minimum transparency requirement of 50% of street-facing 
facades between two (2) feet and eight (8) feet above grade in Table 1246.05-A 



(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code; and 

• an exception to the principal entrance location requirements in Table 1246.05-A 
(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code to permit a building entrance to be 
located in the surface parking lot as opposed to located on the fa<;ade; and 

WHEREAS. the Subject Property is legally described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto and made a part hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the Application has been referred to the Zoning. Planning and 
Development Commission of the City ("Commission") and has been processed in 
accordance with the Zoning Code. as amended; and 

WHEREAS. on February 19. 2020. the Commission held a public hearing on the 
Application pursuant to notice thereof given in the manner required by law. and. after 
considering all of the testimony and evidence presented at the public hearing. the 
Commission voted three (3) in favor and three (3) opposed on a motion to recommend 
denial of the preliminary and final plans for the special use/planned development permit 
requested by Petitioner. resulting in no recommendation to the Mayor and City Council . 
all as set forth in the Findings and Recommendation of the Commission in this matter 
("Findings and Recommendation"). a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B; 
and 

WHEREAS. the City Council of the City has duly considered the Findings and 
Recommendation of the Commission . and all of the materials. facts and circumstances 
affecting the Application . and finds that the Application satisfies the standards set forth 
in Section 1252.04(F) of the Zoning Code relating to planned developments. and the 
standards set forth in Section 1252.03(C)(4) of the Zoning Code relating to special use 
permits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED. by the City Council of the City of 
Berwyn. Cook County and State of Illinois. as follows: 

Section 1: Incorporation. Each whereas paragraph set forth above is 
incorporated by reference into this Section 1. 

Section 2: Approval of a Preliminarv and Final Plan for a Special Use/Planned 
Development for Redevelopment of the Property. The City Council . acting pursuant to 
the authority vested in it by the laws of the State of Illinois and the Zoning Code. hereby 
approve and adopt the Findings and Recommendation of the Zoning. Planning and 
Development Commission. a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B. and 
specifically. the findings of the three (3) Commissioners who found the various 
standards in Section 1252.04(F) of the Zoning Code relating to planned developments. 
and the standards set forth in Section 1252.03(C)(4) of the Zoning Code relating to 

2 



special use permits, to have been met, and incorporate such Findings and 
Recommendation by reference as if fully set forth herein. The City Council further 
approves a preliminary and final plan for a special use/planned development in the C-2 
Traditional Mixed-Use Zoning District on the Subject Property located at 6737-6747 W. 
Cermak, 2207-2211 S. Oak Park Avenue, and 2215-2219 S. Oak Park Avenue, Berwyn, 
Illinois, as legally described in Exhibit A, with the following zoning exceptions as listed 
herein and in the Findings and Recommendation: 

• an exception to the "hold the corner" commercial zoning district design 
requirements in Section 1246.02.B.1.A. of the Berwyn Zoning Code, in order to 
allow the corner structure to be demolished for improved site line visibility from 
Oak Park Avenue to Cermak Road , as well as surface lot parking in the front of 
the proposed structures; and 

• an exception to the requirement in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 Requirements) in § 
1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning 
Code that the front fayade of the principal buildings occupy at least 75% of the 
street frontage along the front lot line ; and 

• an exception to the parking location requirements in Table 1246.05-A (C-2 
Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District Requirements) of 
the Berwyn Zoning Code to allow parking along the front or corner side lot line; 
and 

• an exception to the minimum transparency requirement of 50% of street-facing 
facades between two (2) feet and eight (8) feet above grade in Table 1246.05-A 
(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code; and 

• an exception to the principal entrance location requirements in Table 1246.05-A 
(C-2 Requirements) in § 1246.05 (C-2 Traditional Mixed-Use District 
Requirements) of the Berwyn Zoning Code to permit a building entrance to be 
located in the surface parking lot as opposed to located on the fayade. 

Section 3: Violation of Condition or Code. Any violation of any term or condition 
stated in this Ordinance or of any applicable code, ordinance, or regulation of the City 
shall be grounds for the immediate rescission by the City Council of the approvals made 
in this Ordinance. 

Section 4: Severability and Repeal of Inconsistent Ordinances. Each section, 
paragraph, clause and provision of this Ordinance is separable, and if any section, 
paragraph , clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be held unconstitutional or invalid 
for any reason , the unconstitutionality or invalidity of such section , paragraph , clause or 
provision shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance, nor any part thereof, other 
than that part affected by such decision. All ordinances, resolutions or orders, or parts 

3 



thereof, in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are to the extent of such conflict 
hereby repealed . 

Section 5: Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage, approval , and publication in pamphlet form in the manner 
provided by law. 

PASSED this __ day of ______ 2020. 

AYES: ______________________ __ 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED this __ day of ______ 2020. 

Robert J. Lovero, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul , City Clerk 

Published by me in pamphlet form this ___ day of ______ , 2020. 

Margaret Paul, City Clerk 

4 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

PARCEL 1: LOTS 13 TO 18 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 7 FEET OF SAID LOTS 
DEDICATED FOR STREET) AND LOT 19, TOGETHER WITH EAST AND WEST 
VACATED ALLEY LYING SOUTH AND ADJOINING LOTS 13 TO 18 AND LYING 
NORTH AND ADJOINING THE WEST 155 FEET OF LOT 19 IN BLOCK 1 IN KLIMAS 
SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN THE PARTITION OF THE WEST 51.49 ACRES 
OF THE WEST % OF THE NORTHWEST '.4 AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE 
EAST % OF THE NORTHWEST '.4 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 
13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

PARCEL 2: LOTS 20 AND 21 IN BLOCK 1 IN KLIMAS SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 
AND 2 IN THE PARTITION OF THE WEST 51 .49 ACRES OF THE WEST % OF THE 
NORTHWEST '.4 AND THE EAST 41 ACRES OF THE EAST % OF THE NORTWEST 
'.4 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS: 6737-6747 W. CERMAK ROAD, 2207-2211 S. OAK PARK 
AVENUE AND 2215-2219 S. OAK PARK AVENUE, BERWYN, ILLINOIS. 

PINS: 16-30-200-001, 16-30-200-002, 16-30-200-040, 16-30-200-041, 16-30-200-005, 
16-30-200-006, 16-30-200-019, 16-30-200-020 and 16-30-200-021. 



EXHIBIT B 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION 

(ATTACHED) 



STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 

) 
) SS 
) 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

I, Margaret Paul, Clerk of the City of Berwyn, in the County of Cook, State of 
Illinois, do hereby certify that the attached and foregoing is a true and correct copy of 
that certain Ordinance now on file in my Office, entitled : 

ORDINANCE NO. ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAN FOR A 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT/SPECIAL USE WITHIN THE C-2 TRADITIONAL MIXED
USE ZONING DISTRICT AT THE ADDRESSES COMMONLY KNOWN AS 6737-6747 

W. CERMAK, 2207-2211 S. OAK PARK AVENUE, AND 
2215-2219 S. OAK PARK AVENUE - GW CERMAK OAK PARK, LLC 

which Ordinance was passed by the City Council of the City of Berwyn at a Regular City 
Council Meeting on the _ day of , 2020, at which meeting a 
quorum was present, and approved by the Mayor of the City of Berwyn on the _ day 
of , 2020. 

I further certify that the vote on the question of the passage of said Ordinance by 
the City Council of the City of Berwyn was taken by Ayes and Nays and recorded in the 
minutes of the City Council of the City of Berwyn, and that the result of said vote was as 
follows, to-wit: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

I do further certify that the original Ordinance, of which the foregoing is a true 
copy, is entrusted to my care for safekeeping, and that I am the lawful keeper of the 
same. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of 
the City of Berwyn, this _ day of ,2020. 

City Clerk 

[SEAL] 



r 
I 

W[v~~~~rl~~~~~~~:r1 ,-, , --- -i 1 , , , , , , 
1-~_-4--11 

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 
J-,.",,"",..,...,~../.4 -lIIi I j , , , , , , , , , , , , 
\-I-t';"";;':"~~-lIlll i , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , .i 
1--1--1--1 , , , , , , 

. l: 
~~~~~~~~. " ~±;;;~r;;'~": ttl I> I -II h : 

, " 

I-f--+-!'\ 

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 

FT~,"-r~~~~~~~~~~~----f' , , , 

, , , 
! 1 ~ 
I : !i . 
: : [lj '~ 
I I...J' 

: : ~ S : :~ ., 
I 'W ~ 

---~J N 



The City of Berwyn Jeanine L. Reardon 
3rd Ward Alderman 

March 4, 2020 

To: Mayor Robert] Lovero 
City Council Members 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Re: Youth Crossroads Spring Service Trip 

Dear Mayor Lovero and City Council Members: 

r-( 

Youth Crossroads is a vital thread in the tapestry of our city. As an organization, they have 
nurtured and supported our children for decades. Year after year, they make a difference in the 
kids who, in turn, make a difference in Berwyn. They do that by providing challenging perspective 
changing opportunities in the city, but also far beyond our boundaries. 

This year, one such opportunity is in Chattanooga, TN. Eighteen local teens and four adult sta ff 
members will travel during spring break (March 29-April 5) to volunteer at Booker T. Washington 
and Red Clay State Parks. Chattanooga is beautiful country, historic country. The foorhills of 
southern Appalachia provide a natural wilderness and a vastly different world view. 

I urge City Council to continue our deep and long-standing commitment to this organization in 
general and particularly with these students present tonight. They are certainly our future, but more 
importantly they are our present health, vitality and hope. They are seeking our help to reach 
their remaining $3250 goal by March 23. 

My recommendation is that we each pledge a portion o f our individual Aldermanic funds to 
support these young people and this wonderful organization. 

Respectfully, 

Jeanine L. Reardon 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402-0701 Voice Mail: (708) 749-6403 
3rdward@berwyn-il.gov 



The City of Berwyn Jeanine L. Reardon 
3rd Ward Alderman 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

March 5, 2020 

To: Mayor Robert J Lovero 
City Council Members 

Re: Denial of Superzone Parking Designation for 3000 Block of Maple 

Dear Mayor Lovero and City Council Members: 

On February 11, 2020, a recommendation for superzone parking on the 3000 Block of Maple 
Avenue was put forward . I requested a deferral until the March 10th council meeting to investigate 
the particular situation and needs of this block. 

The results of tills investigation showed several things that suggest that parking shortage is not the 
clllef concern. The block already has elevated restrictions "Resident Parking Only from 7pm to 
6am." The block has 19 private driveways. Frequent drive tllroughs during different times over the 
past three weeks show abundant parking available. (pictures attached) 

This block had a significant crinllnal incident early last fall that has rightfully produced fear and 
justifiable sa fety concerns. I have requested information regarding the history of reported crimes 
and resident concerns from Chief Cimaglia. I recommend ti,e implementation of randonllzed but 
intentional police presence in tills neighborhood and tl1roughout the city (to do necessary 
paperwork and still be able to freely and actively address emergency calls) to begin to address 
these concerns. 

Because this is not a parking issue but instead a safety issue, my recommendation is to deny the 
request and not revise Chapter 484.02 of the City Ordinance. 

Respectfully, 

Jeanine L. Reardon 

6700 West 26111 Street Berwyn. lIIinoi s 60402-0701 Voice Mail: (708) 749-6403 
3rdward@berwyn-il.go\l 





The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 
February 11 , 2020 

To: Mayor Robert J . Lovero & City Council Members 

From: Nicole Campbell , Senior Engineer 

Re: Superzone parking on the 3000 block of Maple Avenue 

T-I 
Nicole L. Campbell 

Senior Engineer 

I t ill; 
j-3 

DATE ---2 - (1- Zo ZCJ 

D:<D:~ __ +D-'--
~~~~.Z6-

City staff had received a petition for superzone parking on the 3000 block of Maple Avenue. On-street 
parking is limited on this block due to the numerous driveways and overflow parking from neighboring 
establishments. 68% of households were in favor of the implementation of a superzone and understand 
the costs of additional passes required for guests. 

Recommendation: City staff recommends implementing superzone parking for this block. 

Sinc~rely, 

Nicole Campbell, Senior Engineer 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn, Ill inois 60402-070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 www.berwyn-il. gov 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 
February 11 , 2020 

To: Mayor Robert J. Lovero & City Council Members 

From: Anthony Bertuca, City Attorney 
Nicole Campbell, Senior Engineer 

Re : Revisions to 484.02 Superzone Decals 

Anthony T. Bertuca 
City Attorney 

If I' rh J - L(-
DATE -~71 /% 74-

D~~ 1;;--
0 - LO - UZ(;I -
/}~.--. 

--- iJ 

Council approved to implement superzone parking on the 3000 block of Maple Avenue. Attached is the 
ordinance for Council approval. The ordinance will go into effect July 1" in order to coincide with vehicle 
sticker sales. 

Sincerely, 

~{t.~ 

6700 West 26\11 Street Berwyn. Illino is 60402· 0701 Te lephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax (7DS) 788-2567 www berwyn-il gO\ 



THE CITY OF BERWYN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE 
NUMBER 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUPERZONE PERMIT PARKING AND 

AMENDING SECTION 484.02 OF THE TRAFFIC CODE OF THE 

CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF BERWYN 

ROBERT J. LOVERO, Mayor 

MARGARET PAUL, City Clerk 

CYNTHIA GUTIERREZ, Treasurer 

JAMES "SCOTT" LENNON 

JOSE RAMIREZ 

JEANINE REARDON 

ROBERTFEJT 

CESAR A. SANTOY 

ALICIA M. RUIZ 

RAFAEL AVILA 

ANTHONY NOWAK 

Aldermen 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Berwyn, illinois on 
February 11, 2020 



ORDINANCE NO.: ___ _ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUPERZONE PERMIT PARKING AND AMENDING 

SECTION 484.02 OF THE TRAFFIC CODE OF THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF BERWYN 

WHEREAS , the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City ") is a home rule 

municipality pursuant to Section 6(a), Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of 

Illinois, and as such may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 

government and affairs (the "Home Rule Powers" ); and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council of the City of Berwyn (the "Corporate 

Authorities") has adopted a Traffic Code, which has been amended from time to time; 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities recognize that parking regulations are important to 

the fabric and safety of the community and must be upheld ; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities determine that it is in the best interests of the 

residents of the City to amend the Codified Ordinances as set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois, by and through its Home Rule Powers, as follows: 

Section 1: Section 484.02, Superzone Decals is hereby amended to read as follows 

(with proposed additions underlined and proposed deletions striskeA): 

Section 2: If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be 

held invalid , the invalidity thereof shall not affect any of the other provisions of this 

Ordinance. 



§ 484.02 SUPERZONE DECALS 

(A) A resident who lives along the block directly adjacent to the particular sides of 
the streets in the blocks described in division (C) hereof, and who purchases a city 
vehicle license as required by Chapter 462 , shall be furnished with a SuperZone parking 
permit decal to be devised and issued by the City Collector and which is to be distinctive 
for each described area or zone. 

(8) SuperZone parking permit decals issued under this section shall be combined 
with the vehicle license (vehicle sticker) required by Chapter 462. 

(C) The following shall be the particular and distinct areas or zones for which a 
SuperZone parking permit decal shall be issued to residents living in the areas or zones 
under this section : 

(1) Residents living on Euclid Avenue from Thirty-Fourth Street to Ogden 
Avenue; Wesley Avenue from Windsor Avenue to 34th Street; Thirty-Third Street from 
Euclid Avenue to Clarence Avenue; and Thirty-Fourth Street from Oak Park Avenue to 
Euclid Avenue; 

(2) Residents living on Grove Avenue from Thirty-First Street to Thirty-Second 
Street; 

(3) Residents living on Home Avenue from Cermak Road to Riverside Drive; 

(4) Residents living on the east side of Wesley Avenue and on the west side of 
Euclid Avenue, both from Fourteenth Street to Fifteenth Street, residents living on the 
east side of Maple Avenue from Fifteenth Street to Sixteenth Street, and residents living 
on the west side of the 1500 block of Maple Avenue from the alley south to Sixteenth 
Street (7133 W. Sixteenth Street); 

(5) Residents living on the south side of Windsor Avenue from Harlem Avenue 
to Wenonah Avenue and on Maple, Wisconsin and Wenonah Avenues from Windsor 
Avenue to Thirty-Fourth Street; 

(6) Residents living on Kenilworth Avenue from Windsor Avenue to Thirty-
Fourth Street; 

(7) Residents living at 6839 West Thirty-Fourth Street and at 6901 West Thirty-
Fourth Street; 

(8) Residents living at 3249 Kenilworth Avenue and 3251 Kenilworth Avenue; 

(9) Residents living on both the east and west sides of Maple Avenue in the 
1600, 1800, 1900 and 2100 blocks; 



(10) Residents living on Wenonah Avenue from Fifteenth Street to the alley 
lying north of Sixteenth Street; 

(11) SuperZone permit parking shall be provided on the west side of Grove 
Avenue from the alley north of 34th Street to 3326 Grove Avenue; and on the east side 
of Grove Avenue from the driveway north of 34th Street to the driveway 100 feet to the 
north (3347 South Grove Avenue); and 

(12) Residents living on Clarence Avenue from Cermak Road to Twenty-
Third Street. 

(13) Residents living on Wesley Avenue from Twenty-Fifth Street to Twenty-
Sixth Street. 

(14) Residents living on Elmwood Avenue from Sixteenth Street to 
Eighteenth Street. 

(15) Residents living on Grove Avenue from the alley south of Roosevelt 
Road to Thirteenth Street. 

(16) 
32nd Street. 

Residents living on Elmwood Avenue from Windsor Avenue south to 

(17) Residents living on 32nd Street from Gunderson Avenue east to 
Ridgeland Avenue. 

(18) Residents living on Windsor Avenue from Gunderson Avenue east to 
Ridgeland Avenue. 

(19) 
Avenue. 

Residents living on 24th Street from Home Avenue east to Clinton 

(20) Residents living on Cuyler Avenue from the east-west alley south of 
Ogden Avenue to 35th Street. 

(21) Residents living on Maple Avenue from 30th Street to 31 st Street. 

(0) There shall be restricted residential parking on the 1600 Block of Wesley 
Avenue from Sixteenth Street south to Eighteenth Street, and designated as "Resident 
Parking Only" with special zone stickers required for all cars parked on the street. 



Section 3. All ordinances, resolutions, motions or orders in conflict with this Ordinance 

are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage, approval 

and publication as provided by law. 

Adopted by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois this 

___ day of 2020 , pursuant to a roll call vote, as follows: 

YES NO ABSENT PRESENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

Fejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

TOTAL 

Approved by the Mayor of the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois on this day 

of 2020. 

ATTEST: 

Margaret Paul 
CITY CLERK 

Robert J . Lovero 
MAYOR 



Mayor 
Robert J . Lavero 

February 27, 2020 

ER 

Executive Direclor Joseph Vallez 

North Berwyn Park District 
1619 S. Wesley Avenue 
Berwyn, 111inois 60402 

Dear Executive Director Vallez, 

EN 
"Serving with Pride " 

Chief of Police 
Michael O. Ci maglia 

I have received your request to conduct the annual Easter Parade Saturday April II, 2020 between the 
hours of I 0:00am and II :OOam. I have also received the parade route that you intend to follow, 
beginning at Jefferson School at 16th Street and Wenonah Avenue and proceeding east on 16th Street to 
Oak Park Avenue, then north on Oak Park Avenue to 15th Street and Prairie Oak School. 

The City of Berwyn, through the Berwyn Police Chief, Michael D. Cimaglia, grants permission and 
authorizes the procession of the Easter Parade. The Berwyn Police Department will also provide 
Police Explorers to assist with the event and the necessary number of Auxiliary Police Officers to 
secure the parade route and make sure that the procession moves along in a safe manner; in accordance 
with Berwyn City Ordinance 1020.05. 

I have included a copy of Reverend Morales's original letter of request. 

Michael D. Cimaglia 
Chief of Police 
Berwyn Police Department 

6401 Wrst 31" St Berwyn, It. 60402 - F: mrrgrnry 9-1-1 -708-795-5600 - Fax 708-795-5627 
"w\\ .ben' ynpoLict.'dcparl ment .{'om 



F<brunT)' 4 . 20~O 

rhe: lIonllrJ blc Robt:r1 J Lovt::m 
Mayor 

City Council 
Cily of Berwyn 
6700 W 26" Streel 
HerwYII It. 60402 

SUBJECT: Easler Pardde 

The Nonh Bern')'1l Park Distnci appreciates the continued working relationship wlIh the City of 13crwyn 
I he! ieve our cooperative working relatiunshlp has improved the quality of life for our rcsidcnl s. 

-nle park district aunually o tTers Easter themcd activities Ihal arc attended b) ovcr 1500 residents, this 
) cars aClivilies are scheduled for Saturday. April II . 2020 . The day Sians wilh Ihe NBPD Easier egg 
hU1I1 al I 0:00am. Ihe EaSIer EGGstravaganza al II :OOam alld our EaSier baskel delivery al I :30pln. 

The park district would like to conduct our 7th EaSIer parade Ihis year starting al 16th and Wenoo:th thaI 
would proceed caSllo Oak Park Avenue then lum nonh 10 Pralnc Oak School on 15'" and Oak Park 
Avenue . The parade would begin al approximalcl} IO:15am and .... ould lake approximately 30 mmutes to 
walk to 1 51h and Oak Park Avenue. 

' )11t parade partiCipants would conSist of fa.n ilies, children, local C\mmlUruty organizations and of (:ourse 
the Easter Bunny. The district would also like to invlle all the members of the city council 10 par1icipalc 
with our families in this special inaugura l event. 

The purk district is requesting approve I from the ci ty of BerwYIl for temporary closure of 16111 street alld 
Oak Park Avenue from 161h 

10 141h Street for the duration of lhe parade as well as the support from the 
Berwyn police and fire: department s, respecllvl!ly. -lne distnci would have our staff and bamcadt.:s 
aViiilabJe for this day. 

t: if I can provide additiona l informOit ion. 

C Vallez 
live Direclor 

I 
I 



)",, 

~'<A~ @""" ,~ 
Jr. '" CITY OF BERWYN EVENT APPLICATION 

Pleas£' provide mformation about youI' planned eVEnt 

Date of Event : _ A~r t I , 2020 Time . Start 

Type : Bloc. Par ty 0 P,j/ade g Open At! Event 0 Use of Pubhc Way 0 
Descrip tIOn of Event : 

1I ... d .... "' .. 1 
II"'MI" !f1'M 

",II 01",. l.tlllJ 

S.r.MIC I I~IJ 

--, --------~ 
Name of Applicant . _-,rY,-=:><..lr_t"-",-=_I<,=<"".!.r"'---'=1r,~,-,;.I'_"-"-(~_-_...:\\-'-'t,,,,-t,-,--r ':..:' ~:..~ ___________ _ 

fu, <.., Il.c:rw 1'~ 1'- Daytime Ph one : 
\ 

" ~p'. ,) '-{ h; " ,v :3iih E-marl Address : .,jI .... J lc:.:Z. e. 
-- -""' All. Phone::.:-=======:::::::.::::==== 

Do you plan to use l ive Or Recorded g Sour,o EquIp / 0 Bounce Houses o r 0 
Mu SIC Amphfl€1 ~ InOatable s 

CommerCial food 0 
,Please mark all thai apply) 

food Vendors 0 
Prep [ qUlpment 

Cr after / Vendor::. 0 Alcohol Sales 0 Portable Toitet~ and 0 
SanitatIOn __________ ~ _______ • .::....:.....=:c...:..:.=:..:.::... 

Will you requ ire any of the following City servire s' Yes ~ No 0 
• Please (ontact th e Police Dept 

tor lef> ~chedule If Street 0 
Rolline 

0 ParOide Roulle' 
Str~~t Alley Clo1uu~ 0 ~ reque sting PO! I ({~ Detail or Closure 

Closure 
Closure 

SeClHltV ---- - - ---
• Police "·Berwyn Public 

• • These (uy service!. !.upp lJ ed Binlcad~s 0 Detail/ ~ 
TraffIC 0 lib rat';' Book Peddl~r 0 ConUol 

on IV If available on the day 
Security (Bike) 

of th~ event and subject to "Fire Truck ~ · · McGruff 6a ··K·9 Unit 0 " Police 
131 

personnel avallabllllV fkptor~rs Unit 
----

City Council Approval IS REQUIRED for VDur event. (City (oun,,1 meet!. Ihe 2nd & 41h Tuesday of elo'erv month) 

• Submit this application to the Clerk', Office 8 weeks prior to the event date, 

• A Cert ificate of Insurance is required for Parades, Outdoor Evenl s, Use of Public Way, as well as for 

all food and beverage sales . 

o A Food licens.e is required from the Berwyn Publ ic Health Department fo r All food sales . 
• A City of Berwyn Temporary liquo r license is required for All alcoholic beverage sales 
• A route map must be submitted with th is application for all parades / demon~tration s . 

• USE OF PUBLIC WAY: Provide a l ist of '"terseclions/ corner locat ions and all dates being requested for 

use of public way . Location and Date availability IS. subject to approval. Use of public way IS limited to 
one group per day. one group per location, and on a First Come - First Serve basis. 

• The City reserves the right to regulate, restrict and limit use of the public way at all times. 

---=---------- - -----
CoO (Ierk ] /2020 



Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

February 27, 2020 

Reverend Hugo Morales, Pastor 

Saint Mary of Celie Parish 

1428 S. Wesley Avenue 

Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Pastor Morales, 

R 
"Serving with Pride" 

E 

Chief of Police 
Michael O. Cimaglia 

I have received your request to conduct the annual religious ceremony honoring the Stations of the Cross, on 

Good Friday April 10, 2020 between the hours of 1:00pm and 3:30pm. I have also received the parade route 

that you intend to follow, beginning at Saint Mary of Celie Parish on 15th Street between Euclid Avenue and 

Wesley Avenue and traveling west on 15th Street to Euclid Avenue; North on Euclid to 13th Street; East on 

13th Street to Wesley Avenue; South on Wesley Avenue to 15th Street and then west back to the front of Saint 

Mary of Celie Parish. 

The City of Berwyn, through the Berwyn Police Chief, Michael D. Cimaglia, grants permission and authorizes 

the parade honoring the Stations of the Cross on Good Friday. I also grant permission for the Parish to erect 

" NO PARKINNG" signs in the requested designated areas. The Berwyn Police Department will provide the 

necessary number of Auxiliary Police Officers to secure the parade route and make sure that the procession 

moves along in a safe manner; in accordance with Berwyn City Ordinance 1020.05. 

I have included a copy of Reverend Morales's original letter of request . 

Michael D. Cimaglia 

Chief of Police 

Berwyn Police Department 

6401 West 31" St n""'YII, IL 60402 • Emergenc), 9·1·1 ·708·795·5600 - Fax 708·795·5627 
"ww.bcr\\ ,'npolicedepartment.com 



ST. Y1ARY OF CELLE 

1·12S S. lVe, le> fl\< • I:k ,.,,>n, Illinois 60402·12R7 • 70~· 788 ·0876 

Fcbruan 10. 2020 

Ms. Margaret Paul. Cit) Clerk 
City of Bem) n 
6700 \\'. 26" Street 
l3em') n, I L 60402 

J)ear Ms. Paul. 

As in previous years. I am \\ riting \\ ith a special request for Good Friday, April 10,2020. Once 
again. St. Mary of Celie is having a Wa) of the Cross procession and \\'ou ld like permission 10 

walk t\\'o blocks in the streets near parish property. This year. we would like to stan at the 
church at 15'" & Euclid. \I alk nonh on Euclid to 13'" Street. turn east and walk a block to Wesle\ 
A,·enu,'. then lUrn south and \\alk hack to IS'" Streel. -

\VI/! are al so requesling permission 1O ha\ e the perimeter aroulld St. 1\1ary of CelIe be designated 
353 "no parking" area c1uring the e,cnl. \\hich \\ould take place from I :00 pm 10 3:30 pm. It 
\\ould also be helpful if the Cit) \\ould assist us with traflic control (to stop cars from driving 
through) at all designated corners. 

Please let me kno\\ if)ou need uny further information. 1 hank )OU for ) our consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Rev. Hugo Morales 
Pastor 



CITY OF BERWYN EVENT APPLICATION 

Please provide informat ion about your planned ellent : 

Date of Event . Apr; I 10 .2020 Time: Start / :00 P"" End 3 .'30fWl &oclf&!tH 
I!.:.t.I!o 5PfJI 

.:.11 Otll&. i" ~tnh 

Type : Block Party 0 Parade rgr Open Air Event 0 Use of Public Way 0 IS AMu> I:PM 

Descript ion of Eve nt: Geo'/' Frid,,'f Wilt Y t>£ 1b '- CrQsS 
T",. blQcl<~ ", ~ ... M f u;""tf,! of PA rd /" , (. 

Loution of Event : L$-fh +P. "-. ',1':'> ii 'f>.' f P ... ,.1"#1 -t . ,:!-f>, .- /,Jul • .., -' 1S'.f. I W<J' "'y 

,1' .... ~ • ." 

N a me of Appitca n t: ~'R",e."'-V.:..' -.!.ti!.:."'J'?J'<-o-,-t1.!..!Q<.!.r.!:J"''-'-{=~''-+-' -,R",e<c:::m~r-<.. --"'-~ T.:...:...,. .!..M..LC!""r7r'----"'~..1£-"'-(e~lfe"__ 
Address : IY:<tr 5 . WU("Y Alit: J BuwYr1 Daytime Phone: { 7Dt)-Uf'-oJ'7{' 

E·mai l Address: r;: credo (!. Sfml'tl ,,{cd/r .or< Alt . Phone: 

Do you plan to use. live or Re::orded ~ Sound EqUIp I 131 :!ouI")ce House~ or 0 
(Please mark. all that ap;l ly) 

Music Amp'ifiers I nf latab! ~s 

Food Vendors 0 Cornmt'rcial Food 0 
Pre p. Equipment 

Crafter I Vendors 0 Alcohol Sales 0 Portable Toi lets and 0 
SanitatIon 

W '" you req ui re any of the following City services' Yes ~ No 0 

Street 0 
Closure 

Rolling 

Street o Alle v Closu re 0 P.arade Route 

Closure 
Closure 

• Ptease contact the Potrce Dept. 

for fte schedule if 

requesting POliCE Deta il or 

Security. 

• • These Cuy services suoplied 

on iv it available on t "'Ie day 

of the event and suoJe::t to 

person '"lei avallablhty 

Barricad es 0 
·Pollce 

Detail/ 
Security 

o TraHic t:::::t 
Control 101 

"Berwyn Public 
library Book Peddler 0 

(Bikol 

"Fire Truck 0 "McGruff o ··K·9 Unit 0 "'Police 
Explorers Unit 

City Council Approval.S REQUIRED for your event. (City Council meets the 2nd &4th Tuc i da.,. of every mon~h) 

• Submit this application to the Clerk '. Office 8 weeks prior to the event date. 

• A Cert if icate of Insurance is requ ired for Parades. Outdoor Events. Use of Public Way, as well as for 
all food and beverage sales . 

• A Food License is requ ired from the Berwyn Public Health Department for ALL food sales. 
• A City of Berwyn Temporary Liquor License is required for ALL alcoholic beverage sales. 
• A route map must be submitted wi th this application for all parades I demonstrat ions. 

o 

• USE OF PUBLIC WAY: Provide a list of intersect ions/ corner locations and all dates being requ est ed for 
use of public way. location and Date ava ilabi lity is subject to approval. Use of public way is limited to 
one group per day, one group per location, and on a First Come - First Serve bas is. 

• The City reserves the right to regulate, restrict and limit use of the public way at all t imes. 

CoB Cler~ 1/ 312020 



Thomas A. Hayes 
Fire Chief 

Kris A. Coniglio 
A ssistant Fire Chief 

BERWYN FIRE DEPARTMENT 
6700 W. 26" St., Berwyn, IL 60402-0701 

708-484-1644 

Honorable Mayor Lovero & Members of City Council, 

T-5 

Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

March 4, 2020 

I am requesting permission to contact the Police and Fire Commission to recommend the hiring 

of the next qualified candidate on the Firefighter/Paramedic eligibility list. This is a replacement position 

due to a resignation and is included in the 2020 budget. 

Respectfu lIy, 

Thomas A. Hayes 
Fire Chief 



The City of Berwyn 

March 10, 2020 

Margaret M. Paul 

City Clerk 

City of Berwyn 

6700 w. 26th Street 

Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Re: 20 I 9L004 I 14 

Dear Ms. Paul: 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Anthony T. Bertuca 
City Attorney 

T-b 

Please put this item on the March 10, 2020 agenda authorizing the settlement of the above referenced 

matter for the total of $165,000.00 based upon City Council authority granted in Executive session, on 

March 10,2020. 

Very truly yours, 

Anthony T. Bertuca 
City Attorney 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn. Il li nois 60402·070 I Telephone: (708) 788 ·2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 www.bcrwyn-il.gov 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Date: March 10, 2020 

To: Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
Members of City Council 

Robert P. Schiller 
Director of Public Works 

Re: Authorization to request proposals for landscaping maintenance in the four commercial corridors. 

Staff is requesting authorization to request proposals for landscaping and maintenance for the four commercial 
districts. The following is the scope of services requested for each of the corridors; 

• Weekly grass cutting, string trimming and edging from April 13th through July 10'h, bi-weekly from July 
20th through August 28th, then weekly from August 31 st through November 20th, 2020. As a part of 
each grass cutting event all yard waste is to be picked up and properly disposed of by the contractor. (all 
debris must be picked up prior to each grass cutting) 

• Trimming and bi-weekly weeding of trees, shrubs and bushes planted in planters and planter boxes. 
• Removal of waste and debris from all trees, planters and planter boxes. 
• Fertilizing weed control and watering of all grass and plants to ensure healthy growth. (notify Public Works when 

completed) 
• Removal of weeds and monthly application of vegetation killer in all paver bricks and concrete walkway areas as 

indicated on the attached map. 
• All public trash receptacles shall be emptied and bags replaced weekly on Mondays and Fridays during 

the duration of the contract. 

Bids will be due at 10:00 a.m. March 19,2020 and opened and read aloud at City Hall. I will prepare a 
tabulation of bids and a recommendation to award will be presented at the March 24, 2020 Council 
meeting for review and approval. 

Recommendation: 
Authorize the Public Works Director to seek proposals for commercial corridor landscaping for the 2020 mowing 
season. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Robert Schiller 
Public Works Director 

I Public Works Drive Berwyn, Illinois 60402-070 1 Telephone: (708) 749-65 10 Fax: (708) 749-9503 www.bernryn-il.gov 



The City of Berwyn 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Date: March 5, 2020 

To: Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
Members of the Berwyn City Council 

Subject: 2020 Appropriation Ordinance 

Benjamin J. Daish 
Finance Director 

j-g 

Please find attached, the 2020 appropriation ordinance which includes the 2020 budget document. 
The budget document was also distributed to the Members of City Council at the February 25, 2020, 
Committee of the Whole meeting. An adopted ordinance must be filed with the County by March 
31 51 of each year. 

Recommendation: City Council to adopt the attached 2020 appropriation ordinance. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Benjamin J. Daish 
Finance Director 

6700 West 26~ Street Berwyn,lIl1nois 60402·0701 Telephone: (708) 788·2660 Fax: (700) 788·2567 www.berwyn·i1.gov 



ORDINANCE NO. 

THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BERWYN, 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2020 

WHEREAS, the City of Berwyn, Cook County, Illinois (the "City") is a home rule 
municipality pursuant to Section 6(a), Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of 
Illinois, and, as such, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs ; and 

WHEREAS, the Codified Ordinances of the City of Berwyn and Section 8-2-9 of 
the Illinois Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/8-2-9) require the adoption of an ordinance within 
the first quat1er of each fiscal year, to be termed the atmual appropriation ordinance, 
appropriating such sums of money as are deemed necessary to defray all necessary 
expenses and liabilities of the municipality and which specifies the objects and purposes 
for which these appropriations are made and the amount appropriated for each object or 
purpose (the "Annual Appropriation Ordinance"); and 

WHEREAS, as required by applicable law, notice of a public hearing on the 
proposed Annual Appropriation Ordinance was published in a newspaper published in the 
City at least ten (10) days before the time of the public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, such public hearing was held on March 10, 2020, with all wishing to 
speak being heard; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with applicable law, City staff prepared a proposed 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance or a formally prepared appropriation or budget document 
upon which this Ordinance is based, which has been and is currently conveniently available 
for public inspection in the office of the City Clerk; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council have reviewed the Annual 
Appropriation Ordinance for fiscal year 2020 and have determined that said appropriations 
are in the best interests of the City and its residents; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council 
of the City of Berwyn, County of Cook, State of Illinois, in the exercise of the City'S home 
rule powers, as follows: 

SECTION 1: That the above recitals and legislative findings are incorporated 
herein and made a part hereof, as if fully set forth in their entirety. 

SECTION 2: The following sums of money for each City fund , or as much thereof 
as may be authorized by law, be and are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes 
and objects of the City hereinafter specified for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 
2020 and ending on December 31,2020. 



SECTION 3: All the appropriations herein made for any purpose shall be regarded 
only as a maximum amount to be expended under the respective appropriation funds , shall 
not be construed as a commitment, agreement, obligation or liability of the City, and each 
such appropriation being subject to further approval as to the actual expenditure thereof by 
the Mayor and City Council of the City. 

SECTION 4: To the extent allowed by applicable law, any unexpended balance of 
the appropriations for the fiscal years prior hereto are hereby specifically re-appropriated 
for the same fund purposes for which they were originally made and may be expended in 
making up any insufficiency in any item or items provided in this Ordinance without 
supplemental appropriation. 

SECTION 5: The sums as set forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein, or so much thereof as may be authorized by law and needed or deemed necessary, 
are hereby appropriated to defray and pay all necessary expenses and liabilities of the City 
and such appropriations are hereby made for the objects and purposes as set forth in Exhibit 
A. 

SECTION 6: The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to publish this 
Ordinance in pamphlet form or in a newspaper of general circulation within the City within 
thirty (30) days after its adoption. The City Clerk is further authorized and directed to file 
a certified copy of this Ordinance with the Cook County Clerk within thirty (30) days of 
its adoption and the Chief Fiscal Officer of the City is authorized to certify to the Cook 
County Clerk that the Estimate of Revenues by Source, incorporated herein by reference, 
is a true statement of said revenues, which Estimate of Revenues by Source shall also be 
filed with the Cook County Clerk within said thirty (30) day period. The officers, 
employees and/or agents of the City shall take all actions necessary or reasonably required 
to carry out, give effect to and consummate the intent of this Ordinance and shall take all 
actions in conformity therewith. The officers, employees and/or agents of the City are 
specifically authorized and directed to draft and disseminate any and all necessary forms 
to be utilized in connection with the terms and purpose of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 7: [fany section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall 
be held invalid, the invalidity thereof shall not affect any of the other provisions of this 
Ordinance. 

SECTION 8: All ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such conflict. 

SECTION 9: Any non-preemptive state statute in conflict hereof with this 
Ordinance is hereby superseded to the full extent of such conflict pursuant to the exercise 
of the home rule powers oflhe City. 

SECTION 10: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage, 
approval and publication as provided by law. 

2 



ADOPTED thi s 10th day of March, 2020 pursuant to a roll call vote as foll ows: 

YES NO ABSENT PRESENT 

Lennon 

Ramirez 

Reardon 

Fejt 

Santoy 

Ruiz 

Avila 

Nowak 

(Mayor Lovero) 

TOTAL 

APPROVED thi s 10th day of March, 2020. 

Robert J . Lovero, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

Margaret M. Paul , City Clerk 

3 



EXHIBIT A 

4 



2020 
Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1,2020 



The City of Berwyn Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

A Century of Progress with Pride 
6700 West 26th Street Berwyn. Illinois 60402·0701 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-2567 

www.berwyn-il.gov 

Scott Lennon 
Jose Ramirez 
Jeanine Reardon 
Robert Fejt 
Cesar Santoy 
Alicia Ruiz 
Rafael Avila 
Anthony Nowak 

Robert Lovere 
Cynthia Miranda 
Margaret Paul 
Ruth Volbre 
Anthony Bertuca 
Regina Mendicino 
James Frank 
Tammy Sheedy 
Thomas Hayes 
Michael D. Cimaglia 
Charles Lazzara 
Anthony Martinucci 
Robert Schiller 
Benjamin Daish 

2020 Annual Budget 

Members of the City Council 

Administrators 

Alderman , 1st Ward 
Alderman , 2nd Ward 
Alderman , 3rd Ward 
Alderman , 4th Ward 
Alderman, 5th Ward 
Alderman, 6th Ward 
Alderman, 7 th Ward 
Aldermen , 8th Ward 

Mayor 
Treasurer 

Clerk 
City Administrator 

City Attorney 
Director, Community Development 

Director, Information Technology 
Director Library Services 

Fire Chief 
Police Chief 

Director, Building Department 
Director, Recreation Department 

Director, Public Works 
Director, Finance 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Report Prepared By 

Finance Department 

Table of Contents 

Description 

Organizational Chart 

Description of Budget Process 

Budget Message 

Budgetary Structure 

Community Profile 

Description of City Funds and Accounting Structure 

Budget Summary - All Funds 

General Fund Summary 

General Fund Revenues 

Significant Expenditures and Expenses 

General Fund Expenditures 

General Fund Department Budget Narratives and Expenditures 
General Government 

Office of the Mayor 
Office of the City Administrator 
Office of the City Clerk 
Office of the Treasurer 
City Council 
Legal Department 
Finance Department 
Information Technology 

1 

2 

3 

4-5 

6-7 

8 -10 

11 - 12 

13 

14 - 21 

22 - 27 

28 

29 - 31 
32 - 34 
35 - 37 
38 - 39 
40 - 42 
43 - 45 
46 - 48 
49 - 51 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Public Safety 
Fire Department 
Police Department 
Fire and Police Commission 

Building & Neighborhood Affairs 
Public Works 

Streets & Fleet 
Economic Development 

Zoning Board 
Committee and Planning 

Culture and Recreation 
Recreation 
Community Relations 
Senior Services 

Other City Departments 

Special Revenue Funds 
library 
Community Development 
Foreign Fire Tax 
Motor Fuel Tax 
South Berwyn TIF 
Harlem TIF 
Roosevelt TIF 

Capital Projects Fund 

Debt Service Fund 
Expenditures 

Berwyn Securitization Corporation 
State & Local Tax Revenues/Debt Service Expenditures 

Proprietary Funds 
Utilities Fund 
Parking Garage Fund 
Internal Service Fund 

Appendix A: Glossary 

52 - 54 
55 - 59 
60 - 61 
62 - 63 

64 - 66 

67 - 68 
69 - 70 

71 - 72 
73 - 74 
75 - 76 
77 - 78 

79 - 81 
82 - 85 
86 - 88 
89 - 90 
91 - 92 
93 - 94 
95 - 96 

97 - 98 

99 - 100 

101-102 

103-105 
106-107 
108-109 

110-112 



City of Berwyn 
Citizens of 

Berwyn 

1 
I I 

Treasurer Mayor Aldermen City Clerk 

Ubra'Y City City 
Board Administrator Anomey 

I I I I I I I 
Ubra'Y IT Building COBG Public Finance Fire Police Recreatton Community Senior 

WorI<s Director Director Director Director Dtredor Director Chief Chief Director Relations Services 

I 1 
BHght Benefits Collectors Water 

Coordinator Administrator OIIIce Dept 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Description of Budget Process 

The City uses the following procedures in establishing the budget. 

• The Mayor submits to the City Council Members a proposed operating budget 
for the fiscal year commencing on January 1. The operating budget includes 
proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 

• Public Hearings are conducted by the City to obtain taxpayer comments. 

• Subsequently, the budget is legally enacted through the passage of an 
ordinance. 

• Formal budgetary control is at the department level in the general fund or fund 
level for all other funds. 

• Budgetary authority lapses at year end. 

• State law requires that "expenditures be made in conformity with the budget." 
Transfers between line items in cost centers may be made by administrative 
action. Any amount to be transferred between cost centers would require 
Council approval 

• Budgeted amounts are originally adopted, with the exceptions of Council 
approved budget amendments which are reflected in the financial statements. 

2 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1,2020 

2020 Budget Message from Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

I have had the pleasure of serving as the Mayor of Berwyn since first being elected in 2009. 
During this time, my focus has been to provide a high standard of services and amenities to the 
residents of the City of Berwyn while working to ensure the City's long-term financial viability. In 
close collaboration with the department heads and employees, we have worked diligently to bring 
before you the attached budget which reflects conservative spending and revenue projections. 
As such, we are pleased to submit a fiscally balanced budget for City Council 's review. 

Looking forward, we will continue to create solutions to address the City's inherited financial 
issues including the unfunded pension liabilities while adapting to various events of external 
financial uncertainty. 

We have maintained our liquidity goals in the Fund Balance providing us with fiscal security to 
address any unforeseen emergencies, and we are making significant progress with our plan to 
fully fund the Police and Fire pensions as required per state law. Additionally, we have provided 
a balanced plan that addresses our overall bond indebtedness. 

Finally, this budget reinforces Berwyn's historic balance between neighborhood issues and 
responsible economic development. Our strategic economic development efforts will continue to 
invigorate our neighborhoods and commercial corridors elevating Berwyn's notoriety as a premier 
community to shop, dine, and raise a family. 

Please join me in supporting these initiatives by voting in favor of this proposed budget. 

Respectfully, 

Robert J . Lovero 
Mayor 

3 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Budgetary Structure 

Funding of Operations 

For 2019, the City passed a balanced General Fund Budget where revenues slightly 
exceeded expenditures. For 2020's budget, the City with the help of the department 
heads, have dissected all budget line items to identify potential cost savings and revenue 
increases in order to balance its budget. As such , the 2020 General Fund budget 
estimates revenues exceeding expenditures by approximately $6,000 resulting in a 
balanced budget. The General Fund budget remains balanced without significantly 
increasing property taxes or reducing crucial City services such as police, fire and public 
works. These City services serve as the backbone of any strong community. 

Maintaining Required Reserve Levels 

Per the City's Fund Balance Policy, the General and Library Funds are to maintain an 
unassigned fund balance (an amount that is not earmarked for any specific purpose) that 
is at least 16% of the following year's expenditure budget. For 2019, the General Fund 
is expected to exceed the 16% statutory reserve requirement. The projected ending fund 
balance of $12.3 million represents 22% of the 2020 General Fund expenditure budget. 

The Library expects to utilize the past surpluses for staffing needs initially planned for in 
2017 and 2018. Also, expected costs for capital improvements planned in 2019 will need 
to be completed in 2020. As such , the expected expenditures would exceed the revenues 
by about $193,000 and $411 ,000 respectively in 2019 and 2020. 

Combined with the surpluses for 2017 and 2018 ($532,000 and $414,000 respectively) , 
the estimated 2019 Library Fund balance of $1 .7 million remains strong at 44% of the 
2020 budgeted expenditures. 

The main objective of the 16% fund balance requirement is to allow the City and Library 
to operate for the first two months of the year while waiting for the first installment of 
property taxes to be received in March. This would allow the City to meet its financial 
obligations without enacting short-term borrowing to cover costs prior to the receipt of 
property taxes. 

As a result of the General Fund maintaining its fund balance at favorable levels, the City 
continues its focus on exploring new ways to grow fund balance despite the various 
challenges it faces with existing revenue streams and expenditure commitments. In 
addition, the City also strives to reduce its current debt burden and minimize future 
interest costs . 

4 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Budgetary Structure 

For the City to remain strong financially, responsible fiscal decision-making remains 
critical to allow for effective funding of operations and long-term obligations including 
pensions. 

While continuing to make significant financial progress, the City will continue to diligently 
build a foundation for fiscal stability without forfeiting critical functions such as public 
safety and public works. 

5 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Community Profile 

Berwyn, "The City of Homes" and a Centennial City, was incorporated June 6, 1908. Back 
then , Berwyn's population was approximately 5,000 and the community was established 
from a settlement called LaVergne on the south side and a portion of Oak Park on the 
north. It was mainly farmland with few roads and much unoccupied land between the first 
homes being built. 

During the 1920's and 1930's, the time of Berwyn's largest residential development, many 
solid brick bungalows were built. That housing stock, along with the variety of homes 
built through the 1940's, established Berwyn's reputation as a stable, family-oriented 
community. According to the US Census Bureau, the City's population as of July 2018 is 
estimated to be 54,917 and Berwyn proudly boasts the largest collection of Chicago-style 
bungalows in the nation, as well as a substantial stock of multi-family apartment buildings 
and condominiums. 

Location is one of Berwyn's greatest assets. It is less than ten miles west of Chicago's 
main business district, the "Loop," and is situated between two major expressways, the 
Eisenhower (1-290) to the north and the Stevenson (I-55) to the south . Berwynites have 
the convenience of railroad and bus transportation to Chicago and all its surrounding 
suburbs. METRA commuter railroad trains run directly through the heart of Berwyn's 
"Depot District," and the suburban PACE bus system serves all the main streets of the 
City. Residents and visitors find it easy to drive to and from the Chicago area's two main 
airports, O'Hare Field and Midway. 

Berwyn takes great pride in the cultural diversity of its residents. A large numbers of 
Czechs and Slovaks were part ofthe original settlers of the City, along with many Italians, 
Greeks, Poles, Yugoslavians, and Ukrainians. In more recent years, many people of 
Latino, African , and Asian decent have settled in the City. Berwyn values its proud 
reputation as a residential community of working-class families. It is composed mainly of 
hardworking families merged with young professionals and individuals who practice a 
variety of religions and lifestyles. 

The City has thriving business districts featuring retail , din ing , and service-oriented 
businesses. Loyola University Medical Center, formerly known as MacNeal Hospital, and 
Turano Baking Company are two of the largest employers, along with Berwyn's municipal 
government. 

Schools, churches, parks and recreation are all-important in Berwyn. The public school 
system consists of elementary school districts #98 and #100 and Morton High School 
District #201 , along with Morton Community College located in neighboring Cicero. 
Those schools are complemented by two parochial schools, St. Odilo and St. Leonard , 
which serve students from kindergarten through eighth grade. 

6 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Community Profile 

More than one dozen public parks and community centers afford a wide variety of 
recreational opportunities. The Berwyn Park District and the North Berwyn Park District, 
along with the Berwyn Recreation Department, a department of the City, provide 
recreation programs that involve all categories of sports for all ages as well as a swimming 
pool, a multitude of playgrounds, tennis courts, picnic I play areas , and well-maintained 
green spaces throughout the City. 

Berwyn is home to many community service organizations that meet the needs of all 
residents. Many of these non-profit organizations receive funding through a Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG). Berwyn operates the CDBG as a fund separate from 
city government and several employees oversee its administration . The Berwyn 
Development Corporation (BDC) is a 501 (c)3 corporation established to work closely with 
the City to assist in administering the tax increment financing districts (TIF districts) to 
benefit businesses and residents and improve the City's economic status. The BDC also 
serves as a chamber of commerce for the City and operates a variety of programs that 
benefit residents and businesses alike. 

Public safety is a top priority in Berwyn, and the City has a thriving police department and 
three very active fire stations. The City boasts a regular, full-time fire department with 
more than 80 employees. The police department is well-staffed with more than 100 sworn 
police officers , as well as an auxiliary police department and an active group of citizen 
volunteers. 

The Berwyn Health Department operates independently of the City as part of the Berwyn 
Township and serves the entire Berwyn area to meet the public health needs of the 
community. The City of Berwyn's full-time Public Works Department fulfills the 
responsibilities of maintaining the City's streets and infrastructure and operates the water 
and sewer utilities as an enterprise fund. Other utilities that serve the City's residents, 
such as garbage collection , are operated privately under city contracts. 

Berwyn's city hall is located at 6700 W. 26th St. , Berwyn, IL 60402. The main phone line 
is (708) 788-2660. Berwyn's city government consists of the mayor, city clerk, city 
treasurer, eight aldermen, and a city administrator, all of whom preside over the city 
departments that serve the needs of everyone who lives, works, or visits Berwyn. 

7 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Description of City Funds and Accounting Structure 

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis offunds, each of which is considered 
a separate accounting entity. The City's fiscal year is the calendar year. As required by 
Illinois Statutes, budgets are adopted for the City's funds, which are classified and defined 
as follows: 

The City has established the General Fund and the Debt Service Fund as the major funds 
for the purpose of financial reporting. The General Fund is always established as a major 
fund. The determination of other major funds is made by the following calculation : If 
assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures in any specific fund account for 10% or more 
of the total assets, liabilities , revenues, or expenditures in all governmental funds, then 
these funds are considered major. 

Governmental Fund Types 

These are the funds through which most of the functions of the City are financed . These 
funds are budgeted on a modified accrual basis of accounting. The focus of the modified 
accrual basis of accounting is on available spendable resources; that is, the flow of 
resources into and out of the organization in providing services. The reported fund 
balance of the City represents a measure of these resources. Under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Available 
means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay 
liabilities of the current period . Expenditures, other than interest on long term debt, are 
recorded when the liability is incurred, if measurable. Following are the City's 
governmental funds: 

General Fund -

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all 
financial resources , except those required to be presented in another fund. The General 
Fund encompasses all of the primary functions for the City including: general government, 
police , fire , public works, economic development, senior services and culture and 
recreation . 

Special Revenue Funds -

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources 
that are designated or legally restricted to expenditure for specified purposes. Special 
revenue funds utilized by the City include the following : 

Library Fund - Used to account for all resources and expenditures related to the Berwyn 
Public Library. 

8 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Description of City Funds and Accounting Structure 

Motor Fuel Tax Fund - Used to account for the operation of street maintenance programs 
and capital projects as authorized by the Illinois Department of Transportation . Financing 
is provided from the City's share of gasoline taxes. 

Harlem, Roosevelt. and South Berwyn Tax Increment Financing (TIFl Funds - Used to 
account for economic development and other projects within the boundaries of each tax 
increment district. The use of these funds is restricted by the project plan and for the 
repayment of principal and interest incurred for these projects. 

CDBG Fund - This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenditures incurred 
under the City's Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. 

Foreign Fire Fund - This fund accounts for the proceeds and spending of the foreign fire 
insurance tax. 

Other special revenue funds that appear in the City's audited financial statements but are 
not budgeted are the Grants Fund, Emergency 911 Fund, and the Asset Forfeiture Funds. 

Debt Service Fund -

The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the repayment of principal and interest on 
long-term obligations. Expenditures are financed through the annual property tax levy. 

Berwyn Municipal Securitization Corporation (BMSC)-

The BMSC Fund was establish as a result of the 2019 Securitization Bond Issue. The 
fund's operation involves accounting for receipts and disbursements pertaining to State 
Income, Local Use, Sales, and Home Rule tax receipts in addition to required 2019 Bond 
payments. 

Capital Projects Funds -

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the 
acquisition of equipment, construction of major capital facilities or other long term 
projects, not reported in the enterprise fund or the TIF funds. 

9 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Description of City Funds and Accounting Structure 

Proprietary Fund Types 

These fund types are used to account for activities funded primarily through user charges. 
The basis of accounting used for budgeting these funds is accrual basis, with the 
exception of depreciation which has not been budgeted for. The focus of accrual 
accounting is mainly upon the determination of net income and the maintenance of 
capital. Therefore, included within these funds are all assets and liabilities associated with 
the fund 's operations. Revenues are recognized under the accrual basis of accounting 
when earned and expenses are recorded as soon as they result in liabilities for benefits 
received, notwithstanding that the receipt or payment of cash may take place in another 
accounting period. For budgetary control purposes, the City also appropriates the capital 
expenditures for the proprietary funds. The City prepares budgets for the following 
proprietary fund types: 

Enterprise Funds -

Enterprise funds are used to account for services that are financed and operated in a 
manner similar to a private business. The intention is for user fees to cover the cost of 
providing services, including depreciation. The City operates the Utility Fund and the 
Parking Garage Fund as Enterprise funds. 

Utility Fund - The Utility Fund is used to account for all costs of providing water, sewer 
and garbage service to the residents and businesses within the City of Berwyn. This fund 
is supported solely by user charges for these services . 

Parking Garage Fund - The Parking Garage Fund is used to account for all costs of 
operating the municipal parking garage in the Depot TIF district. This fund is supported 
by user charges for parking in the garage. 

Internal Service Funds -

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided 
by one department to other departments of the City. 

Insurance Fund - The Insurance Fund is used to account for all costs of providing 
workmen's compensation , general liability, and property coverage for all of the City's 
employees and its equipment. The Insurance Fund then charges a fee to all of the other 
departments of the City based on claims history or other allocation method. 

10 



City of Berwyn 
Budget Summary - All Funds 

2020 Budget 

Seecial Revenue Funds 

Community Foreign Motor 

General Library Development Fire Tax Fuel Ta x S.Berwyn Harlem Roosevelt 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund TIF Fund TIF Fund TIF Fund 

2020 Bud9.et 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 28,759,676 $ 3,392,808 $ $ 52 ,000 $ $ 1,184,742 $ 1,500,000 $ 761 ,006 
licenses and Permits 3,752,000 
Charges for Services 2,251 ,500 
Fines 5,120,000 16,000 
Intergovernmental Revenues 120,000 115,821 1,241 ,581 1,992,900 
Miscellaneous Revenues 3,254,437 750 45,000 
Other Financing Sources 12,940,889 

Total Revenues 56,198 ,502 3,525,379 __ 1,241,581 52,000 2,037,900 1,184,742 1,500,000 761,006 

Expenditures 
General Government $ 5,460,315 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Public Safety 41 ,610 ,332 52 ,000 
Public Works 6,631 ,526 842 ,601 1,992 ,900 
Economic Development 228,347 318,480 688 ,375 1,125,035 331,587 
Culture and Recreation 2,262,395 3,935,876 80,500 
Garbage 
Debl Service 173,163 15,000 

Water and Sewer 
Municipal Garage 
Claims expense 
Other Financing Uses 536,167 286,825 

Total Expenditures 56 ,192,915 3,935 ,876 1,241,581 52,000 1,992,900 1,224,542 1,298,198 633 ,412 

Surplus I (Deficit) 5,587 (410,497) 45,000 (39,800) 201 ,802 127,594 

Projected Beginning Fund Balance 12,303,856 1,720 ,076 232,159 62 ,066 2,305,328 121 ,697 (217 ,672) 168,906 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance $ 12,309,443 $ 1,309,579 $ 232,159 $ 62,066 $ 2,350,328 $ 81,897 $ (15,870) $ 296,500 

11 



City of Berwyn 
Budget Summary - All Funds 

2020 Budget 

Capital Debt Parking Internal Total 

Projects Service BMSC Utilities Garage Service All 
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds 

2020 Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ $ 7,603,161 $ 17,546,857 $ $ $ $ 60,800,250 
Licenses and Permits 45,000 3,797,000 
Charges for Services 17,137,050 130,000 2,253,764 21 ,772,314 

Fines 1,625,000 6,761 ,000 

Intergovernmental Revenues 3,470,302 

Miscellaneous Revenues 1,000 32,000 40,000 3,373,187 
Other Financing Sources 4,672,897 17,613,786 

Total Revenues 12,277,058 17,546,857 __ !~,?94 ,050 215,000 2,253,764 117,587,839 

Expenditures 
General Government $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 5,460,315 

Public Safety 555,808 42,218,140 

Public Works 310,500 9,777,527 
Economic Development 2,691 ,824 

Culture and Recreation 100,000 6,378,771 
Garbage 4,733,880 4,733 ,880 

Debt Service 11,939,550 4,613 ,468 338.788 17,079 ,969 

Water and Sewer 13,682,249 13,682,249 
Municipal Garage 70 ,907 70,907 
Claims expense 2,054,988 2,054,988 
Other Financing Uses 12,933,389 13,756,381 

Total Expenditures 966,308 11 ,939,550 17,546,857 18.154,917 70,907 2,054,988 117,904,951 

Surplus I (Deficit) (966,308) 337 ,508 39,133 144,093 198,776 (317,112) 

Projected Beginning Fund Balance 966,308 1,166,808 2,231,170 10,052,583 9,91 4,501 232,051 41 ,259,837 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance $ $ 1,504,316 $ 2,231 ,170 $ 10,091 ,716 $ 10,058,594 $ 430,827 $ 40,942,725 

12 



City of Berwyn 

General Fund Summary 

2020 Budget 

Requested Budget Change 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 

Balance Balance Projected Bud2et ~et Amount Percent 

Revenues 

Taxes $ 40,747,325 $ 42,067,753 $ 29,872,529 $ 30,086,802 $ 28,759,676 $ (1,327,126) -4% 
Licenses and Permits 3,672,370 3,552,298 3,636,021 3,584,000 3,752,000 168,000 5% 

Charges for Services 1,819,564 1,966,890 2,369,208 1,902,000 2,251,500 349,500 18% 

Fines 5, 152,173 4,914 ,953 5,075,563 4,958,643 5,120,000 161,357 3% 

Intergovernmental Revenues 118,266 122,311 123,466 120,000 120,000 0% 

Miscellaneous Revenues 5,758,578 3,042,748 2,991 ,653 2,677,270 3,254,437 577,167 22% 
Other Financing Sources 183,053 39,019,080 41,007,500 12,940,889 (28,066,611 ) -0'% 

TOTAL REVENUES 57,268,276 55,850,006 83,087,520 84,336,215 56,198,502 (28,137,713) -33% 

Expenditures 

Mavor $ 153,122 $ 162,384 $ 158,537 $ 160,427 $ 166,030 $ 5,603 3% 
City Administrator 456,557 467,889 486,023 550,959 500,890 (50,069) -9% 

Clerk 261,739 259,919 142,093 186,874 244,528 57,654 31% 
Treasurer 46,136 51,177 49,272 53,879 54,232 353 1% 

Council 232,447 265,641 291,252 286,643 300,509 13,866 5% 
legal 1,016,730 1,094,468 733,701 988,345 1,012,890 24,545 2% 
Finance 1,554,902 1,589,531 1,543,440 1,549,797 1,721,226 171,429 11% 

Information Technology 1,246,859 1,316,134 1,289,729 1,326,638 1,346,516 19,878 1% 
Statutory 118,590 217,245 327,927 113,494 113,494 0% 

Fire 12,974,342 13,172,871 28,138,926 28,137,165 14,011,023 (14,126,142) -50% 

Police 24,287,780 25,258,341 40,316,624 40,498,728 27,528,754 (12,969,974) -32% 

FIre and Police Commission 46,528 62,084 92,610 70,368 70,555 187 0% 

Building I Neighborhood Affairs 1,801,435 1,767,070 1,629,243 1,803,500 1,861,483 57,983 3% 

Public Works 7,331,454 4,174,217 4,116,351 4,382,859 4,770,043 387,184 9% 
Zoning 9,532 9,414 7,702 15,847 15,847 0% 

Committee and Planning 210,811 202,075 172,312 215,000 212,500 (2,500) -1% 
Recreation 1,633,247 1,549,911 1,580,180 1,603,409 1,679,898 76,489 5% 
Community Relations 5,383 5,383 4,968 6,783 6,783 0% 
Senior Services 402,630 456,231 488,458 483,995 575,714 91,719 19% 

Bond Issuance 500,000 (500,000) -100% 

Transfer to other funds 3,371,116 4 ,513,934 1,489,760 1,400,000 (1,400,000) -100% 

Total General Fund Expenditures 57,161 ,340 56,595,919 83,059, 108 84,334,710 56,192,915 (28,141,795) -33% 

Revenues less Expenditures 106,936 (745,913) 28,412 1,505 5,587 4,082 

Fund Balance Beginning (As Restated) 12,914 ,421 13,021,357 12,275,444 12 ,275,444 12,303,856 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 13,021 ,357 $ 12,275,444 $ 12,303,856 $ 12,276,949 $ 12,309,443 

13 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1,2020 

Revenue Streams 

The City relies on a variety of revenue streams to fund services. Many of these revenues 
are subject to economic fluctuations. 

Property taxes -

Property taxes are levied upon all City property owners at a calculated rate per $1 ,000 of 
assessed property valuation on both real and personal property. The tax levy is 
established by the City by December 31 each year to be collected the year after. Property 
taxes are collected by the County in two installments, the first in March and the second 
as early as August and as late as November. The second installment bills are based on 
the previous December's levy. However the first installment collection is based on the 
levy from two years before. The chart below summarizes the General Fund's reliance on 
property taxes. 

Summary of General Fund Property Taxes 
Projected Budgeted 

Revenue Year 2018 2019 2020 
~ 2017 2018 2019 

Property Taxes 
Total Revenues 
% 01 total 

$ 21 ,227,338 
55,850,006 

38% 

$ 21 ,684,366 
83,087,520 

26% 

$ 22,344,726 
56,198,502 

40% 

The % is significantly lower in 2019 due to the City accruing for $30 million in bond 
proceed revenue used for Police and Fire pension funding. The 2018 and Budgeted 2020 
%'s (38% and 40% respectively) provide a better indication of the City's reliance on 
property taxes. 

14 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Revenue Streams 

The General Fund receives only a portion of the total property taxes levied in the City. 
The chart on below shows the components of the total tax levy for the last two years. All 
information was taken from the levy ordinances net of abatements. 

Composition of Property Taxes 
Revenue Year 2019 2020 
~ 2018 2019 

Corporate 
Fire Pension 
Police Pension 

Total General Fund 
Library 
Bond and Interest 

Total Levy 

$ 

$ 

19,195,765 $ 19,579,680 
1,255,220 1,255,220 
1,509,826 1,509,826 

21 ,960,811 22,344,726 
3,392,808 3,392,808 
7,1 03,161 7,603,161 

32,456,780 $ 33,340,695 

The City also receives revenue from other types of taxes. The amounts of these taxes 
and the process by which they are accrued and received by the City are described below. 

State Income/Local Use Taxes 

Income tax is a state shared tax that is distributed on a per capita basis and is based on 
the average income statewide. This revenue account fluctuates annually depending on 
economic conditions. Use Tax is a sales tax due to purchasers that were not charged by 
sellers when the items were initially bought. 

1% State Sales and Home Rule Sales Taxes-

The City receives two types of sales taxes, one from the state and another from a sales 
tax imposed through the City's home-rule status. The state sales tax is 1 % and the home 
rule sales tax is 1.75%. 

Municipal Utility Taxes -
Electric, telephone and natural gas taxes are all classified as utility taxes. These taxes 
are billed on utility bills as a percentage of the total bill. Local utilities then remit these 
amounts to the City. 

15 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Revenue Streams 
Real Estate Transfer -

Real Estate Transfer fees are accrued based on the sale price of property and remitted 
to the City. This tax is currently levied at 1 % of sale price. 

All Other Taxes-

This revenue type encompasses taxes on liquor sales , gasoline sales, video taxes, and 
miscellaneous taxes. 

The following chart summarizes tax revenue for 2018 through 2020. Amounts for 2018 
are actual, 2019 amounts are projected based on transactions recorded thus far. The 
2020 budget is based on 2019 projections, past years' trends, information provided by 
the Illinois Municipal League, and sales tax data received from the Illinois Department of 
Revenue. 

Summary of Other Tax Revenue 
Projected Budgeted 

Revenue Year 2018 2019 2020 -- -- - -
State Income/Local Use 7,129,677 7,598,961 7,739,962 
1 % State Sales 4,184,732 3,937,820 4 ,788,166 
Home Rule Sales 2,810,011 3,633,859 5,018,729 
Municipal Utility 2,996,948 2,887,300 3,000,000 
Real Estate Transfer 2,317,555 2,064,593 2,250,000 
All other 

,. 
1,401,492 1,156,052 1,164,950 

Total Other Taxes $ 20,840,415 $ 21,278,585 $ 23,961,807 

Total General Fund/BMSC Funds 
Rel.enues $ 55,850,006 $ 96,198,306 $ 60,811 ,969 

Other taxes as a % 
of Total Rel.enues 37% 22% 39% 

16 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Revenue Streams 

Please note that the following revenues are now being received through the newly 
established Berwyn Municipal Securitization Corporation. 

State Income Tax 
1 % Sales Tax 

Local Use Tax 
Home Rule Sales Tax 

As will be explained further in the narrative, the Berwyn Securitization Corporation 
(BMSC) was created primarily as a result of the 2019 Police and Fire pension fund bond 
issue. For comparative purposes, revenues from both the General Fund and BMSC Fund 
are presented. 

The following pages show the details of the 2020 budgeted revenue lines in the General 
Fund. 

17 



Revenue 

Property Taxes 

Other Taxes 

Ucenses and Permits 

Charges for Services 

Fines 

Miscellaneous Revenues 

2017 

Balance 

$ 21 .326.025 

19,421 ,300 

3,672,370 

1.819.564 

5,152,173 

5.758.578 

Intergovemmental Revenues 118,266 

Other Financing Sources 

Total General Fund Revenues $ 57.268,276 

I General Fund Revenue. by Type 

Other Financing 
Sources 
23.03% 

City of Berwyn 

Summary of General Fund Revenues 

2020 Budget 

2018 
Balance 

2019 

Projected 

2019 

Budget 
2020 

Budget 

Requested Budget 
Change 

$ 21 .227.338 

20,840,415 

3,552.298 

1,966,890 

4,914,953 

3,042,748 
122,311 

183053 

$ 55,850,006 

Amount 

$ 21 .684.366 $ 21,960,811 $22,344,726 $ 383,915 

8,188,163 8,125,991 6,414,950 (1 ,711 .041) 

3,636.021 3.564.000 3,752,000 168,000 

2.369.208 1.902.000 2.251 ,500 349,500 

5,075,563 4,958,643 5,120,000 161 ,357 

2,991 .653 2.677.270 3.254,437 5n,167 
123,466 '20,000 120.000 

39,019,080 4' ,007,500 12,940,889 (28.OG6.611 ) 

$ 83,087.520 $ 84,336.215 $56.196.502 $(28.137.713) 

Other Taxes 
11 

Intergovernmental 
Revenues 

0.21% 

18 

Charges for 
Services 
4.01% 

~Fines 
9.11% 

Revenues 
5.79% 

Percent 

2% 

-21% 

5% 

18% 

3% 

22% 

0% 

-68% 

-33% 



City of Berwyn 

General Fund Revenues 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget Change 

Account Number Revenue Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Amount Percent 

Taxes 
100-4000 Taxes - Property Corporate $ 18,899,455 $ 18,585,032 $ 18,986,602 $ 19,195,765 $ 19,579,680 • 383,915 2% 
100-4005 Taxes - Personal Prp Replacement 248,383 212,872 196,404 213,000 213,000 0% 
100-4010 Taxes - State Income/Local use 6,612,784 7,129,677 1,571,799 1,565,816 (1 ,565,816) -100% 
100-4015 Taxes - 1% State Sales/{Sales Tax Rebate) 3,852,290 4,184,732 28,401 52,095 (360,000) (412,095) -791 % 

100-4020 Taxes - Home Rule Sales 2,683,029 2,810,011 191 ,858 153,1 30 (153,130) -100% 

100-4025 Taxes - Municipal Utility 2,994,314 2,996,948 2,887,300 2,975,000 3,000,000 25,000 1% 

100-4030 Taxes - Liquor 174,507 160,586 189,133 155,000 200,000 45,000 29% 
100-4035 Taxes - Real Estate Transfer 1,890,665 2,317 ,555 2,064,593 2,000,000 2,250,000 250,000 13% 
100-4040 Taxes - Gasoline 366,625 378 ,447 358,063 366,000 366,000 0% 

100-4045 Taxes - Parking lot 1,280 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 0% 

100-4050 Taxes - Video 5,594 3,211 3,843 2,100 2,100 0% 
100-4051 Taxes - Video Gaming 588 ,858 639,870 691 ,059 640,000 740,000 100,000 16% 

100-4060 Taxes - Miscellaneous 2,971 5,306 4 ,510 2,650 2,650 0% 

100-1 8-4000 Taxes - Property Fire Pension 1,181 ,376 1,217,979 1,222 ,638 1,255,220 1,255,220 0% 

100-20-4000 Taxes - Property Police Pension 1,245,194 1,424,327 1,475 ,126 1.509,826 1,509,826 0% 

Total Taxes 40,747,325 42,067,753 29,872 ,529 30,086,802 28,759,676 (1,327,126) -4% 

Licenses & Pennlts 
100-4100 Vehicle licenses - Passenger 1,303,102 1,281,468 1,443,005 1,300,000 1,500,000 200,000 15% 

100-4105 Vehicle licenses - RV 595 383 4,016 500 4,500 4,000 800% 

100-4110 Vehicle licenses - Truck 179,454 184,491 224,306 185,000 225,000 40,000 22% 

100-4115 Vehicle licenses - other 15,694 15,078 16,930 16,000 16,000 0% 

100-4120 Permits - Commuter Parking 115,022 110,722 127,288 126,500 126,500 0% 

100-4125 Permits - Municipal Parking 143,475 134,793 147,550 139,500 147,000 7,500 5% 

100-4130 Permits - Electric 73,574 66 ,355 375 65,000 (65,000) -100% 

100-4135 Permits - Buildin9 175,452 167,998 137,410 165,000 140,000 (25 ,000) -15% 

100-4140 Permits - Local Improvement 732,326 618,570 489,330 646 ,000 490,000 (156,000) -24% 

100-4145 licenses - Business 434,287 629,929 680,323 550,000 720,000 170,000 31 % 

100-4150 licenses -liquor 172,593 200,430 219,898 198,000 250,000 52,000 26% 
100-4160 licenses - Pet Tag 12,628 12,990 11,460 13,000 13,000 0% 

100-4165 Escrow DefauH & Service Charges 212 ,588 50,836 66,715 100,000 50,000 (50,000) -50% 

100-4170 Electric Sign Inspection 37,390 19,540 8,195 19,500 10,000 (9,500) -49% 

100-4175 Certificate of Compliance 64 ,190 58,715 59,220 60,000 60,000 0% 

Total licenses & Penn Its 3,672,370 3,552,298 3,636,021 3,584,000 ~-, 7l5~!99Q 168,000 5% 

19 



City of Berwyn 
General Fund Revenues 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget Change 

Account Number Revenue Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Amount Percent 

Charges for Services 
100-4200 Sale of Gas (from COB pumps) 72,240 82.902 82,276 77.500 73,000 (4,500) -6% 
100-4210 Commuler Parking MeIers 35,150 32.910 31 .714 33.500 33,500 0% 
1()().4240 Recycling Rebate 76.818 64,911 19.217 10.000 (10,000) ·100% 
100-4245 Sidewalk Construction 50,900 42,125 68,260 50,000 75,000 25,000 50% 
1~16-4215 Paramedic Collections 847,779 851,416 1,002,328 875,000 1,000,000 125,000 14% 
1~16-4299 Other Fees for Service 3,972 7,522 5,038 5,000 5,000 0% 
100-18-4299-09 Other Fees for Service CPR Training Fees 285 540 780 500 500 0% 
1()()"20-4299-11 Other Fees for Service Insurance Reports 13,090 14,969 9,424 13,000 10,000 (3,000) ·23% 
1 00-20-4299-13 Other Fees for Service False Alarm Activation 300 
100-20-4299-17 Other Fees for Service Sex Offender Registration 1.705 1,329 1,349 1,500 1,500 0% 
100-20-4299-19 Other Fees for Service Fingerprinting 2,370 2,340 2,630 2,000 2,000 0% 
100-20-4299-21 Other Fees for Service Property Room 14,650 (140) 5,934 8,000 10,000 2,000 25% 
100-20-4299-23 Other Fees for Service Miscellaneous 3,366 10,628 15,133 
100-24-4285 Inspections 121,470 278,530 537,015 285,000 500,000 215,000 75% 
100-30-4255-02 Special Event Revenue National Night Out 350 638 1,775 
100-32-4225 Recreation Revenues 879 1,121 990 1,000 1,000 0% 
100-32-4225-01 Recreation Revenues Athletics 79,017 79,786 85,233 80.000 80,000 0% 
100-32-4225-02 Recreation Revenues Adult Programs 25,037 20,526 23,326 20,000 20,000 0% 
100-32-4225-03 Recreation Revenues Children's Programs 401 ,567 397,434 394,416 370.000 370,000 0% 
100-32-4225-04 Recreation Revenues Pool 36,626 37,412 42 ,344 37,000 37,000 0% 
t 00-32-4225-05 Recreation Revenues Concessions 586 
100-32-4255 Special Event Revenue 455 955 
100-32-4270 Rental Revenue 600 800 250 500 500 0% 
100-45-4255-03 Special Event Revenue Senior Breakfast 3.720 4,366 4,366 1,000 1,000 0% 
100-45-4299 Other Fees for Service 27,673 33,784 34,455 31 ,500 31,500 0% 

Total Charges for Services 1,819,564 1,966,890 2,369,208 1,902 ,000 2,251 ,500 349,500 18% 

Fines 
100-20-4310 Fees · Towing 6,420 7,924 6,855 10,000 10,000 0% 
1~20-4311 Fines· Impound Vehicles 135,600 114,000 148,650 100.000 100,000 0% 
100-20-4315 Fines· Par1c.ing Tickets 1,757,772 1.832,969 1,786,768 1.950,000 1.900,000 (50,000) -3% 
1()()"20-4320 Fines· Cook County Coun 83,005 64,309 40,659 48,500 30,000 (18.500) -38% 
1()()"20-4325 Fines· Local Ordinance 26.540 23,694 32 ,051 25,000 25,000 0% 
100-20-4340 Fines· Compliance Tickets 62.182 64,351 103.126 62,sao 75,000 12,500 20% 
1()()"20-4345 Fines· Red Light Photo Enforcement 2,793.3 13 2,589,826 2.701 ,026 2,517,643 2,600,000 82,357 3% 
100-20-4355-09 Fines· Other Booting 26,800 25,740 43,590 25,000 160,000 135,000 540" 
100-20-4355-11 Fines · Other Cannabis Ticket, 8,230 6,742 9,658 5,000 5,000 0% 
100-24-4325 Fines· Local Ordinance 252,311 185,398 203,180 215,000 215,000 0% 

Total Fines 5,152,173 4,914 ,953 5,075,563 4,958.643 5,120,000 161 ,357 3% 

20 



City of Berwyn 
General Fund Revenues 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget Change 

Account Number Revenue Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Amount Percent 

Intergovemmental Revenues 
1 DO-441 0 State Allotment - Hwy Maint 118,266 122,311 123,466 120,000 120,000 0% 

Total Intergovemmental Revenues 118,266 122,311 123,466 120,000 120,000 0% 

Other Miscellaneous Revenues 

10<l-4400 Grant Revenue 46,889 
100-4690 Interdepartmental Charges 1,204,223 1,318,464 1,2S0,OOO 1,2S0,000 1,2S0,000 0% 
100-4800 Interest Income 71 ,OS7 90,845 164,391 60,000 175,000 11S,000 192% 
l00480S Franchises 440,551 414,726 414,649 415,000 425 ,000 10,000 2% 
100-4810 Cell Tower Rental 358,038 272 ,160 336,384 222 ,000 340,000 118,000 53% 

100-4835 Miscellaneous Revenue 93,930 37,194 31 ,448 35,000 32,000 (3,000) -9% 

100-4840 P Card Rebate (Fifth Third Bank Rewards) 60,634 65,918 42,042 61,500 61,500 0% 
100-18-4250 Reimbursements - Fire 21 ,123 18,369 21 ,875 20,000 320,000 300,000 1500% 

100-18-4265 Sponsorships 81 2,459 5,375 
1 00-18-4400 Grant Revenue - Fire 12,080 31 ,037 55 ,118 3,750 3,750 0% 
100-18-4800 Interest Income - Fire 139 408 494 200 200 0% 
100-20-4250 Reimbursements - Police 74,931 51 ,660 60,138 30,000 30,000 0% 
100-20-4400 Grant Revenue - Police 145,958 217,101 253,095 168,120 205,287 37,167 22% 

100-20-4800 Interest Income - Police 127 224 339 200 200 0% 
100-20-4850 Contributions - Police 3,530 S,390 3,855 4,000 4,000 0% 
100-20-59-4250 Reimbursements" Police 64,361 56,100 55,000 65,000 65,000 0% 

l00-24-42S0 Reimbursements" Building 4,690 6,000 
100-24-4250-01 Reimbursements Buildings 106,155 102,301 80,041 95,000 95,000 0% 
100-24-4250-02 Reimbursements Elevators 7,850 7,250 9,550 7,500 7,500 0% 
100-26-35-4250 Reimbursements - Public \No/1(s " Streets 64,846 232,496 119,517 12S,000 12S,OOO 0% 
100-26-35-4400 Grant Revenue" Public Wo/1(s 2,861 ,011 (1,233) 
100-32-4400 Grant Revenue" Recreation 5,927 
10046-4400 Grant Revenue - Senior Services 17,744 107,938 82,500 110,000 110,000 0% 
10046-4405 Grant Revenue - Senior Services 82,256 

100-46-4850 Contributions - Senior Services 
Total Other Miscellaneous Revenues 5,758,578 3,042,748 2,991 ,653 2,677,270 3,254,437 577,167 22% 

Other Financing Sources 
1004820 Sale of City Property 7,242 7,500 7,500 0% 
1004900 Transfer from Other Funds 8,519,080 10,500,000 12,933,389 
100-490S Capital Lease Proceeds 175,811 
100-4915 Debt Proceeds 30,SOC,OOO 30,500,000 130,SOC,OOO) -100% 

Total Other Financing Sources 183,053 39,019,080 41 ,007,500 12,940,889 128 ,066,611) -68% 

Total General Fund Revenues $ 57,268,276 $ 55,850,006 $ 83,087 ,520 $ 84,336,215 $ 56,198,502 $ (28,137,713) -33% 

21 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Significant Expenditures and Expenses 

The City, like many municipalities , is primarily a service provider. As such the largest 
component of its expenditures and expenses are for salaries, benefits and related 
payments. The City has six unions, one non-represented class and elected officials as 
employees. 

Summary of Expenditures/Expenses by Type 
Projected Budgeted 

Fiscal Year 2018 2019 2020 -------- -- -- -
Salaries 
Benefits 
Capital Projects 
Debt Service 
BMSC 
TIF 
Utility 
Internal Service 
All other 

$ 28,553,602 
19,050,904 

303,435 
27,028,143 

2,290,011 
19,234,767 

1,939,100 
14,977,295 

113,377,257 Total Expenditures ;:..$_~=~~ 

$ 

$ 

29,223,057 $ 31 ,781 ,287 
48,485,539 19,385,270 

63,997 966,308 
8,558,578 11,939,550 

10,859,252 17,546,857 
2,257,136 3,156,152 

18,589,743 18,754,917 
1,845,260 2,054,988 

12,1 52,224 12,319,622 

132,034,786 $ 117,904,951 

Increases in salaries are primarily based upon contractual raises and longevity increases. 

The Benefits expense for Projected 2019 is expected to be about $30 million higher than 
2018 and Budgeted 2020 due to the City's $30 million payment into the Police and Fire 
pension funds. 

As discussed in the Description of City Funds and Accounting Structure section of this 
report, the City has a number of special revenue funds that are not budgeted. Despite 
not being budgeted , a fund of note is the Asset Forfeiture Fund. 

The Asset Forfeiture Fund is a function of the Police Department and revenues are 
received from the Federal Govemment for assets seized that were used to commit 
Federal crimes. Since such revenue streams are unpredictable, budgeted figures are not 
determined . 

In the analysis above as well as in the following tables, benefits include all non-base 
salary and fringe benefit costs. This category includes overtime, health and dental 
insurance, FICA costs , education reimbursements , stipends for education , or clothing 
allowances as well as the costs for pension payments. 

22 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Significant Expenditures and Expenses 

General Fund Expenditures 

The breakdown below illustrates that Salaries and Benefits represent the majority of the 
City's General Fund expenditures. 

Summary of Expenditures/Expenses by Type 
Projected Budgeted 

Fiscal Year 2018 2019 2020 - - -
Salaries $ 25,707,896 $ 26,265,705 $ 28,430,754 
Benefits 16,959,235 46,639,724 17,356,535 

Total Salaries and Benefits 42,667,131 72,905,429 45,787,289 

Total Expenditures $ 56,595,919 $ 83,059,108 $ 56,192,915 

Salaries and Benefits 
as a % of Total 75.39% 87.78% 81.48% 

As explained previously, the General Fund Benefits expense for Projected 2019 is 
expected to be about $30 million higher than 2018 and Budgeted 2020 due to the City's 
$30 million payment into the Police and Fire pension funds. 

23 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Significant Expenditures and Expenses 

Salaries and Benefits 

The following chart summaries the amount of full-time equivalents as budgeted in 2019 
and 2020. 

Mayor 1.50 1.50 
City Administrator 3.50 4.00 
City Clerk 3.00 3.00 
Treasurer 1.00 1.00 
City Council 8.00 8.00 
Legal 2.25 2.25 
Finance 10.00 11 .00 
Human Resources 1.00 1.00 
Information Technology 7.00 7.00 
Fire 82.00 82.00 
Police 186.00 186.50 
Fire & Police Commission 4.00 5.00 
Building/Neighborhood Affairs 15.00 16.00 
Streets 26.50 27.00 
Zoning 6.00 6.00 
Recreation 43.00 43.00 
Senior Citizen's Program 9.00 9.00 
Community Relations 1.00 1.00 
Library 42.00 43.00 
Community Development 3.00 3.00 
Utilities 22.50 22.00 
Asset Forfeiture 2.00 2.00 

Total 479.25 484.25 

The above chart recognizes each of the 11 elected officials and officials appointed to 
commission/board positions as 1 full-time equivalent. Additionally, each of the budgeted 
employees hired by the recreation department to aid in summer activities are calculated 
as a 0.25 full-time equivalent. 

The following three pages summarize cost information for salaries, benefits and total 
costs for the last several years. 

24 



City of Berwyn 
Summary of Salary Expenses 

2020 Budget 
Requested Budget Change 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Change Change 
Function Actual Actual Actual Projected Budget Bu~el Amount Percent 

Mayor $ 79,683 $ 80,699 $ 81 ,202 $ 81 ,913 $ 81 ,205 $ 84 ,409 $ 3,204 4% 
Administrator 239,792 242,127 247,662 228,181 283,095 242,471 (40,624) -14% 
Clerk 95,172 129,413 130,552 84,520 98,549 98,549 0% 
Treasurer 10,000 10,385 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 0% 
Council 80,001 81.924 80,001 80,001 80,000 80,000 0% 
Legal 212,645 214,864 219,214 220,519 219,120 230,486 11 ,366 5% 
Finance 668 ,056 616,256 638,358 637 ,649 668,041 708.430 40,389 6% 
Human Resources 55,220 55,908 58,289 51,646 60,500 62,993 2.493 4% 
Information Technology 427,612 453 ,940 519,876 523,558 463,135 480,728 17,593 4% 

T alai General Government 1,868,181 1,885,516 1,985,154 1,917,987 1,963,645 1,998,066 34,421 2% 

Fire $ 7,295,223 $ 7,268,856 $ 7, 185,227 $ 7,521,477 $ 7,402,634 $ 7,810,744 $ 408,110 6% 
Police 13,049,026 13,389,048 13,311.769 13,665,637 13,702,036 14,972,715 1,270,679 9% 
Fire and Police Commission 20,000 20,000 20,000 19,558 20,000 20,000 .QTh 

Total Public Safety 20,364 ,249 20,677,904 20,516,996 21,206,672 21.124,670 22,803,459 1,678,789 8% 

Building I Neighborhood Affairs $ 533,463 $ 580,687 $ 608,754 $ 608,913 $ 641,098 $ 661 ,255 $ 20,157 3% 
Streets/Fleet 1.459,040 1,628.408 1,562,956 1,522,296 1,656,113 1,845,655 189.542 11% 

Total Public Works 1,992,503 2,209,095 2,171 ,710 2,131 ,209 2,297,211 2,506,910 209,699 9% 

Zoning $ 6,360 $ 5,653 $ 8,745 $ 6,360 $ 6,360 $ 6,360 $ Q% 
Total Economic Development 6,360 5,653 8,745 6,360 6,360 6,360 0% 

Recreation $ 807,022 $ 883,492 $ 809,706 $ 759,957 $ 850,000 $ 850,000 $ 0% 
Senior Citizen's Program 178,801 183,558 210,585 238 ,520 247,474 260,959 13,485 5% 
Community Relations 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 Q% 

Total Culture and Recreation 990,823 1,072,050 1,025,291 1,003,477 1,102.4!4 __ ' _,115,959 13,485 ! % 

Total General Fund Salaries $ 25,222,116 S 25,850,218 $ 25,707,896 S 26,265,705 $ 26,494,360 $ _2~,430,754 S 1,936,394 Z% 

Berwyn Public Library $ 1,485,203 $ 1,419,988 $ 1,441 ,602 $ 1,579,342 $ 1,681 ,659 $ 1,857.110 175,451 10% 
Community Development 160,065 147,572 156,376 156,798 156,797 163,627 6,830 4% 
Utilities 1,223,298 1,203,382 1,247 ,728 1,221 ,212 1,279,337 1,329,796 50,459 4% 

City-Wide Salaries $ 28,090,682 $ 28,621,160 $ 28,553,602 $ 29,223,057 $ 29,612,153 $ 31,781,287 $ 2,169,134 7% 

25 



City of Berwyn 
Summary of Benefits and Related Payments 

2020 Budget 
Requested Budget Change 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Change Change 
Function Actual Actual Actual Projected Budget Budget Amount Percent 

Mayor $ 59,152 $ 62,732 $ 70,592 $ 70,802 $ 67,309 $ 68,888 $ 1,579 2% 
Administrator 122,034 127,386 133,308 169,076 172,633 170,283 (2,350) -1 % 
Clerk 97,445 108,978 114,060 40,272 64,979 76,844 11 ,865 18% 
Treasurer 10,000 69,557 37,349 37,289 38,176 38,224 48 0% 
Council 100,210 120,220 154,813 169,828 169,419 181 ,697 12,278 7% 
Legal 70,197 69,557 70,505 73,124 76,924 83,697 6 ,773 9% 
Finance 394,895 373,856 376,639 357,243 362,004 370,539 8,535 2% 
Human Resources 34,803 34,803 26,068 23,934 26,853 37,092 10,239 38% 
Information Technology 253,221 269,572 277,703 280,957 294,087 308,046 13,959 5% 
Statutory (42 ,930) 64,760 103,370 159,397 7,000 7,000 0% 

Total General Government 1,099,027 1,301 ,421 1,364,407 1,381 ,922 1,279,384 t ,342,310 62,926 5% 

Fire $ 4,572,641 $ 5,014,792 $ 4,902,585 $ 19,807,157 $ 19,919,661 $ 4,938,555 $ (14 ,981 ,106) -75% 
Police 8,165,533 8 ,385,177 8,819,934 23,689,112 24,074,426 9,171 ,184 (14 ,903,242) -62% 
Fire and Police Commission 1,530 3,619 4,140 4,020 1,343 1,530 187 14% 

Total Public Safety 12,739,904 13,403,588 13,726,659 43,500,289 43,995,430 14,111 ,269 (29,884,161) -68% 

Building I Neighborhood Affairs $ 402,091 $ 457,357 $ 471 ,894 $ 410,481 $ 475,476 $ 485,074 $ 9,598 2% 
Streets/Fleet 998,485 985,519 1,041 ,672 1,010,348 1,042,166 1,054,980 12,814 1% 

Total Public Works 1,400,576 1,442,876 1,513,566 1,420,829 1,517,642 1,540,054 22,412 1% 

Zoning $ 405 $ 3,619 $ 669 $ 547 $ 487 $ 487 $ 0% 
Total Economic Development 405 3,619 669 547 487 487 0% 

Recreation $ 273,524 $ 291 ,811 $ 269,618 $ 247,537 $ 264,413 $ 270,754 $ 6 ,341 2% 
Senior Citizen's Program 98,064 98,472 83,933 88,247 90,254 91 ,278 1,024 1% 
Community Relations 383 383 383 353 383 383 0% 

Total Culture and Recreation 371 ,971 390,666 353,934 336,137 355,050 362,415 7,365 2% 

Total General Fund Benefits $ 15,611,883 $ 16,542,170 $ 16,959,235 $ 46,639,724 $ 47,147,993 $ 17,356,535 $ (29,791,458) -63% 

Berwyn Public library $ 836,896 $ 800,500 $ 842,049 $ 830,822 $ 919,601 $ 947,515 $ 27,914 3% 
Community Development 108,964 106,208 106,413 101 ,512 108,687 110,323 1,636 2% 
Utilities 1,033,720 995,303 1,143,207 913,481 983,168 970,897 (12 ,271 ) -1 % 

City-Wide Benefils $ 17,591,463 $ 18,444,181 $ 19,050,904 $ 48,485,539 $ 49,159,449 $ 19,385,270 $ (29,774,179) -61% 

26 



City of Berwyn 
Summary of Total Expenditures/Expenses 

2020 Budget 

Requested Budget 
2017 2016 2019 2019 2020 Change Change 

Fund Actual Actual Projected Budg:et Budget Amount Percent 

General Fund Expenditures $ 57,161 ,340 $ 56,595,919 $ 63,059 ,108 $ 84,334,710 $ 56,192,915 $ (26 ,141 ,795) -33% 

Special Revenue Funds 
Berwyn Public library 2,890,703 3,063,696 3,656,656 3,822,124 3,935,676 113,752 3% 
Community Development 1,662,563 1,329,005 1,161 ,707 1,552,693 1,241 ,581 (311,312) -20% 
Foreign Fire 61 ,570 43 ,366 49,751 57,000 52,000 (5,000) -9% 
Motor Fuel Tax 1,416.736 1,236,620 1,646,249 1,694,734 1,992 ,900 296,166 18% 

Tax Incremental Financing Districts 
S, Berwyn TIF 769,647 733,746 742,607 774,155 1,224,542 450,367 58°/11 
Harlem TlF 513,565 567,671 1,115,265 1,137,479 1,296 ,196 160,719 14% 
Roosevelt TIF 465,005 966 ,392 399,244 431 ,729 633 ,412 201 ,663 47% 

Total TIF's 1,766,237 2,290 ,011 2,257 ,136 2,343,363 3,156,152 612 ,769 35% 

Capital Projects 560,356 303,435 63,997 750,000 966,308 216 ,306 29% 

Debt SelVice 11 ,566,187 27,026,143 6,558 ,576 6,908.403 11 ,939 ,550 3,031 ,147 34% 

Berwyn MuniCipal Securitization 
(BMSC) 10,659 ,252 17,546 ,857 17,546,857 

Utilities 18,626,697 19,234,767 16,589,743 16,017 ,660 16,754,917 737,057 4% 

Parking Garage 273,937 291 ,171 267,347 79,730 70 ,907 (8 ,823) -11% 

Internal Service 1,696,394 1,939 ,100 1,645,260 1,541 ,500 2,054 ,966 513,466 33% 

City-Wide Costs $ 97,910,722 S 113,377,257 S 132,034,786 $ 123,102,317 $ 117,904,951 $ (5,197,366) -4'10 

27 



City of Berwyn 
Summary of General Fund Expenditures 

2020 Budget 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 
Requested Budget Change 

Dept # Expenditures Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Amount Percent 

General Government 
02 Mayor $ 153,122 $ 162,384 $ 158,537 $ 160,427 $ 166,030 $ 5,603 3% 
03 City Administrator 456,557 467,889 486,023 550,959 500,890 (50,069) -9% 
04 Clerk 261 ,739 259,919 142,093 186,874 244,528 57,654 31 % 
06 Treasurer 46,136 51 ,177 49,272 53,879 54,232 353 1% 
08 Council 232,447 265,641 291 ,252 286,643 300,509 13,866 5% 
10 Legal 1,016,730 1,094,468 733,701 988,345 1,012,890 24,545 2% 
12 Finance 1,554,902 1,589,531 1,543,440 1,549,797 1,721 ,226 171,429 11 % 
16 Information Technology 1,246,859 1,316,134 1,289,729 1,326,638 1,346,516 19,878 1% 
17 Statutory 118,590 217,245 327,927 113,494 113,494 0% 

Public Safety 
18 Fire 12,974,342 13,172,871 28,138,926 28,137,165 14,011 ,023 (14,126,142) -50% 
20 Police 24,287,780 25,258,341 40,316,624 40,498,728 27,528,754 (12,969,974) -32% 
22 Fire and Police Commission 46,528 62,084 92 ,610 70,368 70,555 187 0% 

Public Works 
24 Building / Neighborhood Affairs 1,801 ,435 1,767,070 1,629,243 1,803,500 1,861 ,483 57, 983 3% 
26 Public Works 7,331 ,454 4,174,217 4,116,351 4,382,859 4,770,043 387,184 9% 

Economic Development 
28 Zoning 9,532 9,414 7,702 15,847 15,847 0% 
30 Committee and Planning 210,811 202,075 172,312 215,000 212,500 (2,500) -1 % 

Culture and Recreation 
32 Recreation 1,633,247 1,549,911 1,580,180 1,603,409 1,679,898 76,489 5% 
34 Community Relations 5,383 5,383 4,968 6,783 6,783 0% 
46 Senior Services 402,630 456,231 488,458 483,995 575,714 91 ,719 19% 

Other Financing Uses/Other Dept's 
Bond Issuance 500,000 (500,000) -100% 

- Transfer to other funds 3,371 ,116 4,513,934 1,489,760 1,400,000 (1 ,400,000) -100% 

Total General Fund Expenditures $ 57,161 ,340 $ 56,595,919 $ 83,059,108 $ 84,334,710 $ 56,192,915 $ (28,141 ,795) -33% 

28 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Office of the Mayor 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Mayor 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Mayor is the Chief Executive Officer of the City who is responsible for 
providing leadership and ensuring all City ordinances, polices and state laws are 
observed, enforced and current. The Mayor is responsible for appointing all 
Department Heads as well as positions to Boards, Commissions and Committees 
as designated by ordinance. The Mayor presides at the City Council meetings 
voting only in case of a tie with the power to veto. The Mayor is elected at large 
to a four-year term of office. 

The Mayor is responsible for the operation of the City supported by department 
heads that report directly to the Mayor. Policy implementation and direction of all 
department heads is the responsibility of the Mayor. The Mayor prepares the 
executive budget with the Finance Director and key staff for submittal to the City 
Council and the Budget Committee. 

The Mayor or his designee represents the City at all gatherings where City 
representation is required. The Mayor also represents the City in Springfield 
regarding state grants and state policies that may affect the City and is 
considered the contact for all other elected officers of the Federal, State, County 
and other local governments including school and park districts. The Mayor 
represents and advocates on the City's behalf to all organizations and persons 
that consider issues and policies that would affect the future well-being of the 
City. The Mayor is responsible for the development of initiatives and policies at 
the direction of the City Council for the benefit of the City of Berwyn. 

SERVICES: 

..,j,. Represent all residents of the City of Berwyn. 

"*' Implement a strategic plan for the City of Berwyn. 

"*' Communicate with the City Council. In collaboration with the City Clerk, 
the Mayor's office should assure that the agendas for the City Council 
meetings allow for an efficient progress on the issues important to the 
City. The Mayor's office should address Aldermanic concerns. 

29 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Office of the Mayor 

-,j. Communicate with other governmental bodies and agencies. The Mayor's 
office should communicate with Federal, State, County and other 
municipalities, school districts, park districts and other agencies, as well 
as opportunities for the mutual benefit and cooperation of all concerned. 

,j, Provide timely emergency notification to elected officials regarding events 
that may affect City residents. 

30 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Mayor 
12/31/2020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-02-5000 Mayor - Salaries $ 80,699 $ 81 ,202 $ 81 ,913 $ 81 ,205 $ 84,409 $ 3,204 
100-02-5030 Mayor - Unused Buyback 2,192 
100-02-5035 Mayor - Benefits 62,732 68,400 64,643 67,309 68,888 1,579 
100-02-5200 Mayor - Administrative Expenses 4,584 3,998 3,435 7,500 7,500 
100-02-5220 Mayor - Training , Dues & Publications 10 961 1,552 
100-02-5225 Mayor - Supplies 2,946 1,839 1,772 1,000 1,000 
100-02-5235 Mayor - Postage & Printing 522 292 13 845 845 
100-02-5290 Mayor - Other General Expenses 749 1,543 3,425 1,000 1,000 
100-02-5625 Mayor - Copier Maintenance 693 868 785 919 700 (219) 
100-02-5625 Mayor - Internal Service Fund 187 1,089 999 649 1,688 1,039 

Department Total $ 153,122 $ 162,384 $ 158,537 $ 160,427 $ 166,030 $ 5,603 

31 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Office of the City Administrator 

PROGRAM MANAGER: City Administrator 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: The City Administrator, under the direction of the 
Mayor, shall be the chief administrator of the City, and shall be responsible to the 
Mayor for the administration of the affairs of the City and policies adopted by City 
Council. 

The City Administrator may recommend appointments of such assistants, 
department heads, and employees as are necessary, with such 
recommendations to be made to the Mayor pursuant to the annual appointment 
of officers. 

The City Administrator shall have the following powers and duties: 

1. Assist with agenda items for meetings of the City Council and other official 
City Boards and Commissions as directed by the Mayor. 

2. Recommend to the City Council such measures as, in his or her judgment, 
he or she deems to be in the best interest of the City. 

3. Recommend to the Mayor the discipline, suspension or termination of any 
and all City employees, except the City Attorney and when otherwise 
provided by law, and to the extent permitted by law and subject to the City 
Administrator's discretion and supervision , to delegate to any employee 
any of these powers with respect to any subordinates of that employee. 
Pursuant to due process, the Mayor shall retain the final authority 
regarding the appeal by any employee of all discipline, suspension , or 
termination actions. 

4. Propose to the Mayor and City Council such personnel rules and 
regulations as the City Administrator deems necessary to manage the 
personnel of the City. 

5. Direct and supervise the activities of all departments (except legal) , 
offices, and agencies of the City, except as otherwise provided by law, 
and to administer the affairs of the City. 

6. Recommend to the City Council the creating , consolidating , and 
combining of offices, positions , departments or units of the administrative 
and executive departments of the City. 

7. Investigate complaints in relation to matters concerning the administration 
of the City. 

8. Assist the Mayor and Finance Director with the preparation and submittal 
of a recommended annual budget for City operations to include capita l 
programs and administer the approved budget after adoption . 

32 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Office of the City Administrator 

9. Report to the Mayor regarding the administrative activities of the City on a 
regular basis. 

10. Represent the City in its dealings with other governmental agencies and 
officials, businesses, not-for-profit organizations, residents, and the 
general public as necessary. 

11 . Evaluate City projects, programs, agreements and services and make 
recommendations on modifications and improvements thereto. 

12. Perform such other duties as may be required by the Mayor consistent 
with state statutes and the ordinances of the City. 

13. Oversee City Switchboard operation. 

33 



City of Berwyn 

2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

City Administration 

12/31/2020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-03-5000 City Admin - Salaries $ 242,127 $ 247,662 $ 228,181 $ 283,095 $ 242,471 $ (40,624) 

100-03-5025 City Admin - Other Stipend 1,100 1,000 1,000 

100-03-5030 City Admin - Sick Day Buy Back 10,208 12,604 16,368 11 ,379 5,439 (5 ,940) 
100-03-5035 City Admin - Benefits 117,178 120,704 147,479 161 ,254 163,844 2,590 
100-03-5220 City Admin - Training 15,739 16,523 14,620 20,000 10,000 (10,000) 
100-03-5225 City Admin - Supplies 1,109 87 4,905 1,600 1,600 
1 00-03-5235 City Admin - Postage & Printing 522 822 1,698 805 805 
100-03-5290 City Admin - Other General Expenses 12,220 10,264 7,950 9,500 9,500 
100-03-5300 City Admin - Professional Services 55,000 55,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 
100-03-5400 City Admin - Repairs & Maintenance 1,210 109 500 500 
100-03-5405 City Admin - Copier Maintenance 693 868 785 919 700 (219) 

100-03-5625 City Admin - Internal Service Fund 551 3,246 2,937 1,907 5,031 3,124 

Department Total $ 456,557 $ 467,889 $ 486,023 $ 550,959 $ 500,890 $ (50,069) 

34 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Clerk 

PROGRAM MANAGER: City Clerk 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The City Clerk's office is a statutory office. The City Clerk holds an elected 
position and is the "Keeper of the Records," the Official Seal of the City and 
archivist for the City. The Clerk's office is dedicated to meet the requirements 
and deadlines prescribe by City, State, and Federal law to ensure proper function 
of government; to keep the official records of the City Council , such as 
proceedings, resolutions, ordinances, contracts, agreements and all other 
communications of the City Council. Responsibilities include: records 
management, local election administration, legal notification to the public, 
prepares City Council agendas, preparation and retention of official minutes of 
the City Council meetings. Clerk's office also provides administrative support to 
the City Council and its Aldermen , Aldermanic Committees, and the Zoning 
Board of Appeals. Clerk's office also administers all requests under the Freedom 
of Information Act (FOIA), maintains and codifies all local ordinances. 

SERVICES: 

-. Attend and prepare agendas, minutes, maintain records, referrals and 
correspondence for City Council meetings 

... Prepare and post all meeting notices for council and committees 

... Ensures publication of all notices and Treasurers Report as prescribe by 
Law 

... Receives and maintains all sealed bids 

.. Maintain and codify all local ordinances, resolutions 

... Attest, seal and certify documents for the city 

... Administer and respond to all requests for public documents, records, 
(FOIA) requests 

... Administer and maintains oaths of office 

... Notary public, voter registration , assists County Clerk with elections 

35 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Clerk 

.. Oversee City records management, retention and destruction, and the City 
switchboard 

__ Provide block party, block garage sales applications and coordinate for 
council approval 

.. Files required documents with the State and County 

36 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Clerk 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-04-5000 Clerk - Salaries $ 129,413 $ 130,552 $ 84,520 $ 98,549 $ 98,549 $ 
100-04-5010 Clerk - Overtime 457 
100-04-5020 Clerk - Education Stipend 2,115 
100-04-5020 Clerk - Other Stipend 2,400 2,400 257 1,000 1,000 
100-04-5030 Clerk - Sick Day Buy Back 1,273 5,748 
100-04-5035 Clerk - Benefits 103,190 105,912 38,247 63,979 75,844 11 ,865 
100-04-5200 Clerk - Administrative Expenses 1,563 918 4,300 4,500 4,500 
100-04-5220 Clerk - Training , Dues & Publications 2,501 727 4,294 2,500 2,500 
100-04-5225 Clerk - Supplies 2,438 1,074 875 1,500 1,500 
1 00-04-5235 Clerk - Postage & Printing 567 781 474 750 750 
100-04-5290 Clerk - Other General Expenses 541 171 200 2,000 47,000 45,000 
100-04-5405 Clerk - Copier Maintenance 3,948 4,362 4,348 4,500 3,500 (1 ,000) 
100-04-5610 Clerk - Codification 11 ,162 2,930 2,433 4,000 4,000 
1 00-04-5615 Clerk - Record Retention 358 2,483 2,500 2,500 
100-04-5625 Clerk - Internal Service Fund 270 1,861 1,688 1,096 2,885 1,789 

Department Total $ 261 ,739 $ 259,919 $ 142,093 $ 186,874 $ 244,528 $ 57,654 

37 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Office of the City Treasurer 

PROGRAM MANAGER: City Treasurer 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The City's Treasurer is elected by City voters and is directly responsible to the 
people. The Treasurer serves a four year term, concurrent with the Mayor and 
Aldermen, and also attends Council meetings. 

The Treasurer is also responsible for preparation and publication of the City's 
treasurer's report. This report is compiled in accordance with state statutes and is 
required to be filed by June 30 of the following year. 

38 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Treasurer 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-06-5000 Treasurer - Salaries $ 10,385 $ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 
100-06-5035 Treasurer - Benefits 31 ,707 37,349 36 ,053 38,176 38,224 48 
100-06-5225 Treasurer - Supplies 250 250 
100-06-5235 Treasurer - Postage & Printing 4,000 3,500 2,756 5,000 5,000 
100-06-5290 Treasurer - Other General Expenses 150 250 250 
100-06-5625 Treasurer - Internal Service Fund 44 328 313 203 508 305 

Department Total $ 46,136 $ 51 ,177 $ 49,272 $ 53 ,879 $ 54.232 $ 353 

39 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

City Council 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The City Council is the legislative branch of the City government. The City 
Council meetings and Committee of the Whole meetings are the forums for 
review and debate of ordinances, resolutions, directives and policies proposed by 
standing committees, department heads, boards and commissions. The City 
Council determines the use of tax dollars and other funding sources to meet the 
needs of the City; holds public hearings to provide citizen input; participates in 
conferences, forums and meetings of legislative groups and associations; and 
keeps their constituents informed on City issues through ward meetings, 
newsletters and/or public forums. 

The City Council operates on a committee structure with the following Aldermanic 
Committees: Administration ; Budget, Finance & Revenue; Building & Zoning ; 
Human Relations & Housing; Licensing & Taxation ; Outreach ; Police & Fire; 
Public Works, Parking , Trees, Traffic, Streets & Sewers; and a liaison to the 
Library Board . 

In addition to the City Council committees, there are a number of boards and 
commissions that provide policy input to the City Council and are comprised of 
volunteer, citizen members. These boards include the Library Board, Fire and 
Police Commission, Community Relations Commission, 911 Board , Fire and 
Police Pension Board and Zoning Board of Appeals. 

SERVICES: 

~ Represent all residents of Berwyn as well as their respective wards. 

.. Assist constituents with issues and requests relating to City departments 
and services. 

__ Establish the City budget and determine tax levy. 

.. Set City-wide short term and long term goals and policies. 

... Provide advice and consent to Mayor for appointments to committees, 
boards, commissions and department heads. 

... Research in committee and approve ordinances, polices and directives 
that will enhance the quality of life and improve the City of Berwyn. 

40 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

City Council 

... Approve contracts and major expenses through bidding process. 

41 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Council 
12/31 /2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Accou nt Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-08-5000 Council - Salaries $ 81 ,924 $ 80,001 $ 83,924 $ 80,000 $ 80,000 $ 
100-08-5035 Council - Benefits 120,220 154,813 169,828 169,419 181 ,697 12,278 
100-08-5200-01 Council - Ward 1 4,499 4,491 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-02 Council - Ward 2 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-03 Council - Ward 3 4,181 3,771 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-04 Council - Ward 4 2,066 4,460 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-05 Council - Ward 5 4,285 2,330 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-06 Council - Ward 6 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-07 Council - Ward 7 2,218 2,095 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5200-08 Council - Ward 8 3,736 2,902 4,500 4,500 4,500 
100-08-5290 Council - Other General Expenses 65 250 250 
100-08-5625 Council - Internal Service Fund 253 1,778 1,500 974 2,562 1,588 

Department Total $ 232,447 $ 265,641 $ 291 ,252 $ 286,643 $ 300,509 $ 13,866 

42 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Legal Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: City Attorney 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Law Department is an executive level department headed by an Illinois 
licensed attorney appointed by the Mayor and charged with the coordination of 
the legal business of the City, including all litigation and actions filed on behalf of 
or against the City. The Legal Department also supervises the drafting of all 
ordinances, resolutions, deeds, leases, contracts, and other documents required 
by the City, or when requested to do so by the Mayor or Council. The City 
Attorney is authorized by ordinance to render opinions as required by the Mayor 
and Council, perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Mayor or the 
Council , and supervise the duties of the City's appointed prosecutors, litigation 
and corporate council. 

SERVICES: 

-. Acts as legal counsel and parliamentarian at meetings of the City Council. 

-. Drafts and/or reviews local ordinances and resolutions. 

-. Researches and writes legal opinions and memoranda for the Mayor and 
City Council. 

-. Monitors all civil claims, litigation matters, regulatory actions and legal 
expenditures. 

-. Oversees the prosecution of ordinance violations and the administration of 
the City's adjudication program. 

-. Negotiates, drafts , and/or reviews City contracts, leases, and 
indemnification agreements. 

-. Reviews and monitors real estate activity, including issuance of transfer 
stamps, tax exemption filings, property tax appeals, and the sale, lease or 
purchase of public property. 

-. Insures compliance with federal and state regulations. 

~ Provides assistance to other departments as requested. 

43 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Legal Department 

__ Coordinates the review of Freedom of Information requests with the 
Clerk's office. 

__ Reviews and recommends changes to departmental policies and 
procedures. 

'" Reviews all real estate foreclosure transfer fees and lien collections. 

__ Currently the attorney for the Ethics Commission. 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Legal 
12/31 /2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-10-5000 Legal - Salaries $ 214,864 $ 219,214 $ 220,519 $ 219,120 $ 230,486 $ 11 ,366 
100-10-5030 Legal - Sick Day Buy Back 1,338 1,365 1,653 7,025 9,392 2,367 
100-10-5035 Legal - Benefits 68,219 69,140 64,234 69,899 74,305 4,406 
100-10-5110 Legal - Adjudication Program 35,605 27,105 14,088 35,000 35,000 
100-10-5225 Legal - Supplies 1,024 34 1,000 1,000 
100-10-5235 Legal - Postage & Printing 6 3 9 500 500 
100-10-5290 Legal - Other General Expenses 327 25 500 500 
100-10-5300 Legal - Professional Service 694,328 770,377 426,425 650,000 650,000 
100-10-5405 Legal - Copier Maintenance 919 500 (419) 
100-10-5625 Legal - Internal Service Fund 1,019 7,230 6,748 4,382 11 ,207 6,825 

Department Total $ 1,016,730 $ 1,094,468 $ 733,701 $ 988,345 $ 1,012,890 $ 24,545 

45 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Finance Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Finance Director 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Finance Department is responsible for the accounting and financial reporting 
of all City operations and is entrusted with collecting, depositing, and investing all 
City funds. This area includes: maintaining all financial records for the City; 
accounts payable; investment and cash management; coordinating the annual 
operating and capital budget process for all City operations; and the 
administration of the City's payroll processes. 

The City is audited annually by an external independent accounting firm. The 
auditors check the City's compliance with accounting standards and reporting 
along with local, state and federal regulations. Internal controls are reviewed to 
assure the safeguard of assets and to prevent irregularities. The Finance 
Department works throughout the year to ensure that the City is in compliance 
with financial and reporting regulations and ensuring internal controls are 
maintained. 

The Finance Department also encompasses the Collector's Office, which 
oversees the collection of cash receipts. The goals of the Collector's Office are to 
continue to provide prompt, efficient and friendly service to all people who come 
in contact with the office; to provide services in an accurate and professional 
manner; to provide the Finance Department with information in a timely and 
accurate manner; to provide quality service to all ; to strive for self-improvement in 
all areas of responsibility. The Collector's Office is also responsible for the 
issuance of business & contractors licenses, as well as, maintaining and 
updating all of the files for the permits and fees listed above. 

The Benefits Coordinator is responsible for administering the benefit plans for 
City employees and all related reporting issues. 

SERVICES: 

-* Disbursement of funds to vendors 

... Monitor the City's purchasing policies 

-* Processing of payroll checks to all employees 

46 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Finance Department 

,. Verification of employee time in accordance with the City's employee 
handbook and applicable union contracts. 

.. Payment of payroll taxes and preparation of related reports 

~ Preparation of financial information to department heads and elected 
officials. 

.. Coordination of the City's budget for submission to City Council 

~ Preparation of financial information and schedules for the annual audit 

.,. Cash management and investment of City funds 

.,.. Cash collection and daily deposits 

~ Administration of City's debt program 

,. Questions and general assistance for business owners and residents on 
City fees 

... Tracking of payments received and balances owed for adjudication 
programs 

,. Establishing , monitoring and enforcement of City internal controls over 
financial processes and reporting 

.. Liability and workers compensation risk management and claims review 
and processing 

.,. Employee benefit evaluation , insurance review and administration 

47 



City of BerNYn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditl¥es by Department 

Finance 
12131f2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget BUdget ~e 

100-12·5000 Finance· Salaries S 407,602 S 409,382 S 389,629 $ 418,458 S 407,300 S (1 1,158) 
1OQ.12-5010 Finance· Overtime 
100-12-5030 Finance - Sick Day Buy Back 22 ,224 18,006 37,677 19,018 19,018 
100-12-5035 Finance - Benefrts 170,439 170,032 150,191 164,589 156,673 (7 ,916) 
100-12·5215 Finance - Telephone 334 2,500 (2, 500) 
100-12·5220 Finance - Training, Dues, & Publications 4,974 3,680 5,688 5,500 8,000 2,500 
100·12·5225 Finance· Supplies 4,804 4,935 8,976 5,000 5,000 
1OQ.12·5235 Finance· Poslage & Printing 7,724 3,746 2,912 7,500 7,500 
100-12-5290 Finance· Other General Expenses 123,386 142,441 101 ,173 60,000 140,000 80,000 
1 QO..I2·5300 Finance - Professional Services 1,002 580 32. 1,000 1,000 

100-12-5400 Finance - Repairs & Maintenance 
100-12·5405 Finance - Copier Maintenance 1,449 1,646 1,654 2,000 1,500 (500) 
100-12·5625 Finance· Internal Service Fund 1,907 10,415 9,186 5,965 16,143 10,178 

100-12·5800 Finance· Capital Outlay 3,642 1,022 3,000 ,3,000) 
Total Finance 745,845 768,505 708 ,437 694,530 762,134 67,604 

1OQ.12·11-5000 Collectors· Salaries S 208 ,654 S 228,976 S 248,020 S 249,583 S 301 ,130 $ 51 ,547 
1OQ.12-1'-5010 Collectors - Overtime 
100-12·11-5025 Collectors - Stipends 1,300 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 
100-12-11-5030 Collectors - Sick Day Buy Back 12,605 13,223 10,540 6,003 6,003 
100-12-11·5035 Collectors - Benefrts 167,288 174,178 166,166 171,194 187,645 16,451 
10(}'12-11·5220 Collectors - Training , Dues, & Publications 2,402 5,000 5,000 
1OQ..12-11·5225 Coliecto(s - Supplies 2,021 5,433 4,132 5,000 5,000 
100-12·11·5235 Collectors· Postage & Printing 18,i91 12,417 22 ,154 17,500 17,500 
,OQ.12·11-529O Collectors· Other General Expenses 3,209 2,848 788 2,500 2,500 
100-12·5300-03 Collector· Collection Service Fees 232,624 236,407 221 ,960 235,000 235,000 
100-12·5300-04 Finance - Vehicle Registration Service 71 ,439 55,671 83,783 72,500 90,000 17,500 
10012-5405 ColieclO(s - Copier Maintenance 96. 1,177 1,073 1,200 750 {45O) 

Total Collectors 718,900 731 ,530 762,218 761 ,680 851 ,728 90,048 

1 00-14-5000 Benerlts Coordinator - Salaties S 55,908 S 58,289 S 51 ,646 $ 60,500 S 62,993 S 2,493 
100-14-5025 Benefits Coordinator - Stipends.- Other 1,200 1,000 1,200 1,200 
100-14-5030 Benefits Coordinator - Sick Day Buy Back 1,559 2,233 2,782 (2,782) 
100-14-5035 Benefits Coordinator- Benefits 28,454 22,635 18,354 22,871 35,892 13,021 
100-14-5220 Benefrts Coordinator - Training, Dues & Publications 1,1 97 887 1,000 1,000 
100-14-5225 Benefrts Coordinator - Supplies 1,312 2,064 627 2,000 2,000 
100-14-5235 Benefrts Coordinator· Postage & Printing 710 353 28 1,000 1,000 
100-14-5290 Benefits Coordinator· Other General Expenses 675 687 1,500 1,500 
1OQ.14-5625 Benefits Coordinator· Internal Service Fund 342 1,148 1,130 734 1.779 1,045 

Tolal Benefits Coordinator 90,157 89,496 72,785 93,587 107,364 13,777 

Department Total $ 1,554,902 S 1.589,531 S 1,543,440 $ 1,549,797 $ 1,721 ,226 $ 171,429 

48 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Department of Information Technology 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Information Technology Director 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Department of Information Technology is working to put technology to its 
highest and best use throughout City government in order to improve the 
administration of City programs and services. 

The mission of the Department of Information Technology is to provide quality 
information technology (IT) services and solutions to principle users, effectively 
aligning business and technology objectives through collaboration, in order to 
provide the most cost-effective solutions that facilitate and improve the conduct 
of business for our City residents, businesses, visitors and governmental entities. 

This department maintains automated data processing systems to serve all City 
departments. The department is responsible for the integrity of information 
systems utilized by the Finance, Building, Collector, Clerk, HR, Fire, Police, 
CDBG, Public Works, Recreation and Library departments. Additionally, this 
department provides IT support services for the Berwyn Development 
Corporation . 

SERVICES: 

The Department of Information Technology provides technology and services 
that fulfill the City's broad based information technology needs. IT plans resource 
commitments and provides a stable direction for the future. Further, IT strives to 
keep abreast of state-of-the-art innovations in the world of information 
technology. This department has co-responsibility for product purchases and 
development projects, which include initiation , management, and successful 
implementation. Daily duties include the responsibility and authority for review, 
control, Help Desk support, and improvements in such areas as: 

... Desktop Services - Desktop services include functions that directly 
support the use of personal computers, laptops, and hand-held devices. 
This includes the Microsoft Office suite of tools, email, and packaged 
software application support . 

... Web Services - Web services include hosting, designing, and 
administrating the City of Berwyn's external and internal set of websites. 
The website provides timely information regarding all aspects of the City. 

49 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Department of Information Technology 

~ Application Development Services - The IT department provides limited 
application design and development. Application development is used to 
fill in the gaps and integrate various purchased application packages. All 
development, at present, uses Microsoft Access-based technology. 

-. Telecommunication Services - Includes all commercial and/or private 
voice communications systems and devices, commercial voice 
communications carrier services, telephones, Private Telephone Switches 
(PBX), call accounting, and voicemail. All network services from wall plugs 
to services, including wide area network (WAN) and local area network 
(LAN) , broadband fiber and copper systems, and internet services. 

~ Architecture and Infrastructure Services - Selection and management of 
pes, gateways, firewalls, switches, routers, copy machines, fax machines, 
security services, domain name systems (DNS), file servers, print 
services, email systems, web site hosting, database administration, data 
center operations, backup, recovery, and performance planning. 

~ Training Services - Provides city-wide technology related training 
including the Microsoft Office suite of tools, electronic mail, packaged and 
developed application training , and managing the given training areas. 

50 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Information Technology 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-16-5000 IT - Salaries $ 453,940 $ 519,876 $ 523,558 $ 463,135 $ 480,728 $ 17,593 
100-16-5000 IT - Stipends-Other 15,350 15,800 15,600 (200) 
100-16-5030 IT - Sick Day Buy Back 12,328 13,348 19,012 21 ,737 19,994 (1,743) 
100-16-5035 IT - Benefits 257,244 264,355 247,223 256,550 272,452 15,902 
100-16-5210 IT - Vehicle Gas & Oil 737 1,500 1,000 (500) 
100-16-5220 IT - Training, Dues, & Publications 233 500 4,631 1,500 1,000 (500) 
100-16-5225 IT - Supplies 3,143 4,575 4,270 2,500 3,000 500 

100-16-5235 IT - Postage & Printing 340 
100-16-5290 IT - Other General Expenses 47,872 45,044 52 ,832 72,000 72,000 
100-16-5300 IT - Professional Service 18,013 9,768 15,778 20,000 25,000 5,000 
100-16-5300 IT - Repairs & Maintenance 2,500 1,000 (1 ,500) 
100-16-5410 IT - Hardware Maintenance 44 ,187 40 ,181 47,077 37,500 41 ,000 3,500 
100-16-5415 IT - Software Maintenance 29,642 30,403 28,734 27,500 25,000 (2,500) 
100-16-5415 IT - Equipment Lease 19,018 19,018 19,018 19,019 (19,019) 
100-16-5510 IT - Hardware Purchases 66,784 58,420 64,849 80,000 80,000 
100-16-5515 IT - Software Purchases 26,238 37,399 26 ,786 35,000 30,000 (5,000) 
100-16-5530 IT - Network Infrastructure 266,773 263,644 211 ,960 265,000 265,000 
100-16-5625 IT - Internal Service Fund 1 ,444 8,866 8,311 5,397 13,742 8,345 

Department Total $ 1,246,859 $ 1,316,134 $ 1,289,729 $ 1,326,638 $ 1,346,516 $ 19,878 

51 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Fire Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Fire Chief 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The department operates three strategically located fire stations, each covering 
about one third of the City. The stations are manned by eighty full-time 
firefighters. Currently we have 41 fully trained Advanced Life Support (ALS) 
Paramedics, and 11 fully trained Basic Life Support (BLS) Emergency Medical 
Technicians. The remaining members are certified at the First Responder level 
for medical emergencies. Our primary response area is divided by two railroad 
right-of-ways. The majority of the personnel work 24 hours on duty followed by 
48 hours off duty. We maintain mutual aid agreements with our neighboring 
communities through the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System (MABAS). Our MABAS 
Division 11 group is affiliated state wide with other MABAS divisions. We are also 
associated with the Illinois Terrorism Task Force. We provide a variety of 
services; some of which are reactive or emergency in nature while others are 
proactive like fire prevention and inspection. 

The Berwyn Fire Department is committed to the following values: 

.... Customer Service: Prompt and professional delivery of service to the 
community is our ultimate commitment. 

.... Safety: Emergency situations create dangerous work environments. 
Safety is our foremost consideration during performance of all tasks . 

.... Teamwork: A team-oriented approach, which promotes excellence in the 
performance of all tasks . 

.... Outreach: Demonstrated by professional partnerships with the Police 
Department and other agencies enhancing delivery of emergency services 
to our community. 

SERVICES: 

At various times, crisis situations occur which can negatively impact persons or 
property in the City. The Fire Department's primary responsibility is "the saving of 
lives and property." To facilitate the accomplishment of these goals, the 
Department members provide such activities as: 

.... Commun ity fire prevention safety talks 

52 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Fire Department 

~ Property conservation 

__ Fire prevention and inspection services 

__ Rescue procedures 

~ Hazardous materials response 

__ Emergency medical services 

__ Pre-incident and disaster planning 

~ Fire investigations 

During the performance of these tasks, the department members will not 
knowingly engage in any behavior which will compromise the safety of its 
members or the citizens to which it provides emergency services. The Berwyn 
Fire Department exists to meet the needs of a wide variety of crisis situations that 
require a quick, efficient and professional response. 

The following station locations serve the City and its residents: 

... Station 1 (South) - 6434 Windsor Ave. 

~ Station 2 (North) - 6615 16th SI. 

__ Station 3 (Center) - 6700 W. 26th SI. 

53 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Fire 
12/3112020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-18-5000 Fire - Salaries $ 7,268,856 $ 7,185,227 $ 7,442 ,251 $ 7,402,634 $ 7,810,744 $ 408,110 
100-18-15-5000 Fire - Salaries for EMS 
100-18-5005 Fire - Out of Class 93,031 95,179 138,171 158,572 158,572 
100-18-5010 Fire - Overtime 498,963 432,180 372,269 305,000 305,000 
100-18-5015 Fire - Uniform Stipend 75,500 74,000 76,500 78,500 77,500 (1 ,000) 
100-18-5020 Fire - Education Stipend 28,250 37,200 28,000 28,000 30,750 2,750 
100-18-5025 Fire - Other Stipend 99,868 97,847 54,648 44,630 41,950 (2 ,680) 
100-18-5030 Fire - Sick Day Buy Back 458,435 299,408 308 ,391 300,000 325,000 25,000 
100-18-5035 Fire - Benefits 2,576,144 2,648 ,792 2,606,439 2,749,739 2,766,957 17,218 
100-18-5040 Fire - Tuition Reimbursement 11 ,088 4,150 5,125 10,000 11 ,125 1,125 
100-18-5045 Fire - Pension 1,184,601 1,217,979 16,222 ,739 16,255,220 1,232,826 (15,022,394) 
100-18-5205 Fire - Utilities 10,246 11 ,144 11 ,702 12,000 12,000 
100-18-5210 Fire - Vehicle Gas and Oil 50,198 78,000 72,847 55,000 55,000 
100-18-5215 Fire - Telephone 7,162 11,413 11 ,661 12,500 10,500 (2,000) 
100-18-5220 Fire - Training, Dues and Publications 36,354 42,513 34,619 47,500 47,500 
100-18-5225 Fire - Supplies 8,211 10,355 16,568 12,000 15,500 3,500 
100-18-5235 Fire - Postage and Printing 1,202 340 436 1,000 1,000 
100-18-5290 Fire - Other general Expenses 32,341 38,660 32,616 42,000 48,000 6,000 
100-18-5300-03 Fire - Collection Service Fees 37,672 40,726 40,390 40,300 150,000 109,700 
100-18-5400 Fire - Repairs and Maintenance 125,099 132,563 147,438 160,000 155,000 (5,000) 
100-18-5405 Fire - Copier Maintenance 2,072 2,472 2,154 2,500 2,500 
100-18-5500 Fire - Equipment Purchases 19,783 30,824 83,373 76,500 76,500 
100-18-5500-01 Fire - Turnout Gear 41,916 38,550 55,438 50,000 50,000 
100-18-5505 Fire - Equipment Lease 223,563 154,571 141 ,733 142,000 142,000 
100-18-5625 Fire - Internal Service Fund 83,787 312,967 233,418 151 ,570 485,099 333,529 
100-18-5800 Fire - Capital outlay 175,811 

Department Total $ 12,974,342 $ 13,172,871 $ 28 ,138,926 $ 28,137,165 $ 14,011 ,023 $ (14,126,142) 

54 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Police Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Chief of Police 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Police Department of the City of Berwyn is dedicated to protecting life and 
property through quality police services based on honesty, integrity, and 
professionalism which are the essential threads of policing . 

As Berwyn changes and evolves, the Police Department is undergoing a 
paradigm shift. Responding to the needs of the community in a timely, courteous 
and professional manner is paramount; however, the need to respond 
professionally to crimes in progress and to thoroughly investigate those same 
crimes with successful prosecution of offenders as the ultimate goal cannot be 
overlooked. 

The attached budget was carefully structured to enable the Department to 
continue to provide a very high level of professional, effective and efficient 
service to the citizens of Berwyn. 

Organization: 

The Police Department executive management team consists of the Chief of 
Police, Deputy Chief of Police, and four Division Commanders. 

The department is divided into four divisions each directed by a Division 
Commander: 

~ Field Operations 

.... Staff Operations 

,.. Administrative Services 

~ Support Services 

Department Description - Field Operations: 

The Field Operations Division is responsible for the administration of all aspects 
of the patrol division which includes supervision of Watch Commanders and 
patrol officers for all three shifts. Departmental training standards for all sworn 
members, as well as new officer recruit and lateral entry officer's fall under Field 

55 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Police Department 

Operations. The Departments Auxiliary Police operations, part time certified 
officers, and secondary employment for all personnel of the Berwyn Police 
Department are all part of Field Operations. 

The Field Operations Division Commander also serves as the Departments 
Liaison for all mutual aid compacts that include NIPAS (Northern Illinois Police 
Alarm System) a regional response team, and ILEAS (Illinois Law Enforcement 
Alarm System) a statewide mutual aid organization . The Field Operations 
Division Commander will also oversee all range and weapons management 
systems. 

Department Description - Staff Operations: 

Community Oriented Policing Strategies are an important component and 
philosophy of the Berwyn Police Department. The Division Commander of Staff 
Operations is responsible for coordinating , directing, and establishing all School 
Safety and Emergency Crisis planning throughout the schools in districts 201 , 
100, and 98. Program oversight also includes our new and highly successful 
Domestic Violence Assistance Program. 

Staff Operations is the entity responsible for maintaining up-to-date department 
standards in all Policy, Procedures, and Department Directives to meet the 
highest professional standards of the Berwyn Police Department. A vital purpose 
of the Division Commander of Staff Operations involves coordinating , planning, 
and training of all Homeland Security initiatives. Homeland Security projects will 
enhance the City and police department efforts to build strong networks and to 
work extensively with other local, state, and federal law enforcement agencies as 
well as public and private organizations in our efforts to secure our nation and 
meet all established NIMS requirements. 

The Division Commander of Staff Services oversees the Youth I Community 
Relations and Services Unit to invoke a strong partnership and interactions with 
the community. It is an organizational strategy of the Berwyn Police Department 
that allows the police and community residents to work closely together in new 
ways to help solve the problems of crime while maintaining a high quality of life 
standard in our neighborhoods 

The Division Commander of Staff Operations will also oversee Department K-9 
operations and training , along with court services, and supervisory management 
and accountability. 

56 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Police Department 

Department Description - Administrative Services: 

Under general direction of the Chief of Police, coordinates the development of 
the operating budget with the Chief and Division Administrators. The Division 
Commander of Administrative Services organizes and manages the Police 
Department budget; including financial analyses, cost recovery programs, 
payroll, grant administration , and conducts on-going research into cost reduction 
measures. The Division Commander will design and administer programs and 
organizational changes from variety of funding sources, and performs 
independent research and special studies involving data collection and analysis 
of departmental operations and structures, including building security and 
maintenance, and human resource management. 

The Division Commander of Administrative Services prepares a wide variety of 
written reports and project overviews that include special projects for publication 
and/or submission to outside organizations. Performs or participate in 
comprehensive management analyses of police department policies, also serves 
as a member of the department administrative team in problem solving, decision
making, strategic planning . Develops and coordinates activities with other city 
departments, other government agencies and outside organizations; provides 
staff assistance and managerial services. 

The Division Commander of Administrative Services also serves as a liaison with 
City's Benefits Administration Department and oversees departmental 
Occupational Health & Safety issues and drug screening, and is also responsible 
for statistical crime data studies, and other reports ; analyzes levels of criminal 
activity; determines trends and makes recommendations for change in 
organizational and operating procedures. 

Department Description - Support Services 

The primary responsibility of the Division Commander of Support Services is to 
provide assistance to the other Divisions of the Police Department in the form of 
personnel and equipment. The Division Commander of Support Services is 
responsible for carrying out the goals and objectives of this division which in turn 
allows the Berwyn Police Department to meet its mission in many of the 
departments operations. 

57 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Police Department 

Support Services consists of the following units of operation : Community 
Services, Graffiti Removal, Local Adjudication and Parking Enforcement, 
Records Management and Collections, traffic enforcement, department motor 
pool fleet management, police equipment, prisoner detention and booking, 
department research and development, and the Emergency Telecommunications 
Unit (E911). 

58 



City of Bef"INYn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Police 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget ~nge 

100-20-51-5000 Police - Admin - Ch of Police, Div Cdrs $ 853,493 $ 746,554 $ 870,722 $ 892,991 $ 1,107,418 $ 214,427 
100-20-53-5000 Police - Sprvsrs - Lieut's & Sergeant's 2,580,135 2,396,153 2,662,271 2,562,405 2,848,928 286,523 
100-20-55-5000 Police - Detectives 1,844,295 1,791,016 1,683,575 1,682,108 1.654,726 (27,382) 
100-20-57-5000 Police - Officers 5,152.395 5.523,134 5,350.395 5,466,172 6 ,097,074 630,902 
100-20-59-5000 Police - Auxiliary 378.026 266,199 333,909 361 ,075 362,247 1.172 
100-20-61-5000 Police - Radio operatorsfdispatchers 897,417 835.988 883.923 920,392 973,807 53,415 
100-20-63-5000 Police - Community service officers 672 .623 693.365 714.352 710.080 762,406 52.326 
100-20-65-5000 Police - Parking enforcement personnel 13,717 
100-20-67-5000 Police - Lockup personnel 227,748 274,202 281 ,246 304.645 317,417 12,772 
100-20-69-5000 Police - Clerks 495,834 517,874 537,164 514,684 574,135 59,451 
100-20-71-5000 Police - Cro ssing Guards 273,363 267.284 264,740 287,484 274.557 (12 ,927) 
100-20-5005 Police - Out of Class 5,050 4,958 6.165 7,000 7.000 
100-20-5010 Police - Overtime 912,026 884,565 880.677 853,741 853.741 
100-20-5015 Police - Uniform stipend 112,100 111 .700 113,093 113,600 113.600 
100-20-5020 Police - Education Stipend 71 ,000 78.500 78.030 76,500 76,500 
100-20-5025 Police - Other Stipends 11 ,760 11 ,880 20,918 12,500 12,500 
100-20-5030 Police - Buy back 1,209.223 1.388.225 1,161 .669 1,278.396 1,278.874 478 
100-20-5035 Police - Benefits 4.820,474 4.920,737 4.960,369 5.229.863 5,339,596 109,733 
100-20-5040 Police - Tuition Reimbursement 152,179 118,506 80.529 95,000 42,000 (53.000) 
100-20-5045 Police - Pension 1,248,592 1,424,327 16,474,356 16,509,826 1,496,373 (15 ,013,453) 
100-20-5205 Police - Utilities 21 .199 26.586 24,343 23.500 27,500 4,000 
100-20-5210 Police - Vehicle Gas and Oil 176,390 276,737 255,968 195,000 180,000 (15,000) 
100-20-5215 Police - Telephone 171 ,855 120,804 45.596 66,900 55,920 (10,980) 
100-20-5220 Police - Training, dues and publications 103,178 54,304 86,934 80,000 95.000 15,000 
100-20-5225 Police - Supplies 44,595 38.313 41 ,299 46,900 63,100 16,200 
100-20-5235 Police - Postage & printing 26.501 23,680 32,820 24,400 30,200 5.800 
100-20-5290 Police - Other general expenses 123.487 153,480 174,262 163,503 163,503 
100-20-5300 Police - Professional Services 5,247 
100-20-5345 Police - Speed photo enforcement 964.992 934.880 978,404 979,365 925.000 (54 ,365) 
100-20-5400 Police - Repairs and maintenance 322.420 376.031 402.410 418,000 371 .500 (46.500) 
100-20-5405 Police - Copier maintenance 15,049 17,385 15,961 17,000 17,000 
100-20-5500 Police - Equipment 35.222 102,179 21.792 38.500 45,000 6.500 
100-20-5625 Police - Internal service fund 351,438 878,795 873,485 567,198 1.362,132 794.934 
100-20-5800 Police - Capital Expenditures 
Department Total $ 24.287,780 $ 25.258.341 $ 40,316,624 $ 40,498,728 $ 27,528,754 $ (12,969,974) 

59 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Fire and Police Commission 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Commission 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Board of Fire and Police Commissioners shall consist of three members to 
be appointed by the Mayor, by and with the consent of Council. The term of office 
of each member shall be three years and until his or her successor is appointed 
and qualified, provided that no appointment shall be made by the Mayor within 
thirty days of the expiration of his or her term of office. 

BUDGET SUMMARY: 

• This department's other general expenses account varies annually based 
on the number of police or fire personnel the City will hire in a given year. 

60 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Fire and Police Commission 
12/31 /2020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-22-5500 Fire and Police Commission - Salaries $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 17,250 $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 
100-22-5035 Fire and Police Commission - Benefits 3,619 4,140 4,020 1,343 1,530 187 
100-22-5200 Fire and Police Commission- Training, Dues, & Publications 375 1,047 6,350 2,500 2,500 
100-22-5225 Fire and Police Commission - Supplies 63 250 250 
100-22-5235 Fire and Police Commission- Postage & Printing 11 49 39 25 25 
100-22-5290 Fire and Police Commission - Other General Expenses 509 11 ,444 8,702 1,250 1,250 
100-22-5290-10 Fire and Police Commission - Police Testing 7,474 4,181 38,795 32,500 32,500 

100-22-5290-11 Fire and Police Commission - Pre Employment Physicals 14,540 21 ,223 17,391 12,500 12,500 

Department Total $ 46,528 $ 62,084 $ 92,610 $ 70,368 $ 70,555 $ 187 

61 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Building Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Building Director 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Building Department is responsible for the administration and enforcement of 
City ordinances and building codes which establish minimum requirements for 
building construction, land use, signage, and property maintenance. The primary 
purpose of the ordinances is to establish requirements that safeguard public 
health, safety, sanitation , adequate light and ventilation , energy conservation , 
and safety from fire and other hazards attributed to the structural environment. 
Activities associated with the administration and enforcement of these 
ordinances include but are not limited to reviewing architectural and engineering 
plans for proposed projects, issuing permits, scheduling permit inspections, 
processing compliance information, scheduling compliance inspections, 
scheduling blight inspections, inspecting properties to identify violations and 
issuing citations for ordinance infractions. 

SERVICES: 

~ Conduct Code Enforcement 

~ Perform Building and Zoning Review 

.,. Issue Building Permits 

.... Perform Permit Inspections 

.. Process Compliance Information 

.,. Respond to FOIA Requests 

~ Process Blight and Building Adjudication Information 

62 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Building 1 Neighborhood Affairs 
1213112020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-24-5000 Building - Salaries $ 580,687 $ 608,754 $ 609,411 $ 641 ,098 $ 661 ,255 $ 20,157 
100-24-5010 Building - Overtime 6,160 6,250 8,289 6,250 6,250 
100-24-5025 Building - Stipends-Other 1,800 2,650 1,706 3,000 3,000 
100-24-5030 Building - Sick Day Buy Back 13,196 15,309 15,769 23,138 23,138 
100-24-5035 Building - Benefits 436,201 447,685 384,717 443,088 452,686 9,598 
100-24-5205 Building - Utilities 11 ,086 11 ,290 11 ,779 12,000 12,000 
100-24-5210 Building - Vehicle Gas and Oil 6,326 13,098 12,282 10,000 10,000 
100-24-5215 Building - Telephone 16,513 14,063 10,718 15,000 15,000 
100-24-5220 Building - Training, Dues,& Publications 1,085 80 3,569 2,500 2,500 
100-24-5225 Building - Supplies 14,789 8,921 14,086 14,500 14,500 
100-24-5235 Building - Postage & Printing 12,789 17,769 12,938 17,000 17,000 
100-24-5290 Building - Oth Gen ExplRodent Abatement 317 230 2,303 1,500 41 ,500 40,000 
100-24-5300 Building - Professional Service 402,854 426,439 375,341 430,000 430,000 
100-24-5400 Building - Repairs and Maintenance 293,904 179,328 153,160 175,000 150,000 (25,000) 
100-24-5405 Building - Copier Maintenance 1,674 1,879 1,739 2,000 2,000 
100-24-5625 Building - Internal Service Fund 2,054 13,325 11,436 7,426 20,654 13,228 

Department Total $ 1,801 ,435 $ 1,767,070 $ 1,629,243 $ 1,803,500 $ 1,861 ,483 $ 57,983 

63 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Public Works 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Director of Public Works 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Street Division provides the staff, equipment and materials to operate and maintain 
most of the public infrastructure in the City of Berwyn. Such infrastructure includes 
public roadways, signs, alleys, and City-owned lands. Other responsibilities include 
maintenance to all water/sewer systems, fleet vehicles and select Fire Department 
equipment. 

SERVICES: 

... Administration 
o Management of 24 FTE employees. 
o Management of the yearly budget for the Street & Fleet Divisions. 
o Coordination of all calls for service and/or repair. 
o Coordinate MFT and CDBG public improvement programs. 
o Monitors construction and utility cuts in the City right-of-way. 
o Supervision of daily operations of all services provided by the Division. 
o Respond to resident questions, inquiries and requests. 

.. Street Maintenance 
o Street patching, repairs, and maintenance. 
o Street striping and signage. 
o Alleyway maintenance. 
o Sweep all City streets. 
o Pickup and discard dead animals and trash from City right-of-way . 

.. Forestry 
o Maintain City owned urban forest. 
o Tree City USA for over 25 consecutive years. 
o Remove dead, dying or diseased trees. 
o Coordinate the replanting of trees within the city owned right-of-way. 

.. Ice and Snow Control 
o Provide prompt quality response for snow and ice issues to maintain safe 

vehicular travel. 

.. Turf Maintenance 
o Cut grass and weeds in public areas. 

64 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Public Works 

.. Traffic and Parking Control 
o Coordinate all traffic control and signage. 
o Conduct traffic and safety studies. 
o Installation, repair and replacement of street signs and posts. 
o Install and maintain all roadway and parking pavement markings and 

markers. 
o Install and repair parking meters. 

-. Fleet Maintenance 
o Maintenance and repair of all Public Works vehicles and equipment as 

well as Police, Building, Parking and select Fire Department vehicles. 
o Maintenance of City fueling station . 

.. Public Works Building 
o Maintain grounds at Public Works facilities. 
o Storage of equipment and materials for Public Works and other 

departments. 

.. Work for Other Departments 
o Provide signage, manpower and cleanup for parades, block parties and 

special events. 
o Cleanup of debris and trash due to accidents or ordinance violations. 
o Assist elsewhere when requested. 

65 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Public Works 
12/3112020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-26-35-5000 Streets - Salaries $ 1,562,008 $ 1.495,626 $ 1.464,555 $ 1,587,760 $ 1,773 ,325 $ 185,565 
100-26-35-5010 Streets - Overtime 40,265 76 ,653 70,788 98,000 98,000 
100-26-35-5015 Streets - Uniform stipend 28,040 19,673 19,258 23,100 23,100 
100-26-35-5025 Streets - Other stipend 390 390 18,330 750 750 
100-26-35-5030 Streets - Sick day buyback 22,693 80,442 82 ,855 50,000 50,000 
100-26-35-5035 Streets - Benefits 858,539 820,845 774,596 826,212 838,843 12,631 
100-26-35-5205 Streets - Utilities 13,302 20,590 17,915 18,500 18,500 
100-26-35-5210 Streets - Vehicle gas & oil 61 ,054 108,233 110,906 86,000 95 ,000 9,000 
100-26-35-5215 Streets - Telephone 3,889 1,297 7,108 3,500 3,500 
100-26-35-52 15 Streets - Training, dues, & publications 4,528 13,988 30,383 5,500 20 ,500 15,000 
100-26-35-5225 Streets - Supplies 177,828 131 ,662 145,406 144,450 144,450 
100-26-35-5235 Streets - Postage & printing 16,095 6 ,689 6,040 10,000 10,000 
100-26-35-5290 Streets - Other general expenses 4,967 83,623 6,959 5,000 5,000 
100-26-35-5300 Streets - Professional services 924,773 451 ,116 492 ,115 590,000 590,000 
100-26-35-5400 Streets - Repairs and maintenance 505,643 371 ,868 403,588 372,000 372,000 
100-26-35-5405 Streets - Copier maintenance 1,116 1,386 1,250 1,400 1,400 
100-26-35-5500 Streets - Equipment 3,200 1,384 2,500 2,500 
100-26-35-5505 Streets - Equipment lease 134,491 56,910 56,910 135,000 135,000 
100-26-35-5625 Streets - Internal service fund 19,139 61 ,085 57,645 37 ,432 94 ,682 57 ,250 
100-26-35-5800 Streets - Capital Outlay 2,643,191 22,400 99,000 99,000 

Total Streets $ 7,025,151 $ 3,802,076 $ 3,790,391 $ 3,997,104 $ 4,375,550 $ 378,446 

100-26-37-5000 Fleet - Salaries $ 66.400 $ 67 ,330 $ 68 ,123 $ 68,353 $ 72,330 $ 3,977 
100-26-37-5010 Fleet - Overtime 3,174 6,110 6,774 4,500 4,500 
100-26-37-5015 Fleet - Uniform stipend 545 526 637 1,000 1,000 
100-26-37-5025 Fleet - Other stipend 989 450 450 
100-26-37-5030 Fleet- Sick day buyback 257 264 2,000 2,000 
100-26-37-5035 Fleet - Benefits 31 ,873 36,776 35,857 36,154 36,337 183 
100-26-37-5210 Fleet - Vehicle gas & oil 6,596 6,207 790 9,000 9,000 
100-26-37-5225 Fleet - Supplies 134,276 150,372 160,477 142,000 142,000 
100-26-37-5235 Fleet - Postage & printing 419 290 1,357 
100-26-37-5290 Fleet - Other general expenses 1,484 2,500 2,500 
100-26-37-5300 Fleet - Professional services 54 ,117 50,524 40,592 45,000 45,000 
100-26-37-5400 Fleet - Repairs and maintenance 8,388 51 ,571 6,617 73,500 73,500 
100-26-37-5500 Fleet - Equipment 2,500 2,500 
100-26-37-5625 Fleet - Internal service fund 515 2,178 1,999 1,298 3,376 2,078 

Total Fleet $ 306,303 $ 372,141 $ 325,960 $ 385,755 $ 394.493 $ 8,738 

Department Total $ 7,331.454 $ 4,174,217 $ 4,116,351 $ 4,382,859 $ 4,770,043 $ 387,184 

66 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Zoning Board 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Board Chairman 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Zoning Board schedules and holds hearings in matters wherein citizens of 
the City are appealing a decision of the Building Department involving requests 
for variations from the terms of the Zoning Code, establishment of a conditional 
use or change in a non-conforming use. All decisions with four (4) or more votes 
in favor or against, are submitted to the City Council with a resolution , a specific 
recommendation , and if applicable, an ordinance. If less than four (4) votes are 
made for or against, the board makes no recommendation. The City Council 
makes the final decision in all such matters as described above. 

The Board can reverse, affirm (wholly or partly) , modify or amend any order or 
decision of a City Official in regard to matters that do not involve a variation , 
conditional use or non-conforming use; and also may make decisions in regard to 
the interpretation of the Zoning Code. In these matters, the Board has the powers 
of the City Official from whom the appeal is taken and the decision is final. 

The Board can also hold special hearings as requested by the City Council 
involving the Zoning Code. The Chairman is responsible for publishing notices of 
meetings, and is available to give instructions as to procedures of the Board, 
render legal opinions, and make recommendations for amendments to the 
Zoning Code. 

67 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Zoning Board 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

1 00-28-5000 Zoning - Salaries $ 5,653 $ 8,745 $ 7,155 $ 6,360 $ 6,360 $ 
100-28-5035 Zoning - Benefits 412 669 547 487 487 
100-28-5235 Zoning - Postage & printing 557 3,000 3,000 
100-28-5290 Zoning - Other general expenses 2,910 6,000 6,000 

Department Total $ 9,532 $ 9,414 $ 7,702 $ 15,847 $ 15,847 $ 

68 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Committee and Planning 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Mayor and City Council 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Committee and Planning Department of the City of Berwyn is where 
economic development expenditures to third parties are recorded . This 
department does not support any employees. 

SERVICES: 

Within this department the City records the following: 

.. Donations to other organizations 

,. Non-TIF related Berwyn Development Corporation fees 

,. Regional Housing Authority expenditures 

.. Utility tax rebates to other taxing units 

69 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Committee and Planning 
12/31 /2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

1 00-30-51 05 Community Programs $ 885 $ 2,276 $ 1,667 $ 3,500 $ 3,500 $ 
100-30-5105-04 West Central Municipal Conference 25,362 25,362 25,362 26,000 26,000 
100-30-5105-05 Berwyn Historic Preservation Commission 1,050 334 5,000 2,500 (2,500) 
100-30-5105-06 Utility Tax Rebate 84 ,810 75,212 47 ,444 85,000 85,000 
100-30-5105-08 Berwyn Historical Society 10,000 10,000 10,300 5,000 5,000 
100-30-5105-1 0 North Berwyn Park District 
100-30-5105-30 BDC Admin Fee 86,200 86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000 
100-30-5290 Committee & Planning - Other general expenses 2,504 3,225 1,205 4,500 4,500 

Department Total $ 210,811 $ 202,075 $ 172,312 $ 215,000 $ 212,500 $ (2,500) 

70 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Recreation Department 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Director of Recreation 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The City of Berwyn provides comprehensive community-wide parks and 
recreation services through the Recreation Department with policies and budget 
development determined by the Mayor and the City council. The Recreation 
Department is committed to the effective and responsible management of parks, 
open space, facilities and resources to satisfy the recreational needs of the 
community; and to deliver quality, benefit-based leisure services and programs 
that meet the varied needs and interests of the community in a cooperative, 
innovative, and responsive manner. 

The Recreation Department is responsible for providing year round recreational 
programs and activities for all age groups. These include community special 
events, athletic programs, sports camps, day care camps, tot programs, 
swimming programs, adult athletic programs, family events, and senior adult 
activities. In addition, the Recreation Department collaborates with and assists 
many Berwyn groups, organizations , and clubs to provide recreation services 
throughout the community. 

The Recreation Department is responsible for six park sites, one Olympic sized 
swimming pool, and a recreation center. Major responsibilities include routine 
maintenance of resources, facilities , and equipment, including and providing 
support services for recreation programs; and park improvements and 
development. 

71 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Recreation 
12131/2020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-32-5000 Recreation - Salaries $ 883,492 $ 809,706 $ 762,821 $ 850,000 $ 850,000 $ 
100-32-5010 Recreation - Overtime 
100-32-5030 Recreation - Sick day buy back 11 ,914 12,274 12,642 13,273 13,273 
100-32-5035 Recreation - Benefits 279,897 257,344 234,895 251,1 40 257,481 6,341 
100-32-5100 Recreation - Special events 65,148 60,220 63,082 65,000 80,000 15,000 
100-32-5105 Recreation - Community programs 243 
100-32-5205 Recreation - Utilities 27,933 28,485 31 ,626 28,000 35,000 7,000 
100-32-5210 Recreation - Vehicle Gas and Oil 10,416 15,884 16,372 13,000 13,000 
100-32-5215 Recreation - Telephone 8,282 8,217 8,793 8,000 10,000 2,000 
100-32-5220 Recreation - Training , dues, & publications 2,747 2,057 1,575 2,500 2,500 
100-32-5225 Recreation - Supplies 115,610 99,303 117,807 115,000 115,000 
100-32-5235 Recreation - Postage & printing 701 228 218 2,000 2,000 
100-32-5290 Recreation - Other general expenses 63,565 81 ,532 71,532 65,000 70,000 5,000 
100-32-5300 Recreation - Professional Services 16,441 10,539 5,325 20,000 20,000 
100-32-5400 Recreation - Repairs and maintenance 138,829 139,662 225,334 155,000 160,000 5,000 
100-32-5405 Recreation - Copier maintenance 1,166 1,335 1,286 1,300 800 (500) 
100-32-5500 Recreation - Equipment 218 
100-32-5625 Recreation - Internal service fund 7,106 23,125 21 ,862 14,196 35,844 21 ,648 
100-32-5800 Recreation - Capital outlay 4,549 15,000 15,000 

Department Total $ 1,633,247 $ 1,549,911 $ 1,580,180 $ 1,603,409 $ 1,679,898 $ 76,489 

72 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Community Relations 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Community Relations Director 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Community Relations Director along with the Commissioners work to 
promote equal opportunity in employment, housing and access to public 
accommodations , combat unlawful discrimination and to enforce the Community 
Relations Ordinance. 

Persons who believe they have been discriminated against may file a complaint 
within one year of the alleged violation . 

The Community Relations Ordinance and its policy is further outlined in the City 
of Berwyn 's Code of Ordinances, Chapter 620 

SERVICES: 

The Community Relations Director is available to attend meetings as a 
representative of the Community Relations Commission as well as answers 
questions pertaining to City services. 

73 



Account Number 

100-34-5000 
100-34-5035 
100-34-5290 

Department Total 

Account Name 

Community Relations - Salaries 
Community Relations - Benefits 

City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Community Relations 
1213112020 

2017 2018 
Balance Balance 

$ 5,000 $ 5,000 
383 383 

Community Relations - Other general expenses 

$ 5,383 $ 5,383 

74 

Requested 
2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Projected Budget Budget Change 

$ 4,615 $ 5,000 $ 5,000 $ 
353 383 383 

1,400 1,400 

$ 4,968 $ 6,783 $ 6,783 $ 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Senior Services 

The Senior Services department takes on various senior programs including 
snow removal , lawn care services , the City's handy man program, and PACE 
transporting services. Revenues include grant funding for senior programs and 
nominal fees received for assistance. 

75 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Senior Services 
12/31/2020 

Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

100-46-5000 Senior Services - Salaries $ 183,558 $ 210,585 $ 238 ,520 $ 247,474 $ 260,959 $ 13,485 
100-46-5000 Senior Services - Overtime 588 1,737 2,759 1,000 500 (500) 
100-46-5030 Senior Services - Stipends- Other 750 1,200 1,200 1,200 800 (400) 
100-46-5030 Senior Services - Sick Day Buy Back 5,124 4,193 3,557 3,750 5,000 1,250 
100-46-5035 Senior Services - Benefits 92,010 76,803 77,950 84,304 84,978 674 
100-46-5100-03 Senior Services - Special Events Senior Breakfast 5,960 7,350 6,847 7,400 7,400 
1 00-46-521 0 Senior Services - Vehicle Gas & Oil 15,088 27,564 20 ,941 17,500 20 ,000 2,500 
100-46-5215 Senior Services - Telephone 3,154 3,784 4,471 4,000 3,500 (500) 
100-46-5225 Senior Services - Supplies 430 1,271 916 1,000 500 (500) 
100-46-5235 Senior Services - Postage & Printing 5,069 6,925 7,312 6,000 7,000 1,000 
1 00-46-5290 Senior Services - Other General Expenses 485 492 258 500 2,500 2,000 
1 00-46-5300 Senior Services - Professional Services 1,907 1,504 2,835 1,750 2,000 250 
1 00-46-5400 Senior Services - Repairs & Maintenance 78,325 98,185 104,446 96 ,000 95 ,000 (1,000) 
100-46-5405 Senior Services - Copier Maintenance 832 1,024 917 1,050 1,000 (50) 
100-46-5505 Senior Services - Equipment Lease 6,520 5,500 7,726 6,000 72 ,000 66,000 
100-46-5625 Senior Services - Internal Service Fund charges 2,830 8,114 7,803 5,067 12,577 7,510 

Department Total $ 402,630 $ 456,231 $ 488,458 $ 483,995 $ 575,714 $ 91 ,719 

76 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Other City Departments 

The following department is also included in the City's General Fund. This 
department represents other statutory expenditures that are City-wide costs. The 
City's general administration is responsible for monitoring expenditures within 
this department. 

77 



City of Berwyn 
2020 Budgeted Expenditures by Department 

Statutory 
12/31/2020 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Benefits To be allocated to various departments: 
100-17-5035 Benefit Pool $ 64,760 $ 103,370 $ 215,087 $ 7,000 $ 7,000 $ 
100-17-5290 Other General Expenses (41 ,936) 13,815 11 ,835 5,000 5,000 
100-17-5300-01 Auditing & Actuarial expense 46,902 52,013 55 ,969 52,144 52,144 
100-17-5300-09 Payroll Services 
100-17-5300-10 New World Maintenance 43,086 42,892 45,036 45,850 45,850 
100-17-5705 Interest on LOC 
100-17-5710 Bad debt expense 5,778 5,155 3,500 3,500 

Department Total $ 118,590 $ 217,245 $ 327,927 $ 113,494 $ 113,494 $ 

78 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Library 

This fund is used to account for the spending of funds for the operations of the 
Berwyn Public Library. The Berwyn Public Library is administered by a nine 
member board appointed by the City's Mayor, with the advice and consent of City 
Council. 

79 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Library 

PROGRAM MANAGER: 

Director of Library Services 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Berwyn Public Library is a driving force behind a vibrant and diverse 
community. The Berwyn Public Library (BPL) supports our community by: 

• Providing a welcoming and accessible environment in which all individuals 
receive professional service and assistance in fulfilling their educational, 
research , literacy and entertainment needs. 

• Educating and empowering the public through the preservation and 
distribution of timely and accurate information as guided by the Principles 
of Intellectual Freedom. 

• Offering people of all ages and backgrounds a stimulating environment in 
which to discover a love of lifelong learning. 

The Library offers dynamic service-oriented programs and services and 
participates in creating a literate public by offering a place where adults can learn 
and practice new skills and children are given opportunities to interact with books 
and enjoy stories. 

SERVICES: 

Public libraries provide equal access to information of all kinds. In fact, libraries 
are among the first American institutions immigrants turn to for help in learning 
how to read , write and speak English. Under a literacy umbrella, BPL offers 
direct literacy programming , curriculum support, and hosts community 
organizations offering literacy services. 

80 



City of Berwyn 
LIbrary Fund 
2020 8ud9"t 

Requesled 

2<)" 2018 2<)" 2<)" 2020 ...... 
Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Ptoi!!cted Budilet Budilet ~e 
Revenues 
205-40-4000 library - Property Tax Revenue $ 3.384.315 3.336.784 3.370.977 S 3.392.808 S 3.392,808 
205.40-4350 library - Book Fines 19,738 14.297 11 .02 1 16,000 16,000 
205-40-4400 library - Grant Revenue 4.999 50.000 20.000 25,000 5.000 
205-40-4415 library· Copier Revenue 10.958 12.942 14.765 13,000 13,000 
205-40-4420 library· Per Capila Revenue 114.812 70,821 70.821 
205-4<>4430 library - Buikfing Revenue 5.347 9 ,738 12,810 7.000 7.000 
205-40-4800 library· Interest Income 2.565 4.1 47 4.374 750 750 

Total library Revenues 3.422.923 3.497.719 3.463.947 3.520.379 3.525.379 5.000 

E I.pendltur .. 
205-40-5000 library _ Salaries 1.41 9.988 1.441 .602 1.579.342 S 1,681 .659 S 1.857,11 0 175.451 
205-40-5010 library - Ovenime 756 58 78 2.000 2.000 
205-40-5025 library· StipendS Other 2.300 3.650 3.800 4.200 4,200 
205-40-5030 library· Sido;; Day Buy BIIdI 29,092 32.499 20.524 17.500 35.000 17,500 
205-40-5035 library. Benefrts 768.352 805.842 806.420 895.901 906,315 10,414 
205-40.5040 library - Tuition Reimbursement 7.063 10.000 15.000 5.000 
20540-5105 library· Commuoity Programs 24.933 42.480 37.381 31 .000 30.000 (1,000) 
205-40-5200-09 Library. Director Expense 104 350 40 800 800 
205-40-5200-10 library· Board E)(pIlnse 21 ,536 368 1.600 10.000 10,000 
205-40-5205 library. UtiNties 12,049 14.500 14,467 14,000 14,000 
205-40-5210 library - Vehicle Gas & Oil 180 260 99 1.500 500 (1.000) 
205-40-52 15 library - Telephone 28,188 22.143 21 ,850 22.000 22.000 
205-40-5220 library· Training, Dues, & Publications 11 .2 13 9.478 22,560 18.800 24.000 5.200 
205-40-5225 Ubrary · Supplies 46,992 57.369 127.672 67.000 108.800 41 .800 
205-40-5235 library - Postage & Pooling 1.940 878 1.027 2.500 1.800 (700) 
205-40-5245 library · Books 219.442 258.564 255.597 253.500 273.500 20,000 
205-40-5250 library - Audio Visual 34.530 37.970 37,605 40.500 39.000 (1,500) 
205-40-5255 library· Periodicals 4.902 13.214 13,297 16.660 18.000 1.340 
205-40-5290 library · Other General EKPenses 16.961 15.262 14.35 1 20.000 25,000 5.000 
205-40-5400 library - RepairS & Maintenance 127.693 143.647 129.315 150.000 150,000 
205-40-5520 library· Computer System 34.651 38.88 1 46.265 80.000 60.000 
205-40-5525 library, Compuler Suppol"t Databases 59.321 12.065 25.058 67,000 67.000 
205-40-5825 librlllY • Internal Service Fund Charge 4.785 22,036 21.412 13.904 21 .551 7.647 
205-40-5660 library · Promotions 10.668 12.234 15.774 22.400 18,800 (3,600) 
205-40-5665 library · Reciproca l Borrov.;ng 2,347 437 530 1.800 1.500 (300) 
2(}5-4O.5800 library· Capilallmprovemenl 7.780 97.911 453.533 397.500 230000 1167.5(0) 

Tolal Ubrary EKPend~ures 2.890.703 3083.698 3656.658 3.822.124 3.935.876 11 3,752 

Revenues less Expenditures 532.220 414,021 (192.711) (301 .745) (410.497) (108.752) 

Fund Balance BagiMing .... 546 1,498.766 1.912.787 1.912.787 1.720.076 

Projected Endng Fund Balance 1.498.766 1.912.787 1.720.076 S 1,611 .042 1,309.579 

81 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Community Development 

This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenditures incurred under 
the City's Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. Revenues are 
received from the Federal Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD). 

82 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Community Development 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Director of Community Development 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

Administer Community Development Block Grant funds according to federally 
mandated guidelines required By HUD 

SERVICES: 

.. To provide 15% of allocated funds to Public Service Agencies, through a sub
recipient agreement (as approved by City Council), their monitoring and their 
reporting as required. 

... Provide a Single Family Rehabilitation Program to those residents of Berwyn who 
qualify under the Federal guidelines. 

... Provide the City of Berwyn funds for infrastructure modifications with the federally 
designated low-mod population areas. 

83 



Account Number Account Name 

Revenues 
210-4400 Grant Income 
210-4405 loan Repayments 
210-4800 Interest Income 
210-4900 Transfer From Other Funds 

Total Community Development Revenues 

Expenditures 

Public Works 
210-26-5400 Public Works - Repairs & Maintenance 
210-26-5400-02 Public Works - Repairs & Maintenance Street/Sidewalk 

Total Public Works 

City of Berwyn 
Community Development Fund 

2020 Budget 

• 

• 

2017 

Balance 

1,531 ,252 • 18,090 
22 

75,000 

1,624,364 

885,355 $ 
140,000 

1.025,355 

84 

2018 

Balance 

1,241 .957 
73 ,276 

38 
70,033 

1,385,305 

Requested 
2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Projected Budget Budget Change 

• 1,528,538 • 1,528,701 • 1,176,799 $ (351,902) 
143,563 64,782 64,782 

10S 
24.192 {24.192) 

1,672,206 1.552.893 1.241 ,581 (311 ,312) 

• • • • 



City of Berwyn 
Community Development Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget ~e 
Administration 

21D-42-5000 Community Development - Salaries S 147,572 • 156,376 • 156,798 • 156.797 • 163,627 $ 6.830 
210-42-5025 Community Development- Stipends Other 2,200 1,300 1,200 1,200 1,200 
210-42-5030 Community Development - Sick Day Buy Back 6,265 5,357 6 ,322 7,209 7,656 447 
210-42-5035 Community Development - Benefits 97,743 99.756 93.990 100,278 101 ,467 1,189 
210-42-5205 Community Development - Utilities 1,860 2,758 3.242 750 (750) 
210-42-5210 Community Development - Vehide Gas & Oil 271 
210-42-5215 Community Development- Telephone 936 1,684 738 1.500 1.200 (300) 
210-42-5220 Community Development- Training, Dues. & Publications 2,872 1,133 3,650 3,650 
21D-42-5225 Community Development - Supplies 618 1,045 389 1,500 600 (900) 
210-42-5235 Community Development - Postage & Printing 1.168 3,873 640 1,500 1.300 (200) 
210-42-5290 Community Development - Other General Expenses 8 77 3,106 188 188 
210-42-5300 Community Development- Professional Services 47,864 26.493 1,305 34,400 26.802 (7 ,598) 
210-42-5400 Community Devetopment - Repairs & Maintenance 27,912 863 ,608 743.251 1,159,477 842,601 (316,876) 
210-42-5405 Community Development - Copier Maintenance 1,071 1,213 908 600 600 
210-42-5625 Community Development - Internal Service Fund 2,489 13,244 10,124 6,574 10,190 3,616 
210-42-5895 Community Development - Contingency 342,622 355 
210-42-5710 Community Development - Bad Debt Expense 18.699 

210-42-5800-10 Community Development - Capital Outlay 

210-5900 Community Development - Transfer to Other Funds 

Total Administration 702,170 1,177.139 1,023,746 1,475,623 1,161,081 (314,542) 

Program Expendituru 
210-42-5105 Community Development - Community Programs • 135,038 $ 151,866 • 157,961 $ 77,270 • 80,500 • 3,230 

Total Community Development Expenditures 1,862,563 1.329,005 1.181.707 1,552.893 1,241 ,581 (311 ,312) 

Revenues less Expenditures (238, 199) 56.300 490.499 • 
Fund Balance Beginning !76,441 ) 13 ' 4,640) {258,340) !258,340) 232,159 

Projected Ending Fund Balance • (31.,640) $ (258,340) $ 232.159 $ (258,340) S 232.159 

85 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Foreign Fire Fund 

This fund accounts for the proceeds and spending of the foreign fire insurance tax. This 
fund is administered by the City's Foreign Fire Insurance Board. The board consists of 
the City's Fire Chief and three officers elected by the City's fire department staff. Funds 
must be used for the benefit of the Fire Department. 

86 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Foreign Fire Tax Board 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Berwyn Foreign Fire Tax Board shall consist of five members to be elected 
by the members of the Berwyn Fire Department. The offices shall consist of a 
President, Secretary-Treasurer and three Trustees (one from each shift). The 
terms of each office shall be two years and elections shall be staggered. 

BUDGET SUMMARY: 

The Foreign Fire Tax Board's general expense account varies annually based on 
the dollar amount collected by the Illinois Municipal League. 

87 



City of Berwyn 
Foreign Fire Fund 

2020 Budget 

Kequesled 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
255-4055 Foreign Fire - Insurance Tax $ 49,327 $ 50,318 $ 50.752 $ 57,000 $ 52,000 $ (5,000) 
255-4800 Foreign Fire -Interest Income 7 2 

Total Foreign Fire Revenues 49,334 50,320 50,752 57,000 52,000 (5 ,000) 

Expenditures 
255-5220 Foreign Fire - Training, Dues, & Publications $ $ 750 $ 8,000 $ 9,000 $ 9,000 $ 
255-5225 Foreign Fire - Supplies 2,651 7,281 7,000 7,000 7,000 
255-5290 Foreign Fire - Other General Expenses 4,202 5,848 5,000 5,000 5,000 
255-5400 Foreign Fire - Repairs 1,112 2,172 4 ,000 6,000 6,000 
255-5500 Foreign Fire - Equipment 33,605 17,742 24,000 20,000 22,000 2,000 
255-5800 Foreign Fire - Capital 20,000 9,595 1,751 10,000 3,000 (7 ,000) 

Total Foreign Fire Expenditures 61 ,570 43,388 49.751 57,000 52,000 (5,000) 

Revenues Less Expenditures (12,236) 6,932 1,001 $ 

Fund Balance Beginning 66,369 54,133 61,065 61,065 62,066 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 54,133 S 61 ,065 $ 62,066 $ 61 ,065 $ 62,066 

88 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Motor Fuel Tax Fund 

This fund is used to account for the proceeds received from the State for the City's 
share of motor fuel taxes. Spending within this fund is restricted by state regulations. 
Generally speaking , expenditures are for the maintenance and improvement of City 
streets. The City annually prepares a plan for the subsequent year's spending which is 
then submitted to the state for approval. 

89 



City of Berwyn 
Motor Fuel Tax Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requesled 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 
Revenues 

215-4410 MFT - State Allotment 1,465,605 1,511,320 1,868,823 1,700,000 1,992,900 292,900 
215-4800 MFT - Interest Income 24,216 55,087 28,417 35,000 45,000 10,000 

Total MFT Revenues 1,489,821 1,566,407 1,897,240 1,735,000 2,037,900 302,900 

Expenditures 
215-5205 MFT - Utililies $ 336,671 $ 416,931 $ 372,133 $ 366,000 $ 366,000 $ 
215-5225-05 MFT - Rock Salt 147,006 168,993 170,837 247,000 239,400 (7,600) 
215-5300 MFT - Professional services 3,369 183,761 91 ,824 58,012 77,500 19,488 
215-5400 MFT - Repair & Maintenance 8,193 
215-5400-02 MFT - Repair & Maintenance StreeVSidewalk 614,449 417,000 800,000 383,000 
215-5400-03 MFT - Repair & Maintenance Traffic Conlrol 363,299 468 ,935 397,006 388,722 510,000 121 ,278 
215-5800 MFT - Capital Projects (Project Construction) 560,200 218,000 (218,000) 

Total MFT Expenditures 1,418,738 1,238,620 1,646,249 1,694,734 1,992,900 298,166 

Revenues less Expenditures 71,083 327,787 250,991 40,266 45,000 $ 4,734 

Fund Balance Beginning 1,655,467 1,726,550 2,054,337 2,054,337 2,305,328 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 1,726,550 $ 2,054,337 $ 2,305,328 $ 2,094,603 $ 2,350,328 

90 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

South Berwyn Corridor 
Tax Increment Financing District 

This fund is used to accumulate tax increment generated by the South Berwyn TIF 
district. The increment must be used for redevelopment costs within the geographical 
boundaries of the district and expenditures as outlined in the project plan. The district 
was created on January 28, 1997. The daily activities of the district are administered by 
the Berwyn Development Corporation and overseen by the City. 

91 



City of Berwyn 
South Berwyn TIF Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 

220-4000 Property Taxes - South Berwyn TIF $ 641,784 $ 941 ,475 $ 988 ,351 $ 929,192 $ 1,184,742 $ 255,550 
220-4800 Interest Income 449 453 956 

Total South Berwyn TIF Revenues 642 ,233 941,928 989,307 929,192 1,184,742 255,550 

Expenditures 
220-5200 TIF Management Services - BDC $ 76,860 $ 94,997 $ 120,294 $ 114,654 $ 292,253 $ 177,599 
220-5700 Sedgwick Project Installment Note - Principal 155,161 155,161 
220-5705 Sedgwick Project Installment Note - Interest 15,130 5,819 
220-5800 South Berwyn Corridor TIF - Expenses 87,417 23,092 86,259 123,334 396,122 272,788 
220-5900 Transfer to Bond & Interest for Garage Debt 455 ,079 454,679 536,054 536,167 536,167 

Total South Berwyn TIF Expenditures 789,647 733,748 742,607 774,155 1,224,542 450 ,387 

Revenues less Expenditures (147,414) 208,180 246,700 155,037 (39,800) $ (194,837) 

Fund Balance Beginning (185,769) (333,183) (125,003) (125,003) 121 ,697 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ (333,183) $ (125,003) $ 121,697 $ 30,034 $ 81 ,897 

92 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Harlem Avenue 
Tax Increment Financing District 

This fund is used to accumulate tax increment generated by the Harlem Avenue TIF 
district. The increment must be used for redevelopment costs within the geographical 
boundaries of the district and expenditures as outlined in the project plan . The district 
was created on January 1, 2012. The daily activities of the district are administered by 
the Berwyn Development Corporation and overseen by the City. 

93 



City of Berwyn 
Harlem TIF 
2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance ~ected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 

223-4000 Property Taxes - Harlem Ave. $ 725,304 $ 1,086,749 $ 696,910 $ 1,119,351 $ 1,500,000 $ 380,649 
223-4800 Interest Income 719 755 1,197 

Total Harlem TIF Revenues 726,023 1,087,504 698,107 1,119,351 1,500,000 380,649 

Expenditures 
223-5200 TIF Management Services - BDC $ 235,156 $ 353,193 $ 695,183 $ 663,845 $ 370,021 $ (293,824) 
223-5700 TIF Principal Expenses 98,843 103,272 107,800 109,089 112,736 3,647 
223-5705 TIF Interest Expenses 74,320 69,891 65,363 64,074 60 ,427 (3,647) 
223-5800 Harlem Avenue - TIF Expenses 105,266 61 ,515 246,939 300,471 755,014 454,543 

Total Harlem TIF Expenditures 513 ,585 587 ,871 1,115,285 1,137,479 1,298,198 160,719 

Revenues less Expenditures 212,438 499,633 (417,178) (18,128) 201 ,802 $ 219,930 

Fund Balance Beginning (512,565) (300,127) 199,506 199,506 (217,672) 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ (300 ,127) $ 199,506 $ (217,672) $ 181 ,378 $ (15,870) 

94 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Roosevelt Road 
Tax Increment Financing District 

This fund is used to accumulate tax increment generated by the Roosevelt Road TIF 
district. The increment must be used for redevelopment costs within the geographical 
boundaries of the district and expenditures as outlined in the project plan . The district 
was created on January 28 , 1997. The daily activities of the district are administered by 
the Berwyn Development Corporation and overseen by the City. 

95 



City of Berwyn 
Roosevelt TlF 
2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 
Revenues 

230-4000 Property Taxes - Roosevelt Road $ 557,520 $ 587,896 $ 564,922 $ 605,533 $ 761 ,006 $ 155,473 
230-4800 Interest Income 341 725 509 

Total Roosevelt TIF Revenues 557,861 588,621 565,431 605,533 761,006 155,473 

Expenditures 
230-5200 TIF Management Services - BOC $ 182,386 $ 281 ,310 $ 3,273 $ $ 187,726 $ 187,726 
230-5705 TIF Interest Expenses 47,500 15,000 15,000 15,000 
230-5800 Roosevelt Road - TIF Expenses 362,148 87,576 123,334 143,861 20,527 
230-5900 Transfer to Bond and Interest 282,619 277,434 293,395 293,395 286,825 (6,570) 

Total Roosevelt TIF Expenditures 465,005 968,392 399,244 431 ,729 633,412 201 ,683 

Revenues less Expenditures 92 ,856 (379,771) 166,187 173,804 127,594 $ (46,210) 

Fund Balance Beginning 289,634 382,490 2,719 2,719 168,906 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 382,490 $ 2,719 $ 168,906 $ 176,523 $ 296,500 

96 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Capital Projects Fund 

The City has established a Capital Projects Fund. This fund was established to account 
for the proceeds from various bond issuances. The attached budget represents an 
annualized department budget for all expenditures which are antiCipated to be funded 
with debt proceeds. 

97 



City of Berwyn 
Capital Projects Fund 

2020 Budget 
Requested 

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 
Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
400-16-4250 Grant Revenue $ $ 35,056 $ $ - $ - $ 
400-26-4250 Public Works - Reimbursements 225,000 
400-4800 Interest Income 2,448 3,255 3,187 

Total Capital Projects Revenues 2,448 263,311 3,187 

Expenditures 
400-16-5800 IT Capital $ $ 10,073 $ $ $ $ 
400-18-5800 Fire Capital 158,042 39,342 130,000 265,000 135,000 
400-18-5800-10 16th Street Fire Station 
400-20-5800 Police Capital 346,550 233,811 24,655 209,500 290,808 81,308 
400-26-5800 Public Works Capital 59,551 310 ,500 310,500 
400-26-5800-31 Capital Outlay 2012 Bond Issue 26,208 
400-32-5800 Recreation Capital 29,556 100,000 100,000 

Total Capital Projects Expenditures 560,356 303,435 63,997 750,000 966,308 216,308 

Revenues Less Expenditures (557 ,908) (40 ,124) (60,810) (750 ,000) (966 ,308) $ (216,308) 

Net Assets Beginning 1,625,150 1,067,242 1,027 ,118 1,027,118 966,308 

Projected Ending Net Assets $ 1,067,242 $ 1,027,118 $ 966,308 $ 277,118 $ 

98 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Debt Service Fund 

The Debt Service Fund is used to accumulate resources for the repayment of the 
City's long-term obligations, including general obligation debt. As a home-rule 
municipality, the City is not subject to debt limits. 

99 



City of Berwyn 
Debt Service Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
300-4000 Bond & Interest - Property Tax Revenue $ 6,479,576 $ 6,848,972 $ 7,340,216 $ 7,103,161 $ 7,603,161 $ 500,000 
300-4800 Interest Income 1,412 3,156 980 1,000 1,000 
300-4915 Bond/Line of Credit Proceeds 15,000,000 3,850,000 3,850,000 
300-4900 Transfer from Other Funds 4,033,814 5,176,014 2,319,322 2,205,370 822,897 (1,382,473) 

Total Debt Service Revenues 10,514,802 27,028,142 9,660,518 __ 9,309,531 12,277,058 2,967,527 

Expenditures 
300-5200 Administrative Expenses $ 66,790 $ 100,148 $ 128,065 $ 115,000 $ 100,000 $ (15,000) 
300-5700 Principal Expense 152 ,839 143,444 156,440 157,649 1,209 
300-5705 Interest Expense 21,233 67,823 131 ,307 7,999 2.777 (5,222) 
300-5700-02 Principal G.O. Bonds Series 1999/2009 Series 1,965,000 2,055,000 
300-5705-02 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 1999/2009 Series 160,800 82,200 
300-5705-07 Interest G.O. Bond Series 2007A 439,931 400,750 45,000 45,000 45,000 
300-5700-08 Principal G.O. Bond Series 2007B 1,675,000 1,760,000 2,875,000 2,657,875 2,905,000 247,125 
300-5705-08 Interest G.O. Bond Series 20078 969,643 874,001 554,972 772,096 388,509 (383,587) 
300-5700-09 Principal G.O. Bond Series 2008 85,000 
300-5705-09 Interest G.O. Bond Series 2008 360,273 360,273 92,400 92,400 92,400 
300-5705-10 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2009 16,388 16,388 16,388 16,388 16,388 
300-5700-11 Principal G.O. Bonds Series 2010 175,000 175,000 200,000 200,000 3,850,000 3,650,000 
300-5705-11 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2010 374,969 367,969 376,125 362,500 381 ,750 19,250 
300-5700-12 Principal G.O. Bonds Series 2011 
300-5705-12 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2011 235,350 235,350 235,350 235,350 235,350 
300-5705-13 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2012 277,595 277,595 277,595 277,595 277,595 
300-5705-14 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2013A 285,250 285,250 285,250 285,250 285,250 
300-5700-15 Principal G.O. Bonds Series 20138 15,250,000 
300-5705-15 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2013B 1,341 ,675 1,341 ,675 
300-5705-16 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2014 213,500 213,500 213,500 213,500 213,500 
300-5705-17 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2015A 1,629,263 1,629,263 1,629,263 1,629,263 1,629,263 
300-5705-18 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 20158 189,094 189,094 189,094 189,094 189,094 
300-5700-20 Principal G.O. Bonds Series 2016A 225,000 205,000 270,000 270,000 285,000 15,000 
300-5705-20 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2016A 966,433 904,025 895,825 895,825 885,025 (10,800) 
300-5705-21 Interest G.O. Bonds Series 2019A 624,228 (624,228) 

Total Debt Service Expenditures 11 ,588,187 27,028,143 8 ,558,578 8,908,403 11 ,939,550 3,031 ,147 

Revenues Less Expenditures (1 ,073,385) (1) 1,101 ,940 401 ,128 337,508 $ (63,620) 

Fund Balance Beginning 1,138,254 64,869 64,868 64,868 1,166,808 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 64,869 $ 64,868 $ 1,166,808 $ 465,996 $ 1,504,316 

100 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Berwyn Municipal Securitization Corporation 

In order facilitate the payment of the Police, Fire, and Refunding bonds issued in 
March of 2019, the City established an entity (Berwyn Municipal Securitization 
Corporation or BMSC) that manages the receipt of state income, local use, 1% 
sales , and home rule taxes along with payment of the interest and principal for 
the bonds. Previously, those taxes were directly received in the General Fund. 
Going forward, the Corporation will accumulate the funds necessary for the 
required debt service payment in addition to the entity's administration costs. 
The residual funds are then transferred to the City's General Fund. 

Stat. ~mltl Tax 

Reoolpt'l to I MSC 

-.--'-~ 

'/ 

BMSCCXJIIecIs funds on 
beholfof Clty 

./,. 

, / BMSC!",nsfersfunds 10 
escrow ..... ! for 

payment of p~nclpie. 
Intcl"C3t end 

admlnlst",U .. fees 

---.,- -'. 

Cxroweeent X ncb 
residlJlls 10 Oly's 

Ge ... ",l lIonk Aaxlunt. 
re<XJ8I1lNd lIS revenue In 

lheGeIM:I ~d FUIIid 

101 

/ 



City of Berwyn 
Berwyn Municipal Securitization Corporation Fund (BMSC) 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
300-4000 305-4010 - Taxes - State Income $ 4,460,100 $ $ 5,727,572 $ 5,727,572 
300-4800 305-4011 - Taxes - State Local Use 1,567,062 2,012,390 2,012,390 
300-4915 305-4015 - Taxes - 1 % State Sales 3,621,259 4,788,166 4,788,166 
300-4917 305-4020 - Taxes - Home Rule Sales 3,442,001 5,018,729 5,018,729 

Total BMSC Revenues $ 13,090,422 $ ~546,857 $17,546,857 

Expenditures 
305-5705-22 Interest Expense 2019 Series $ 2,231 ,171 $ $ 4,462,342 $ 4,462,342 
305-5900 Transfer to Other Funds 8,518,081 12,933,389 12,933,389 
305-5901 Bond Escrow Agent Administration Fees 110,000 151 ,126 151,126 

Total BMSC Expenditures 10,859,252 17,546,857 17,546,857 

Revenues Less Expenditures 2,231 ,170 $ 

Fund Balance Beginning 2,231 ,170 

Projected Ending Fund Balance $ 2,231 ,170 $ $ 2,231 ,170 

102 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Utilities Fund 

This fund is used to pay for the City's water, sewer, and garbage operations. 
Revenues primarily represent charges for services paid by water, sewer, and 
garbage customers. Expenses represent the costs of providing water, sewer, and 
garbage service within the City's boundaries. 

103 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Utilities Fund 

PROGRAM MANAGER: Director of Public Works 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 

The Water and Sewer Division provides the community with safe, high quality 
drinking water at adequate pressure and sewage removal in an efficient manner 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 

SERVICES: 

~ Administration 
o Management of 18 full time employees 
o Management of the yearly budget for the Water and Sewer Division 
o Coordination of all calls for service. 
o Monitors construction and grant permits for utility cuts in the City 

right-of-way. 
o Work with other City departments to ensure safety and efficient 

distribution of drinking water. 
o Supervision of daily operations of all services provided by the 

Division 

~ Water Maintenance 
o Operate and maintain two pumping distribution facilities. 
o Operate and maintain four water storage structures including in

ground and elevated tanks. 
o Maintain water distribution system and adequate and safe 

pressures. 
o Monitor water quality to meet or exceed all federal and state 

requirements. 
o Repair all distribution equipment including valves, hydrants and 

water mains. 
o Install and maintain water meter equipment. 
o Provide customer service and respond to service calls. 

~ Sewer Maintenance 
o Maintain combined sewer collection system and repair or replace 

as needed. 
o Clean and maintain storm inlets and catch basins. 
o Inoculate catch basins with larvacide for mosquito control. 
o Provide customer service and respond to service calls. 

104 



City of Bwwyn 
Utilities Fund 
2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budgel Budget ~ 
Revenues 

Waler Ind Sewer Revenun 
500.4215 Waler Sales. Commercial 3,294 ,210 3,819,456 4,084,045 4,283,000 4,497,150 214,1 50 
500.4280 Waler Sales· Re sidenlial 6,578,619 7,283,292 7,902,191 1,642,000 8,024,100 382,100 
50().4290 S91es, Meter 30,588 70,299 84,785 60,000 " .000 
50().4355 Fines, Other 1,019,809 1,829,032 1,246,623 1,450,000 1,000,000 (450,000) 

50().4800 Interes! Income 3.018 3,083 1.865 2,000 ' .000 
500-4835 Miscelaneou$ 33,959 35,886 45,012 30,000 30.000 
50()'4900 Transfer from Other Funds 501.551 406,111 

Total Water and Sewer Revenues 11 ,521 .880 13,501.159 13,3&4.521 13,"67,000 13,613,250 ~ 

G.rb~ge Revenues 
5O().3&-4300 Fees · Gamage 4.181.101 •. 853,619 4.853.202 " ,860,000 5,005.800 145,800 

5()()'36.4355 Fines· Gamage 124,349 160,096 196,597 175.000 175.000 

Total Gamage Revflnues 4.911 .450 5.013715 5,049799 5,03500G 5. 1eO,800 ~ 

Tolal util~ies Fund Revenues 16.433.330 18,5:ro,87" 18414,326 18,502,000 18.194.050 ~ 

Expenditures 
W~ler ~nd Sewer Expendlturn 

5OQ.44·5000 Water and Sewer· Salaries 1.203,382 1,247,728 1,221,212 1,219,337 1,329,796 50.459 

500.44·5010 Water and Sewer· Overtime 94,654 130.550 130,336 125,000 125.000 
5O().44·5015 Water and Sewer. Uniltlrm Stipend 8,990 15,838 8.881 12,000 12,000 

500-44·5025 Water and Sewer. Other Stipends 8.984 9.08. 18.084 9,200 9.200 

500-44·5030 Water and Sewer. Sick Day Buybacl\ 30.111 28.021 24.078 29,772 29,772 

500-44·5035 Water and Sewer· 8ene!h 852.558 959.514 732.102 807,196 794,925 (1 2,27 1) 

5{l().44·5205 Water and Sawer . ut il~les 12.082 81.008 .4.059 75,000 15.000 
500-44-5210 Water and Sewer· Vehicle Gas and O~ 42,412 12.155 55,000 55.000 
500-44-5215 Water and Sewer· Telaphone '" 9,153 8,500 8.500 
500-44-5220 Water and Sewer· Traintng, Oues & Publications '" ns 3,844 4,000 " .000 50,000 

5{JQ..44-5225 Water al'l<l Sewer. Supplies 299.825 34".651 173.839 432,000 432,000 
S()().44-5235 Water and Sewer. Postage & Prinlinll 52.611 44,551 28,926 52,000 52,000 
500-44.5290 Waler and Sewer _ Other General Expenses 3,490 4,823 '" 5,000 5,000 
500-44.5300 Water and Sewer· P<o!essional SeMen 262,027 265,583 297,354 311,350 536,350 225,000 

500-44·5400 Water and Sewer - Repair1i & Maintenance 71.544 84,347 94,640 90.000 90,000 

50().44·5405 Waler and Sewer· Copier Maintenance 1,265 1.103 '" 2,000 2.000 

500-4"·5500 Water and Sewer. Equipment 5,000 5.000 
5O().44.5505 Water and Sewer _ Equipmen! lease 33,"29 24,022 23,\21 10.000 10.000 
S()()'44.S500 Water and Sewer - Cost of Waler 6,584,208 7,204,555 6,955.145 1,353,809 7,271 .499 (82.3\0) 

5OQ.44-5605 Water and Sewer . Water Chemical T~atment 22,t06 22,895 25,739 25,000 40,000 t5 ,OOO 

50().44-5625 Water and Sewer .Inlemal Service Fund 39.181 132.448 150,000 96,908 150.201 53,299 

500-44-5690 Water and Sewer • Interdepartmental Charge 1,204,223 1,318.464 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 
50().44-5105 Water and Sewer· Inlerest Expense 331 .4\6 330,311 338,788 338.188 338,188 

500-44·5710 Water and Sewer. Bad Debt Expense 208.380 1.0\1 ,595 366,541 215,000 575,000 300,000 

500-44·5800 Water and Sewer. Caprtat Outlay (1.291) 31 ,416 801 .025 595,000 595,000 

500-44·5800-41 Water and Sewer· Residential FlOod MrtlgaUon Program 121,475 55.625 33,025 115,000 175,000 

500-44·5950 Water and Sewer - Depreciation 2,5004,233 1.2032"5 1,200,839 

Tolal Water ~nd Sewer Expend~Ules 14 .0S2.4~ \4,631,211 13.933,999 13,421 ,860 14,021,031 ~ 

Garbage E:o:pendltures 
5OQ.36.5300 Garbage · Professional $ervi<;es 4.574,24 \ 4,603.490 4655144 4596.000 4.733 aao S 137880 

Tolal Gamage Expend~urfl$ 4.574,24\ 4.603,490 4,655144 4596,000 4,733.880 ~ 

Tolal util~ies Fund Expend~uru 18,626,697 19,234.767 18589143 18011,860 18,754,917 ~ 

Revenues Less E.xpend~ures (2,193,367) (113.893) (175,411) 484 ,1 40 39,133 S (445,001) 

Net Assets Beginning (As Restated) 13,135.260 10,841,893 10,228000 10228,000 10.052,583 

Pro}ecled Ending Nel Assets 10,94 1,893 10,228,000 10,052,583 10,712,1 40 10.091.116 

105 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Parking Garage Fund 

This fund is used to account for the City's municipal parking garage. Revenues 
primarily represent charges for services paid by customers parking in the garage. 
Expenses represent the costs of operating and maintaining the garage. 

106 



City of Berwyn 
Parking Garage Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
550-4120 Permits - Commuter Parking $ 44.625 $ 48,000 $ 45,000 $ 45,000 $ 45.000 $ 

550-4210 Commuter Permits 127,789 116.062 129,135 120,000 130,000 10,000 

550-4815 Retail Rent 53,200 40,500 33,500 55,000 4°1°°0 (15,000) 

Total Parking Garage Revenues 225,614 204,562 207,635 220,000 215,000 (5,000) 

Expenditures 
550-5205 Utilities $ 14,010 $ 21 ,043 $ 15,674 $ 22,500 $ 23,000 $ 500 

550-5225 Supplies 4,608 355 320 1,000 1,000 

550-5300 Professional Services 3,1 72 26,550 10,181 30,000 20,000 (10,000) 

550-5400 Repairs & Maintenance 18,591 8,044 6,047 25,000 25,000 

550-5625 Internal Service Charges 325 1,948 1,894 1,230 1,907 677 

550-5850 Depreciation 233,231 233,231 233,231 

Total Parking Garage Expenditures 273,937 291 ,171 267,347 79,730 70,907 (8,823) 

Revenues l ess Expenditures (48,323) (86,609) (59,712) 140,270 144,093 $ 3,823 

Net Assets Beginning ---'..Q. 109,145 10,060,822 9,974,213 9,974,213 9,914,501 

Projected Ending Net Assets $ 10,060,822 $ 9,974,213 $ 9,914 ,501 $ 10,114,483 $ 10,058,594 

107 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Internal Service Fund 

The Internal Service Fund is used to account for the City's self insurance pool. The City 
is self insured for workmen's compensation as well as general liability coverage. 
Interfund charges represent charges to other City funds for insurance coverage. The 
interfund charges are allocated back to other departments based on a five-year trend of 
claims incurred for workmen's compensation and based on department total 
expenditures for general liability insurance coverage. 

108 



City of Berwyn 
Internal Service Fund 

2020 Budget 

Requested 
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 Budget 

Account Number Account Name Balance Balance Projected Budget Budget Change 

Revenues 
600-4302 Interfund Charges $ 520,266 $ 1,505,101 $ 1,976,444 $ 924,110 $ 2,253,764 $ 1,329,654 
600-4800 Interest Income 373 408 

----

Total Revenues 520,639 1,505,509 1,976,444 924,110 2,253,764 1,329,654 

Expenditures 
600-5630 Premiums - Liability Insurance $ 306,880 $ 293,215 $ 335,1 54 $ 296,500 $ 350,000 $ 53,500 
600-5640 Premiums - Property Insurance 127,468 127,513 140,155 125,000 142,500 17,500 
600-5645 Premiums - Workmen's Compensation 173,562 136,022 150,511 180,000 155,000 (25,000) 
600-5650 Claims - General liability 19,877 260,946 151 ,734 100,000 152,628 52,628 

600-5655 Claims - Workmen's Compensation 1,070,607 1,121,404 1,067,706 840,000 1,254,860 414,860 

Total Expenditures 1,698,394 1,939,100 1,645,260 1,541 ,500 2,054,988 513,488 

Revenues Less Expenditures (1 ,177,755) (433,591) 131 ,184 (617,390) 198,776 $ 816,166 

Net Assets (Deficit) Beginning 1,712,213 534,458 100,867 100,867 232,051 

Projected Ending Net Assets (Deficit) $ 534,458 $ 100,867 $ 232,051 $ (516,523) $ 430,827 

109 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Appendix A 

Fund Accounting - A governmental accounting system that is organized and operated on a 
fund basis. 

Fund Balance - The assets of a fund less liabilities, as determined at the end of each fiscal 
year. Any reservations of fund balance are deducted to result in an "unrestricted fund 
balance". 

Fund Type - In governmental accounting, all funds are classified into eight types: General, 
Special Revenue , Debt Service, Capital Projects, Special Assessment, Enterprise, Internal 
Service, and Trust and Agency. 

General Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) - Uniform minimum standard of 
guidelines to financial accounting and reporting . They govern the form and content the basic 
financial statements of an entity. They encompass the conventions, rules , and procedures 
necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. They include not only 
broad guidelines of general application , but also detailed practices and procedures. They 
provide a standard by which to measure financial presentations. 

GFOA - Government Finance Officers Association. A professional organization for 
employees in the government finance industry. 

Grant - A contribution by a government or other organization to support a particular function. 
Typically, these contributions are made to local governments from the state and federal 
governments. 

Home Rule - It enables voters to adopt a home rule charter that acts as the city's basic 
governing document over local issues; however, state law continues to prevail over statewide 
concerns. The goal of municipal home rule is to facilitate local control and minimize state 
intervention into municipal affairs. 

IMRF -Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund, a pension plan for employees of member cities 
within the State of Illinois. 

Interfund Transfers - Amounts transferred from one fund to another. 

Internal Service Fund - Fund used to account for the financing of goods or services 
provided by one department on a cost reimbursement basis. The City of Berwyn uses an 
internal service fund to allocate costs for workmen's compensation and general liability 
insurance. 

110 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Appendix A 

Levy - To impose taxes, special assessments, or service charges for the support of City 
services. 

Liabilities - Debts or other legal obligations arising out of transactions in the past which 
must be liquidated, renewed , or refunded at some future date. 

Long Term Debt - Debt with a maturity of more than one year after the date of issuance. 

MABAS - Mutual Aid Box Alarm System. This system was established to provide a swift, 
standardized and effective method of mutual aid assistance for extra alarm fires and mass 
casualty incidents. 

MFT - Motor Fuel Tax. Represents revenues from the City's share of gasoline taxes, 
allotted by the state for street improvements. 

Modified Accrual Basis Accounting - The accrual basis of accounting adapted to the 
governmental fund type spending measurement focus. Under it, revenues are recognized 
when they become both "measurable" and "available" to finance expenditures of the current 
period. Expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred except for (1) 
inventories of materials and supplies which may be considered expenditures either when 
purchased or when used; (2) prepaid insurance and similar items which need not be reported; 
(3) accumulated unpaid vacation , sick pay, and other employee benefit amounts which need 
not be recognized in the current period, but for which larger than normal accumulations must 
be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements; (4) interest on special assessment 
indebtedness which may be recorded when due rather than accrued, if offset by interest 
earnings on special assessment levies and (5) principal and interest on long-term debt which 
are generally recognized when due. 

Property Taxes - Used to describe all revenues received in a period from current taxes, 
delinquent taxes, penalties and interest on delinquent taxes 

Public Hearing - The portions of open meeting held to present evidence and provide 
information on both sides of an issue 

Reserve - An account used to indicate that a portion of fund balance is restricted for a 
specific purpose. An account used to earmark a portion of fund balance to indicate that it is 
not appropriate for expenditure. A reserve may also be an account used to earmark a 
portion of fund equity as legally segregated for a specific future use. 

111 



City of Berwyn 
2020 

Annual Budget 

For the Fiscal Year Beginning January 1, 2020 

Appendix A 

Revenues - All amounts of money earned or received by the City from external sources. It 
includes such items as tax payments, fees from specific services, receipts from other 
governments, fines, forfeitures, grants, shared revenues and interest income. 

Revenue Bonds - Bonds whose principal and interest are payable exclusively from a 
revenue source pledged as the payment source before issuance. 

ROI - Return on Investment. A method to assist management decision making by 
evaluating the return on various investment alternatives. 

Sales Taxes - The City receives two types of sales taxes - one from the state and the other 
from a home-rule sales tax. The state tax rate is 1 % and the local home rule sales tax rate is 
1%. 

Tax Base - The total value of all real and personal property in the City as of January 1 s l of 
each year, as certified. The tax base represents the net value after all exemptions. 

Tax Levy - The resultant product when the tax rate per one thousand dollars is multiplied by 
the tax base. 

Tax Rate - A percentage applied to all taxable property to raise general revenues. It is 
derived by dividing the total tax levy by the taxable net property valuation . 

Taxes - Compulsory charges levied by a government for the purpose of financing service 
performed for the common benefit. The term does not include charges for services rendered 
only to those paying such charges, for example, water bills. 

TIF - Tax Increment Financing - the act of capturing the amount of property taxes levied by 
a taxing unit for the year on the appraised value of real property located within a defined 
investment zone. The tax increments are paid into the TIF fund and used to pay project 
costs within the zone, including debt service obligations. 

User Charges - The payment of a fee for direct receipt of a public service by the party 
benefiting from the service. 

11 2 



EMPLOYEE EMPLOYEE EMPLOYER EMPLOYER 
K-· / 

BATCH CKDATE GROSS FED FICA MEDICARE FICA MEDICARE STATE 

220204 2/19/2020 1,245,185.25 134,514.46 26,991.09 16,978.28 26,991.09 16,978.28 51,050.89 

FEDERAL Federal 222,453.20 

STATE State 51,050.89 

BATCH 220204 

457 Deferred Contrib. 50,210.22 

705 union dues 1,220.13 

AFSCME union dues 1,868.09 

FIPAC 1,232.64 

Fire Pension 30,173.67 

Firefighters union dues 5,000.70 I 

IMPAl 405.00 

SEIU 774.10 

Police union dues 5,600.00 

Police Pension 42,008.47 

VEMA 7,389.06 

TOTALS I 145,882.08 
- , 

~ -



K-~ 
Accounts Payable by GI L Distribution Report 

Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 02 - Mayor's Office 
Account 5200 - Administrative Expenses 

78 - Berwyn Development Corporation 2021}-00000250 

1013 - Horizon Screen Print 21}-Q974 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 
6056 - Kiwanis Club of Berwyn 2021}-00OOO248 

6057 - St. Leonard's Parish 2021}-OOQ00249 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 
5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 
USA., Inc. 

Department 03 - City Administrator'S Office 

2020 Taste of Cennak / Paid by Check 03/04/2020 

12/31/2019 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
Presenting Sponsor # 53501 
Adult & Youth T-Shirts Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 

Pancake Oay Business 
card Ad 
St. Leonard's Premier 
Ad! Inside Cover 

# 53544 
Account 5200 - Administrative Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53S57 
Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53609 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 
Department 02 - Mayor's Office Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 5 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications 
5457 - LocalGovNews.org 05212020 Annual Membership 

Dues 
Paid by Check 
# 53565 

03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5300 - Professional Services 
2961 - Mi9uel A. Santiago Consulting, Inc MARCH2020 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 
5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 
USA., Inc. 

Department 04 - City Clerk's Office 
Account 5200 - Administrative Expenses 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications Tota ls Invoice Transactions 1 

Consulting Services 
Mar. 2020 

Paid by Check 
# 53574 

03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5405 ~ Copier Maintenance Totals 
Department 03 - City Administrator's Office Totals 

InVOice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 3 

1764 - Margaret Paul 2021}-00000251 Expense Paid by Check 
# 53570 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
Reimbursement 

Account 5200 - Administrative Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA., Inc. maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

2,000.00 

923.00 

$2,923.00 

150.00 

200.00 

$350.00 

25.23 

$25.23 
$3,298.23 

1,200.00 

$1,200.00 

5,000.00 

$5,000.00 

25.23 

$25.23 
$6,225.23 

60.00 

$60.00 

328.67 

$328.67 

Page 1 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice DescriDtion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Pc;lyment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 04 - City Clerk's Office 
Account 5610 - Codification 

860 - American Legal Publishing 0132629 
Corporation 
860 - American Legal Publishing 0132573 
Corporation 

Department 08 - City Council 

January 2020 Folio / 
Internet Editing S-36 
Be!wyn Code of 
Ordinances 

Account 5200-04 - Administrative Expenses Ward 4 

1083 - Robert W. Fejt 2020-00000210 Expense 
Reimbursement 

1083 - Robert W. Fejt 2019-00001605 Expense 
Reimbursement 

Paid by CheeI< 
# 53487 
Paid by CheeI< 
# 53487 

Paid by Check 
# 53598 
Paid by Check 
# 53598 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5610 - Codification Totals 
Department 04 - City Clerk's Office Totals 

Invoice Transactions 2 
Invoice Transactions 4 

02/27/2020 02/27/2020 02/27/2020 

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5200-04 - Administrative Expenses Ward 4 Totals Invoice Transactions 2 
Account 5200-06 - Administrative Expenses Ward 6 

78 - Berwyn Development Corporation 2020-00000252 Alderman Donation / Paid by Ched< 02/27/2020 02/27/2020 02/27/2020 03/11/2020 
Alicia Ruiz # 53501 

Account 5200-06 - Administrative Expenses Ward 6 Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5200-08 - Administrative Expenses Ward 8 

78 - Berwyn Development Corporation 19628 8th Ward Alderman 
Donation! Anthony 
Nowak 

Paid by CheeI< 
# 53501 

02/27/2020 02/27/2020 02/27/2020 03/11/2020 

Department 10 - Legal 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

Account 5200-08 - Administrative Expenses Ward 8 Totals 
Department 08 - City Council Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 4 

2645 - Anthony Bertuca 2020-00000205 Expense Paid by CheeI< 
# 53462 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
Reimbursement 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5300 - Professional Services 

2021 - Del Galdo Law Group, LLC 23959 Legal Services Jan. Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
2020 # 53463 

2021 - Del Galdo Law Group, LLC 23962 legal Services Jan. Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
2020 # 53463 

2231 - Storino, Ramello & Durkin 79799 Legal Services Through Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
Jan. 2020 # 53469 

2231 - Storino, Ramelio & Durkin 79800 Legal Services Through Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
Jan. 2020 # 53469 

4501 - Klein, Thorpe and Jenkins, LTD. 208364 Legal Services Through Paid by CheeI< 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/11/2020 
Jan. 2020 # 53558 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

42.90 

440.00 

$482.90 
$871.57 

400.00 

2,988.86 

$3,388.86 

150.00 

$150.00 

250.00 

$250.00 
$3,788.86 

55.00 

$55.00 

19,116.80 

11,385.00 

2,683.55 

8,373.65 

200.00 

Page 2 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date InvOice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 10 - Legal 
Account 5300 - Professional Services 

4501 - Klein, Thorpe and Jenkins, LTD. 208365 Legal Services Through Paid by Check 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/11/2020 
Jan. 2020 # 53558 

Department 12 - Finance 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals 
Department 10 - Legal Totals 

InvOice Transactions 6 
Invoice Transactions 7 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica MinoRa copier 
maint.chgs 

Paid by Check 
# 53466 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA., Inc. 

Sub Department 11 - Collector's Office 
Account 5225-01 - Supplies Office 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

6053 - Deluxe 02046485477 Deposit Slips Paid by Check 
# 53518 

02/26/2020 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5225-01 - Supplies Office Totals InvOice Transactions 1 
Account 5300-03 - Professional Services Service Fees 

390 - atadel 157522 Document Destruction Paid by Check 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53512 

1447 - MRA FEBRUARY2020 Parking TIckets / Paid by Check 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 03/11/2020 
Collection Fee /Local # 53577 
Ordinance Hearings 

Account 5300-03 - Professional Services Service Fees Totals Invoice Transactions 2 
Account 5300-04 - Professional Services Vehicle Registration 

608 - Scot Decal Company, Inc. 26309 Berwyn Visitor Parking Paid by Check 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 02/26/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 
USA., Inc. 

Department 14 - Human Resources 
Account 5235 - Postage & Printing 

465 - Diamond Graphics, Inc. 0102830201 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Passes # 53607 
Account 5300-04 - Professional Services Vehicle Registration Totals InVOice Transactions 1 

Konica Minolta copier 
maint.chgs 

Paid by Check 
# 53466 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 

Employee Handbook 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 
Sub Department 11 - Collector's Office Totals 

Department 12 - Finance Totals 

Invoice Transactions 
Invoice Transactions 5 
Invoice Transactions 6 

Paid by Check 
# 53520 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5235 - Postage & Printing Totals 
Department 14 - Human Resources Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 1 

5,846.72 

$47,605.72 
$47,660.72 

61.67 

$61.67 

141.55 

$141.55 

65.00 

14,836.53 

$14,901.53 

11,979.30 

$11,979.30 

22.44 

$22.44 
$27,044.82 
$27,106.49 

9,050.00 

$9,050.00 
$9,050.00 

Page 3 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/27/20 - 03/ 11/20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 16 - Information Technology 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

5820 - SYNCB / AMAZON 2020-00000209 RAM chips, Door Paid by Ched< 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 03/11/2020 
Stopper, IT Vac aean # 53613 
Unit 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5415 - Software Maintenance 

5709 - NetwMx Corporation 51513 IT Auditing Software/2 Paid by Cheel< 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 03/11/2020 
yr maint agreement # 53580 

Account 5415 - Software Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5510 - Hardware Purchase 

1965 - Dell Marleeting, LP 10378209156 Dell 19' LCD Monitors Paid by Cheel< 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53517 

Account 5510 - Hardware Purchase Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5530 - Network Infrastructure 

4028 - AT & T Long Distance 834894336-4 Att Long Distance / 
Feb. 2020 

Paid by Cheel< 
# 53494 

02/25/2020 02/25/2020 02/25/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5530 - Network Infrastructure Totals 
Department 16 - Information Technology Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 4 

Department 17 - Administrative 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

180 - west Central Munidpal Conference 0009617-IN 

180 - West central Muniapal Conference 0009687-IN 

EAP 2020 & Admin Fee Paid by Cheel< 
# 53473 

EAP 2020 & Admin Fee Paid by Cheel< 
# 53473 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 

02/28/2020 

02/28/2020 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 2 
Account 5300-10 - Professional Services New World Maintenance 

473 - Tyler Technologies, Inc. 045-291420 Support & Updated Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
Licensing # 53472 

Account 5300-10 - Professional Services New World Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

Department 18 - Fire Department 
Account 5215 - Telephone 

302 - SpMnt 511855222-201 Jan. 22 - Feb. 21 2020 Paid by Cheel< 
# 53608 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues &: Publications 
117 - Village of Romeoville Fire Academy 2020-037 Training I Christina 

Jacobs 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53623 

Department 17 - Administrative Totals Invoice Transactions 3 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5215 - Telephone Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues &: Publications Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

5745 - Battery Junction 1496569 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Fire Dept Supplies Paid by Cheel< 
# 53499 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

591.78 

$591.78 

3,785.60 

$3,785.60 

494.97 

$494.97 

899.78 

$899.78 
$5,772.13 

6,586.14 

193.71 

$6,779.85 

6,755.00 

$6,755.00 
$13,534.85 

596.03 

$596.03 

400.00 

$400.00 

126.00 

Page 4 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 18 - Fire Department 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

4907 - Building Services of AmeMca,LLC 

1230 - Ecolab 

892 - State IndustMal Products 

1171 - US Gas 

62872 Fire Dept Supplies 

6254119467 Fire Dept Supplies 

901389335 Fire Dept Supplies 

330666 Medical Compressed 
Oxygen Cylinders 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 
1757 - Emergency Medical Products, Inc. 2092191 Fire Dept Supplies 

6037 - Ink Your Wear, Inc 202(J-()()000258 AdultT-Shirts 

4390 - The Eagle Uniform Company, Inc. 287680 Fire Dept Uniforms 

Account 5400-30 - Repairs & Maintenance Building 
3638 - OearView Plumbing & Sewer Corp 7003 Plumbing Repairs 

283 - Haiges Machinery, Inc. 

3418 - Hansen Door 

367S - Otis Elevator Company 

ST98062-IN Replaced Faulty Switch 

8670 Door Repairs 

CYS05369320 Contract Renewal Mar. 
01, 2020 to Feb. 28, 
2020 #CYS05369320 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53505 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53522 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# S3611 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# S3620 

Account 5225 - Supplies Totals 

Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 
# 53523 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53548 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53616 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals 

Paid by Chod< 03/02/ 2020 03/02/2020 
# 53513 
Paid by Chod< 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53539 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53541 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53586 

Account 5400-30 - Repairs & Maintenance Building Totals 
Account 5400-31 - Repairs & Maintenance Aeet 

31638 - Interstate Battery System of 58004625 New Battery 
Central Chicago 
5948 - ALEXIS Fire Equipment Co. 0066947-IN Vehide Repairs 

5948 - ALEXIS Fire Equipment Co. 

6054 - MacQueen Emergency Group 

5978 - O'Reilly First Call 

0067072-IN Vehide Repairs 

P0007I Fire Dept Parts 

3366-403936 Wiper Blade 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 03/ 06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 
# 53465 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53483 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53483 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53569 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53583 

Account 5400-31 - Repairs & Maintenance Fleet Totals 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 5 

12/31/2019 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 3 

03/ 02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/ 2020 

Invoice Transactions 4 

12/31/2019 02/28/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/ll/2020 

Invoice Transactions 5 

334.30 

895.89 

45.45 

193.90 

$1,595.54 

293.69 

60.00 

647.00 

$1,000.69 

964.28 

231.29 

730.00 

2,512.14 

$4,437.71 

259.95 

369.02 

57.99 

186.63 

56.98 

$930.57 

Page 5 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 18 - Fire Department 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolla Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA., Inc. maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5500 - Equipment 
1330 - Air One Equipment, Inc. 152892 F.D. Equipment 

1330 - Air One Equipment, Inc. 153478 Ordered hose Red 
double 1.75"x 50' & 
yellow 4" x 100' Inv 
153478 

376 - Zoll Medical Corporation 3011961 F.D. Equipment 

Account 5500-01 - Equipment Turnout Gear 
1330 - Air One EqUipment, Inc. 153826 5-caims Black 880 

Helmets w/carved 
eagle, earlaps Inv. 
153826 

6059 - lockport Township Fire Protection 2020-03-01 Tum Out Gear 
District 

Department 20 - Police Department 
Account 5215-01 - Telephone In-House 

4024 - AT & T 70878840192-2 Jan. 17 - Feb. 162020 

5703 - Ted'mology Management Revolving T2019511 L.e.a.d.s. Unes 
Fund 

Account 5220 - Trainin9, Dues & Publications 
33290 - Chicago Police Department 20-101 Training 

6052 - International Association of Chiefs of 0096057 
Police 
LABOR ARBITRATION INSTITUTE 83117 

265 - Northeast Multi-Regional Training, 
Inc. 
265 - Northeast Multi-Regional Training, 
Inc. 

270299 

270479 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

2020 Membership Dues 

Training I Guy Papa& 
Mike Cirelia 
Training I Vincent 
Esposito 
Training I Vincent 
Esposito 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53479 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53479 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53626 

Account 5500 - Equipment Totals 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53479 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53566 

Account 5500-01 - Equipment Turnout Gear Totals 
Department 18 - Fire Department Totals 

Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53493 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53614 

Account 5215-01- Telephone In-House Totals 

Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53509 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53549 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53638 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53582 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 
# 53582 

Invoice Transactions 1 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 3 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

InVOice Transactions 2 
Invoice Transactions 25 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 2 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

39.60 

$39.60 

59830 

11,325.00 

244.57 

$12,167.87 

1,380.00 

2,052.00 

$3,432.00 
$24,600.01 

586.04 

942.40 

$1,528.44 

3,976.00 

190.00 

900.00 

400.00 

125.00 

Page 6 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/27/20 - 03/ 11/20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 ~ General Fund 

Department 20 - Police Department 
Account 5220 - Training, Dues &. Publications 

265 - Northeast Multi-Regional Training, 270182 Training I Timothy Paid by Chedt 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 450.00 
Inc. Keske # 53582 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues &. Publications Totals Invoice Transactions 6 $6,041.00 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

2578 - Aqua Chill of Chicago LLC 2259222 Water Cooler Rentals Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 123.00 
# 53491 

996 - case Lots, Inc. 2799 P.O. Supplies Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 561.77 
# 53507 

5482 - JG Unifonns 69248 Booking Officer Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 199.4S 
Unifonns # 53S52 

5482 - JG Uniforms 69249 Booking Officer Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 295.00 
Unifonns # 53552 

Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 4 $1,179.22 
Account 5225-01 - Supplies Office 

5669 - Garvey's Office Products PINV1875214 P.O. Office Supplies Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/ 2020 03/11/2020 89.70 
# S3S3S 

5669 - Garvey's Office Products PINVI866069 P.O. Office Supplies Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 37.37 
# S3S35 

5669 - Garvey's Office Products PINV1866997 P.O. Office Supplies Paid by Chedt 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 85.32 
# 53535 

Account 5225-01 - Supplies Office Totals Invoice Transactions 3 $212.39 
Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 

465 - Diamond Graphics, Inc. 0102830185 Printing Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 695.00 
# 53520 

459 - Federal Express Corporation 6-939-60054 Postage Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 158.77 
# 53525 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing Totals Invoice Transactions 2 $853.77 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

4042 - AlcoPra, Inc. 0234049-IN Training Paid by Chedt 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 1,137.00 
# 53481 

S848 - Alexandra Kosiek 2020-00000220 Tobacco Special Agent Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/ 11/2020 50.00 
# 53482 

AMELIA MORAUS 2020-00000226 Alcohol Enfoncement Paid by Chedt 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
Agent # 53627 

CHRISTOPHER GUZMAN 2020-00000225 Alcohol Enforrement Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
Agent # 53630 

COUN LUKAS 2020-00000221 Tobacco Enforcement Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
Agent # 53631 

5849 - Giacomo Manfredini 2020-00000219 Tobacco Special Agent Paid by Ched< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
# 53536 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 7 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descrig:tion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date Gll Date Received Date Pa:z::ment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 20 - Police Department 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

JESSICA ENRIQUEZ 2020-00000224 Alcohol Enforcement Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
Agent # 53635 

5482 - JG Uniforms 69140 BodyArmOl' Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 685.00 
# 53552 

5482 - JG Uniforms 69141 Body Armor Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 685.00 
# 53552 

5482 - JG Uniforms 69160 Body Armor Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 685.00 
# 53S52 

Kassandrah Mercado-Segura 2020-00000223 Alcohol Enforcement Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 
Agent # 53636 

6010 - Occupational Health Center at River 5582 Physical Exam Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 160.00 
Forest # 53584 
WlLUAM JIMENEZ 2020-00000222 Alcohol Enforcement Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 50.00 

Agent # 53643 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Tota ls Invoice Transactions 13 $3,752.00 

Account 5400-30 - Repairs & Maintenance Building 

5870 - Altorfer Industries, Inc. PM600287555 Main Generator Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 1,451.86 
# 53486 

345 - Professional Pest Control, Inc. 2020-00000217 Exterminator Fee Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 65.00 
# 53592 

345 - Professional Pest Control, Inc. 2020-00000218 Exterminator Fee Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 45.00 
# 53592 

391 - Tele-Tron Ace Hardware 88163 Building Maintenance Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 135.89 
Supplies # 53615 

591 - The 5ign Edge 191133 Name Plate Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 45.00 
# 53618 

Account 5400-30 - Repairs & Maintenance Building Totals Invoice Transactions 5 ---$1,742.75 

Account 5400-31 - Repairs & Maintenance Fleet 
2693 - ABC Automotive Electronics C229827 Vehide Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 165.50 

# 53476 
2673 - Oeece Automotive 35483 Vehide Maintenance Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 1,923.53 

# 53516 
32052 - Just TIres 320219 New Tires & Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 607.00 

# 53555 
32052 - Just TIres 319415 New Tires & Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 100.00 

# 53555 
32052 - Just TIres 319590 New Tires & Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 396.50 

# 53555 
32052 - Just TIres 319568 Vehide Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 298.22 

# 53555 
32052 - Just TIres 320070 Vehide Repairs Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 584.60 

# 53555 

Run by Gunn, Felioa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 8 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descriotion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 20 - Police Department 
Account 5400-31 - Repairs &. Maintenance Fleet 

32052 - Just Tires 320081 New Tires & Repairs Paid by Check 
# 53555 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 1678 - Mike & Sons 40899 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 
5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 
USA., Inc. 

Account 5800 - Capital Outlay 
5901 - C & W Building SeNices, Inc. 20097 

5901 - C & W Building Services, Inc. 20098 

Department 22 - Fire &. Police Commission 

Vehide Maintenance Paid by Check 
# 53575 

Account 5400-31 - Repairs &. Maintenance Fleet Tota ls Invoice Transactions 9 

Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals InVOice Transactions 1 

Painting Juvenile Office Paid by Check 
# 53506 

Painting Tactical Office Paid by Check 
# 53506 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5800 - Capital Outlay Totals 
Department 20 - Police Department Totals 

Invoice Transactions 2 
Invoice Transactions 47 

Account 5290-11 - Other General Expenses Pre-Employment Physicals 
6010 - Occupational Health Center at River 5698 Physical Exam Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
Forest # 53584 

Account 5290-11- Other General Expenses Pre-Employment Physicals Totals 
Department 22 - Fire &. Police Commission Totals 

Invoice Transactions 
Invoice Transactions 

Department 24 - Building/Neighborhood Affairs 
Account 5210 - Vehicle Gas &. Oil 

84 - cassidy Tire 816009286 

1678 - Mike & Sons 40972 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 
465 - Diamond Graphics, Inc. 0102830167 

459 - Federal Express Corporation 6-918-83756 

459 - Federal Express Corporation 6-912-14530 

459 - Federal Express Corporation 6-932-97146 

Account 5300 - Professional Services 
5203 - AM5 Electric, Inc. 2187 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

CAR MAINTAINENCE Paid by Check 
# 53508 

CAR MAINTAINENCE Paid by Check 
# 53575 

business cards 

SHIPPING/MAIL 

SHIPPING/MAIL 

SHIPPING/MAIL 

INSPECTIONS 

Paid by Check 
# 53520 
Paid by Check 
# 53525 
Paid by Check 
# 53525 
Paid by Check 
# 53525 

Paid by Check 
# 53489 

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5210 • Vehicle Gas &. Oil Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5235 - Postage & Printing Totals Invoice Transactions 4 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

300.00 

272.00 

$4,647.35 

680.14 

$680.14 

1,050.00 

1,180.00 

$2,230.00 
$22,867.06 

335.00 

$335.00 
$335.00 

882.28 

1,242.69 

$2,124.97 

80.00 

37.52 

71.02 

36.15 

$224.69 

735.00 

Page 9 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descri(;!tion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GLL Date Received Date Pa:rment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 24 - Building/Neighborhood Affairs 
Account 5300 - Professional Services 

49 - AWESOME Pest Service 2075 PEST SERVICES Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 3,000.00 
# 53495 

49 - AWESOME Pest SelVice 2151 PEST SERVICES Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 3,000.00 
# 53495 

49 - AWESOME Pest Service 32265 Pest Control Jan. 2020 Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 165.00 
# 53495 

167 - Frank Novotny &. Associates, Inc. 19386-2 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/ 2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/ 2020 308.00 
SERVICES # 53527 

167 - Frank Novotny &. Associates, Inc. 19381 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 86.00 
SERVICES # 53527 

167 - Frank Novotny &. Associates, Inc. 17343-3 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 385.00 
SERVICES # 53527 

5050 - FSO 2019-2203 IN5PEmON5 Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 410.00 
# 53530 

1076 - FSO 2020-58 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/ 2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 410.00 
5ERVICES # S3529 

5050 - FSO 2019-2342 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 785.00 
SERVICES # 53530 

5050 - FSO 2019-2424 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 410.00 
SERVICES # 53530 

5050 - FSO 2020-57 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 660.00 
5ERVICES # 53530 

5050 - FSCI 2019-930AF2 PIAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 210.00 
SERVICES # 53530 

5050 - FSCI 2020-127 PLAN REVIEW Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 420.00 
SERVICES # 53530 

3014 - JNC Consulting, Inc. 1259 Permit Inspections Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 2,850.00 
# 53553 

1014 - John Tarullo JANUARY2020 INSPEmON5 Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 5,300.00 
# 53554 

1074 - K's Quality Construction, Inc. 20-101 Board Up & Mise Paid by Check 03/02/ 2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 505.00 
Services # 53556 

1074 - K's Quality Construction, Inc. 20-102 Board Up & Mise Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 871.00 
Services # 53556 

5743 - Rick Dandan JANUARY2020 INSPEmONS Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 6,650.00 
# 53595 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals Invoice Transactions 19 $27,160.00 
Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4034643680 MATS Paid by Check 12/31/ 2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5165 - All Door Check & Lock Service 29234 keys Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 113.94 
# 53484 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 10 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descri(2tion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GLL Date Received Date Pa}:ment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 24 - Building/Neighborhood Affairs 
Account 5400 - Repairs & Maintenance 

5165 - All Door Check IX Lock Service 29119 keys Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 4,013.16 
# 53484 

198 - Art Flo Shirt and Lettering 5323 uniform Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 611.39 
# 53492 

4907 - Building Services of Amertca,LLC 63272 SUPPLIES Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 350.80 
# 53505 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4022134636 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 425.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas Corporation 4024844492 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas Corporation 4026712504 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/3 1/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Gntas Corporation 4027676553 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4028232256 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4029250288 MATS Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4030268368 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4031313165 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas COrporation 4032413564 mats Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas Corporation 4033504981 MATS Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/3 1/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas Corporation 4035894489 MATS Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4036974819 MATS Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - (intas Corporation 4038092015 MAT5 Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4039270483 mats Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4040456616 MATS Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4041664558 mats Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4042876558 mats Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 437.50 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 5015786578 5UPPLIES Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 414.34 
# 53511 

3638 - OearView Plumbing & Sewer Corp 7002 plumbing services Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 707.00 
# 53S13 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 11 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor InvOice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 24 - Building/Neighborhood Affairs 
Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance 

3638 - ClearView Plumbing & Sewer Corp 6986 

3638 - dearView Plumbing & Sewer Corp 3467e 

3638 - aearView Plumbing & sewer Corp 3492e 

2504 - Feloo Vending, Inc. 0553 

5887 - FSS Technologies LLC 367182 

5726 - McCloud Services 11464881 

1839 - Robert R. Andreas & Sons 013120-07 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 
5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 
USA., Inc. 

Department 26 • Public Works 
Sub Department 35 ~ Streets 

9006481706 

Account 5015 ~ Stipends ~ Uniform 
280 - Rosooe Company 16330270 

280 - Rosooe Company 

3461 - J & L Uniforms 

1634314 

10092 

Account 5025 - Stipends - Other 

plumbing services 

plumbing services 

plumbing services 

SUPPUES 

INSPECTIONS 

PEST SERVICES 

snow removal 

Konica Minotta copier 
maint.chgs 

P.W. Uniforms 

P.W. Uniforms 

P.W. Uniforms 

2060 - Brad catalano 2020-00000263 Stipend 

Account 5220 • Training, Dues & Publications 
5134 - The Horton Group,Inc. 60178 PIN OSHA Training 

cancellation 
2705 - Lawndale News 832190 ads 

2705 - Lawndale News 832209 ads 

Run by Gunn, Felioa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/ 2020 1,968.00 
# 53513 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 213.00 
# 53513 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 257.15 
# 53513 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 49.70 
# 53526 
Paid by Check 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 315.00 
# 53531 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 68.69 
# 53571 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 1,052.00 
# 53597 

Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 31 --$17,997.17 

Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 40.45 
# 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 $40.45 
Department 24 - Building/Neighborhood Affairs Totals Invoice Transactions 57 $47,547.28 

Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 109.25 
# 53599 
Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 102.D1 
# 53599 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 410.96 
# 53550 

Account 5015 ~ Stipends ~ Uniform Totals Invoice Transactions 3 $622.22 

Paid by Check 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 1,000.00 
# 53474 

Account 5025 - Stipends - Other Totals Invoice Transactions 1 --$1,000.00 

Paid by Check 02/21/2020 02/21/2020 02/21/2020 02/28/2020 6,480.00 
# 53470 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 441.00 
# 53560 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 441.00 
# 53560 

Page 12 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descriotion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 26 - Public Works 
Sub Department 35 - Streets 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications 

2705 - Lawndale News 832395 ads 

Account 5225 - Supplies 
4907 - Building Services of America,LlC 

1824 - High PSI, LTD 

162 - Jack's Rental, Inc, 

5038 - Leahy-Wolf 

63274 

66206 

81156 

393264 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

P.W. Supplies 

P.W. Supplies 

P.W. Supplies 

P.W. Supplies 

1601 - Nicole L. Campbell 202(}'OOOOO206 Expense 

Account 5300 - Professional Services 

5523 - L -K Fire Extinguisher Service Inc. No 72875 
2 
6013 - Goodheart & Associates LLC 1011 

1103 - Lyons Tree Service, Inc. 245864 

Account 5400 - Repairs & Maintenance 
3762 - Gallagher Materials, Inc. 14232 

32375- National Seed 59334151 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

Reimbursement 

Fire Extinguisher 
Maintenance 
profes~onal services 

stump removal/dean 
outs 

asphalt 

caldum chloride 

Paid by Check 
# 53560 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications Totals Invoice Transactions 4 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53505 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53542 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53551 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53561 

Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 4 

Paid by Check 02/21/2020 02/21/2020 02/21/2020 02/28/2020 
# 53468 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

Paid by Check 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53559 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53537 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53567 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals Invoice Transactions 3 

Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53534 
Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53578 

Account 5400 - Repairs & Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA., Inc. 

Sub Department 37 - Fleet 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

2493 - Monroe Truck Equipment, Inc. 329178 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

maint.chgs # 53466 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Tota ls 

Sub Department 35 • Streets Totals 
Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 19 

P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 
# 53576 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

224.00 

$7,586.00 

727.92 

140.40 

179.32 

600.00 

$1,647.64 

55.00 

$55.00 

67.00 

2,337.50 

1,300.00 

$3,704.50 

2,897.34 

2,082.50 

$4,979.84 

17.40 

$17.40 
$19,612.60 

82.17 

Page 13 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descriotion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date G/L Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 26 - Public Works 
Sub Department 37 - Fleet 

Account 5225 - Supplies 
182 - Freeway Ford Truck Sales, Inc. 532709 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 141.06 

# 53528 
182 - Freeway Ford Truck Sales, Inc. 533314 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/0212020 03102/2020 03/11/2020 506.46 

# 53528 
1824 - High PSI, LTD 66116 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03102/2020 03111/2020 347.50 

# 53542 
1824 - High PSI, LTD 66156 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03102/2020 0310212020 03/11/2020 246.39 

# 53542 
5408 - Undco Equipment Sales, Inc. 2OO206P fleet supplies Paid by Check 03102/2020 0310212020 03/0212020 03/1112020 1,328.48 

# 53563 
2493 - Monroe Truck Equipment, Inc. 328950 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 0310212020 03/0212020 03/0212020 03/1112020 28.46 

# 53576 
4974 - Partsmaster 23510353 fleet supplies Paid by Check 0310212020 03/0212020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 1,839.38 

# 53589 
4974 - Partsmaster 23514445 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/0212020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03111/2020 532.58 

# 53589 
4932 - Rush Trud< Centers of Illinois, Inc. 3018507094 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03102/2020 0310212020 03111/2020 43.64 

# 53601 
4932 - Rush Truck Centers of Illinois, Inc. 3018498811 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/0212020 03/11/2020 269.74 

# 53601 
1000 - Standard Equipment Company P18673 fleet supplies / repair Paid by Ched< 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 (122.08) 

# 53610 
1000 - Standard Equipment Company W04315 fleet supplies / repair Paid by Check 03102/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 183.66 

# 53610 
1000 - Standard Equipment Company P2OO88 fleet supplies I repair Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/0212020 03/02/2020 03111/2020 1,269.33 

# 53610 
1364 - Tryad Automotive 006-210866 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/0212020 03102/2020 0310212020 03111/2020 162.33 

# 53619 
1364 - Tryad Automotive 006-210828 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03102/2020 03/0212020 03/1112020 89.19 

# 53619 
1364 - Tryacl Automotive 006-210821 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03102/2020 03/0212020 03/0212020 03/11/2020 238.84 

# 53619 
1364 - Tryad Automotive 006-210891 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 0310212020 03/0212020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 83.88 

# 53619 
1364 - Tryad Automotive 006-210931 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03102/2020 03102/2020 03111/2020 39.95 

# 53619 
5506 - Winzer 6567257 P.W. Supplies Paid by Check 03102/2020 03/02/2020 03/0212020 03/11/2020 199.11 

# 53625 
Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 20 ---$7,510.07 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 0310612020 08:08:54 AM Page 14 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice DescriDtion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 26 - Public Works 
Sub Department 37 - Fleet 

Account 5300 - Professional Services 
6058 - Sandi Auto & Truck Repair 33098 

Department 32 - Recreation 
Account 5100 - Special Events 

3750 - Rose's Catering 17151 

3750 - Rose's Catering 17165 

Vehide Repairs 

15 Meals 

220 Meals For 51. 
Pabicks Day 

Paid by Ched< 
# 53604 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals 
Sub Department 37 - Fleet Totals 

Department 26 - Public Works Totals 

Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 
# 53600 
Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 
# 53600 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 21 
Invoice Transactions 40 

02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

30617 - Sam's Oub / Synchrony Bank 2020-00000207 Party Supplies & Raffle Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
Prizes # 53603 

30617 - Sam's Oub / Synchrony Bank 2020-00000259 After School Snacks Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53602 

Account 5100 • Special Events Totals Invoice Transactions 4 
Account 5215 - Telephone 

4024 - AT & T 708749087102- Jan 11 - Feb 10 2020 Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
2 # 53493 

302 - Sprint 38031133+085 Jan. 15 - Feb. 142020 Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53608 

Account 5215· Telephone Totals Invoice Transactions 2 
Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications 

305 - Illinois Association of Park Districts Dues-2 2020 Membership Dues Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53545 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues & Publications Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

5794 - All Season Futbol FEBRUARY2020 Referee & Coordinator Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
Fees # 53485 

4357 - American Red Cross-Health & Safety 22257185 Ufeguard Certs/ Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 
Services CPR! AED Certs & # 53488 

Reviews 
1013 - Horizon Screen Print 20-0993 Youth & Adult T-Shirts Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

# 53544 
1013 - Horizon Screen Print 20-0995 Youth & Adult T-Shirts Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

# 53544 
415 - Santo Sport Store 704276 16 in SOftballs Paid by Ched< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

# 53605 
Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 5 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

400.00 

$400.00 
$7,910.07 

$27,522.67 

120.00 

1,780.00 

82.75 

177.92 

$2,160.67 

34.07 

723.46 

$757.53 

864.17 

$864.17 

2,200.00 

98.00 

1,887.00 

1,962.25 

903.00 

$7,050.25 

Page 15 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descri(;!tion Status Held Reason InvOice Date Due Date Gil Date Received Date Pa:tment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 32 - Recreation 
Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 

483 - Lewis Paper 420681 Color Flyer Paper Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 3,314.00 
# 53562 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing Totals Invoice Transactions 1 $3,314.00 
Account 5290 - Other General Expenses 

3219 - Benny's Pizza 2020-00000261 After SChool Snacks Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 116.00 
# 53500 

478 - Corneast cable 2020-00000260 Basic cable Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 161.94 
# 53514 

75 - Empire Cooler Service, Inc. 0000320661 Ice Mad1ine Rental Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 92.00 
# 53524 

1692 - M. K. Sports FEBRUARY2020 Youth Basketball Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 2,040.00 
Dffiaals # 53568 

Account 5290 - Other General Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 4 ---$2,409.94 

Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4038620314 Building Maintenance Paid by CheeI< 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 443.26 
Supplies # 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4030917185 Building Maintenance Paid by CheeI< 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 03/11/2020 443.26 
Supplies # 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4042415761 Rec Building Supplies Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 443.26 
# 53511 

5418 - Cintas Corporation 4043657477 Building Maintenance Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 451.26 
Supplies # 53511 

5867 - F55 Technologies llC 378588 Central Station / Radio Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 248.97 
/ Fire Alann Monitoring # 53531 

5426 - Menards 28638 Rec Building Supplies Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 52.63 
# 53572 

5426 - Menards 28053 Rec Building SUpplies Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11!2020 32.97 
# 53572 

5426 - Menards 27663 Rec Building Supplies Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 113.39 
# 53572 

5426 - Menards 29042 Building Maintenance Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 29.77 
Supplies # 53572 

5426 - Menards 29232 After School Snacks Paid by Cheel< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 9.96 
# 53572 

5426 - Menards 29161 After SChool Supplies Paid by CheeI< 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 28.23 
# 53572 

5123 - Nationwide Transmission & 747 Snow ~ower Repairs Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 65.00 
Complete Auto Senrice # 53579 
101 - SChultz Supply Company, Inc. 314275 Rec Building SUpplies Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 545.47 

# 53606 

Run by Gunn, Feliaa on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 16 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descriotion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 32 - Recreation 
Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance 

391- Tele-Tron Ace Hardware 87453 Rec Building SUpplies Paid by Ched< 
# 53615 

02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 14 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA. , Inc. maint.chgs # 53466 

Department 46 - Senior Citizen Program 
Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 

465 - Diamond GraphiCS, Inc. 0102830187 Senior Newsletter 

Account 5400-04 - Repairs &. Maintenance landscape 
294 - B. Davids Landscaping FEBRUARY2020 Senior Snow Removal 

-2 Feb. 2020 
5425 - Blades of Glory, Inc. 30-3 Senior Snow Removal 

Feb. 2020 
5425 - Blades of Glory, Inc. 

2932 - Richard C. Dahms 

FEBRUARY2020 Senior Snow Removal 
-1 Jan. 2020 
FEBRUARY2020 Senior Snow Removal 
-2 Feb. 2020 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 
Department 32 - Recreation Totals 

Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53520 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing Totals 

Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53496 
Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53504 
Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53504 
Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53594 

Account 5400-04 - Repairs &. Maintenance landscape Totals 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 
USA., Inc. 

Account 5505 - Equipment lease 
96 - PACE SUburban Bus 572074 

96 - PACE Suburban Bus 

96 - PACE Suburban Bus 

96 - PACE SUburban Bus 

96 - PACE SUburban Bus 

572095 

572099 

572124 

572125 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Konica Minolta copier 
maint.chgs 

1 Van @100 each 

1 Van @100 each 

1 Van @100 each 

1 Van @100 each 

1 Van @100 each 

Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 
# 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 

Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53587 
Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53587 
Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53587 
Paid by Check 03/ 04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53587 
Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 
# 53587 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 32 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 1 

03/04/ 2020 03/11/2020 

03/04/ 2020 03/11/2020 

03/04/2020 03/11!2020 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

Invoice Transactions 4 

02/24/2020 02/28/2020 

Invoice Transactions 1 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

03/04/2020 03/ 11/2020 

03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

559.09 

$3,466.52 

24.04 

$24.04 
$20,047.12 

575.00 

$575.00 

1,605.00 

1,875.00 

1,920.00 

1,590.00 

$6,990.00 

22.66 

$22.66 

100.00 

100.00 

100.00 

100.00 

100.00 

Page 17 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice DescriDtion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GI L Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 100 - General Fund 

Department 46 - Senior Citizen Program 
Account 5505 - Equipment Lease 

96· PACE Suburban Bus 572165 

Fund 205 - Library Fund 
Department 40 - Library 

1 Van @100each Paid by CheeI< 
# 53587 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5505 - Equipment Lease Totals 
Department 46 - Senior Citizen Program Totals 

Fund 100 - General Fund Totals 

Invoice Transactions 6 
Invoice Transactions 12 
Invoice Transactions 251 

Account 5105-07 - Community Programs Adult/Children Programs 
6055· Undsay lempa Aldape 202(H)(J()(){)254 Community Programs Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 

Adult/Children # 53564 
Programs 

5946 - Nona Chapman 2020-00000255 Community Programs Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
Adult/Children # 53581 
Programs 

3750· Rose's catering 8833 Community Programs Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/ 2020 03/11/ 2020 
Adult/Children # 53600 
Programs 

828· SYNCB / AMAZON 2020-00000257 Audio Visual Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/ 2020 03/11/2020 
# 53612 

Account 5105-07 - Community Programs Adult/Children Programs Totals Invoice Transactions 4 
Account 5215 - Telephone 

4024· AT & T 

4024· AT & T 

708795579402· Telephone 
3 
708795808202· Telephone 
3 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues Be. Publications 
5284· Amy Gullo 202(H)(J()(){)253 Training, Dues & 

Publications 
5946· Nona Chapman 2020-00000255 Community Programs 

Adult/Children 
Programs 

5737· Quinn Stitt 2020-00000256 Training, Dues & 

Account 5225 - Supplies 

32724 · Better Containers 

388· Demeo Educational Corporation 

233626 

6771302 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Publications 

Supplies 

Supplies 

Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53493 
Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53493 

Account 5215 - Telephone Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53490 
Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53581 

Paid by CheeI< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53593 

Account 5220 - Training, Dues Be. Publications Totals Invoice Transactions 3 

Paid by CheeI< 
# 53502 
Paid by Ched< 
# 53519 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

100.00 

$600.00 
$8,187.66 

$268,414.88 

50.00 

57.70 

487.50 

13.37 

$608.57 

53.08 

1,163.07 

$1,216.15 

22.60 

11.00 

28.75 

$62.35 

210.60 

364.74 

Page 18 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. InvOice OescriQtion Status Held Reason InvoICe Date Due Date Gil Date Received Date Pa:lment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 205 - Library Fund 

Department 40 - Library 
Account 5225 - Supplies 

492 - Fullmer Locksmith Service, Inc. N23046 Supplies Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 30.00 
# 53532 

1498 - Home Depot Credit Services 7521475 Supplies Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 81.63 
# 53543 

30520 - Midwest Tape 98573871 Audio Visual Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 231.78 
# 53573 

5946 - Nona Chapman 202(H){)()()()255 Community Programs Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 9.99 
Adult/Children # 53581 
Programs 

33183 - Office Depot 440313545001 Supplies Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 444.31 
# 53585 

828 - SYNCS / AMAZON 2020-00000257 Audio Visual Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 630.02 
# 53612 

34852 - The Flag Lady Corporation 26892 Supplies Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 499.68 
# 53617 

Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 9 ---$2,502.75 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 

5946 - Nona Chapman 2020-00000255 Community Programs Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 13.48 
Adult/Children # 53581 
Programs 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing Totals Invoice Transactions 1 $13.48 
Account 5245 - Books 

531 - Baker & Taylor Entertainment, Inc. 2035102455 Books Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 228.24 
# 53497 

5679 - Children'S Plus Inc 183232 Books Paid by Chod< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 1,625.14 
# 53510 

123 - Gale / Cengage 69965227 Books Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 249.44 
# 53533 

398 - Ingram Ubrary Services LLC 43935534 Books Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 6,915.07 
# 53547 

Account 5245 - Books Totals Invoice Transactions 4 ---$9,017.89 

Account 5250 • Audio Visual 
1545 - Blackstone Publishing 1163350 AudiO Visual Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 185.63 

# 53503 
30520 - Midwest Tape 98573871 AudiO Visual Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 1,825.76 

# 53573 
828 - SYNCS / AMAZON 2020-00000257 Audio Visual Paid by Ched< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 651.57 

# 53612 
Account 5250 . Audio Visual Totals Invoice Transactions 3 ---$2,662.96 

Account 5400 • Repairs & Maintenance 
5582 - Impact Networking,llC 1635218 Repairs & Maintenance Paid by Check 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 4,654.50 

# 53546 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 19 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 205 - Library Fund 

Department 40 - Library 
Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance 

1839 - Robert R. Andreas & Sons 022420-22 Contract Maintenance Paid by Cheel< 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/11/2020 3,990.00 
# 53597 

Account 5400 - Repairs &. Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 2 ---$8,644.50 
Account 5525 - Computer Support Databases 

5886 - Adobe Inc 1128613185 Computer Support 
Databases 

20693 - PC Connection sales Corp 57507354 Computer Support 
Databases 

Fund 210 - Community Development Fund 
Department 42 - CDBG 

Account 5235 - Postage &. Printing 
2705 - Lawndale News 832992 

5576 - V5 Printing services, LLC 18037 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

Spanish Ad 

Single Family Rehab 
Letter 

Paid by Cheel< 
# 53478 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53590 

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12/31/2019 

03/04/2020 03/04/2020 03/04/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5525 • Computer Support Oatabases Totals 
Department 40 - Library Totals 

Fund 205 - Library Fund Totals 

Invoice Transactions 2 
InVOice Transactions 30 
Invoice Transactions 30 

Paid by Cheel< 
# 53467 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53624 

02/21/2020 02/21/2020 02/21/ 2020 

03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 

02/28/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5235 - Postage & Printing Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid bV Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 
USA., Inc. maint.chgs # 53466 

Fund 215 - Motor Fuel Tax Fund 
Account 5205 - Utilities 

61 - CornEd 2021HlOOOO216 february 2020 electric 

5801 - Direct Energy Business 2ooS600413021 february 2020 electric 
85 

5801 - Direct Energy Business 2005600413021 february 2020 electric 
84 

Account 5400-03 - Repairs & Maintenance Traffic control 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals 
Department 42 - COBG Totals 

Fund 210 - Community Development Fund Totals 

Paid by Ched< 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53515 
Paid by Ched< 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53521 
Paid by Ched< 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 
# 53521 

Account 5205 - Utilities Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 3 
Invoice Transactions 3 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

InVOIce Transactions 3 

3047 - H & H Electric Company 34393 january 2020 street 
light maint 

Paid by Ched< 
# 53538 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 

Run by Gunn, Felida on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Account 5400-03 - Repairs & Maintenance Traffic control Totals 
Fund 215 - Motor Fuel Tax Fund Totals 

Invoice Transactions 1 
Invoice Transactions 4 

1,259.64 

803.00 

$2,062.64 
$26,791.29 
$26,791.29 

441.00 

120.00 

$561.00 

6.07 

$6.07 
$567.07 
$567.07 

46.28 

459.99 

132.77 

$639.04 

14,630.00 

$14,630.00 
$15,269.04 

Page 20 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Description Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 245 - Asset Forfeiture Fund 

Department 20 - Police Department 
Account 5191-15 - State law Enforcement Expenses 

5256 - Partners & Paws Veterinary SelVices 73063 K-9 Medical Paid by Ched< 
# 53588 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 

Account 5191-15 - State Law Enforcement Expenses Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5191-25 - State Communications I Comp 

302 - Sprint 713752663-056 Jan. 22 - Feb. 21 2020 Paid by CheeI< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53608 

Account 5191-25 - State Communications I Camp Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5192-20 - Federal Drug,Gang,Education I Awareness 

4890 - Sprague Distributing Co. 7050 Newsletter distribution Paid by Check 12/17/2019 12/17/2019 12/17/2019 03/05/2020 
# 53475 

Account 5192-20 - Federal Drug/Gang/Education I Awareness Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Account 5192-25 - Federal Contracting for Services 

S218 - ACS 1361 Consulting Services 

5218 - ACS 1362 Consulting Services 

Paid by Cheel< 
# 53477 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53477 

03/03/2020 

03/03/2020 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/03/2020 03/03/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5192-25 - Federal Contracting for Services Totals Invoice Transactions 2 
Account 5192-55 - Federal LE Equipment 

2693 - ABC Automotive ElectroniCS C229683 Vehide Repairs 

2693 - ABC Automotive Electronics 

2693 - ABC Automotive Electronics 

Fund 500 - Utilities Fund 
Department 44 - Water &. Sewer 

Account 5215 - Telephone 
4024 - AT & T 

5317 - Venzon Connect NWF, INC 

Account 5225 - Supplies 
13 - Sarge Temlinal & Trucking 

391 - Tele-Tron Ace Hardware 

C229915 Vehide Repairs 

C227510 Vehide Repairs 

708788456902- Jan. 17 - Feb. 162020 
2 
05VOOO002026 Monthly Service / Jan. 
082 2020 

188519 stone 

88136 P.W. Supplies 

Run by Gunn, FeliCia on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM 

Paid by Cheel< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53476 
Paid by CheeI< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53476 
Paid by CheeI< 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/03/2020 03/11/2020 
# 53476 

Account 5192-55 - Federal LE Equipment Totals Invoice Transactions 3 
Department 20 - Police Department Totals Invoice Transactions 8 

Paid by CheeI< 
# 53493 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53622 

Paid by Cheel< 
# 53498 
Paid by Cheel< 
# 53615 

Fund 245 - Asset Forfeiture Fund Totals Invoice Transactions 8 

03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5215 - Telephone Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 

03/11/2020 

03/11/2020 

Account 5225 - Supplies Totals Invoice Transactions 2 

35.00 

$35.00 

199.96 

$199.96 

1.350.00 

$1,350.00 

3,750.00 

3,750.00 

$7,500.00 

472.29 

472.29 

472.29 

$1,416.87 
$10,501.83 
$10,501.83 

868.71 

479.05 

$1,347.76 

1,841.60 

481.90 

$2,323.50 

Page 21 of 22 



Accounts Payable by GIL Distribution Report 
Payment Date Range 02/ 27/ 20 - 03/ 11/ 20 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Descriotion Status Held Reason Invoice Date Due Date GIL Date Received Date Payment Date Invoice Amount 
Fund 500 - Utilities Fund 

Department 44 - Water & Sewer 
Account 5300 - Professional Services 

4635 - Premier Specialties 13570 Pump Repair Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 161.20 
# 53591 

2789 - Roadsafe - Romeoville RT223473 Arrow Board Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 650.00 
# 53596 

3372 - U5IC Locating Services, Inc. 365805 january 2020 locating Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 3,427.99 
# 53621 

Account 5300 - Professional Services Totals Invoice Transactions 3 $4,239.19 
Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance 

5166 - Konica Minolta Business Solutions 9006481706 Konica Minolta copier Paid by Check 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/24/2020 02/28/2020 .10 
USA., Inc. maint.chgs # 53466 

Account 5405 - Copier Maintenance Totals Invoice Transactions 1 $0.10 
Account 5800-41 - Capital Outlay Flood Mitigation Program 

ST'EVE & KATliY CRAIG 2020-00000262 FLOOD MmGATION Paid by Check 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/02/2020 03/11/2020 3,500.00 
PROGRAM # 53642 

Account 5800-41 - Capital Outlay Flood Mitigation Program Totals Invoice Transactions 1 $3,500.00 
Department 44 - Water & Sewer Totals Invoice Transactions 9 $11,410.55 

Fund 500 - Utilities Fund Totals Invoice Transactions 9 $11,410.55 
Fund 600 - Internal Service Fund 

Account 5650 - Claims - General Liability 
EDUARDO CORONADO 148778 Broken Windshield Paid by Check 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/05/2020 03/11/2020 180.25 

# 53632 
Account 5650 - Claims - General Liability Totals Invoice Transactions 1 

Fund 600 - Internal Service Fund Totals Invoice Transactions 1 
Grand Totals Invoice Transactions 306 

Run by Gunn, Felicia on 03/06/2020 08:08:54 AM Page 22 of 22 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

A Century of Progress with Pride 

Charles D. Lazzara 
Building Director K-3 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn. Illinois 60402-070 1 Telt!phollt!: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 788-1427 
www.bcrwyn-i l.gov 

March 4, 2020 

Honorable Robert 1. Lovero 
Mayor of the City of Berwyn 
Members of City Council 

Re: Building and Local Improvement Permits 

Gentlemen: 

Attached is the financial report of Building and Local Improvement Permits issued by 
the City of Berwyn for the month of February 2020, along with a copy of Permit 
Statistics for this same period. 

Building Director 



Report Of Building Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 
Betweell: 21112020 

Name alld Address 

Javier Solorzano & Anel Oomingu 2521 S. Oak Park Avenue 

HEPBURN GROUP LLC 3541 S. Clarence Avenue 

Rich Minsheg LLC 2105 S. Highland Avenue 

Bret Pond & Sandra Florinda 3828 S. Maple Avenue 

Jaime Jaramillo 1909 S. Ridgeland Avenue 

Elevated Partners LLC 1339 S. Wenonah Avenue 

Five F. Inc 6710 W . Cermak Road 

Tony Lee 1527 S. Wisconsin Avenue 

Oscar A. Chavez 2714 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

Alld 212912020 

PVC & FURNACE REPLACEMENT. BOILERS TO FORCED 
AIR. CHIMNEY LINER BEING INSTALLED ALL BEDROOMS 
REQUIRE A RETURN. PVC CONDENSERS MUST BE 
LOCATED BEHIND THE HOUSE 3' FROM PROPERTY LOT 
LINE AND ELECTRICAL METER. 

Issued Permit No_ 

2/10/2020 Bldg-B 9447-0 

INTERIOR REMODEL - 1ST FLOOR WILL CONSIST OF 2111 /2020 Bldg-B 9448-0 
KITCHEN, EXISTING FULL BATHROOM, LIVING ROOM , 
DIN ING ROOM, AND 2 EXISTING BEDROOMS. ATTIC WILL 
CONSIST OF 1 NEW BEDROOM AND 1 NEW FULL 
BATHROOM. BASEMENT WILL BE FINISHED WITH NEW 
FULL BATHROOM, LAUNDRY ROOM. 

REMODEL OF THE 2 UNIT - REMODEL 2 KITCHENS AND 2 2114/2020 Bldg-B 9450-0 
BATHROOMS. BASEMENT WILL REMAIN WILL REMAIN 
UNFINISHED JUST DRY WALLING THE CEILING ONLY. 
BASEMENT WILL REMAIN STORAGE ONLY. RIR 
WINDOWS AND BRING TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
REQUIRED. REPAIR DRYWALL AS NEEDED. BO 

BUILD NEW DETACHED FRAME GARAGE WITH 2114/2020 Bldg-B 9451-0 
ELECTRICAL ON EXISTING CONCRETE 

INTERIOR REMODELING AND 2ND FLOOR ADDITION . 1ST 2118/2020 Bldg-B 9452-0 
FLOOR WILL CONSIST OF KITCHEN, LIVING ROOM, 
DINING ROOM, 1 EXISTING BEDROOM - WILL CREATE AN 
OPEN CONCEPT BY REMOVING 1 BEDROOM AND 
STUDY, RELOCATE THE EXITING BATHROOM. 2ND 
FLOOR NEW ADDITION WITH 3 NEW BED 

REMODEL THE EXISTING 2 FLAT. DORMER ATTIC AND 2/18/2020 Bldg-B 9453-0 
ADD FULL BATHROOM TO 2ND FLOOR. REMODEL THE 2 
KITCHEN AND 3 EXISTING BATHROOMS. INSULATE AND 
DRYWALL THE ATTIC TO CREATE A NEW BEDROOM. 
REPAIR FRAMING WHERE NECESSARY, INSTALL 
EXTERIOR SIDING AND COPPING. INST 

RESTAURANT REMODEL OF KITCHEN, 2 BATHRROMS, 2118/2020 Bldg-B 9454-0 
BAR & DINING AREA. 

KITCHEN REMODEL. EXISTING KITCHEN FIXTURES & 2124/2020 Bldg-B 9455-0 
CAB INET LAYOUT TO REMAIN AT EXISTING LOCATIONS. 
BATH REMODEL- RPLACE EXISTING FIXTURES WITH 
NEW. REFINISH HARDWOOD FLOORS & PAINT ALL 
WALLS & CELIINGS. INSTALL NEW WINDOWS IN LIVING 
& DINING ROOM. INSTALL NEW A 

REMOVE THE KITCHEN AND BATHROOM ON THE 1 ST 2125/2020 Bldg-B 9456-0 
FLOOR. RIR CEILING IN THE KITCHEN AND DINING 
ROOM. ADD 2 NEW BEDROOMS TO THE BASEMENT 
BRING WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE NEEDED. 

WedneJdllY, Mllrc:h 4, 202(} 

Cost Of 

Improvements 

$21,040.00 

$45,000.00 

$87,000.00 

$15,934.00 

$140,000.00 

$40,200.00 

$25,000.00 

$38,078.00 

$31 ,000.00 

Cost Of 

Permit 

$620.00 

$1,460.00 

$2,070.00 

$350.00 

$4,825.00 

$665.00 

$2,265.00 

$1,025.00 

$1 ,000.00 



Report Of Building Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 

Name and Address 

IQ UNLIMITED, LLC 

Merriment Homes 

Between: 211/2020 

1433 S. Gunderson Avenue 

1216 S. Wesley Avenue 

26 Building Permits b;sued During Period 

And 212912020 

2ND FL ADDITION·ALL NEW PLUMBING·HEATING· 
ELECTRICAL 4 BEDROOM 3 BATH ALL ABOVE GROUND. 
BASEMENT LAUNDRY, NEW FURNACE WITH DUCT 
WORK. NEW WINDOWS, SIDING. NEW 1" WATER 
SERVICE. NEW DECK ON REAR OF HOUSE 

New Construction to include new 200 amp service & wiring. 
New Hvac, heating aie, & new plumbing supply/waste lines & 
1 1/2" water line. 8sm! to include family room , bathroom , 1 
bedroom , laundry room & utility room. 1st fI to include 2 
bedrooms, 2 bathroom 

Issued Permit No. 

2127/2020 Bldg·B 9457-0 

2128/2020 Bldg·B 9458-0 

To/als . . ... 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Cost Of 

Improvements 

$100,000.00 

$180,000.00 

$923,186.011 

Cost Of 

Permit 

$3,510.00 

$4,040.00 

$28,850.00 



Report Of Building Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 

Name and Address 

Matt Construction Group Inc 

Saleem Mohhammed 

Blue Fin Homes LLC 

Black Gold Properties LP 

Black Gold Properties LP 

Black Gold Properties LP 

R&R Trategic Properties LLC 

Between: 211/2020 

1438 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

3528 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

1423 S. Clarence Avenue 

2343 S. Scoville Avenue 

2343 S. Scoville Avenue 

2343 S. Scoville Avenue 

1516 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

Nancy L. Carrasco & Ricardo San 3242 S. Wesley Avenue 

Luis Trela 

Miguel A. Arredondo 

Olivero Pedroza 

TawmyAvery 

Vincent & Paul Sliwa 

1503 Kenilworth Inc 

DZD Group LLC 

1532 S. Ridgeland Avenue 

3506 S. Elmwood Avenue 

2337 S. Harvey Avenue 

1510 S. Wenonah Avenue 

2306 S. Harvey Avenue 

1503 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

2307 S. Euclid Avenue 

And 212912020 

PAYING FOR ADDITIONAL INSPECTION · CHLOROLOY 
INSPECTION, PRE·POUR GARAGE SLAB, PRE·POUR 
PRIVATE SIDEWALK AND PLUMBING UNDERGROUND 
DIVORCE. 

Issu.ed Permit No. 

2111 /2020 Bldg·B 8944·2 

2 PLUMBING UNDERGROUND PVS INPSECTION FEES 2128/2020 Bldg·B 9054·2 
AND GAS PRESSURE TEST FEE 

PAYING FOR 2 PLOUMBING FINAL RE·INSPECTIONS···· 2/18/2020 Bldg·B 9135·1 
FEES ONLY 

PAYING PLUMBING FINAL RE INSPECTION 2/20/2020 Bldg·B 9174·1 

ELECTRICAL SERVICE FEE ONLY 2125/2020 Bldg·B 9174·2 

PAYING FOR HVAC FINAL & PERMIT FINAL INSPECTIONS 2128/2020 Bldg·B 9174·3 

PAYING FOR ELECTRICLA RE·INSPECTION FEES 2127/2020 Bldg·B 9184·2 

HVAC ROUGH RE·INSEPCTION FEE ONLY WITH B·9270·0 2113/2020 Bldg·B 9270·1 

PAYING FOR STACK TEST, ELECTRIC SERVICE & GAS 2125/2020 Bldg·B 9348· 1 
PRESSURE TEST FEES 

PLUMBING UNDERGROUND REINSPECTION FEES ONLY 2128/2020 Bldg·B 9420·1 

PLUMBING ROUGH REINSPECTION AND CORRECTIONS · 2/4/2020 Bldg·B 9441-1 
BASEMENT· FINISHING THE BASEMENT WITH FRAMING. 
INSULATION, REC ROOM, 11 X7 2 BEDROOMS. 
ENCLOSING THE FURNACE. THERE IS AN EXISTING 
BATHROOM BUT WILL NOT BE REMODELING IT. 
OUTLETS IN THE BEDROOMS WILL BE BROUGHT 

DEMOLISH EXISTING FRAME GARAGE AND ERECT 2/4/2020 Bldg·B 9443·0 
14'X20'. DETACHED FRAME GARAGE. HEIGH WILL E 
APPROX. 11' 

HOME REMODELING INTERIOR. 1ST FL· REMOVE 2/5/2020 Bldg·B 9444·0 
PLASTER AND INSTALL NEW DRYWALL AND TRIM. 
FLOORS, DOORS & CABINETS PAINT ALL WALLS. 
INSTALL NEW LIGHT FIXTURES AND OUTLETS TO BE 
PERFORMED BY ELECTRICIAN. 2ND FL· INSTALL 
WALLS AND DRY WALL, TRIM CARPET, DOORS, 

INTERIOR REMODEL, NEW ELECTRICAL, PLUMBING, 215/2020 Bldg·B 9445·0 
HVAC, FRAMING DOORS, WINDOWS,FLOOR,DRYWALL, 
INSTULATION. NEW KITCHEN CABINETS. APPLIANCES. 
PAINTING NEW PORCH 8 X 18 NEW DECK 12 X18. 1ST FL 
KITCHEN, LIVING. EXISTING POWDER ROOM & MECH 
LAUNDRY. 2ND FL. 3 NEW BE 

Interior remodel -lsI II kitchen , existing full bath, living room & 2/6/2020 Bldg-S 9446-0 
dining room . 1 existing bedroom & removing 1 bedroom to 
make living room & dining room larger. 2nd fl addition- 3 new 
bedrooms , 2 baths. 8sm! will be finished wI laundry, 
mechanical , cffic 

Wednesday, Mard, 4, 2020 

Cost Of 

Improvements 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$3,000.00 

$17,934.00 

$25,000.00 

$54,000.00 

$100,000.00 

Cost Of 

Permit 

$215.00 

$150.00 

$50.00 

$50.00 

$50.00 

$130.00 

$100.00 

$65.00 

$150.00 

$100.00 

$150.00 

$325.00 

$1 ,035.00 

$1 ,560.00 

$2,890.00 



Permits Issued Wednesday, March 4, 2020 9:04 AM 

For Period Beginning 2/112019 And Ending 2/29/2020 

Feb '2020 ~ 
Jan '2020 .. DSign 

Dec '2019 DRool 

Nov '2019 DPOD 

Oct ' 2019 

Sep '2019 ~ DMural 

Aug '2019 • 
_Impr 

III HVAC 

Jul'2019 m 
Jun '2019 • =-

CiGar 

1m Fenee 

May '2019 "" !!!!:::= DElee 

, 
Apr '2019 

DDump 

Mar '2019 • Bldg 

Feb '2019 

o 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 

Permit Detail 

2020 February Bldg 26 2020 January Bldg 32 
Dump 5 Dump 10 
Elee 19 Elec 14 
Fence 4 Fence 7 
HVAC 11 HVAC 8 
Impr 106 Impr 93 
Plum 11 Plum 10 
POD 2 POD 
Roof 6 Roof 11 
Sign 2 Sign 4 
SmCell 190 

193 



Permit Detail 

2019 December Bldg 44 2019 June Bldg 42 
Dump 8 Dump 8 
Etec 18 Erec 18 
Fence 4 Fence 32 
HVAC 12 Gar 8 
Impr 166 HVAC 7 
Plum 13 Impr 220 
POD 2 Plum 18 
Roof 24 POD 3 
Sign 2 Roof 58 
SmCell Sign 6 

294 420 

2019 November Bldg 27 2019 May Bldg 41 
Dump 13 Dump 13 
Elec 29 Elec 24 
Fence 5 Fence 25 
Gar 2 Gar 5 
HVAC 11 HVAC 14 
Impr 143 Impr 289 
Plum 12 Mural 
POD 3 Plum 28 
Roof 55 POD 4 
Sign 3 Roof 61 

303 Sign 3 

2019 October Bldg 38 SmCell 

Dump 16 509 

Elee 28 2019 April Bldg 49 
Fence 21 Dump 6 
Gar 8 Erec 18 
HVAC 9 Fence 32 
Impr 332 Gar 7 
Plum 20 HVAC 6 
POD 1 Impr 246 
Roof 82 Plum 24 
Sign 3 POD 5 

558 Roof 54 

2019 September Bldg 40 Sign 2 

Dump 8 SmCeli 2 

Erec 20 451 

Fence 26 2019 March Bldg 47 
Gar 5 Dump 16 
HVAC 6 Elec 10 
Impr 329 Fence 13 
Plum 11 Gar 1 
POD 2 HVAC 8 
Roof 60 Impr 145 
Sign 2 Plum 22 
SmCell 2 Roof 32 

511 Sign 5 

2019 August Bldg 40 SmCell 

Dump 13 300 

Erec 27 2019 February Bldg 24 
Fence 30 Dump 11 
Gar 11 Erec 13 
HVAC 3 Fence 1 
Impr 333 Gar 2 
Plum 14 HVAC 4 
POD 2 Impr 71 
Roof 58 Plum 18 
Sign 4 POD 
SmCell Roof 6 

536 Sign 

2019 July Bldg 42 SmCeli 

Dump 19 153 

Elec 31 
Fence 28 
Gar 5 
HVAC 22 
Impr 274 
Plum 22 
POD 3 
Roof 72 
Sign 
SmCell 

520 



Permit Detail 

Total Permits Issued 4938 



Permits Issued By The Building Department Wedllesday, March 4, 2020 

Betweell: 2/112020 Alld 212912020 

Buildillg Permits Issued: 26 
Cost of Improvemellts: $923,186.00 

Dumpster Permits Issued: 5 
Cost of Improvemellts: $0.00 

Electrical Permits Issued: 19 
Cost of Improvemellts: $55,936.00 

Fellce Permits Isslled: 4 
Cost of Improvemellts: $10,064.00 

HVAC Permits Isslled: /I 
Cost of Improvemellts: $60,722.63 

Locallmproveme1lt Permits Issued: 106 
Cost of Improvemellts: $1,252,168.02 

Plumbillg Permits Issued: /I 
Cost of Improvemellts: $55,438.00 

POD Permits Isslled: 2 
Cost of Improveme1lts: $0.00 

Roofi1lg Permits Issued: 6 
Cost of Improvemellts: $45,028.00 

Sigll Permits Isslled: 2 
Cost of Improvemellts: $7,200.00 

SMALL CELL Permits Issued: I 
Cost of Improvemellts: $45,000.00 

Total Permits: 193 Total Improvemellts: $.2,454,742.65 

Fees Collected 
Alley Open Fee $50.00 

Backfill Inspection $65.00 

Building Permit Fee $11 ,795.00 

( Building: Perm;1 Fees Report ) I'age I of 3 



Permits Issued By The Building Department Wed1lesday, Marcil 4, 2020 

Between: 2/112020 And 212912020 

Permit Final $3,770.00 

Chimney Liner Rough $350.00 

Chimney Liner Final $300.00 

Gutter/Downspout Final Inspection $50.00 

Masonry Final Inspection $75.00 

Local Improvement Permit Fee $12,165.00 

Electrical Rough $1,650.00 

Electrical Permit Fees $1,100.00 

Preliminary Electric $200.00 

Electrical Underground $200.00 

Electrical Service $650.00 

Electrical Final $3,350.00 

Sign Permit Fees $525.00 

Footing Inspection $400.00 

Preliminary Framing $345.00 

Framing Rough $1,740.00 

Fence Permit Fee $140.00 

Foundation Inspection $65.00 

Plumbing Rough $1,700.00 

Plumbing Permit Fees $975.00 

Hydronic Deconversion $100.00 

Plumbing Final $2,100.00 

Preliminary Plumbing $150.00 

Plumbing Inspection Underground $850.00 

Plumbing Underground-Tap $300.00 

Plumbing Underground-Service $300.00 

Plumbing Underground-Divorce $350.00 

Plumbing Underground-PVC Installation $250.00 

Plumbing Underground-Bedding Inspection $300.00 

Plumbing Underground-Head Test $300.00 

Chloroloy Inspection $50.00 

Post Hole/Pier Inspection $545.00 

RPZ TestlDDCA Valve $50.00 

HVAC Above Ceiling $140.00 

HVAC Permit Fees $780.00 

HVAC Rough $1 ,365.00 

HVAC Final $2,350.00 

Insulation/Fire Stopping Inspection $1,330.00 

Water Meter Upgrade Fee $1 ,125.00 

Tap Fee I $3,210.00 

( Bui/ding: Permit Fees Report ) Page 2 of 3 



Permits Issued By The Building Department Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Between: 21112020 Al1d 212912020 

Demolition Fees $25.00 

Dumpster/POD $600.00 

Parkway Use $100.00 

Parkway Inspection $275.00 

Pre-Pour Inspection $295.00 

Slab Pre-Pour $310.00 

Stack Test $650.00 

Sidewalk Opening $225.00 

Pre-Pour StrVSdwklAlley $250.00 

Street Opening $300.00 

Fine - Working Without Permit $400.00 

Roof Covering Permit Fees $410.00 

Roof Final Inspection $900.00 

Gas Pressure Test $200.00 

Preliminary Fire Department $50.00 

Final Fire Department $50.00 

Health Department I $50.00 

Restoration Inspection $300.00 

Small Cell APPROVED Fee $2,000.00 

Miscellaneous Fees $75.00 

I Total Fees Collected . $65,070.00 

( Buildillg: Permit Fees Report ) Page 3 0/3 



Report Of BuildinglImprovement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 
Between: 21112020 

Name and Address 

Luis A Mena 1930 S. Clarence Avenue 

Timothy Ness & Thomas Thorn 1217 S. East Avenue 

2 

Isela Ponce 2842 S. Wenonah Avenue 

3 
Sheila E. Anderson 1925 S. Clarence Avenue 

4 

1229, LLC 1642 S. Gunderson Avenue 

Linda Knapton & Ronaldson Do 1616 S. Home Avenue 

Robert Carey 

7 
Robert Kociara 

8 

6503 W. 281h Place 

3627 S. Elmwood Avenue 

MARTHA A. BOZIC [TRUST} 1641 S. Kenilworlh Avenue 

9 

And 212912020 
Census Permit 

P.I.N.# Class Issued 

16·19·418·025·0000 ELECTRICAL SERVICE RE· R 2/3/2020 Impr·L 
INSPECTION---------- COMPLIANCE 
VIOLATIONS -. DECONVERT BASEMENT 
KITCHEN - MUST CAPP ALL PIPES BACK AT 
THE SOURCE. SPOT TUCKPOINT. REPLACE 
MISSING VENT COVERS. REPLACE 
OUTLETS/SWITCH BOX COVERS. REPLACE 
BROKER OUTLETS, REPLACE BASEB 

16-19-204-008-0000 paying for plumbing final reinspection. R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 

16-30-3 10-029-0000 INSTALL 1 CONE EGRESS CASEMENT R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 
HOPPER WINDOW IN BASEMENT OPENING. 
BRING WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
NEEDED. 

16-19-419-009-0000 INSTALLATION OF A 9.18 KW ROOF- R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 
MOUNTED SOLAR PHOTOVOL TAlC SYSTEM 
ON RESIDENCE---- MUST HAVE TAP 
CONNECTORS 

16-19-405-040-0000 ATF -INSTALLING NEW EXIT AND R 213/2020 Elec-L 
EMERGENCY LIGHTS, SMOKES DET IN 
COMMON AREAS. NEW ELECTRICAL 200 
AMP. 3 GANG METER SOCKET. 

16-19-303-036-0000 WATER HEATER REPLACEMENT_ WATER R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 
HEATERS REQUIRE EXPANSION TANKS. 

16-30-413-040-0000 TEAR OFF AND RESHINGLE THE GARAGE_ R 213/2020 Rool-L 

16-31 -414-012-0000 REPLACING 4 WINDOWS IN THE KITCHEN R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 

16-19-306-016-0000 TIO ROOF ON GARAGE. INSTALL SIDING R 2/3/2020 Impr-L 
OVER THE EXISTING SIDING ON GARAGE. 
INSTALL 3 WINDOWS & R&R EXISTING 
SERVICE DOOR. INSTALL NEW VINYL SIDING 
ON BACK PORCH OVER EXISTING SIDING. 

Wednc!.'day, March 4, 2020 

Cost Of Cost Of 

Permit # Improvements Permit 

80144·2 $0.00 $50.00 

85085-1 $0.00 $50.00 

85588-0 $765.00 $90.00 

85597-0 $32,265.00 $555.00 

85598-0 $2.200.00 $305.00 

85599-0 $2.545_00 $85.00 

85600-0 $1 ,980.00 $40.00 

85601 -0 $2,380.00 $55.00 

85602-0 $9,800.00 $160_00 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wedll esday, MardI 4, 2020 

Between: 21112020 And 212912020 
Census Permit Cm·t Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I.N. # Class Issued Permit # Impro vements Permit 

Olivero Pedroza 2337 S. Harvey Avenue 16·29·111 ·016·0000 PLUMBING ROUGH REINSPECTION AND R 214/2020 Bldg·B 9441-1 $3.000.00 $150.00 
CORRECTIONS· BASEMENT· FINISHING THE 
BASEMENT WITH FRAMING, INSULATION, 
REC ROOM, l1X7 2 BEDROOMS. ENCLOSING 
THE FURNACE. THERE IS AN EXISTING 
BATHROOM BUT WILL NOT BE REMODELING 
IT. OUTLETS IN THE BEDROOMS WILL BE 
BROUGHT 

10 

Tawmy Avery 1510 S. Wenonah Avenue 16·19·126·016·0000 DEMOLISH EXISTING FRAME GARAGE AND R 214/2020 Bldg·B 9443·0 $17,934.00 $325.00 
ERECT 14'X20', DETACHED FRAME GARAGE. 
HEIGH WILL E APPROX. 11 ' 

11 

J Development LLC 6410 W. Fairfield Avenue 16·31·220·040·0000 PLUMB. UG PVC INSTALLATION, PLUMB. UG R 2/4/2020 Impr·L 84166·1 $0.00 $215.00 
PVC BEDDING, PLUMB. UG PVC HEAD TEST, 
FRAMING ROUGH REINSPECTION .. ·- FEES 
ONLY. 

12 

Stephen A & Patricia L Kirshe 2507 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16·29·124·004·0000 AlC REPLACE 2.5 TON· FURNACE REPLACE R 214/2020 HVAC·L 85603·0 $8,995.00 $190.00 
80% EFF 90K BTU'S AlC CONDENSERS MUST 
BE LOCATED BEHIND THE HOUSE 3' FROM 
PROPERTY LOT LINE AND ELECTRICAL 
METER. 

13 

Fernando & Ana M. Izaguirre 1811 S. Gunderson Avenue 16·19·414·005·0000 REPLACE EXISTING MILL BANK METER BOX R 2/4/2020 Elec·L 85604·0 $11 ,500.00 $125.00 
FOR THREE MILL BANK 200AMP METER BOX. 
FURNISH AND INSTALL 20 SPACE 100 AMP 
SEIMENS MAIN BREAKER PANEL FOR 
PUBLIC COMMON AREAS. RELOCATE 
COMMON AREA CIRCUITS TO NEW LOAD 
CENTER. 

14 

6700 W 26th Street 6700 W. 26th Street 0 99·99·999·000·0619 DEPOT DISTRICT· SOIL BORE 40 DIFFERENT 2/4/2020 Impr·L 85605·0 $61 ,050.00 $0.00 
AREAS. 

15 

lIiana Cespedes Benitez 3444 S. Lombard Avenue 16·32·133·051·0000 GRIND AND TUCKPOINT THE SOUTH, NORTH R 214/2020 Impr·L 85606·0 $6,500.00 $290.00 
AND WEST SIDE OF THE BUILDINGI REMOVE 
FRONT FACE BRICK ON THE HOUSE, 
INSTALL NEW BRICK TIES, THEN CALL FOR 
INSPECTION, AND THEN INSTALL NEW FACE 
BRICK. RIR 13 WINDOWS ON THE 1ST 
FLOOR, KITCHEN, BATHROOM, 2 BEDROOMS 
AND 

16 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn WedllesdllY, March 4, 2020 

Betweell: 211/2020 Alld 212912020 
Cellsus Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name alld Address P.I.N. # Class Issued Permit # Improvemellts Permit 

Kris A. Ingmanson & Carol L. I 3106 S. Grove Avenue 16·31 ·1 06·021·0000 REMOVE ALUM SIDI NG, INSTALL TYVEK TO R 214/2020 Impr-L 85607-0 $16,220.00 $315.00 
CODE AND INSTALL NEW VINYL SIDING ON 
THE HOUSE 

17 

Cerberus SFR Holdings LP 1340 S. Wesley Avenue 16-19-209-038-0000 POD CONTAINER R 214/2020 PODol 85608-0 $0.00 $50.00 

18 

1229, LLC 1642 S. Gunderson Avenue 16-1 9-405-040-0000 PAYING FOR 2 ELECTRICAL INSPECTION R 214/2020 Elec-L 85609-0 $0.00 $100.00 
FROM ATF WORK THAT WAS DONE IN 2013 

19 

Vincent & Paul Sliwa 2306 S. Harvey Avenue 16-29-1 10-023-0000 HOME REMODELING INTERIOR. 1ST FL- R 2/5/2020 Bldg-B 9444-0 $25,000.00 $1 ,035.00 
REMOVE PLASTER AND INSTALL NEW 
DRYWALL AND TRIM, FLOORS, DOORS & 
CABINETS PAINT ALL WALLS. INSTALL NEW 
LIGHT FIXTURES AND OUTLETS TO BE 
PERFORMED BY ELECTRICIAN. 2ND FL-
INSTALL WALLS AND DRY WALL, TRIM 
CARPET, DOORS, 

20 

1503 Kenilworth Inc 1503 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16· 19·130·002-0000 INTERIOR REMODEL, NEW ELECTRICAL, R 215/2020 Bldg-B 9445-0 $54,000.00 $1,560.00 
PLUMBING, HVAC, FRAMING DOORS, 
WI NDOWS,FLOOR,DRYWALL,I NSTULATION. 
NEW KITCHEN CABI NETS, APPLIANCES. 
PAINTING NEW PORCH 8 X 18 NEW DECK 12 
X18. 1ST FL KITCHEN, LIVING, EXISTING 
POWDER ROOM & MECH LAUNDRY. 2ND FL. 
3 NEW BE 

21 

Jesus & Mayra Santiago 1332 S. Clinton Avenue 16-19·11 2-039-0000 PAYI NG FOR ELECTRIC REINSPECT ION R 2/5/2020 Impr-L 85356-1 $0.00 $50.00 

22 

BRANDON POLA Y 3144 S. Harvey Avenue 16-32-108-015-0000 FRAMI NG ROUGH INSPECTION, INSUALTION R 2/5/2020 Impr-L 85459-1 $0.00 $100.00 
INSPECTION------ FEES ONLY WILL BE PART 
OF PERMIT L-85459-0 

23 

Andre & Vilma Martinez 6514 W. Sinclair Avenue 16-31-227-012-0000 TIO & RE ROOF REPLACE GUTTERS. R 215/2020 Impr-L 85610-0 $22,555.00 $395.00 
DOWNSPOUTS MUST DISBURSE ONTO 
PRIVATE PROPERTY. 

24 

Raymundo & T omasa Galarza 6944 W . 29th Sireet 16-30-317-036·0000 UPGRADE EKLECTR IC SERVICES TO CODE, R 215/2020 Elec-L 85611 -0 $4,800.00 $120.00 
REMOVE BOX FROM BASEMENT, 
REPAIRIREPLACE BASEMENT BOTH 
EXHAUST FAN, REPLACE EXISTING GFCI 
SUMP PUMP WITH SI MPLEX OUTLET 

25 

T ajudeen 0 Ogbara Jr 1521 S. Elmwood Avenue 1 6-19·231-009-0000 interior demo R 2/5/2020 Impr-L 85612·0 $0.00 $0.00 

26 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wedllesday, March 4, 2020 

Between: 2/112020 And 212912020 
Cellslls Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name alld Address P.I.N. # Class Issued Permit # Improvemellts Permit 

Unity Lutheran Church 3101 S. Euclid Avenue 16-31·201·001 -0000 REMOVE OLD ROOF DOWN TO WOOD FECK. C 2/5/2020 Rool·L 85613·0 $14.000.00 $0.00 
INSTALL TPO PER CODE AND 1" INSULATION 
PER CODE. 

27 

Michael Cervantes Jr. & Veron; 3712 S. Highland Avenue 16-32-317-034-0000 REMOVE 2 WINDOWS IN ONE BEDROOM R 2/5/2020 Impr·L 85614-0 $5 ,000 .00 $135.00 
MAKE IT UP TO CITY CODE. REMOVE ONE 
BASEMENT WINDOW AND MAKE IT EGRESS. 
ALSO RIR 14 OTHER WINDOWS BRING 
WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
NEEDED. 

28 

Fernando Veramontes 2424 S. Gunderson Avenue 16-30·221·028·0000 ATF BSMT BATHROOM ADDED. DECONVERT R 215/2020 Impr-L 85615-0 $3,000.00 $565.00 
BSMT KITCHEN 

29 

Gabriel Dominguez 1646 S. Harvey Avenue 16-20-302-037-0000 CLOSING OFF BACK REAR ENTRANCE DOOR R 2/5/2020 Impr·L 85616-0 $300.00 $90.00 
AND STAIRWAY OF THE HOUSE. DOOR WILL 
BE CLOSED OFF, FRAMED, INSULATED, 
DRYWALLED AND HAVE SIDING INSTALED. 

30 

OZO Group LLC 2307 S. Euclid Avenue 16-30-209-003-0000 Interior remodel-lsI fl kitchen, existing full bath, R 2/6/2020 Bldg-B 9446·0 $100,000.00 $2 ,640 .00 
living room & dining room. 1 existing bedroom & 
removing 1 bedroom to make living room & dining 
room larger. 2nd fI addition- 3 new bedrooms, 2 
baths. 8smt will be finished wI laundry, 
mechanical , effie 

31 

Gustavo Dias 3811 S. Elmwood Avenue 16-31 -424-125-0000 PAYING FOR CHIMNEY LINER ROUGH R 2/6/2020 HVAC-I 83745-1 $0.00 $50.00 
INSPECTION 

32 

Cibrook LTD 2442 S. Highland Avenue 16-29-117-035-0000 PAYING FOR ELECTRIC ROUGH R 2/6/2020 Impr-L 84901 -2 $0.00 $50.00 
REINSPECTION 

33 

Mark L Breen & Sara A. Steve 1520 S. Euclid Avenue 16-19-224-031 -0000 BUILDING NEW BACK DECK, REFLOORING & R 216/2020 Impr-L 85617-0 $17,100.00 $430.00 
REPAIRING FRONT PORCH IF NEEDED 

34 

Hector Garcia 2228 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-30-207-028-0000 INTERIOR DEMO KITCHEN & BATH R 216/2020 Impr-L 85618-0 $2,500.00 $55.00 

35 

Sonia Rivera 6530 W. Fairfield Avenue 16-31 -219·008-0000 R & R EXISTING FRONT DOOR- SAME SIZE R 216/2020 Impr-L 85619-0 $2,000.00 $40.00 
NO CHANGES. REPLACE WINDOWS IN 
DINING & LIVING ROOM & IN FRONT OF 
HOME NEXT TO FRONT DOOR 

36 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wel/lle!u/ay, Marc:h 4, 2020 

Between: 2/1/2020 And 212912020 
Census Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I.N.# Class Issued Permit # Improvements Permit 

Luis Valdovinos 2311 S. Euclid Avenue 16·30·209·005·0000 INSTALLATION OF ROOFTOP SOLAR R 21712020 Impr·L 85620·0 $8,113.00 $195.00 
PANELS·· .. MUST HAVE TAP CONNECTROS 

37 

Elizabeth Ann Seltzer 2710 S. Euclid Avenue 16·30·406·023·0000 INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PANELS .. • MUST R 217/2020 Impr·L 85621·0 $11 ,590.00 $240.00 
HAVE TAP CONNECTROS 

38 

Tais Tafolla 1819 S. Clinton Avenue 16·19·313·008·0000 TEAR OFF AND RE ROOF THE HOUSE AND R 2/7/2020 Impr·L 85622·0 $4,600.00 $150.00 
GARAGE 

39 

Kris A. Ingmanson & Carol L. I 3106 S. Grove Avenue 16·31-106·021 ·0000 DEMO AND REBUILD FRONT PORCH. R 217/2020 Impr·L 85623·0 $3,500.00 $220.00 

40 

Berwyn Properties, LLC 7115·25 W. 36th Sireel 16-31 -300-023-0000 UNIT 7123· REMOVE SURFACE MOUNTED R 21712020 Impr-L 85624-0 $7,000.00 $240.00 
ELECTRICAL IN KITCHEN ONLY, 
ROUGHfTRIM KITCHEN ELECTRICAL, NEW 
KITCHEN CABINETS/COUNTERS. 
UNIT 7119 112· REMOVE SURFACE 
MOUNTED ELECTRICAL, ROUGHfTRIM 
KITCHEN ELECTRICAL, NEW KITCHEN 
CABINETS/COUN 

41 

Anthony Z. & Emily L. Louange 3137 S. Clinton Avenue 16-31-105·028·0000 R/R FURNACE AND CHIMNEY LINER. R 21712020 HVAC-L 85625-0 $4,200.00 $215.00 

42 

Jose Padilla 3815 S. East Avenue 16-31 -423-098-0000 REPLACING KITCHEN CABINETS AND R 217/2020 Impr-L 85626-0 $2.000.00 $190.00 
COUNTER TOPS, BACKSPLASH AND 
KITCHEN WINDOW 

43 

Mark Mrsnik 3239 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-32-1 11 -019-0000 BUILDING TO BE REPIPED AND REWIRED. R 2/7/2020 Elec·L 85627-0 $5,000.00 $185.00 
INCLUDINGNEW DEVICES. UPGRADING TO A 
200AMP SERVICE. COPNDUIT, WIRE, 
FITTINGS, SWITCHES, RECEPTABLES, 
FINISH PLATES. REPLACE WITH DRYWALL & 
INSULATION WHERE NEEDED 

44 

Kenneth E. & Ellen M. Nagel 3022 S. Clarence Avenue 16-30-417·025-0000 EMERGENCY SEWER REPAIR ON PRIVATE R 217/2020 Plum-L 85628-0 $4,200.00 $135.00 
PROPERTY 

45 

George Piper 6900-02 W. Windsor Avenue 16-31-125-008-0000 PRELIMINARY INSPECTION TO DETERMINE C 21712020 Impr-L 85629-0 $0.00 $140.00 
STRUCURE 

46 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Between: 21L/2020 And 212912020 
Census Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I. N. # Class Issued Permit # ImprovenlClZts Permit 

Javier Solorzano & Anel Domin 2521 S. Oak Park Avenue 16·30·224·008·0000 NC & FURNACE REPLACEMENT. BOILERS R 2110/2020 Bldg-B 9447·0 $21 ,040.00 $620.00 
TO FORCED AIR. CHIMNEY LINER BEING 
INSTALLED ALL BEDROOMS REQUIRE A 
RETURN. NC CONDENSERS MUST BE 
LOCATED BEHIND THE HOUSE 3' FROM 
PROPERTY LOT LINE AND ELECTRICAL 
METER. 

47 

1942 Lombard LLC 1940 S. Lombard Avenue 16·20-324·034·0000 3 PORCH FINAL REINSPECTION. C 2/10/2020 Impr·L 84321·1 $0.00 $140.00 

48 

Abraham Pulido 1608 S. Scoville Avenue 16-19·404·023·0000 PLUMBING RE-INSPECTION FEE ONLY R 2/10/2020 Elec·L 85227·1 $0.00 $50.00 

49 

A & H Contreras & Phillip Apari 1916 S. Harvey Avenue 16-20-323-024-0000 REPLACING BRICKS ON THE TOP OF TH R 211 0/2020 Impr-L 85630-0 $800.00 $115.00 
EHOUSE ON THE NORTH AND SOUTH 
WALLS. PATCH ROOF IN SOME AREAS. 1ST 
LAYER ON ROOF, ONLY PARCHING. 
REPLACI NG BRICKS ON THE TOP BY 
TUCKPOINTING. THE TOP ROOF TILE WILL 
BE REMOVED. THE BRICKS WILL BE 
REPLACED USING MORTAR. 

50 

Stephen A. & Patricia L Kirshe 2507 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-29-124-004-0000 FURNACE & NC REPLACEMENT. INSTALLING R 2/10/2020 Impr-L 85631 -0 $8,995.00 $290.00 
NEW CHIMNEY LINER. NC CONDENSERS 
MUST BE LOCATED BEHIND THE HOUSE 3' 
FROM PROPERTY LOT LI NE AND 
ELECTRICAL METER. 

51 

JAIME & CRISTELA NIETO 2517 S. East Avenue 16-30-228-007-0000 REMOVE AND REPLACE SIDING FROM THE R 2/10/2020 Impr-L 85632-0 $2,000.00 $90.00 
HOUSE AND GARAGE, REPAIR WOODEN 
STAIRS ANY WOOD SSTEPS THAT ARE 
DAMAGED, CAPPING AS NEEDED FOR ALL 
WINDOWS ON THE HOUSE 

52 
Equity Pro LLC 6420 W. 32nd Streel 16-31 -214-012-0000 SEWER REPAIR IN ALLEY R 2/10/2020 Plum-L 85633-0 $6,500.00 $315.00 

53 

Daniel & Kim Leafi 6826 W. 29th Place 16-30-319-010·0000 KITCHEN RENOVATION. REMOVE AND R 2/10/2020 Impr-L 85634-0 $15,900.00 $600.00 
REPLACE CABINETS, COUNTER TOPS, 
APPLIANCES . UPGRADE ELECTRIC AS PER 
CODE, NEW CABINET LAYOUT SAME AS 
EXISTING 

54 

FHLM 3530 S. Harvey Avenue 16-32-302-022-0000 TEAR OFF AND RESHINGLE THE HOUSE R 2/10/2020 RooR 85635-0 $6,000.00 $140.00 
ROOF. 

55 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 

Name and Address 

Christian Carrera 

56 

Between: 2/112020 AI/d 212912020 

P.I.N. # 
Census 
Class 

Permit 

Issued 

2102 S. Harvey Avenue 16·20·331 ·013·0000 2 UNIT REMODEL· REMODEL 2 KITCHENS R 211012020 Impr·L 
AND THE 2 EXISTING BATHROOMS. RIR 
DRYWALL THROUGHOUT THE HOUSE. 
BRING PLUMBING AND ELECTRIC TO CODE. 
FINISH BASEMENT WITH OPEN 
RECREATIONALSPACE. NO BEDROOM NO 
BATHROOM. WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE 
ON 1 ST FLOOR RIR NC UNIT 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Cost Of Cost Of 

Permit # Improvements Permit 

85636·0 $13,000.00 $1 ,240.00 

Otto Linwood fII 1545 S. Cuyler Avenue 16·20·124·017·0000 INSTALL 30' OF DOG EARED·RED CEDAR· OF 
5' HIGH. TAKE DOWN AND HAUL AWAY THE 
EXISTING CHAIN LINK FENCE 

211012020 Fence·L 85637·0 $890.00 $135.00 

57 
Matt Construction Group Inc 1438 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

58 
HEPBURN GROUP LLC 3541 S. Clarence Avenue 

59 
Robert J. & Carol A. Russell 3141 Grove Avenue 

60 
Patrick Cantore 

61 
HEPBURN GROUP LLC 

62 
Mary Ellen Mitchanis 

63 
Juan Jose Medina 

64 
Ginger Passarelli 

65 

3804 S . Harvey Avenue 

3541 S. Clarence Avenue 

2113 S. Maple Avenue 

3617 S. Euclid Avenue 

3547 S. Wesley Avenue 

16·19·121 ·032·0000 PAYING FOR ADDITIONAL INSPECTION · R 2111 /2020 Bldg·B 
CHLOROLOY INSPECTION, PRE·POUR 
GARAGE SLAB, PRE·POUR PRIVATE 
SIDEWALK AND PLUMBING UNDERGROUND 
DIVORCE. 

16·31·403·026·0000 INTERIOR REMODEL ·1ST FLOOR WILL R 2111 /2020 Bldg·B 
CONSIST OF KITCHEN, EXISTING FULL 
BATHROOM, LIVING ROOM, DINING ROOM, 
AND 2 EXISTING BEDROOMS. AnlC WILL 
CONSIST OF 1 NEW BEDROOM AND 1 NEW 
FULL BATHROOM. BASEMENT WILL BE 
FINISHED WITH NEW FULL BATHROOM, 
LAUNDRY ROOM. 

16·31-107·038·0000 PAYING FOR ADDITIONAL FRAMING 
INSPECTION FOR THE FLOOR. 

16·32·326·042·0000 4 INTERIOR FOUNDATION CRACK REPAIRS 

R 2111 /2020 Impr·L 

R 2111 /2020 Impr·L 

16·31-403·026·0000 INTERIOR DEMO TO THE STUDS AND CLEAN R 2111 /2020 Impr·L 
OUT PROPERTY. 

16·19·325·006·0000 REPLACING THE FRONT ALUMINUM DOOR 
CANOPY FRONT 

16·31·401 ·022·0000 PAYING FOR HVAC FINAL & PERMIT FINAL 
REINSPECT ION FEES 

16·31·402·013·0000 WATER HEATER REPLACEMENT 

R 211112020 Impr·L 

R 211212020 Impr·L 

R 2/12/2020 Impr·L 

8944·2 $0.00 $215.00 

9448·0 $45,000.00 $1 ,460.00 

82611·1 $0.00 $65.00 

85638·0 $1,802.00 $40.00 

85639·0 $1 ,500.00 $40.00 

85640·0 $1,270.00 $40.00 

84229·1 $0.00 $130.00 

85641·0 $1,756.00 $85.00 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wet/nest/ay, March 4, 2020 

Betweell: 2/1/2020 Alld 212912020 
Cellsus Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name alld Address P.I.N.# Class Issued Permit # Improvemellts Permit 
----- ----

LAUTHA & ALAN LARA SOLIS 6411 W. Sinclair Avenue 16·31·226·029·0000 DUMPSTER R 2/1212020 Dump·L 85642·0 $0.00 $50.00 

66 

Oaina Rudai(is & As Pats, LLC 1800 S. Euclid Avenue 16-19-408·041·0000 REPLACE KITCHEN CABI NETS AND R 211212020 Impr-L 85643-0 $6,000.00 $365.00 
COUNTERTOPS, RETILE BATHROOM FLOOR 
AND SHOWER , REFINISH HARDWOOD 
FLOORS, PAINT ENTIRE UNIT.---- UNIT 2 
EAST 

67 

Jaqueline R. Escamilla 31 42 S. Harvey Avenue 16-32-108·014·0000 REMOVE AND REPLACE 1 WINDOW ON R 2/1212020 Impr-L 85644-0 $1,600.00 $40.00 
STAIRWAY, SAME SIZE, SAME KIND. SCRAPE 
AND PAINT THE WALLS IN THE 
BASEMENT ... ·- NO EGRESS REQUIRED----

68 
Raul Rico & Raul Rico Ortiz 2420 S. Highland Avenue 16-29-117-026·0000 REMOVE AND REPLACE 18 WINDOWS. R 211212020 Impr·L 85645-0 $11 ,620.00 $240.00 

WINDOWS TO BE UP TO EGRESS CODE. 7 
WINDOWS IN THE BASEMENT, 11 ON THE 
1ST FLOOR. SCRAPE AND PAINT GARAGE 
DOOR AND SOFFIT, SCRAPE AN DPAINT 
STAIRWAY TO THE BASEMENT. SCRAPE AND 
PAINT GARAGE OVERHEAD DOOR, SOFFIT 
AND FASCIA, P 

69 
USBANKN.A. 2213 S. Elmwood Avenue 16-30-207-010-0000 INTERIOR REMODELING, PAINTING ENITRE R 211212020 Impr·L 85646-0 $450,000.00 $1 ,395.00 

HOUSE, REPLACE ALL PLUMBING FIXTURES, 
REPLACING FURNACE .. REPLACING 
BASEBOARDS AND CABINETS. KITCHEN 
REMODEL- CABINETS AND COUNTERTOP. 
REMODEL BATHROOM BY REPLACING 
FIXTURE AND TILE ONLY. DUMPSTER TO 
REMOVE DEBRIS AS 

70 

Yellowstone Group LLC 3615 S. Highland Avenue 16-32-310-005-0000 DUMPSTER PERMIT FOR DEBRIS .• -- R 211212020 Dump-L 85647-0 $0.00 $50.00 
DUMPSTERSIPODS REQUIRE A FLASHING 
BARRICADE ON THE SIDE OF INCOMMING 
TRAFFIC. 

71 

Jeffrey A. & Angelique Arias 1301 S. Euclid Avenue 16-19-209-001 -0000 REINSTALL FIXTURES R 211212020 Plum-L 85648-0 $6,000.00 $150.00 

72 

J PASS LLC 3309 S. Wesley Avenue 16-3 1-223-005-0000 INSTALL 1" WATER SERVICE R 211 212020 Plum·L 85649-0 $8,000.00 $380.00 

73 

Nancy L. Carrasco & Ricardo S 3242 S. Wesley Avenue 16-31-216-022-0000 HVAC ROUGH RE-INSEPCTION FEE ONLY R 2/13/2020 Bld9-B 9270-1 $0.00 $65.00 
WITH B-9270·0 

74 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wedll esday, March 4, 2020 

Between: 2/1/2020 And 212912020 
Census Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I. N. # Class Issued Permit # Improvements Permit 

Joseph Maffey & Kimberly Slu; 6835 W. 30th Place 16·30·324·020·0000 TEAR OFF AND RESHINGLE THE HOUSE. NO R 2113/2020 Rool·L 85650·0 $6,900.00 $155.00 
POWER VENTS ICE AND WATER SHIELD TO 
CODE 

75 

Frank & Linda Szarfinski 3303 S. Grove Avenue #308 16·31-127·058·1022 R & R EXISTING FURNACE 2/13/2020 HVAC·L 85651·0 $3,600.00 $115.00 

76 
LUIS PANCH! 3736 S. Clarence Avenue 16·31·417·036·0000 REPLACING EXISTING SHINGLES ON THE R 2/13/2020 RooR 85652·0 $3,300.00 $125.00 

HOUSE, ICE AND WATER SHIELD, AND FELT 
PAPER 

77 
Rich Minsheg LLC 2105 S. Highland Avenue 16·20·331·003·0000 REMODEL OF THE 2 UNIT · REMODEL 2 R 211 4/2020 Bldg·B 9450·0 $87,000.00 $2,710.00 

KITCHENS AND 2 BATHROOMS. BASEMENT 
WILL REMAI N WILL REMAIN UNFINI SHED 
JUST DRY WALLING THE CEILING ONLY. 
BASEMENT WILL REMAIN STORAGE ONLY. 
RIR WINDOWS AND BRING TO EGRESS 
CODE WHERE REQUIRED. REPAIR DRYWALL 
AS NEEDED. BO 

78 

Bret Pond & Sandra Florindo 3828 S. Maple Avenue 16·31 ·324·033·0000 BUILD NEW DETACHED FRAME GARAGE R 2114/2020 Bldg·B 9451 ·0 $15,934.00 $350.00 
WITH ELECTRICAL ON EXISTING CONCRETE 

79 
1221 South Harlem LLC 1221 S. Harlem Avenue 16·19·100·041-1001 INSTALLING NEW SIGN C 2114/2020 Sign·L 85653·0 $3,000.00 $175.00 

80 
Abby L. Cheesman And Benja 3419 S. Grove Avenue 16·31·135·003·0000 INSTALL 161' TRADITIONAL 5' HIGH FENCE. R 2/14/2020 Fence-L 85654·0 $7,674.00 $135.00 

WILL REPLACE CHAIN LINK FENCE FOR 
WOOD FENCE. NEIGHBORS PERMISSION 
An ACHED ALONG WITH THE JULIE DIG # 

81 

Steven Carreno 2645 S. Euclid Avenue 16·30·401·023·0000 PRELIMINARY ELECTRICAL INSPECTION TO R 2114/2020 Elec·L 85655·0 $0.00 $50.00 
DETERMINE WHAT HAS TO BE BROUGHT UP 
TO CODE. 

82 

Jose & Mirna Mejia 1533 S. Scoville Avenue 16·19·229·014·0000 INSTALLATION OF 27 ROOF MOUNTED R 2/14/2020 Impr·L 85656·0 $19,008.00 $360.00 
SOLAR PANELS ON A SINGLE FAMILY HOME. 
8.640KW .. • MUST HAVE TAP CONNECTORS 

83 
Maricela Gonzalez 3602 S. Scoville Avenue 16·31 ·411 ·012·0000 INSTALLATION OF 18 ROOF MOUNTED R 2/14/2020 Impr-L 85657·0 $12,672.00 $255.00 

SOLAR PANELS ON A SINGLE FAMILY HOME. 
5.760KW 

84 

Gerardo & Adriana Vargas 3406 S. Lombard Avenue 16·32·133·061 -0000 ROOF TOP INSTALLATION OF PV SOLAR R 2/14/2020 Impr·L 85658·0 $5,632.00 $150.00 
SYSTEM. 2.560KW AND 8 PANELS 

85 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wednesday. March 4, 2020 

Between: 211!2()2() And 212912020 
Census Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I.N. # Class Iss lied Permit # Improvements Permit 

P. Rivera & L. Molina 2426 S. Highland Avenue 16·29·117·028·0000 INSTALLATION OF A ROOF TOP PV SOLAR R 2114/2020 Impr·L 85659-0 $16.192.00 $315.00 
SYSTEM. 7.360KW AND 23 PANEL-- MUST 
HAVE TAP CONNECTORS 

86 

DAVID C. LINARES & OLGA M 1942 S. Oak Park Avenue 16-19-323-029·0000 2 PRONG TO 3 PRONGS. CHANGE OUTSIDE R 2114/2020 Elec-L 85660-0 $5,700.00 $140.00 
METER SOCKET AND RISER TO 3 GANG 200 
AMP METER, 15 CLOSET LIGHTS, GFIS IN 
THE KITCHEN, BATHROOM, GARAGE. 
EMERGENCY LIGHTS FRONT AND BACK 
HALLWAY. 10 CAN LIN LIVING ROOM, DINING 
ROOM AND 2ND FLOOR. 

87 

1900 Cuyler LLc 1900 S. Cuyler Avenue 16-20-321-016·0000 ATF BUILDING PERMIT FOR BASEMENT R 2114/2020 Impr-L 85661 -0 $1 ,500.00 $190.00 
REMODEL, DRYWALL ADDED AND 6 CAN 
LIGHTS. 2ND FLOOR BATHROOM INSTALL 
GFCI. 

88 

Blue Fin Homes LLC 1423 S. Clarence Avenue 16-19-219-010·0000 PAYING FOR 2 PLOUMBING FINAL RE- R 2/18/2020 Bldg-B 9135-1 $0.00 $100.00 
INSPECTIONS-·_· FEES ONLY 

89 

Jaime JaramifJo 1809 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-20-308-004·0000 INTERIOR REMODELING AND 2ND FLOOR R 2118/2020 Bldg-B 9452-0 $140,000.00 $4,855.00 
ADDITION. 1ST FLOOR WILL CONSIST OF 
KITCHEN, LIVING ROOM, DINING ROOM, 1 
EXISTING BEDROOM - WILL CREATE AN 
OPEN CONCEPT BY REMOVING 1 BEDROOM 
AND STUDY, RELOCATE THE EXITING 
BATHROOM. 2ND FLOOR NEW ADDITION 
WITH 3 NEW BED 

90 

Elevated Partners LLC 1339 S. Wenonah Avenue 16-19-111 ·045·0000 REMODEL THE EXISTING 2 FLAT. DORMER R 2118/2020 Bldg-B 9453-0 $40,200.00 $1 ,190.00 
A TIIC AND ADD FULL BATHROOM TO 2ND 
FLOOR. REMODEL THE 2 KITCHEN AND 3 
EXISTING BATHROOMS. INSULATE AND 
DRYWALL THE ATIIC TO CREATE A NEW 
BEDROOM. REPAIR FRAMING WHERE 
NECESSARY, INSTALL EXTERIOR SIDING 
AND COPPING. INST 

91 

Five F. Inc 6710 W. Cermak Road 16-19-425-031 ·0000 RESTAURANT REMODEL OF KITCHEN, 2 C 2118/2020 Bldg-B 9454-0 $25,000.00 $2,065.00 
BATHRROMS, BAR & DINING AREA. 

92 

Omar Garcia & Christine M. Cz 2631 S. Grove Avenue 16-30-306-016-0000 PAYING FOR PLUMBING ROUGH R 2118/2020 Impr-L 82754-4 $0.00 $50.00 
REINSPECTION 

93 

April A. Moore 1501 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16·20-123·001 ·0000 STACK TEST INSPECTION FEE ONLY R 2/18/2020 Impr-L 84169-1 $0.00 $50.00 

94 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wednesday, March 4, 202() 

Betweell: 21112020 Alld 212912020 
Cellsus Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name alld Address P.I. N. # Class Issued Permit # Improvemellts Permit 

Daniel R. Dugo 2406 S. Cuyler Avenue 16·29·116·021·0000 REPLACING GUTIERS ON HOME R 2118/2020 Impr·L 85662·0 $1 ,700.00 $90.00 

95 

Victor Tietz 1215 S. Elmwood Avenue 16·19·207·047·0000 REPLACING 2 FURNACES 70 BTU'S/ 80% EFF. R 2/18/2020 HVAC·L 85663·0 $7,500.00 $230.00 

96 

Victor E. & Gladys E. Irizarry 2531 S. Harvey Avenue 16·29·127·013·0000 REPLACING 1 WINDOW IN LIVING ROOM, R 2118/2020 Impr·L 85664·0 $1 ,161 .00 $40.00 
EXISTING OPENING 

97 

Jaime Vega And Maria 0. Nav 6415 W. 28th Place 16·30·413·053·0000 PLUMBING. INSTALLING BATHROOM R 2118/2020 Impr·L 85665·0 $1 ,200.00 $90.00 
SHOWER/FAUCET AND VANITY FAUCET 

98 

Luis F. Daniel Zavala 3711 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16·32·316·005·0000 SEWER REPAIR R 2118/2020 Impr·L 85666·0 $4,500.00 $310.00 

99 

Oscar R Garcia 1822 S. Clarence Avenue 16· 19·410·030·0000 REPLACING SIDING ON BACK OF BUILDING R 2118/2020 Impr·L 85667·0 $3,500.00 $70.00 
(2 UNIT) 

100 

Ryan & Roberta Hoogmoed 3104 S. Euclid Avenue 16·31 ·200·016·0000 REPLACE BROKEN FENCE POSTS AND R 2/18/2020 Fence·L 85668·0 $1 ,100.00 $135.00 
REPLACE GATE BY GARAGE· AFFIDAVIT ON 
FILE 

101 

Hugo Olivares 2501 S. Clarence Avenue 16·30·227·001 ·0000 HVAC ROUFG REINSPECT ION FEE ONLY R 2119/2020 HVAC·L 85538· 1 $0.00 $65.00 

102 

Fernando Bosque & Chad THe 6445 W. 26th Street 16·30·230·032·0000 DUMSPETER PERMIT FOR DEBRIS AND R 2119/2020 Dump·L 85669·0 $0.00 $50.00 
FURNITURE AT THE PROPERTY 
DUMPSTERS/PODS REQUIRE A FLASHING 
BARRICADE ON THE SIDE OF INCOMMING 
TRAFFIC. 

103 

City 0/ Berwyn 6700 W. 261h Sireel SCA 99·99·999·111 ·0711 INSTALL 1 SMALL CELL FACILITY AT EACH 2119/2020 SmCeli·L 85670·0 $45,000.00 $2,000.00 
OF THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS· 1536 
SCOVILLE AND 7181 CERMAK. 

104 

Juvenal Mendoza 1424 S. Euclid Avenue 16·19·216·023·0000 T/O SHINGLES DOWN TO WOOD DECK. R 2119/2020 Impr·L 85671 ·0 $6,290.00 $190.00 
INSTALL 15LB FELT, INSTALLING ICE AND 
WATER SHIELDTO COMPLY WITH CITY 
CODES. INSTALL LIFETIME ARCHITECTURAL 
SHINGLES AND SIDING. 

105 

Black Gold Properties LP 2343 S. Scoville Avenue 16·30·213·015·0000 PAYING PLUMBING FINAL RE INSPECTION R 2120/2020 Bldg·B 9174· 1 $0.00 $50.00 

106 

FNMA 1419 S. Wesley Avenue 16·19·218·009·0000 PAYING FOR POST HOLE/PIER INSPECTION· R 2120/2020 Impr·L 84208·1 $0.00 $65.00 
ADDED ON L ·84208·0 

107 

(lJlli/dblf.!: Permil COfll1l\' Am 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wed"e~jday, March 4, 2()20 

Between: 2/1/2020 Alld 212912020 
Cellsus Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I. N. # Class Issued Permit # Improvements Permit 

Wendy Estada-Kopp, Hector & 3333 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16·31-1 26·017·0000 REPAIR KITCHEN LINE UNDER CONCRETE R 2120/2020 Plum-L 85672-0 $3,600.00 $220.00 
FLOOR·PER JT OK TO ISSUE 

108 

Alfonsa Valencia & Karnia Rom 3122 S. Clinton Avenue 16-31-104·022-0000 R & R EXISTI NG FURNACE- EMERGENCY R 2/20/2020 HVAC-L 85673-0 $3,500.00 $115.00 

109 

Shari Vass 3726 S. Euctid Avenue 16-31-415-030-0000 RlR4 WINDOWS · 1 IN BEDROOM, 1 R 2/20/2020 Impr-L 85674-0 $2,420.00 $105.00 
KITCHEN, 1 BATHROOM AND 1 IN THE 
UNFINISHED BASEMENT .. - WINDOWS TO 
EGRESS CODE WHERE REQUIRED. 

110 

MARIA ARIAS 2108 S. Elmwood Avenue 16-19-430-012-0000 TUCKPOINTING AS NEED AT THE FRONT OF R 2/20/2020 Impr·L 85675-0 $500.00 $40.00 
THE PROPERTY 

111 

TRA CY L. ROBERSON 1216 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-19-207-028-0000 INSTALLING 2 GATES ONE AT THE FRONT OF R 2120/2020 Impr-L 85676·0 $350.00 $50.00 
THE PROPERTY 5FT AND THE SECOND ONE 
TOWARDS THE ALLEY 6FT. WILL BE USING 
THEIR OWN POSTS NO NEIGHBOR 
PERMISSION REQU IRED. POSTS ARE 
ALREADY EXISTI NG. 

112 

Abby L. Cheesman And Benja 3419 S. Grove Avenue 16-31-135-003-0000 INSTALLING STAINLESS STEEL CHIMNEY R 2/20/2020 Impr-L 85677-0 $2,480.00 $155.00 
LINER 

113 

James Matza & Patty Martinez 641 OW. 26th Place 16-30-405-025-0000 PAYING FOR PERMIT FINAL REINSPECTION R 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 83759-2 $0.00 $50.00 

114 

Marion A. Meyia & Sonia A. Pa 1828 S. Oak Park Avenue 16-19-315-033-0000 TUCKPOINTING AS NEEDED ON TOP R 2121 /2020 Impr-L 85678-0 $200.00 $40.00 
PORTION OF THE PROPERTY AND 
TUCKPOINTING AS NEEDED AROUND THE 
WINDOWS. 

115 

Yadira Mazon 3731 S. Cuyler Avenue 16-32-317-051-0000 INSTALL 1 EGRESS WINDOW-1 ST FLOOR R 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 85679-0 $8,103.00 $195.00 
BEDROOM 

116 

ABC Turnkey Properties LLC 3600 S. Wisconsin Avenue 16-31 -309-015-0000 INSTALLING NEW 1" WATER SERVICE R 2/21 /2020 Plum-L 85680-0 $9,500.00 $1 ,71 0.00 

117 

Stephen A. & Patricia L Kirshe 2507 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-29-124-004-0000 remove twin breaker and repair electrical panel. R 2/21 /2020 Elec-L 85681-0 $1 ,600.00 $90.00 

118 

Saundra R. Bergman 7024 W. 261h Parkway 16-30-301 -006-0000 TUCKPOINTING FRONT PORCH & CAULK R 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 85682-0 $330.00 $40.00 
JOINTS WHERE STEPS MEET WING WALLS 

119 



Report Of BuildinglImprovement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Between: 211/2020 And 212912020 
Census Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I,N, # Class Issued Permit # Improvemellts Permit 

Ronald and Margaret Jones 2646 S. Harvey Avenue 16-29-302-036-0000 RI FURNACE AND NC UNIT. AIR SEAL W/2 R 212112020 HVAC-L 85683-0 $7,432.63 $245.00 
PART FOAM WEATERSTRIPISWEEP ON 
EXTERIOR DOOR, CELLULOSE OPEN BLOW 
KNEE WALL, INSULATION ON EXTERIOR 
WALLS, REPLACE SPACE HEATER. 

120 

BAM 1917LLC 1917·23 S. Grove Avenue 16-19-323-008-0000 REPLACING WINDOWS IN UNITS C 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 85684-0 $10,748.00 $225.00 
24,32,33,3,28 .. 39 BRING WINDOWS TO 
EGRESS CODE WHERE NEEDED. 

121 

EPG Chicago JV II LLC 2304 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16-30-106-018-0000 INTERIOR DEMO TO THE STUDS. R 2121 /2020 Impr-L 85685-0 $1 ,000.00 $40.00 

122 

Ivan Aguayo 1603 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-20-300-040-0000 REPLACE METER BOX AND RISER, RUN R 2/2112020 Elec-L 85686-0 $1,800.00 $125.00 
GROUND TO WATER MAIN AND GROUND ROD 

123 

Arlene J. Barry 6515 W. 33rd Sireel 16-31-219-030-0000 INSTALL NEW 100 AMP SERVICE. NEW RISER R 2121 /2020 Elec-L 85687-0 $100.00 $125.00 
, METER SOCKET TO EXISTING PANEL. ALL 
NEW GROUNDING 

124 

Domingo Carrasquillo 3732 S. Elmwood Avenue 16-3 1-419-064-0000 INSTALL EGRES WINDOW IN BASEMENT. R 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 85688-0 $1 ,542.00 $90.00 
REMOVING GLASS BLOCK WINDOW & SOME 
BRICK TO FIT 

125 

Polo Sandoval & Myra Galvez 3611 S. Clarence Avenue 16-31-410-064-0000 EGRESS WINDOWS BEING INSTALLED IN 1ST R 2/21 /2020 Impr-L 85689-0 $600.00 $220.00 
FL BEDROOMS 1 & 2. ATF FURNACE & HOT 
WATER TANK REPLACEMENT 

126 

Tony Lee 1527 S. Wisconsin Avenue 16-19-126-012-0000 KITCHEN REMODEl. EXISTING KITCHEN R 2124/2020 Bldg-B 9455-0 $38,078.00 $1,025.00 
FIXTURES & CABINET LAYOUT TO REMAIN 
AT EXISTING LOCATIONS. BATH REMODEL-
RPLACE EXISTING FIXTURES WITH NEW. 
REFINISH HARDWOOD FLOORS & PAINT ALL 
WALLS & CELIINGS. INSTALL NEW WINDOWS 
IN LIVING & DINING ROOM. INSTALL NEW A 

127 

Lidia pasillas 1923 S. Wenonah Avenue 16-19-319-009-0000 ELECTRICLA FINAL RE-INSPECTION FEE R 2/24/2020 Impr-L 83320-1 $0.00 $50.00 
ONLY 

128 

lanM. Taylor & Kimberfy8 Tay 14028. EuclidAvenue 16-19-216-014-0000 REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF 8 R 2/24/2020 Impr-L 85690-0 $14,224.00 $285.00 
WINDOWS AND ALSO REPLACEMENT OF 2 
ENTRY DOORS AND 2 STORM DOORS. NO 
EGRESS WINDOWS. 

129 



Report Of BuildinglImprovement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wedue,\'day, March 4, 2020 

Between: 211/2020 And 212912020 
CellslIs Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I.N.# Class Issued Permit # Improvements Permit 

Don & Barbara Sherpan 1809 S. Highland Avenue 16-20·310·004·0000 BOILER REPLACEMENT 80% EFF 190K BTU·S. R 2124/2020 HVAC·L 85691 ·0 $8.335.00 $200.00 
USING EXISTING CHIMNEY L1NER---
EMERGENCY NO HEAT---

130 

Jim Woodrow 2634 S. East Avenue 16-30-403-031-0000 REMODEL KITCHEN AND BATHROOM ON R 2124/2020 Impr-L 85692-0 $78,800.00 $1 ,595.00 
THE 1 ST FLOOR - UPDATE ELECTRICAL 
SERVICE, REFINISHE HARDWOOD FLOORS 
AND RELOCATE KITCHEN RADIATOR. 

131 

Revel Properties, LLC 121 1 S. Maple Avenue 16-19-101-009-0000 INTERIOR DEMO. R 2/24/2020 Impr-L 85693-0 $3,000.00 $55.00 

132 

Joaquin Calderon 2111 S. Harlem Avenue 16-19·324-042-0000 INSTALL NEW SOFFIT & FASCIA R 2/24/2020 Impr-L 85694-0 $2,950.00 $55.00 

133 

Ade/ante Community Health Ce 6840 W. Ogden Avenue 16-31-31 4-012-0000 REPLACE DUPLEX REC WITH GFCI REC. C 2124/2020 Elec-L 85695-0 $590.00 $90.00 

134 

MICHAEL GAY 2313 S. Clinton Avenue 16-30-106-006-0000 FURNACE REPLACEMENT 70 BTU'S, 96% R 2124/2020 Impr-L 85696-0 $7,366.00 $115.00 

135 

Momcilo Ryan 3537 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16-31 -306-017-0000 KITCHEN REMODEL WITH NEW APPLIANCES. R 2124/2020 Impr-L 85697-0 $23,995.00 $620.00 
RlR KITCHEN CABINETS. RIR VYNIL FLOOR 
TILES, SAND, STAI N, VARNISH HARDWOOD 
FLOORS, NEW KITCHEN COUNTERTOPS, RIR 
PANTRY DOOR. 

136 

Fforina Pineda & Juan Carlos U 1447 S. Gunderson Avenue 16-19-222-021 -0000 UPGRADE SERVICE TO 100 AMP,INSTALL R 2124/2020 Elec-L 85698-0 $5,200.00 $200.00 
EXHAUST FAN IN BASEMENT BATHROOM, 
REPLACE 2 GFCIIN KITCHEN AND INSTALL 
COVERS IN 2 EXISTING CLOSETS FIXTURES. 

137 

Kenneth Sourwine, Jr. 3810 S. East Avenue 16·31-422-085-0000 INSTALL DISCONNECT FOR GARAGE, R 2124/2020 Elec-L 85699-0 $305.00 $90.00 
INSTALL GFI'S IN GARAGE (2) 

138 

Gabriel Collazo 1638 S. Wisconsin Avenue 16-19-301 -033-0000 TIO & RE SHNGLE ROOF ON HOUSE R 2124/2020 Rool-L 85700-0 $12,848.00 $250.00 

139 

Ed Vazquez 6940 W. Windsor Avenue 99-99-999-000-0713 INSTALL AN EM FIXTURE IN BATHROOM & 2124/2020 Elec-L 85701-0 $500.00 $140.00 
EM SIGN ABOVE THE DOOR 

140 

Ediberto 8arjas 3837 S. Elmwood Avenue 16-31-424-115·0000 DEMO BASEMENT-REMOVE DRYWALL R 2/24/2020 Impr-L 85702-0 $3,000.00 $40.00 
INENTIRE BSMT TO INCLUDE BATHROOMS & 
KITCHEN CABINETS AREAS. DEMO TO THE 
STUDS NO STRUCTURAL. 

141 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 
Betweell: 2/1/2020 

Name alld Address 

Leticia Gutierrez 3145 S. Home Avenue 

142 

Black Gold Properties LP 2343 S. Scoville Avenue 

143 

Luis Trela 1532 S. Ridgeland Avenue 

144 

Oscar A. Chavez 2714 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

145 

ACCESS WEST COOK I, LLC 1431 S. Harvey Avenue 

146 

David, Olga, & Miguel Linares 3523 S. Cuyler Avenue 

147 

Robert Pierce 6733 W. Roosevelt Road 

148 

Robert & Catheen M. Hobson 26 17 S. Clinton Avenue 

149 

Eric Hofmeister 1326 S. Home Avenue 

150 

Marie Martino & Jaime Zurheid 1636 S. Wisconsin Avenue 

151 

6700 W 26th Street 6700 W. 26th Street 0 

152 

A lid 212912020 
CellSlls Permit 

P.I.N.# Class Issued 

16·31·104·013·0000 PAYI NG FOR PRELIMINARY ELECTRIC & R 2124/2020 Impr·L 
PLUMBING INSPECTIONS 

16·30·213·015·0000 ELECTRICAL SERVICE FEE ONLY R 2125/2020 Bldg·B 

16·19·231·031·0000 PAYING FOR STACK TEST, ElECTRIC R 2/25/2020 Bldg·B 
SERVICE & GAS PRESSURE TEST FEES 

16·30·312·033·0000 REMOVE THE KITCHEN AND BATHROOM ON R 2/25/2020 Bldg·B 
THE 1ST FLOOR. RIR CEILING IN THE 
KITCHEN AND DINING ROOM. ADD 2 NEW 
BEDROOMS TO THE BASEMENT BRING 
WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
NEEDED. 

16·20·118·013·0000 ELECTRICAL REINSPECTIONS R 2125/2020 Elec·L 

16·32·301 ·010·0000 R & R UP TO 6·8 FT OF SEWER TILE & R 2125/2020 Plum·L 
INSTALL 6" CLEAN OUT STATION OUTSIDE 

99·99·999·000·0729 INSTALLING 2 BANNERS 18" X 60" WITH 4 2125/2020 Sign·L 
BANNER POLES. ALSO WOODEN COFFEE 
SIGN 28" X 8" 

16·30·304·013·0000 SECONF FLOOR BATHROOM· CONVERT TUB R 2/25/2020 Impr·L 
TO SHOWER. ALL OTHER FIXTURES TO 
REMAIN. ADDING ONE CAN LIGHT AND FAN 
LIGHT COMBO 

16·19·111 ·034·0000 UPDATE ELECTRICAL 7 OUTLETS TO BE GFCI R 2125/2020 Elec·L 

16·19·301·032·0000 DEMO MASTER BATH ON 1ST FLOOR 

99·99·999·000·0619 ALLEY BETWEEN HARLEM AND MAPLE AVE 
AND NORTH OF OGDEN· WORK WILL BE 
DONE ON 2 EXISTING POLES· POLES WILL 
HAVE NEW CAPACITOR BANKS INSTALLED 
AS WELL AS A NEW CONTROL BOX. ONE 
POLE WILL HAVE NEW WIRE INSTALLED TO 
THE OTHER POLE. 

R 2125/2020 Impr·L 

2125/2020 Impr·L 

Wedllesday, March 4, 2020 

C()st Of C()st Of 

Permit # Impr()ve mellls Permit 

85703·0 $0.00 $100.00 

9174·2 $0.00 $50.00 

9348·1 $0.00 $150.00 

9456·0 $31 ,000.00 $1 ,000.00 

81339·1 $0 .00 $100.00 

85704·0 $2 ,550.00 $105.00 

85705·0 $4 ,200.00 $500.00 

85706·0 $14,300.00 $335 .00 

85707·0 $300.00 $90.00 

85708·0 $1 ,828 .00 $40.00 

85709·0 $50,907.02 $0 .00 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Betweell: 211/2020 Alld 212912020 
Cellslls Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name alld Address P.I.N.# Class Issued Permit # Improveme IIts Permit 

Ronald F. Crawford 3817 S. Wisconsin Avenue 16-31-326-007-0000 INSTALL AN EGRESS WINDOW IN BASEMENT R 2/25/2020 Impr-L 85710-0 $1.099.00 $40.00 
TO CODE. 

153 

Melissa Santos & Peter Jones 3240 S. Cuyler Avenue 16-32-111 -063-0000 RlR FURNACE. NC UNIT AND CHIMNEY R 2/25/2020 HVAC-L 85711 -0 $7.160.00 $290.00 
LINER TO CODE NC CONDENSERS MUST BE 
LOCATED BEHIND THE HOUSE 3' FROM 
PROPERTY LOT LINE AND ELECTRICAL 
METER. 

154 

Ivan & Jonathan Coss 3524 S. Gunderson Avenue 16-31-405-038-0000 ATF - REPLACE FENCE ON THE NORTH SIDE R 2/25/2020 Fence-L 85712-0 $400.00 $135.00 
OF THE PROPERTY. ALLOWING FENCE TO 
RUN 7FT BETWEEN THE HOUSE (HAS 
PERMISSION FROM THE NEIGHBOR AT 3520 
GUNDERSON) - ALSO CUT FENCE DOWN TO 
5FT + 1" OF OPEN LATIICE ON THE NORTH 
LOT LINE. 

155 

A & M Sullivan / Eileen Barron 3125-31 S. Harlem Avenue 16-31 -100-010-0000 RE CEMENT COOPI NG APP 25 FT C 2/25/2020 Impr-L 85713-0 $50.00 $0.00 

156 

Edgar Avila 1916 S. Grove Avenue 16-19-322-020-0000 PLUMBING ROUGH RE-INSPECTION FEE R 2126/2020 Impr-L 85366-1 $0.00 $50.00 
ONLY. ADDING SUPER T PLUMBING TO 
ORIGINAL PLUMBING 

157 

Gustavo A. Castro & Lillian Cas 1640 S. Wenonah Avenue 16-19-310-039-0000 REPLACE SIDING ON GARAGE R 2126/2020 Impr-L 85714-0 $3.500.00 $0.00 

158 

Ascension Hernandez & KathIe 6917 W. 29th Street 16-30-312-077-0000 INSTALLATION OF A FLUSH ROOF MOUNTED R 2/26/2020 Impr-L 85715-0 $28,272.00 $495.00 
SOLAR PHOTOVOL TATIC, SYSTEM SIZE 
5.760 KW---- MUST HAVE TAP CONNECTORS 

159 

Cibrook Ltd 1331 S. Oak Park Avenue 16-19-208-012-0000 SEWER REPAIR IN THE PARKWAY R 2126/2020 Plum-L 85716-0 $5.500.00 $225.00 

160 

Lake Manawa-WaJgreens 6800 W. Ogden Avenue 16-31 -315-008-0000 REPLACE EXISTING LIGHTING WITH NEW C 2/26/2020 Elec-L 85717-0 $13,766.00 $270.00 
LED LIGHTING USING EXISTING CIRCUITING 
& WIRING 

161 

Jose Luis Bravo Zumba 2828 S. Highland Avenue 16-29-317-032-0000 COMPLIANCE-ali electric to code house & R 2/26/2020 Impr-L 85718-0 $7.000.00 $410.00 
garage.bsmt powder room must have an exhaust 
fan system to code. 8smt requires permanenet 
heat source.8sm! shower stall bring to code. 
Egress window installed to code in bsmt rec 
room. NC CONDENSERS MUST BE LOCATE 

162 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn Wedllese/llY, MardI 4, 2020 

Between: 21112020 And 2/29/2020 
Censlls Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P,I,N, # Class Isslled Permit # Improvements Permit 

Morgan Gagne & Tamera Gagn 3510 S. Gunderson Avenue 16·31·405·034·0000 PAYI NG FOR PRELIMINARY PLUMBING & R 2126/2020 Impr·L 85719·0 $0.00 $100.00 
ELECTRICAL INSPECTIONS 

163 

Branisfava & Sava Matevich 3729 S. Cuyler Avenue 16·32·317·052·0000 DUMPSTER PERMIT FOR CLEAN OUT IN THE R 2126/2020 Dump·L 85720·0 $0.00 $50.00 
GARAGE. DUMPSTERSIPODS REQUIRE A 
FLASHING BARRICADE ON THE SIDE OF 
INCOMMING TRAFFIC. 

164 

MSP Home Solutions 3029 S. Clarence Avenue 16·30·418·013·0000 REMODELING OF SI NGLE FAMILY HOME R 2/26/2020 Impr·L 85721 ·0 $25,000.00 $1,010.00 
WITH NEW ELECTRIC AND PLUMBING TO 
CODE. REPAINT WALLS, REFINISH KITCHEN, 
UPDATE ENTIRE HOME, FINISHING THE 
FLOORS, REMODELING BATHROOM. 
BRINGING ELECTRIC IN GARAGE TO CODE. 
BRING WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
NEEDED. 

165 

R&R Trategic Properties LLC 1516 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16·19· 129·028·0000 PAYING FOR ELECTRICLA RE·INSPECTION R 2127/2020 Bldg·B 9184·2 $0.00 $150.00 
FEES 

166 

IQ UNLIMITED, LLC 1433 S. Gunderson Avenue 16·19·222·015·0000 2ND FL ADDITION·ALL NEW PLUMBING· R 2127/2020 Bldg·B 9457·0 $100,000.00 $3.510.00 
HEATING·ELECTRICAL. 4 BEDROOM 3 BATH 
ALL ABOVE GROUND. BASEMENT LAUNDRY, 
NEW FURNACE WITH DUCT WORK. NEW 
WI NDOWS, SIDING. NEW 1" WATER SERVICE. 
NEW DECK ON REAR OF HOUSE 

167 

Isidro Barriga 1923 S. Kenilworth Avenue 16·19·322·009·0000 PAYING FOR PLUMBING UNDERGROUND R 2/27/2020 Impr·L 81631·1 $0.00 $100.00 
INSPECTIONS .... FEE ONLY 

168 

Alyson T Ramsey & Kate/yn SI 6508 W. Sinclair Avenue 16·31·227·014·0000 INSTALL GFI OUTLETS, LIGHT FIXTURES. R 2127/2020 Elec·L 85722·0 $2,575.00 $155.00 
ROMEX TO CONDUIT. RELOCATE SERVICE 
CONNECTION. REPLACE TWO PRONG 
RECEPTACLES. 

169 

Gerardo Loza 2844 S. Cuyler Avenue 16·29·316·040·0000 125'INTERIOR DRAIN TILE, 15' YARD DRAIN, R 2127/2020 Impr·L 85723·0 $23,575.00 $620.00 
4" TRENCH DRAIN, EXTERIOR SEWER BACK 
UP SYSTEM, SINGLE SAFE SYSTEM, 
ELECTRICAL OUTLETS WITH DEDICATED 
CIRCUIT FOR PUMPS. 

170 

Sandra L. Hayes 3243 S. Wenonah Avenue 16·31· 11 1·027·0000 REPLACING 2 KITCHEN WINDOWS, 1 LIVING R 2/27/2020 Impr·L 85724·0 $4,000.00 $70.00 
ROOM WINDOW AND 2 SCREEN DOORS .. NO 
EGRESS REQUIRED 

171 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 
Betweell: 21112020 Alld 212912020 

Celis us 
Class 

Permit 
Issued Name alld Address 

Maria L Azurdia 1315 S. Oak Park Avenue 

172 

Christopher & Leah Joy Cybufs 3716 S. Easl Avenue 

173 

Parricia Arndt 3837 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

174 

Illinois White Pelican, LLC 6305 W. Roosevelt Road A 

175 

EPG Chicago JV II LLC 2304 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

176 

Anna Rodriguez 1648 S. Harvey Avenue 

177 
Saleem Mohhammed 3528 S. Kenilworth Avenue 

178 

Black Gold Properties LP 2343 S. Scoville Avenue 

179 

Miguel A. Arredondo 3506 S. Elmwood Avenue 

180 

Merriment Homes 1216 S. Wesley Avenue 

181 

( 1} •• :I.l: •• ~ . .. ~_ ...... ro 

P.I. N. # 

16-19-208-005-0000 REPLACING WOOD ON THE EXISTING FRONT R 2/27/2020 Impr-L 
PORCH. NO STRUCTURAL CHANGES. FRONT 
PORCH WILL REMAIN THE SAME. 

16-31-417-042-0000 INSTALL A CHIMNEY LINER OF ALUMINUM 
CONNECT TO WATER HEATER. INSTALL A 
NEW CHIMNEY CAP 

R 2127/2020 Impr-L 

16-31 -330-016-0000 BATHROOM REMODEL-REMOVE R 2127/2020Impr-L 
TUB/SHOWER & CONVERT TO SHOWER. 
INSTALL NEW BCI ACRYLIC WALL SYSTEM •. 
INSTALL NEW SHOWER DOOR 

99-99-999-000-0441 COMPLETE TEAR OFF OF EXISTING ROOF. 
INSTALL NEW ROOF. APPROXIMATELY 68 
SQ·S. 

2/27/2020 Impr-L 

16-30-106·018-0000 PRELIMINARY ELECTRICAL AND R 2/27/2020 Impr-L 
PRELIMINARY PLUMBING INSPECTION TO 
VERIFY WHAT HAS TO BE BROUGHT UP TO 
CODE 

16-20-302-038-0000 PODS FOR STORAGE-- DUMPSTERS/PODS 
REQUIRE A FLASHING BARRICADE ON THE 
SIDE OF INCOMMING TRAFFIC. 

16-31-305-020-0000 2 PLUMBING UNDERGROUND PVS 
INPSECTION FEES AND GAS PRESSURE 
TEST FEE 

16-30-213-015-0000 PAYING FOR HVAC FINAL & PERMIT FINAL 
INSPECTIONS 

R 2/27/2020 PODol 

R 2128/2020 Bldg-B 

R 2/28/2020 Bldg-B 

16-31-408-021-0000 PLUMBING UNDERGROUND REINSPECTION R 2128/2020 Bldg-B 
FEES ONLY 

16-19·201·027-0000 New Construction to include new 200 amp 
service & wiring. New Hvac, heating ale, & new 
plumbing supply/waste lines & 1 112" water tine. 
8smt to include family room, bathroom , 1 
bedroom, laundry room & utility room. 1st fllo 
include 2 bedrooms, 2 bathroom 

2128/2020 Bldg-B 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Cost Of Cost Of 

Permit # Improvemellts Permit 

85725-0 $800.00 $90.00 

85726-0 $700.00 $140.00 

85727-0 $10,800.00 $275.00 

85728-0 $64,000.00 $1,045.00 

85729-0 $0.00 $100.00 

85730-0 $0.00 $50.00 

9054-2 $0.00 $150.00 

9174-3 $0.00 $130.00 

9420-1 $0.00 $100.00 

9458-0 $180,000.00 $4,240.00 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn lVedlle!.'day, Mil,.,,, 4, 2020 

Between: 21112020 And 2/29/2020 
Censlls Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Name and Address P.I.N. # Class IsslIed Permit # Improvements Permit 

Jorge Diaz & Jessica Diaz-Alva 2625 S. Oak Park Avenue 16-30·400·012·0000 PAYING FOR ELECTRICAL FINAL R 2/28/2020 Impr·L 83618-1 $0.00 $50.00 
INSPECTIONS 

182 

Joan Mitchanis 3648 S. Euclid Avenue 16-3 1·400·049·0000 REPLACE REAR WINDOW AWNING R 2/28/2020 Impr·L 85731·0 $1,198.00 $40.00 

183 
DAVID C. LINARES & OLGA M 1942 S. Oak Park Avenue 16-19-323-029·0000 INSTALL 40 WINDOWS- 8 CASEMENT IN R 2128/2020 Impr·L 85732·0 $14,600.00 $285.00 

BEDROOM 

184 

Jennifer N. Joseph Morris 1512 S. East Avenue 16-19·227·022-0000 SEWER REPAIR IN PARKWAY R 2128/2020 Plum-L 85733-0 $0.00 $90.00 

185 

Anne Marie Dooley Trust 2532 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16·30·231 ·028·0000 SEWER REPAIR IN FRONT PARKWAY R 2128/2020 Plum-L 85734-0 $4,500.00 $135.00 

186 
BLACK GOLD PROPERTIES L 1627 S. East Avenue 16·19-404-012-0000 DUMPSTER R 2128/2020 Dump-L 85735-0 $0.00 $50.00 

187 

Jesus & Mayra Santiago 1332 S. Clinton Avenue 16·19-11 2·039-0000 INSTALLATION OF 100,000 BTU'S 80%. R 2128/2020 HVAC-L 85736-0 $10,000.00 $115.00 
GOODMAN UP FLOW FURNACE (HEAT ONLY) 
IN FIRST FLOOR AND ATIIC. BASEMENT-
INSTALLATION OF 40,000 BTU'S 95% 
GOODMAN UP FLOW FURNACE (HEAT 
ONLY). NEW FURNACE 

188 

Apex National Real Estate, LLC 2432 S. Grove Avenue 16-30-111·035-0000 INTERIOR DEMO TO STUDS. NO STUCTURAL. R 2128/2020 Impr-L 85737-0 $0.00 $50.00 
DUMSPETER PERMIT FOR GARBAGE AND 
DEBRIS 

189 ----
Edgar Garcia 3541 S. Gunderson Avenue 16-31-408-016-0000 BASEMENT- REMOVING KITCHEN, R 2128/2020 Impr·L 85738·0 $13,100.00 $450.00 

REMOVING PANELS, INSTALLING R-19 TO R-
25 INSULATION, 5/8 DRYWALL AND 
MOLDING, REPLACING 6 WINDOWS AND 2 
EXTERIOR DOORS BRING WINDOWS TO 
EGRESS CODE WHERE NEEDED. 

190 

Peter A. Barrera & Eva B. Barr 1923 S. Wesley Avenue 16-19-418-009·0000 INSTALL BATH FITIER LINER & WALL R 2/28/2020 Plum-L 85739-0 $5.088.00 $200.00 
SYSTEM. INSTALL MOEN POSITEMP VALVE. 
INSTALL ACCESSORIES & HARDWARE 

191 

John Benda 2739 S. Ridgeland Avenue 16-29-308-015-0000 REPLACING 10 TOTAL WINDOWS. BRING R 2/28/2020 Impr-L 85740-0 $8,950.00 $195.00 
WINDOWS TO EGRESS CODE WHERE 
NEEDED. 

192 

(Building: l'ermil_COutlh1 A1fJ 



Report Of Building/Improvement Permits Issued By The City Of Berwyn 
Between: 21112020 And 212912020 

Name alld Address P.I.N.# 
Census 
Class 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 

Permit Cost Of Cost Of 

Issued Permit # Improvements Permit 

Leticia Gutierrez 3145 S. Home Avenue 16·31-104·013·0000 FINISH BASEMENT WALLS. FRAME R 2128/2020 Impr·L 85741·0 $6.500.00 $410.00 
MECHANICAL ROOM WIT LOUVRED DOOR. 
INSTALL 30" BI FOLD DOOR FOR WATERMAIN 
& GAS SHUT OFF CLOSET. INSTALL 24" 
LOUVRED DOOR FOR MECHANICAL ROOM. 
INSTALL BINUL LAMINATE FLOORING. 
WATER HEATERS REQUIRE EXPANSION 
TANKS. 

193 

193 Building aud Loco/Improvement Permits Issued During Period Totals . .... $2,454,742.65 $65,070.00 

/> ,.,.n ')1) nr' l) 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402·070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 749-89 10 
www.berwyn-ii .gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

Attached please find a list of business licenses, which were issued, by the Collection and Licensing 
Department for the month of January & February 2020. Included are storefronts & phone use only 
businesses. I am also providing a list of businesses that have applied for a license with a current 
status of Application ReviewlPending as well as busin"sses waiting for inspections with a status of 
Inspections Pending. 

Respectfully, 

Jeannette Rendon 
For Benjamin Daish 
Finance Director 



BERWYN BUSINESSES - LICENSED IN JANUARY & FEBRUARY, 2020 (STOREFRONTS) 

Address Business Name Owner Phone # 

3245 S. Grove Avenue # 103 Denise Pedroza Sandoval LCPC Denise Pedroza Sandoval (708) 955-1522 

6940 W. Windsor Avenue Upper Echcelon Barber Parlor David Gonzalez (773) 960-4766 

3245 S. Grove Avenue #208 Hispanic American Immigration Services Erika Wehedeking-Lopez (708) 303-8504 

3245 S Grove Avenue #203 Aries Health Center Melissa Huerta (708) 200-5070 

2821 S. Harlem Avenue Business Development & Marketing Eduardo Gonzalez (708) 466-1423 

6918 W. Cermak Road Senior Assistance Services Christian Gianotti (312) 757-4400 

3841 S. Ridgeland Avenue ZMF Inc Bevin Mehrbach (773) 706-6314 



Business Directory By Category For: TiUlr.wlay, March 05, 2020 

Inspections Pending 

Business Name Address Last Update Phone 10# 

All Meal Prep (312) 313-2011 18637 

6908 W. Windsor A venue Berwyn IL 60402 512912019 

Bay Eqllity Home Loalls 18967 

6619 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 111412019 

BerwYII Allto (708) 788-3300 18083 

631 7 W. Ogden A venue Berwyn IL 60402 911212018 

Berwyn Soles (708) 317-5221 18561 

6310 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 411712019 

Chem - Wise Ecological Pest Management (708) 777-1910 18387 

1327 S. Harlem A venue Berwyn IL 60402 1211 812018 

Commullity Nutritioll Network & SlIr. Svc's SlIite 202 (312) 207-5290 15197 

3239 S. Grove Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 612112018 

Cricket Wireless (708) 317-4547 19004 

6946 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 121212019 

Devoll Porter d.b.a. Wizzartlblade Cuts 18144 

6247 W. Roosevelt Road Berwyn IL 60402 81612018 

Fabiolll Camllrgo d.h.a. Belli.fimu Fashioll Boutique 18622 

6835 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 511 612019 

FerllOlulo Fuellles D.B.A. Roberto's Place 13011 

3244 S. OakPark Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 211 12012 

lIlillois Mobile SOllltiolls d.b.a.Metro PCS 17272 

6320 W. 26 th Street Berwyn IL 60402 412012017 

Imagine Desigll and Imprint 16568 

2707 S. Ridgeland A venue Berwyn IL 60402 212 112020 

K ' Nalllrllllllc. (708) 788-7900 12533 

6610 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 619/20 II 

Key Smart Mortgage CompallY (708) 613-0040 18688 

6847 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 711 112019 

La Borra de Clift! 19036 

6801 W, Stanley Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 12120/2019 

La ~licJlOaCQlla Classica 17330 

1600 S. Scoville Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 511712017 

La Nlleva Tropical/a I Corp. 18062 

6239 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 6120/2018 

Le Perfllm 18349 

6226 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 1112812018 

Liherty Tax Service (708) 749-0250 15867 

3108 S. Oak Park Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 1126/2015 

Lllis Garcia d.h.a. Fairy tale BOlltique 18618 

6322 W. Cermak Road Berwyn IL 60402 711 5/2019 

( Busmess DircctOf)' By Category ) Page # ....... .. I 



----

Business Directory By Category For: rhursday, March 05, 2020 

Inspections Pending 
Business Name Address Last Update Phone 10# 

Morello Sltoe Repair (708) 484-7763 18966 
3142 S. Oak Park A venue Berwyn IL 60402 11 /4/20 19 

MUlloz Medical Ceflfer LLC (708) 484-2600 12702 
3100 S. Oak Park A venue Berwyn IL 60402 8/22/20 II 

Pav Reallors (708) 795-7100 10965 
6308 W. Cennak Road Berwyn IL 60402 411 120 II 

Pellllflll Properties (708) 406-7550 18700 
272 1 S. Ridgeland Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 7119/2019 

Reyna Salamanca d.h.a. Salamanca Alleralioll.~ (708) 631-7554 18463 
6616 W. Cennak Road Suite Berwyn IL 60402 2/22/2019 

Roy Amatore alld Associates Suite B (708) 800-4876 18082 
6405 W. 34th Street Berwyn IL 60402 7/ 11 12018 

Sellior Assistallce Serv;c:es (312) 757-4400 19129 

6918 W. Cennak Road Berwyn IL 60402 212012020 

Taqlleria El Palellque Illc. 13049 

1547 S. Oak Park Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 2123/2012 

rhe Math Spot LLe. (708) 484-6284 14625 

6834- A Bus_Street Berwyn IL 60402 4/22/2013 
W. 

rhe Snack Sltack 18210 

3435 S. Harlem Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 91 12/2018 

TIITllIIO Fleet Maintellance Facility (708) 788-9220 16750 

1431 S. Harlem A venue Berwyn IL 60402 5/25/2016 

Victory Law Office P.e. (312) 600-7000 18141 

6732 W. Cennak Road Berwyn IL 60402 8/6/2018 

Warmollce Illc. (708) 749-9772 17488 

6911 W. 30th Steet Berwyn IL 60402 8/4/2017 

ZM F Headpholles (603) 667-1672 19102 

3841 S. Ridgeland Avenue Berwyn IL 60402 211 0/2020 

Total Businesses ...... .. 34 

( Business Directory By Category ) 
Page # ........ • 2 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 26lb Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402 ·070 1 Telephone: (708) 788·2660 Fax: (708) 749·89 10 
www.berwyn-il .gov 

March 5,2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn Ci ty Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

/::-5 

The Local Ordinance Fines, which were collected by the City of Berwyn (BuildinglNeighborhood 
Affairs) and recorded by the Collection department in January & February 2020, amounted to 
$30,743.00 
Report copies are in their respective files and balancing copies are referred to the Finance 
Department on a daily basis or as received and recorded. 

I, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
the sum of $30,743.00 as herein above 
mentioned. 

Jeannette Ren L1f} 
For Benjamin ~tl 
Finance Director 

ACCOUNT NUMBER 
00212 

Through 13105 

TOTAL 

AMOUNT 
$30,743.00 

amount totaled due to 
uumber of transactions 

$30,743.00 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Building ~ Building department 
receipts 
020 - local Ordinance 

Payment Dal!3 RrXelpt Number Batch Number Project 
01/02/2020 2020-00000212 2020-01000002 
01/02/2020 2020-00000239 2020-01000001 
01/03/2020 2020-00000426 2020-01000007 
01/03/2020 2020-00000588 2020-01000007 
01/03/2020 2020-00000616 2020-01000007 

01/06/2020 2020-00000668 2020-01000013 
01/06/2020 2020-00000669 2020-01000013 

01/06/2020 2020-00001001 2020-01000013 
01/06/2020 2020-00001009 2020-01000014 

01/06/2020 2020-00001165 2020-01000014 

01/ 07/ 2020 2020-00001602 2020-01000021 
01/07/2020 2020-00001841 2020-01000025 
01/08/2020 2020-00001864 2020-01000033 
01/08/2020 2020-00001893 2020-01000033 
01/08/2020 2020-00002030 2020-01000036 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002638 2020-01000046 

01/ 10/2020 2020-00002639 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002640 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002641 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002642 2020-01000046 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002643 2020-01000046 
01/ 10/ 2020 2020-00002644 2020-01000046 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002645 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002647 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002767 2020-01000043 
01/10/2020 2020-00002824 2020-01000044 
01/ 13/2020 2020-00002852 2020-01000052 
01/ 13/2020 2020-00003385 2020-01000051 

01/ 13/2020 2020-00003433 2020-01000052 
01/14/2020 2020-00003954 2020-01000062 
01/15/2020 2020-00004054 2020-01000069 
01/15/2020 2020-00004139 2020-01000069 

01/ 15/ 2020 2020-00004374 2020-01000069 
01/ 16/ 2020 2020-00004721 2020-01000077 
01/ 16/2020 2020-00004805 2020-01000077 
01/ 16/2020 2020-00005097 2020-01000077 
01/17/2020 2020-00005392 2020-01000085 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/ 05/ 2020 10:08:03 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

General cash 

Transaction Narrative 
jr 1638 home ave 
M5 6835 W CERMAK 
5G 3601 5 HARLEM 
SG 3432 5 RIDGELAND AVE. 
3824 BERWYN 
5G 8845 PLEASANT AVE. 
SG 8845 PLEA5ANE AVE. 
5G 2212 5 SCOVILLE 
M5 2618 RIDGELAND 
JR 6831 34TH ST 
2331 HIGHLAND AP 
3540 elmwood ab 
M5 1805 HIGHLAND 
59 1616 5 ridgeland ave. 
ms 
ms 1828 oak park 
ms 1336 kenilworth 
ms 6340 ogden 
ms 2402 Ridgeland 
ms 3621 harvey 
ms 1500 Euclid 
ms 1345 grove 
ms 1229 wenonah 
ms 3123 cuyler 
JR 2806 LOMBARD AVE 
1914 HIGHLAND AP 
5G 1941 5 MRVEY 
aB 2516 GUNDERSON 
M5 3532 WENONAH 
ab 3519 kenilworth 
Ab 3539 gunderson 
5G 11105 WACKER 
sg 3552 Euclid 
M5 3214 CUYLER 
3530 harvey ap 
ms 2736 cuyler 
ab 2312 hioghland 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

120 30,743.00 

Quantit.y U/M Amount 
150.00 
250.00 
150.00 
50.00 
80.00 

100.00 
100.00 

50.00 
150.00 
100.00 
800.00 
100.00 
50.00 

150.00 
600.00 
150.00 
200.00 
100.00 
100.00 
100.00 
200.00 
100.00 
150.00 
150.00 
10.00 

100.00 
100.00 
200.00 

50.00 
150.00 
40.00 

150.00 
100.00 
200.00 
800.00 

50.00 
250.00 

Page 1 of 4 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Building - Building department 
receipts 
020 - Local Ordinance 

Payment Date Receipt Number Batch Number Project 
01/21/2020 2020-00005640 2020-01000092 

01/23/2020 2020-00006032 2020-01000105 
01/ 24/2020 2020-00006084 2020-01000111 

01/24/2020 2020-00006086 2020-01000111 
01/ 24/2020 2020-00006088 2020-01000111 

01/24/2020 2020-00006090 2020-01000111 
01/24/2020 2020-00006091 2020-01000111 

01/24/2020 2020-00006092 2020-01000111 
01/ 24/2020 2020-00006093 2020-01000 111 
01/24/2020 2020-00006134 2020-01000109 
01/ 24/ 2020 2020-00006139 2020-01000109 
01/ 24/2020 2020-00006143 2020-01000109 

01/28/2020 2020-00006414 2020-01000116 
01/29/2020 2020-00006510 2020-01000121 
01/ 29/2020 2020-00006510 2020-01000121 

01/29/2020 2020-00006510 2020-01000121 

01/ 29/ 2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 

01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 

01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/29/ 2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 

01/ 29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006512 2020-01000121 
01/ 29/ 2020 2020-00006577 2020-01000119 
01/30/2020 2020-00006727 2020-01000125 

01/30/2020 2020-00006738 2020-01000125 
01/30/2020 2020-00006739 2020-01000125 
01/30/ 2020 2020-00006749 2020-01000125 
01/30/2020 2020-00006765 2020-01000124 
01/31/2020 2020-00006820 2020-01000130 
02/03/2020 2020-00006844 2020-02000133 
02/03/2020 2020-00006859 2020-02000133 

02/03/2020 2020-00006908 2020-02000135 
02/ 04/2020 2020-00006986 2020-02000137 
02/04/2020 2020-00006993 2020-02000136 

Run by Coliector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:08:03 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 
Payment Date Range 01/ 01/20 - 02/29/20 

Detail List ing 

Default Bank Account Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

General cash 120 30,743.00 

Transadlon Narrative Quantity U/M Amount 
MS 1304 CLINTON 600.00 
MS 2216 KENILWORTH 50.00 
ms 2447 east 100.00 
ms 6213 Roosevelt 100.00 
ms 2332 Highland 100.00 
ms 3609 Oak Park 100.00 
ms 3049 Harlem 100.00 
ms 1846 lombard 100.00 
ms 7001 w 34st 200.00 
MS 1914 HIGHLAND 100.00 
MS 2213 ELMWOOD 2,400.00 
SG 2212 5 RIDGELAND 20.00 
sg 1328 5 clinton ave 100.00 
1608 scoville 150.00 
Ab 1800 wesley 200.00 
6327 cermak. 50.00 
3147 elmwood 200.00 
1843 gunderson 400.00 
3217 scoville 100.00 
3607 scoville 50.00 
3112 grove 50.00 
3643 clinton 250.00 
681031 250.00 
Ab 6237 cermak 200.00 
Ab campbell 100.00 
as 6935 26TH 100.00 
sg 3127 5 Highland 50.00 
as 1903 EUCLID 150.00 
as 6933 STANLEY 250.00 
MS 1829 ELMWOOD 550.00 
ms 3430 grove 100.00 

4,000.00 
6426 PERSHING RD AP 800.00 
sg 1304 highland ave 250.00 
ms 300.00 
MS 3512 ELMWOOD 300.00 
sg 3118-20 5 Oak Park 150.00 

Page 2 of 4 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Building ~ Building department 
receipts 
020 - Local Ordinance 

Payment Date Receipt Number Batch Number Project 

02/04/2020 2020-00007084 2020-02000137 

02/ 04/2020 2020-00007285 2020-02000142 

02/05/2020 2020-00007679 2020-02000141 

02/ 07/2020 2020-00007888 2020-02000153 

02/07/2020 2020-00008251 2020-02000154 

02/10/2020 2020-00008624 2020-02000162 

02/ 10/2020 2020-00008671 2020-02000162 

02/ 10/2020 2020-00008706 2020-02000162 

02/ 11/2020 2020-000087S7 2020-02000167 

02/12/2020 2020-00009403 2020-02000176 

02/12/ 2020 2020-00009494 2020-02000175 

02/13/2020 2020-00009520 2020-02000178 

02/ 13/2020 2020-00009521 2020-02000 178 

02/ 13/2020 2020-00009529 2020-02000178 

02/13/2020 2020-00009686 2020-02000178 

02/13/2020 2020-00009820 2020-02000178 

02/14/2020 2020-00010167 2020-02000190 

02/14/2020 2020-00010199 2020-02000190 

02/19/2020 2020-00011068 2020-02000208 

02/19/2020 2020-00011069 2020-02000208 

02/19/2020 2020-00011072 2020-02000208 

02/ 19/2020 2020-00011073 2020-02000208 

02/19/2020 2020-00011075 2020-02000208 

02/ 19/2020 2020-00011076 2020-02000208 

02/19/2020 2020-00011077 2020-02000208 

02/ 19/2020 2020-00011175 2020-02000202 
02/20/2020 2020-00012011 2020-02000214 

02/20/2020 2020-00012197 2020-02000214 

02/24/2020 2020-00012396 2020-02000228 

02/25/2020 2020-00012714 2020-02000236 

02/26/ 2020 2020-000 12823 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012848 2020-02000242 

02/ 26/2020 2020-00012850 2020-02000242 

02/26/2020 2020-00012851 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012852 2020-02000242 

02/ 26/2020 2020-00012853 2020-02000242 
02/26/ 2020 2020-00012854 2020-02000242 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:08:03 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

General cash 

Transaction Narrative 
sg 1921 scoville 
sg 
M5 3732 Harvey 
MS 6721 ROOSEVELT RD (BOARD-UP) 
MS 1626 OAK PARK (BOARD UP) 
ms 1415 harlem 
sg 3712 5 grove ave 
Ab 3126 oak park 
SG 1941 S hARVEY 
ms 6411 sinclair 
Ab 3615 highland 
Ab 1848 oak park 
Ab 3606 wisconsin 
SG 6935 W 26TH ST. 
ms 1332 clinton 
aB 1519 EAST 
sg 6243 w 26th street 
MS 1533 CUYLER AVE 
1908 cuyler 
3200 east ave 
3717 cuyler ave 
3845 gunderson ave 
2840 harvey ave 
3405 cuyler ave 
3300 oak park ave 
MS 1342 WISCONSIN AVE ( BOARD-UP) 
SG 2532 S Grove 
sg 
Ab 3414 clarence 
sg 1445 5 clinton 
ms local ordinance 
MS 1313 CLINTON 
MS 3219 HARLEM 
MS 3824 CUYLER 
MS 3439 HARVEY 
MS 1511 EUCLID 
M5 2701 HARVEY 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

120 30,743.00 

Quanti(1I U/M Amount 
100.00 
100.00 
200.00 
410.00 
35 1.00 
100.00 

1,150.00 
800.00 
100.00 
450.00 
150.00 
100.00 
100.00 
50.00 

100.00 
200.00 
150.00 
800.00 

50.00 
100.00 
100.00 
150.00 
150.00 
300.00 
150.00 

1,532.00 
50.00 
50.00 
50.00 
50.00 

500.00 
100.00 
400.00 
200.00 
100.00 
100.00 
100.00 

Page 3 of 4 



Payment Code 

Payment category Building M Building department 
receipts 
020 . Local Ordinance 

Payment Date Receipt Number Batch Number 
02/26/2020 2020-00012856 2020-02000242 

02/26/2020 2020-00012857 2020-02000242 

02/26/2020 2020-00012858 2020-02000242 

02/ 26/2020 2020-00012859 2020-02000242 

02/26/ 2020 2020-00012860 2020-02000242 
02/26/ 2020 2020-00012890 2020-02000240 

02/ 27/ 2020 2020-00012969 2020-02000243 

02/ 28/2020 2020-00013042 2020-02000250 
02/28/2020 2020-00013105 2020-02000248 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:08:03 AM 

Project 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Oefault Bank Account 

General Cash 

Transaction Narrative 
M5 2741 RIDGELAND 
MS 2338 EUCLID 
MS 1530 WESLEY 
MS 6211 26TH ST 
MS 2829 RIDGELAND 
MS 2216 KENILWORTH 
sg 3527 S Grove ave 
ms 
s9 1603 ridgeland 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/ 29/ 20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount CoUected 

30,743_00 

Quantity 

Page 4 of 4 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

K-G 
6700 West 26th Street Bcnvyn, Illinois 60402-0701 Telephone: (708) 788 -2660 Fax: (708) 749-8910 

www.berwyn-il.gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

The Compliance Tickets, which were collected by the Records Division of the Police Department 
and recorded by the Collections Department in January & February 2020 amounted to $12,845.00 

A report copy for each month is attached and ticket copies are on file in the Records Division of the 
Berwyn Police Department. 

1, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
The total sum of$12,845.00 as herein above 
mentioned. 

Jeannette Rend~ 
For Benjamin D~f\. 
Finance Director 

ACCOUNT NUNMBER 
00392 

Through 13041 

TOTAL 

AMOUNT 
$12,845.00 

Amount totaled due to 
Number of transaction 

$12,845.00 



Payment Code 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:13:59 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

Page 1 of 3 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts 
455 - Compliance Violation 

Payment Date Receipt Number Balch Number Project 
01/03/2020 2020-00000392 2020-01000011 
01/03/2020 2020-00000395 2020-01000011 
01/03/2020 2020-00000397 2020-01000011 
01/08/2020 2020-00002035 2020-01000036 
01/08/2020 2020-00002036 2020-01000036 
01/08/2020 2020-00002177 2020-01000036 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002626 2020-01000046 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002627 2020-01000046 
01/ 17/ 2020 2020-00005324 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/ 2020 2020-00005325 2020-01000088 
01/17/ 2020 2020-00005326 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005328 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/ 2020 2020-00005333 2020-01000088 
01/22/2020 2020-00005762 2020-01000099 
01/24/2020 2020-00006096 2020-01000111 
01/24/2020 2020-00006097 2020-01000111 
01/24/2020 2020-00006106 2020-01000111 
01/29/2020 2020-00006516 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006519 2020-01000121 
02/03/2020 2020-00006904 2020-02000135 
02/03/2020 2020-00006905 2020-02000135 
02/05/2020 2020-00007565 2020-02000149 
02/05/2020 2020-00007566 2020-02000149 
02/07/2020 2020-00008030 2020-02000158 
02/07/2020 2020-00008032 2020-02000158 
02/07/ 2020 2020-00008559 2020-02000158 
02/ 13/2020 2020-00009664 2020-02000182 
02/13/2020 2020-00009665 2020-02000182 
02/ 13/2020 2020-00009668 2020-02000182 
02/19/2020 2020-00011064 2020-02000208 
02/19/2020 2020-00011065 2020-02000208 
02/19/2020 2020-00011066 2020-02000208 
02/ 19/2020 2020-00011067 2020-02000208 
02/21/2020 2020-00012316 2020-02000223 
02/26/2020 2020-00012828 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012829 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012846 2020-02000242 
02/28/2020 2020-00013041 2020-02000250 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:13:59 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 
Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 

Detail Listing 

Default Bank Account Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

General Cash 38 12,845.00 

Transaction Narrative QUBI1111y U/M Amount 
pd 560.00 
pd 460.00 
pd 200.00 
ms 250.00 
ms 520.00 
ms 760.00 
ms 240.00 
ms 440.00 

600.00 
560.00 
640.00 
240.00 
40.00 

ms 420.00 
ms 200.00 
ms 640.00 
MS 20.00 

240.00 
560.00 

ms 200.00 
ms 160.00 
ms 450.00 
ms 570.00 
ms 320.00 
ms 280.00 

610.00 
pd 280.00 

240.00 
50.00 

pd 410.00 
pd 360.00 

40.00 
pd 300.00 
pd 345.00 
ms 40.00 
ms 200.00 
M5 160.00 
ms 240.00 

Page 2 of3 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police ~ Police department receipts 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/202010:13:59 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Tra nsactions Total Amount Collected 

$12,845.00 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts Totals 38 $12,845.00 
Grand Totals 38 $12,845.00 

Page 3 of 3 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 26 th Street Bcrwyn, Illinois 60402-0701 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 749-89 10 
www.berwyn-il.gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

The adjudication fines collected in accordance with Local Ordinance Tickets, by the Police 
Department and recorded by the Collection department during January & February 2020 
amounted to $4,230.00 

Ticket copies are on file with the Parking Division located in the City of Berwyn' s Police 
Department. 

I, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
the total sum of $4,230.00 as herein above 
mentioned. 

Jeannette Rend~ 
For Benjamin D~ I\. 
Finance Director 

ACCOUNT NUNMBER 
02031 

Throu!!:h 12845 

TOTAL 

AMOUNT 
$4,230.00 

Amount totaled due to 
Number of transaction 

$4,230.00 

K-7 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police ~ Police department receipts 
450 . Adjudication Court Fines 

Payment Date Receipt Number Batch Number Project 
01/08/2020 2020-00002031 2020-01000036 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002633 2020-01000046 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005329 2020-0 1000088 
01/17/2020 2020-00005333 2020-01000088 
01/22/2020 2020-00005760 2020-01000099 
01/24/2020 2020-00006105 2020-01000111 
01/24/2020 2020-00006106 2020-01000111 
01/29/2020 2020-00006505 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006508 2020-01000121 
02/13/2020 2020-00009667 2020-02000182 
02/19/2020 2020-00011083 2020-02000208 
02/21/2020 2020-00012317 2020-02000223 
02/26/2020 2020-00012822 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012824 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012845 2020-02000242 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:09:05 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

General Cash 

TransactIon Narrative 
ms 
ms 

ms 
MS 
MS 

ms 
ms 
M5 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

15 4,230.00 

Quantity U/M Amount 
50.00 

150.00 
150.00 
725.00 
175.00 
250.00 
100.00 
200.00 

15.00 
20.00 

195.00 
1,150.00 

300.00 
550.00 
200.00 

$4,230.00 

5 
;; 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts Totals 1 
Grand Totals 1 

Page 1 of 1 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 261h Street 8envyn, Il linois 60402-0701 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 749-89 10 
www.berwyn-il .gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, llIinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

The parking violation tickets, (P) tickets, which were collected by the parking violation fine clerk 
and the Collection department during January & February 2020 amounted to $261 ,186.02 

A copy ofthese ticket numbers and amounts are attached and tickets are on file in the parking fine 
Collector' s Office. 

I, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
the total sum of $261 ,186.02 as herein above 
mentioned. 

Jeannette RendoG.j? 
For Benjamin D~iM'
Finance Director 

ACCOUNT NUNMBER 
00384 

Through 13043 

TOTAL 

AMOUNT 
$261,186.02 

Amount totaled due to 
Number of transaction 

$261,186.02 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts 
438 - Parking Tickets 

Payment Date ReceIpt Number BaldI Number Project 

01/03/2020 2020-00000384 2020-01000011 
01/03/2020 2020-00000386 2020-01000011 
01/03/2020 2020-00000388 2020-01000011 
01/08/2020 2020-00002031 2020-01000036 
01/08/2020 2020-00002033 2020-01000036 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002631 2020-01000046 
01/10/ 2020 2020-00002633 2020-01000046 
01/10/2020 2020-00002637 2020-01000046 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005329 2020-01000088 
01/17/2020 2020-00005331 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005333 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005468 2020-01000088 
01/22/2020 2020-00005760 2020-01000099 
01/24/2020 2020-00006105 2020-01000111 
01/24/ 2020 2020-00006106 2020-01000111 
01/ 29/2020 2020-00006505 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006507 2020-01000121 
01/29/2020 2020-00006508 2020-01000121 
02/03/2020 2020-00006906 2020-02000135 
02/03/2020 2020-00006907 2020-02000135 
02/03/2020 2020-00006909 2020-02000135 
02/05/2020 2020-00007568 2020-02000149 
02/07/2020 2020-00008033 2020-02000158 
02/13/ 2020 2020-00009667 2020-02000182 
02/13/2020 2020-00009668 2020-02000182 
02/ 19/ 2020 2020-00011082 2020-02000208 
02/ 19/2020 2020-00011083 2020-02000208 
02/19/2020 2020-00011085 2020-02000208 
02/21/2020 2020-00012317 2020-02000223 
02/26/2020 2020-00012822 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012824 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012845 2020-02000242 
02/28/2020 2020-00013043 2020-02000250 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:08 :26 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

General Cash 

Transaction Narrative 
parking 
parking 
parking 
ms 
ms 
ms 
ms 
ms 

Ab 

ab marcia cc showed extrd penny 
ms 
ms 
M5 

ms 
ms 
ms 
ms 
ms 
parking 
parking 
parking 
parking 
parking 
parking 
ms 
ms 
MS 
ms 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts Totals 
Grand Totals 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

33 261,186.02 

Quantity UIM Amount 
5,955.00 

13,830.00 
4,730.00 
7,300.00 
6,150.00 
5,425.00 

13,450.00 
7,700.00 
5,775.00 

13,755.00 
11,240.00 

0.01 
5,840.00 

15,980.00 
5,540.00 
9,070.00 
6,050.00 

12,495.00 
4,445.00 
5,080.00 
4,850.00 
4,575.00 
8,590.00 
5,700.00 
8,070.00 
7,450.00 
5,150.00 
8,045.01 
6,505.00 

12,665.00 
13,280.00 
12,171.00 
4,325.00 

$261,186.02 

33 $261,186.02 
33 $261,186.02 

Page 1 of 1 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 26 lh Street Berwyn. Ill inois 60402·070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 749-8910 
ww\\'. berwyn-ii .gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

The Seizure and Impound Fees collected by the Records Division of the Berwyn Police 
Department and recorded by the Collection department during January & February 2020, 
amounted to $16,500.00. 

The Police Department Records Division has report copies on file. 

I, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
the total sum of $16,500.00 as herein above 
mentioned. 

Jeannette Rend<G.,o 
For Benjamin DaisIl7\.. 
Finance Director 

ACCOUNT NUNMBER 
00392 

Tbroul!b 12846 

TOTAL 

AMOUNT 
$16,500.00 

Amount totaled due to 
Number oftransaction 

$16,500.00 

j(-9 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts 
437 - Impounds 

Payment Date Receipt Number Batch Number Project 
01/03/2020 2020-00000392 2020-01000011 
01/03/2020 2020-00000397 2020-01000011 
01/08/2020 2020-00002035 2020-01000036 
01/08/2020 2020-00002036 2020-01000036 
01/ 10/2020 2020-00002626 2020-01000046 
01/ 17/2020 2020-00005325 2020-01000088 
01/ 17/ 2020 2020-00005326 2020-01000088 
01/22/2020 2020-00005762 2020-01000099 
01/24/2020 2020-00006096 2020-01000 III 
01/24/2020 2020-00006097 2020-01000 III 
01/29/2020 2020-000065 19 2020-01000121 
02/03/2020 2020-00006905 2020-02000135 
02/05/2020 2020-00007565 2020-02000149 
02/05/ 2020 2020-00007566 2020-02000 149 
02/07/ 2020 2020-00008030 2020-02000158 
02/13/ 2020 2020-00009664 2020-02000182 
02/ 19/2020 2020-00011064 2020-02000208 
02/21/2020 2020-000123 16 2020-02000223 
02/26/2020 2020-00012828 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012829 2020-02000242 
02/26/2020 2020-00012846 2020-02000242 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/ 2020 10:09:43 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 
Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/ 20 

Detail Listing 

Default Bank Account Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

General cash 21 16,500.00 

TransactIon Narrative Quanltty UIM Amollnt 
1,000.00 
1,000.00 

ms 500.00 
ms 1,500.00 
ms 500.00 

500.00 
1,000.00 

ms 1,000.00 
ms 500.00 
ms 1,000.00 

500.00 
ms 500.00 
ms 1,000.00 
ms 1,500.00 
ms 500.00 

1,000.00 
500.00 

1,000.00 
ms 500.00 
ms 500.00 
M5 500.00 

$16,500.00 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts Totals 21 $16,500.00 
Grand Totals 21 $16,500.00 

Page 1 of 1 



Robert J. Lovero 
Mayor 

Collections and 
Licensing 

6700 West 26th Street Berwyn, Illinois 60402·0701 Telephone: (708) 788-2660 Fax: (708) 749-8910 
www.berwyn-il .gov 

March 5, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Robert J. Lovero 
And Members of the City Council 
Berwyn City Hall 
Berwyn, Illinois 60402 

Dear Mayor and Council Members: 

)(-/C 

The Court Fines collected by the Municipal Department, Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, 
District 4, recorded by the Collection department totaling $8,888.60 
A copy of the report is on file at the City of Berwyn Police Department. 

I, the undersigned, hereby acknowledge 
the total sum of $8,888.60 as herein 
above mentioned. 

Jeannette Rend~ 
For Benjamin D-;;;r1 \ 
Finance Director 

Amount: $8,888.60 
Applied: January & February 2020 



Payment Code 

Payment Category Police - Police department receipts 
440 - Cook County Court - Dorothy Brwn 

Payment Date 
01/10/2020 
02/03/2020 

ReceIpt NlJmber Batch Number Project 
2020-00002654 2020-01000043 
2020-00006960 2020-02000133 

Run by Collector's Office on 03/05/2020 10:09:23 AM 

Receipts by Payment Code Report 

Default Bank Account 

General Cash 

Tral15acl7on Narrative 
COURT FINES 
SG 100-20-4320 

Payment Date Range 01/01/20 - 02/29/20 
Detail Listing 

Number of Transactions Total Amount Collected 

2 

Quantity U/M Amount 
3,865.36 
5,023.24 

$8,888.60 

8,888.60 

Payment category Police - Police department receipts Totals £. ",,0, 

Grand Totals ., 

Page 1 of 1 



.'-J"~ . ~ 1i :J . 
. ~'~ r: . .." .. 

' .. CITY OF BERWYN EVENT APPLICATION 8 ' . ~'"'~ . 
, . k-/ 

Please provide information about your planned event: 

- I - ---0 :Jt.\\:J)-'-lp 

Oll.-tSicie.. 1»«' ,,
end' ed 1'I",(n.,)i.d' Allowed Event Time:> 

Date of Event: J<-t r )-'> ,2019 Time: Start :r"l tl ?·5-lp End ... <V J Or '" -:fula " 
Block P,ut ie$ 
8AM l o9PM 

Type: Block Party 0 Parade 0 Open Air Event 0 Use of Public Way 0 
Description of Event: .hd-z.Gercy lr, ftn,-e('UlkJ m us,JC 0>-):6 "ail 

All Other Events 
SAM 10 llPM 

Location ofEvent: .td -z.Ge.rQJ <:\\ I (0(,,('5' KDuse.Hd-t 

Name of Applicant: J) Of') VI l -e.. ] I COl~j I r) 5 

Address: CpU'I) 1,0· EOl'>t'ueJ..--t Daytime Phone: 708 - 7ilt-.2l l t 

E-mail Address: ;, fo Q f-,.(-z. e, <4ll ~ n· L:tt.1",b. t~ Alt. Phone: 

Do you plan to use: 

(Please mark all that applv) 

Live or Recorded I8l Sound Equip. j ~ 
Music Amplifiers 

Food Vendors 0 

Bounce Houses or 0 
Inflatables 

Commercial Food 0 
Prep. Equipment 

Crafter I Vendors 0 Alcohol Sales 0 Portable Toilets and 0 
Sanitation 

Will you require any of the following City services? Yes 121 No 0 C It!. re",u. Av-t- +~,,~ 1k.<... 

• Please contact the Police Dept. 

for fee schedule if 

requesting Police Detail or 

Security. 

~~ _ _ _____ -~} u..(,U<, h ,tr lo'f"""&- '--6-' 
Bert. -r.,. .......... 1'1<. .... '- ~"'" 

D. Alley Closure 0 r Parade Route 0 !JI 0 

( 
Street 

Rolling 

Closure -H. ~ Street 
Ciosure 

Closure 

U These City services supplied 

only if available on the day 

of the event and subject to 

personnel ava ilability 

-rr 
p"i<I") 

-------------~~~-------------------------------T~ 
··Police 

·Police 
Barricades 0 Detalll 

Security 
o Traffic 0 

Control 

Explorers Unit 
"Fire Truck 0 ··McGruff o ··K-9Unit n 

~ o 

City Council Approval IS REQUIRED for your event. (City Council meets the 2nd & 4th Tuesday of every month) 

• Submit this application to the Clerk's Office 8 weeks prior to the event date. 

• A Certificate of Insurance is required for Parades, Outdoor Events, Use of Public Way, as well as for 
all food and beverage sales. 

• A Food License is required from the Berwyn Public Health Department for ALL food sales. 
• A City of BprWYIl Temporary Liquor License is required for ALL alcoAolic beverage sales. 
• A route map must be submitted with this application for all parades I demonstrations. 
• USE OF PUBLIC WAY: Provide a list of intersections/corner locations and all dates being requested for 

use of public way. Location and Date availability is subject to approval. Use of public way is limited to 
one group per day, one group per locati.on, and on a First Come-First Serve basis. 

• The City· res~"'es the right to regulate, restrid and limit use of the public way at all times. 

CoB Clerk 4/2018 

, 

mdc003
Line



FitzGerald's 
6615 W. Roosevelt 
(708) 788-2118 

Feb. 21, 2020 

To: Mayor and City Council 

RE: 2020 Outdoor event request for FitzGerald's American Music Festival 

FitzGerald's asks permission to hold its 39th Annual American Music 
Festival featuring live music from July 2-5, 2019, in the Club, Side8ar and Festival 
Tent Music in the tent will end by midnight July 2-4 and at 10 pm July 5. 

We are also asking to close Clarence Ave. from the alley to the driveway of the 
8erwyn Town Mall- approximately 60 feet for parking and a picnic tent. 

Any questions please caB 708-788-2118, Ext. O. 

Thanks, Mary 



Mayor 
Robert J. Lovero 

March 10, 2020 

The Honorable Robert J. Lovero 
Members of the City Council 

RE: Handicap Parking Application #1311 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

5th Ward Alderman 

Cesar Santoy 

After careful review, I concur with the staff recommendation and respectfully submit the 
attached application for a DENIAL of a handicap SPACE. 

Address Applicant Name Application # 
1939 S. Harvey Ave. Carlos Herrera· Ramirez 1311 

Thank you very much, 

Cesar Santoy 
5th Ward Alderman 

CS/sla 

Enc: Handicap Application 



Application Number 1311 

To: 
From: 

Date: 
Officer: 

(Jjerwyn qJofice (])epartment 
6401 West 3 1st. Street 
Berwyn, illinois 60402 

708·795·5600 
Fax 708-795-5627 

Emergency Ca1l91! 

Handicapped . Parking / Zone 
Retluest I~orm 

Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

Berwyn Police Department Community Service Division 

1130/2020 
T Young#183 

Applicant Name: Carlos Herrera-Ramirez 

Address: 1939 S Harvey Ave 2nd f1 Berwyn II 60402 

Telephone: 

Nature of Disability: 

Information 
Yes No 

Doctor's Note! Affidavit: I x I interviewed:1 

Owner's Support Letterl x I Handicapped Platel 

Garage: I x Handicapped Placard I 

Driveway: I x Wheelchair: I 

Off Street: I x I Walker 1 Cane: I 

On Street: 1 x Oxygen: I 

Yes No 

Yes No 
x I 

x 

x I 

Meets Police Dept 
Requirements Si:~: 1 x I x 

Report # 20-00880 

5th IWard Alderman: CESAR SANTOY 

Staff Recommendation 
Approved Denied X 

I 



OFFICIAL SWORN POLICE REPORT 

Berwyn Police Department 
6401 W 31st Street Berwyn, IL 60402 (708) 795-5600 

STATION COMPLAINT UCRIOffense Code I INCIDENT" 

904 1 (Appl ican. File) 20-00880 
REPORT TYPf: RELATED CAD II I DESCRIPTION 

Incident Report C20-00441 7 Applicant Fi le 
DOH LOCATION OF OffENSE (HOUSE NO., STREET NAMEI 

1939 S HARVEY AV Berwyn, IL 60402 

HOW RECEIVED WHEN REPORTED It TIM E OF OCCURRENce I STATUS CODE I STATUS DATE 

01130/202008:46 01 /30/202008:46 

INVOLVED ENTITIES 

NAME 
I DOS 

IAGE 

HERRERA-RAMIREZ, CARLOS A 70 
ADDRESS I Feu I'R. 

SEX I RACE HGT I WGT I HA'R 
PHONE 

M 5' 10" 200 Brown Home 
EYES I SIO_ 01.' I OL State ALTPHONE 

Brown . . - . IL Home 
CLOTHING 

I 
Handcuff Double LO(;ked I Prints Taken I Crimina' History 

Employer 

UCR f I ) J\ J 
! TYPE ./ I RELATED EVENH 

I 

COtInl 

904 1 Applicant File, 1 Rcportl,ng Party • 
STATUTE I f '\ I ~\ I ! j 

I t \ I \ I I 
INVOLVED VEHICLES 

VEHIPLATE II I STATE I TYPE 
INVOLVEM ENT 

I 
VI" • 

IL Sedan, 4-door Involved IN4ALlID42C2 13074 

YEAR J MAKE I MODEL COLOR 1 OWNER 

2002 Nissan Altima White 

COMMENTS 

Towed 

I 
Towed By I Tow Numb., . I,mpounded 

I 

NARRATIVES 

PRIMARY NARRATIVE 

Carlos Herrera-Ramirez is requesting a handicap parking sign in front of his residence located at 

1939 Harvey. He drives a white 2002 Nissan Altima 11 Berwyn VT# 11 770, and has a valid 11 

handicap placard# D086388, He resides in a multi unit building with a 2 car garage that he has no access to. There is 

I handicap space located at 1938 Harvey. The block is mostly multi unit buildings. 

Carlos meets the requirements for handicap parking according to the City of Berwyn ordinance 484,05 

Hold 

Page J of2 



OFFICIAL SWORN POLICE REPORT 

Berwyn Police Department 
6401 W 31st Street Berwyn, IL 60402 (708) 795-5600 

STATlON COMPLAINT UCR/Offense Code I INCIDENTtI 

9041 (Applicant File) 20-00880 
REPORT TYPE RELATED CAD. I DESCRIPTlON 

Incident Report C20-004417 Applicant Fi le 
OOH LOCA110N OF OFFENSE jHOUSE NO., STReET NAME) 

1939 S HARVEY A V Benvyn, IL 60402 

HOW RECEIVED WHEN REPORTED II TIME OF OCCURRENCE I STATUS cooe I STATlJSOATE 

01 /30/202008:46 01 /30/202008:46 

REPORTING OfFICER I Unit' 1 SUPERVISOR 

I 
Until 

YOUNG, TERRY 183 

page20f2 i 



Handicapped Space/Zone 

Police Department Site Inspection 

Application # 1305 
Police Department Designee C.S.O. Terry Young #183 

Comments: Resides in a multi unit building with 2 car garage. 1 handicap sign 

located at 1938 Harvey. Area mostly multi unit buildings. 

Date: 1/30/2020 Police Report # 20-00880 

Handicapped Space/Zone 

Public Works Site Inspection 

Application # 1305 
Public Works Director or Designee Dan Schiller 

Comments: There are no obstructions to installation of a reserved space at this 

location. There is a 2 car garage on the property. 

Meets Public Works Criteria: 

Parking Space Yes B No X 
Parking Zone Yes No X 

Date: 1/29/2020 Police Report # 20-00880 



Handicapped Space/Zone 
Traffic Engineer Site Inspection 

Application # 

Traffic Engineer or Designee Nicole Campbell 

Comments: Family owned building with 8 vehicles and garage. 

Meets Traffic Criteria for: 

Parking Space Yes rn No 

Parking Zone Yes No 

Date: 1/28/2020 Police Report # 20-00880 

Rec'd by City Clerk: 

To Alderman: 

To Council : 

Determination: 

Notice to Applicant: 

Paid : 

Sign #: 

Comments: 

1/31/2020 

1/31/2r20 

?J{ tl 'lDw 
D NY 

1305 

X 

X 



The City of Ber wyn 
Mayor Robert J . Lovero 

Margaret Paul 
City Clerk 

A Century of Pro~=...:. 
6700 Wcs126'" Strcct 

Affidavit For Handica 

lacard to park any vehicle in a 

lX1 INITIAL 0 RENE\VAL 

C}l~ Los .4 . /lch2.E/2/l'- /I/)'J//L:.E- c:.... 
(Name of Handicapped Applicant) (Date of Birth) 

(Name of caregiver, or guardian ifminor) 

rue you the homeowner'! Yes e 
Is there a garage on the property? ~..0NO 

(Date of Birth) (Telephone teell Phone Number) 

Is there a Driveway/Carport on the property? yesG 

If so, what is the garage currently being used for? 0111;1£ t 1/,,(£ 

******************************************************************* 
Vehicle Information 

/V155//# &V,IM 
(Vehicle make and model) 

(Illinois License Plate Number) 

I am the OWNER of the vehicle f;~J No 
I am t?e DRIVER of the vehicle ~No 

(Year t Color) 

1/1-1tJ 
(Current City Vehicle Sticker Number) 

llbf?~8B ?P0:23 
(IllinOIS Permanent Handicap Placard Number) 

With Expiration Date 

I hereby affi~ti~oVided is true and correct, and it shall be prohibited and unlawful for any 
person to fi1 0 Idav • w · said person knows to be false or believes to be false. 

/' . IIhbh 
~r APPllcar !:egal uuar'ltiaH Date 

Return the completed form to the City Clerk's Office at Berwyn City HaU 
6700 West 26th Street, Berwyn, Illinois 



The City of Berwyn 
Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

Margaret Paul 
City Clerk 

A Century of Progress witb Pride 
6700 West 26'" Sll~"\ Bl'I'W)'I1 . Illinois 60402-070 1 Telephone: (708) 788-26bO Fall; : (08) 788-2675 

www.bcrwyn-il .g.ov 

Physician Form (A) 

This form must be filled out in its entirety and signed by your physician. 

Physician, must state, by printing ~e1ow,) ~he nature of the patient's handicap 

I 
.' ' 

./ 

Does the patient utilize any ofthe following? : 

Walker Wheel Chair Oxygen 

I hereby certi fy that the physical conditions of the above named "Handicapped Person" 
constitutes him/her as a handicapped person as defined under the statutory provision Par. 1-159 
(Physically Handicapped Person - Every natural person who has permanently lost the use ofa 
leg or both legs or an arm or both arms or any combination thereof or any person who is so 
severely disabled as to be unable to move without the aid of crutches or a wheelchair.) 

/ . I 

(PhYSiCi& Slgn~r:/Stamp) 
/2/.1 6 /iO /f 

(Date) 

U· / 

(Address and Telephone Number) 

I 

Return tbe completed form to tbe City Clerk's Office at Berwyn City Hall 
6700 West 26110 Street, Berwyn, Illinois 



The City of Berwyn 
Mayor Robert J. Lovero 

Margaret Paul 
City Clerk 

A Century of Progress with Pride 
6700 Wcs126'" Slre<1 BCN;yn. Illinois 60402-070 1 Tell-phone: (108) 788·2660 Fa,, : 1708) 788-267S 

www.b4.!fwyn-il .gcw 

FormB 

Owner Consent For Handicap Sign 

Placement/Drop-off Zone 

/7 I-- /1e-R"iERA 
k ./1Iz1 .. s /!?AN C/$CO , owner/manager of the property at 

• 

/i3 t /bU1IIE'i bE , state as follows: 
I 

1) ThaGa4$~kp.ER..4 is a tenant at the above listed , 
property. /2.-9/J?//26'L. . 

/J II 0fJ?11l£z-
2) ThatLA~.5 .4'.h-«£RA !I ' has no access to any parking 
on the premises. • 

3) That ifa~<'",,",4. LE/i'/I A)II;j.ii~ granted a handicapped 
sign or drop-off zone by thRity of Berwyn, I have no 
objection to the placement of signs in front of this address. 

j!1J/}?/JlEZ-

4) I agree to notify the City of Berwyn if ~;tit7f, A &)/lE124 no 
longer resides on the premises. 

. / 

~K~_______________~ 

Name: eJ124<; .h¥N'ClStCO ~ 
Address: . -

SignaturelDate 

- .- - .. --
Phone#: _ _ --_--.-_ _ 


	Part 1.pdf
	Part 2
	Part 3
	Part 4

